## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-20-2015 12:00 AM

## The Role of Connexins and Pannexins in Mammary Gland Development and Tumorigenesis

Michael K. G. Stewart, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Dale W. Laird, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Physiology and Pharmacology © Michael K. G. Stewart 2015

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Cancer Biology Commons, and the Developmental Biology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Stewart, Michael K. G., "The Role of Connexins and Pannexins in Mammary Gland Development and Tumorigenesis" (2015). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 3101. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/3101

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

## THE ROLE OF CONNEXINS AND PANNEXINS IN MAMMARY GLAND DEVELOPMENT AND TUMORIGENESIS

(Thesis format: Integrated Article)

By

Michael Kenneth George Stewart

Graduate Program in Physiology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Michael K G Stewart 2015 THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

### Abstract

The identification of key regulators of breast cancer onset and progression is critical for the development of targeted therapies. Connexins and pannexins are characterized by their ability to form large-pore channels and are frequently dysregulated in cancer. However, their role in breast cancer progression remains poorly understood due to a lack of *in vivo* models capable of assessing the proposed and opposing roles of connexins and pannexins as both tumor suppressors and/or facilitators in multiple stages of the disease. Using two previously uncharacterized genetically-modified mice, connexin43 (Cx43) and connexin26 (Cx26) were evaluated for their role in normal mammary gland development and function prior to using the mice to assess their linkage to breast cancer onset and progression. In addition, pannexin1 (Panx1) was evaluated for the first time in the context of mammary gland development and correlated to clinical outcomes in patients with breast cancer using in silico arrays. Using a mouse model expressing a loss-of-function Cx43 mutant it was revealed that the severity of milk ejection defects associated with Cx43 are linked to its functional status. Using a similar mouse model induced to develop primary breast cancer lesions, we identified that low functional levels of Cx43 resulted in mainly hyperplasic mammary glands that greatly increased the frequency of developing metastases to the lungs. Our assessment of mice with conditional knockout of Cx26 during pregnancy revealed that basal levels of Cx26 were sufficient for normal alveolar development and proper lactation, but increased the susceptibility of mammary tumor onset in a chemically induced mouse model of breast cancer. Finally, genetically modified mice with systemic knockout of Panx1 identified a role for Panx1 in timely alveolar development during early lactation. In addition, PANX1 mRNA expression was correlated with worse clinical outcomes in breast cancer. Collectively, our results redefine our view of Cx43, Cx26 and Panx1 in mammary gland development; supporting a tumor suppressive role for Cx43 and Cx26, and a tumor facilitating role for Panx1 in breast cancer progression which may have implications for extending to their use as therapeutic targets.

## Keywords

Gap junction, Connexin, Pannexin, Connexin43, Connexin26, Pannexin1, Mammary Gland, Breast, Mouse Models, Mammary Gland Development, Puberty, Lactation, Involution, Breast Cancer, 7,12-Dimethylbenz[a]anthracene

## Abbreviations

- 2D Two-Dimensional
- 3D Three-Dimensional
- ATP- Adenosine Triphosphate
- BLG-β-Lactoglobulin
- BSA Bovine Serum Albumin
- cAMP Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate
- cGMP Cyclic Guanosine Monophosphate
- CS Cell Surface
- Cx26 Connexin26
- Cx30 Connexin30
- Cx32 Connexin32
- Cx43 Connexin43
- ddH<sub>2</sub>O Double Distilled Water
- DMBA 7, 12-Dimethylbenz[a]anthracene
- DMEM Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
- DMFS Distant Metastasis Free Survival
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic Acid
- EDTA Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- ELISA Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay

EMT- Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition

- ENU N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea
- ER Estrogen Receptor
- ERaKO Mouse Estrogen Receptor Alpha Knockout
- ErbB2 erb-b2 Receptor Tyrosine Kinase 2
- ERK1/2 Extracellular Signal-regulated Kinase 1/2
- $ER\beta$  Estrogen Receptor Beta
- EtOH Ethanol
- FGFR3 Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor 3
- Fl Floxed
- Fra-2 Fos-related Antigen 2
- GFP Green Fluorescent Protein
- GHRKO Mouse Growth Hormone Receptor Knockout
- Gj Junctional Conductance
- Gjal Mouse Gene encoding Connexin43
- GJA1 Human Gene encoding Connexin43
- Gja5 Mouse Gene encoding Connexin40
- Gjb1 Mouse Gene encoding Connexin32
- Gjb2 Mouse Gene encoding Connexin26
- GJB2 Human Gene encoding Connexin26

Gjb6 – Mouse Gene encoding Connexin30

- GJIC Gap Junctional Intercellular Communication
- Gly-Glycosylation State
- H&E Hematoxylin and Eosin
- H<sup>3</sup> Tritium
- hCG human Chorionic Gonadotropin
- HEK Human Embryonic Kidney Cells
- HER2 Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2
- Hsc70 Heat Shock Protein 70
- I Intracellular
- I3 Involution Day 3
- IP<sub>3</sub> Inositol Triphosphate
- JNK c-Jun N-terminal Kinase
- kDa KiloDalton
- KID Keratitis-ichthyosis-deafness Syndrome
- L0 Lactation Day 0
- L2 Lactation Day 2
- Lif Leukemia Inhibitory Factor
- MAPK Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase
- MEGM Mammary Epithelial Growth Media

- MMP Matrix Metalloproteinase
- MMTV Mouse Mammary Tumor Virus
- mRNA Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
- NCBI National Center for Biotechnology Information
- NFκB Nuclear Factor Kappa B
- NP-40 Nonidet P-40
- ODDD Oculodentodigital Dysplasia
- OS Overall Survival
- Panx1 Pannexin1
- Panx1 Mouse Gene encoding Pannexin1
- PANX1 Human Gene encoding Pannexin1
- Panx2 Pannexin2
- Panx3 Pannexin3
- PBS Phosphate Buffered Saline
- PBST Phosphate Buffered Saline with Tween
- PCNA Proliferation Cell Nuclear Antigen
- PCR Polymerase Chain Reaction
- PQ Substituted Quinoline
- PR Progesterone Receptor
- PrlR Prolactin Receptor

PrlRKO – Mouse Prolactin Receptor Knockout

- PyVmt Polyoma virus Middle T Antigen
- RFS Relapse-free Survival
- SDS Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
- SEM Standard Error of the Mean
- shRNA Short Hairpin Ribonucleic Acid
- siRNA Short Interfereing Ribonucleic Acid
- Sox2 Sex Determining Region Y Box 2
- Stat3 Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3
- Stat5 Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 5
- TEB Terminal End Bud
- TIMP Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase
- TSP-1 Thrombospondin-1
- TUNEL Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling
- VEGF Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
- WAP Whey Acidic Protein
- WGA Wheat Germ Agglutinin
- Wnt5a Wingless-related MMTV Integration site 5A
- WT-Wild-type

## Co-Authorship statement

#### Chapter 1

Jamie Simek assisted in the creation of 3D graphic images (Figure 1.2, 1.3)

#### Chapter 2

Kevin Barr assisted in mouse breeding and isolated the primary granulosa cells.

Dr. Xiang-Qun Gong performed the patch-clamp recording experiments under the supervision of Dr. Donglin Bai (Figure 2.1).

Dr. Glenn I. Fishman and Dr. Janet Rossant engineered the  $Cx43^{I130T/+}$  mice and  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice, respectively.

#### Chapter 3

John Bechberger under the supervision of Dr. Christian Naus created the BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice and performed the dissections of tissues used in this study.

Dr. Isabelle Plante performed all real-time PCR assessment of connexins in mammary gland development (Figure 3.1A,B, 3.S1A). Dr. Isabelle Plante also contributed to Western blot and immunofluorescent analysis of connexins and WAP, respectively, in the mammary gland (Figure 3.1C, 3.2A, 3.7C).

#### Chapter 4

John Bechberger under the supervision of Dr. Christian Naus performed pituitary transplants (Figure 4.S1A,B) and treated mice with DMBA or oil. In addition, he monitored mice for palpable tumors and dissected tissues used in the study.

Dr. Ian Welch performed histological subtyping of primary mammary tumors (Figure 4.4)

#### Chapter 5

Dr. Isabelle Plante and Dr. Silvia Penuela performed real-time PCR assessment of Panx1 in the mammary gland (Figure 5.1C).

Kevin Barr assisted in mouse breeding and genotyping.

#### Appendix1

Dr. Isabelle Plante was the lead author on this study in which she designed the experiments, set up the breeding and treatments with Kevin Barr, performed many of the experiments (Appendix 1.1, 1.3, 1.4, are enitrely her work) and she was the primary writer of the manuscript. Dr. Alison Allan provided critical insight into the experimental design of some experiments.

## Acknowledgments

I have had the good fortune of being supported by many people for which I owe many thanks. First and foremost, I would like to thank my family for their unwavering love and for encouraging me through every step of my personal and academic pursuits. I would also like to thank my fiancée Jennifer Withers for making me better every day, for always being a source of joy, inspiration and support.

I would like to thank my mentor Dale Laird for accepting a shy undergraduate student with no previous laboratory experience and a fear of public speaking to be part of his laboratory. Dale your patience and guidance over the past 6 years has allowed me to gain success professionally and more importantly to develop leadership and communication skills to succeed in all aspects of my life.

I would like to acknowledge the Laird laboratory members for their friendship and support in troubleshooting experiments. Of note, I would like to thank Dr. Isabelle Plante for introducing me to laboratory life and working side by side with me during my early days. I would also like to thank Dr. Silvia Penuela, Dr. Qing Shao and Kevin Barr for being pillars in the Laird laboratory in their willingness to drop everything they are doing to provide advice and troubleshoot problems.

I would like to thank Dr. Alison Allan, Dr. Lina Dagnino, Dr. John DiGuglielmo, Dr. Doug Jones, Dr. Gerald Kidder and Dr. Lynne-Marie Postovit for providing excellent supervision and mentorship on my committee.

I would like to thank Dr. Michelle Belton, Dr. John Ciriello and Dr. Anita Woods for being exceptional mentors in education and teaching in both the lecture and laboratory settings.

I would like to thank the physiology and pharmacology administrative staff, especially Susan McMillan, for their help in navigating the formalities of graduate studies.

Finally, I would like to thank the CIHR Strategic Training Program in Cancer Research and Technology Transfer, the Translational Breast Cancer Research Unit and the province of Ontario for continued funding and mentorship throughout my PhD program.

## Dedication

This thesis is dedicated in memory of my Father,

Kenneth John Bruce Stewart.

(1951-2014)

"When you die, it does not mean that you lost to cancer. You beat cancer by how you lived, why you lived, and in the manner in which you lived"

Stuart Scott

Abstractii
Abreviations iiv
Acknowledgmentsx
Dedication xi
Table of contents
List of tablesxx
List of figures xxi
List of appendices xvivy
Chapter 1
1 Introduction
1 Introduction
1.1 Gap junctions and connexins
1.2 Single membrane pannexin channels
1.3 The mouse mammary gland as a model of the human breast
1.4 Mouse mammary gland development7
1.5 Connexin expression in rodent mammary gland
1.5.1 Virgin mammary gland
1.5.2 Mammary gland during pregnancy11
1.5.3 Lactating mammary gland 11
1.5.4 Involuting mammary gland 12
1.6 Expression of connexins in the human breast
1.7 Connexins in mouse mammary gland development
1.7.1 Embryonic mammary development
1.7.2 Virgin mammary gland 17
1.7.3 Mammary gland during pregnancy

## Table of contents

	1.7.4	Lactating mammary gland	20
	1.7.5	Involuting mammary gland	22
1.8	Conne	exins and pannexins in cancer	22
1.9	Conne	exins in breast cancer	24
	1.9.1	Proliferation and cell growth	27
	1.9.2	Apoptosis	28
	1.9.3	Angiogenesis	28
	1.9.4	Differentiation and epithelial-mesenchymal transition	31
	1.9.5	Migration and invasion	31
	1.9.6	Extravasation	32
	1.9.7	Metastatic potential	33
1.1	0 Unex	plored mouse models used in this thesis	34
1.1	1 Ratio	nale and objectives	35
1.1	2 Hypo	thesis	36
1.1	3 Objec	tives	36
1.1	4 Refer	ences	37
Chapt	er 2		51
2 The fun	e severi octional	ty of mammary gland developmental defects is linked to the overall status of Cx43 as revealed by genetically modified mice	51
2.1	Introd	uction	52
2.2	Mater	ials and methods	54
	2.2.1	Constructs	54
	2.2.2	Patch-Clamp electrophysiology	55
	2.2.3	Animals	55
	2.2.4	Primary cultures	56
	2.2.5	Microinjection	57

	2.2.6	Western blotting	57
	2.2.7	Immunofluorescence and microscopy5	58
	2.2.8	Evaluation of serum prolactin concentration5	58
	2.2.9	Whole mounting	58
	2.2.10	Evaluation of ductal development5	59
	2.2.11	Hematoxylin & eosin staining5	59
	2.2.12	Oxytocin induced milk ejection assay5	59
	2.2.13	Statistical analysis	50
2.3	Results	s e	50
	2.3.1	The Cx43 I130T mutant has partial junctional conductance in gap junction-deficient N2A cells	50
	2.3.2	Primary myoepithelial and granulosa cells isolated from $Cx43^{I130T/+}$ mice are comparatively better coupled than cells from $Cx43^{G60S/+}$ mice	50
	2.3.3	Highly phosphorylated species of Cx43 are reduced in the $Cx43^{1130T/+}$ mouse mammary gland	53
	2.3.4	Pre-pubertal $Cx43^{II30T/+}$ mice have smaller mammary glands with delayed ductal morphogenesis	1 58
	2.3.5	$Cx43^{II30T/+}$ mice have smaller mammary glands at parturition and involution	15
	2.3.6	$Cx43^{II30T/+}$ mice show no signs of a lactational or milk ejection defect 8	30
2.4	Discus	sion 8	30
	2.4.1	Differential coupling capacity of ODDD-linked mutants	35
	2.4.2	A full complement of Cx43 is necessary for the regulated development of mammary glands in virgin mice	f 36
	2.4.3	Cx43 regulates proliferation in the mammary gland following the onset o pregnancy	f 37
	2.4.4	Partial coupling by Cx43 gap junction channels is sufficient for normal mammary gland function	39
2.5	Conclu	isions	90
2.6	Refere	nces	)1

Cl	Chapter 3			
3	Maı reta	nmary ins nori	gland specific knockout of the physiological surge in Cx26 during lactation mal mammary gland development and function	
	3.1	Introdu	action	
	3.2	Metho	ds	
		3.2.1	Animals	
		3.2.2	Real-Time PCR	
		3.2.3	Western blot analysis	
		3.2.4	Immunofluorescence	
		3.2.5	Whole mounting	
		3.2.6	Histology 101	
		3.2.7	Evaluation of apoptosis	
		3.2.8	Statistical analysis	
	3.3	Result	s	
		3.3.1	Conditionally ablated Cx26 in the mammary gland 102	
		3.3.2	Cx26 knockout mice retain normal mammary gland development throughout pregnancy	
		3.3.3	Cx26 knockout mice have normal mammary gland lactation 113	
	3.4	Discus	sion 113	
		3.4.1	Cx26 knockout mice as a model to study the role of Cx26 in mammary gland development and function	
		3.4.2	Mammary gland development is maintained in Cx26 knockout mice 121	
		3.4.3	Mammary gland function is maintained in Cx26 knockout mice 123	
	3.5	Conclu	usions	
	3.6	Refere	nces	
	3.7	Supple	ementary figures	
Cl	hapte	er 4		

4	Cx2 DM	26 knockout predisposes the mammary gland to primary mammary tumors in a /IBA-induced mouse model of breast cancer		
	4.1	1 Introduction		
	4.2	Metho	ds	
		4.2.1	Mice	
		4.2.2	Whole mount	
		4.2.3	Hematoxylin and eosin staining	
		4.2.4	Immunofluorescence microscopy 138	
		4.2.5	Histological subtyping	
		4.2.6	Statistical analysis	
	4.3	Result	s	
		4.3.1	Cx26 knockout does not result in spontaneous mammary tumors 140	
		4.3.2	DMBA-treated Cx26 knockout mice have greater primary tumor burden compared to control mice but develop mammary tumors with similar growth characteristics	
		4.3.3	Cx26 knockout and control mice develop primary mammary tumors of multiple histological subtypes expressing markers of both luminal and myoepithelial cells	
		4.3.4	Cx26 knockout and control mice exhibit similar levels of metastasis to the lungs	
	4.4	Discus	ssion	
		4.4.1	A model to investigate the role of Cx26 in mammary tumorigenesis <i>in vivo</i>	
		4.4.2	Loss of Cx26 promotes tumor onset in chemically-induced mammary tumorigenesis	
		4.4.3	Cx26 knockout prior to DMBA treatment does not affect primary tumor growth or histological subtype	
		4.4.4	Cx26 knockout does not promote metastatic dissemination to the lungs 159	
	4.5	Implic	ations to human disease	
	4.6	5 References		

	4.7	Supple	ementary figures/tables	169
Cł	napte	er 5		174
5	Los brea	s of Par ast tumo	nx1 impairs mammary gland development at lactation: implications for origenesis	174
	5.1	Introdu	action	175
	5.2	Metho	ds	177
		5.2.1	Animals	177
		5.2.2	Western blot analysis	177
		5.2.3	Real-time PCR analysis	178
		5.2.4	Immunofluorescence microscopy	178
		5.2.5	Whole mount analysis	179
		5.2.6	Histology	180
		5.2.7	Evaluation of Panx1 mRNA in silico	180
		5.2.8	Statistical analysis	180
	5.3	Results	S	181
		5.3.1	Panx1 is expressed in the mammary gland and dynamically regulated throughout mammary gland development	181
		5.3.2	Virgin <i>Panx1</i> -/- mice retain normal mammary glands	181
		5.3.3	<i>Panx1<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice at parturition have normal mammary glands	186
		5.3.4	<i>Panx1<sup>-/-</sup></i> Mice at Lactation have Impaired Alveolar Development but Relatively Normal Differentiation	186
		5.3.5	Lactating <i>Panx1</i> <sup>-/-</sup> mice have normal mammary gland function	196
		5.3.6	<i>Panx1<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice have normal mammary gland involution	196
		5.3.7	PANX1 mRNA expression is correlated with poor overall survival	203
	5.4	Discus	sion	206
		5.4.1	Panx1 is expressed in the lactating mammary gland	206
		5.4.2	Panx1 is necessary for timely alveolar development and differentiation the lactating mammary gland	in 207

		5.4.3	Loss of Panx1 does not impair involution
		5.4.4	Panx1 in breast cancer
	5.5	Refere	ences
С	hapte	er 6	
6	Ove	erall dis	cussion
	6.1	Implic	eations of connexins to breast feeding
	6.2	Mecha	anism of connexins in the mammary gland
	6.3	Potent	ial issues of connexin compensation
	6.4	Conne	exins as tumor suppressors
	6.5	Panx1	in the breast: pathological implications
	6.6	Conne	exins and pannexins as therapeutic targets
	6.7	Concl	usions
	6.8	Refere	ences
A	ppen	dix1	
C	x43 of ł	suppres numan c	ses mammary tumor metastasis to the lung in a Cx43 mutant mouse model lisease
	Intr	oductio	on
	Me	thods	
		Anima	al treatment and tissue collection
		Histol	ogy
		Evalua	ation of lung lesions
		Immu	nocytochemistry and confocal microscopy
		Statist	ical analysis and n-values
	Res	sults	
		Mice l	narboring the G60S mutant have a delayed onset of palpable tumors in the mammary gland
		WT m	ice have multiple and larger tumors compared with G60S mice 250
			XV111

G60S mice have hyperplasic mammary glands
Levels of Cx43 are reduced in the mammary gland of G60S mice compared with WT mice, and remain unchanged upon DMBA exposure
G60S mice are more susceptible to lung tumors than WT mice
Cx43 mutant mice have increased metastasis to the lung
Discussion
Low levels of Cx43 result in delayed onset of palpable tumors
Myoepithelial cell tumor-suppressive properties
Cx43 suppresses mammary gland metastasis to lung
References
Appendix 2 Copyright
Appendix 3 Animal use protocol approval
Curriculum vitae

## List of tables

Table 1.1 Genetically-modified mice used to evaluate the role of connexins in the mammary
gland
Table 1.2. Connexin expression in human breast cancer primary tumors based on histological
subtype
Table 4.S1. List of Mice used in study for mice treated with DMBA or oil by gavage 1.5
months following pituitary transplant
Table 4.S2. List of Mice used in study for mice treated with DMBA or oil by gavage 1 week
following pituitary transplant
Table 6.1. Summary of key findings from thesis 220

## List of figures

Figure 1.1 Connexins and pannexins are predicted to share similar membrane topology but
only channels formed of connexin subunits form functional gap junctions in vivo
Figure 1.2 Connexin expression throughout mouse mammary gland development 10
Figure 1.3 Connexin expression in the non-pregnant human breast 15
Figure 1.4 Current model of connexin expression and function in regulating breast cancer
progression
Figure 2.1 The Cx43 I130T mutant has reduced gap junctional coupling conductance 62
Figure 2.2 Myoepithelial cells isolated from $Cx43^{I130T/+}$ and $Cx43^{G60S/+}$ exhibit differential
gap junction coupling relative to their respective controls
Figure 2.3 In comparison to controls, granulosa cells isolated from $Cx43^{11301/+}$ mice are better coupled than cells from $Cx43^{G60S/+}$ mice.
Figure 2.4 The highly phosphorylated species of $C_{\rm V}$ 43 were reduced in the memmery gland
of $Cx43^{II30T/+}$ mice at parturition while co-expressed mammary gland connexins remain
unchanged
Figure 2.5 Pre-pubertal $Cx43^{II30T/+}$ mice have smaller mammary glands
Figure 2.6 Pre-pubertal $Cx43^{II30T/+}$ mice have delayed mammary gland development
Figure 2.7 $Cx43^{II30T/+}$ mice have reduced mammary gland weights at parturition and
involution
Figure 2.8 Lactating and involuting $Cx43^{II30T/+}$ mice have normal mammary gland
architecture
Figure 2.9 Mammary glands from $Cx43^{II30T/+}$ mice exhibited a reduction in proliferation at
10/#11/#11/0/0

Figure 2.10 Lactating $Cx43^{II30T/+}$ mice can produce and eject milk into ducts upon oxytocin
stimulation
Figure 3.1 <i>BLG-Cre; Cx26</i> <sup><math>fl/fl mice exhibit a dramatic reduction in Cx26</math></sup>
Figure 3.2 Lactating mammary glands of <i>BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup></i> mice exhibited a cross-talk
reduction in Cx30 at parturition
Figure 3.3 Mammary glands from <i>BLG-Cre;</i> $Cx26^{fl/fl}$ mice at all stages of gland development
have similar gross gland architecture
Figure 3.4 Mammary glands of <i>BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup></i> mice have similar epithelial development.
Figure 3.5 The mammary gland of <i>BLG-Cre; Cx26</i> <sup><math>fl/fl</math> mice has unaltered cell proliferation at parturition, lactation and involution</sup>
Figure 3.6 Programmed cell death is unaltered in lactating and involuting mammary glands form <i>BLG-Cre; Cx26</i> <sup><i>fl/fl</i></sup> mice
Figure 3.7 Similar to control mice, lactating <i>BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup></i> mice can produce and secrete milk
Figure 3.S1 <i>BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup></i> mice exhibit a dramatic reduction in Cx26 at parturition and lactation only
Figure 3.S2 <i>BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fUfl</sup></i> mice have significantly reduced number of Cx30 gap junctions at parturition
Figure 4.1 Conditional Cx26 knockout does not result in spontaneous mammary tumors 142
Figure 4.2 Cx26 knockout mice developed significantly greater tumor burden
Figure 4.3 Palpable mammary tumor onset and growth rate is similar in DMBA-treated Cx26
knockout and control mice

Figure 4.4 Cx26 knockout mice develop tumours of multiple histological subtypes similar to
control mice
Figure 4.5 Mammary tumors from Cx26 knockout mice express similar epithelial protein
markers as control mice 152
Figure 4.6 DMBA-treated Cx26 knockout mice exhibit similar incidence of metastases to the
lungs
Figure 4.S1 Pituitary implantation stimulates BLG that results in Cx26 knockout within the
mammary gland
Figure 5.1 Panx1 is upregulated during pregnancy in luminal epithelial cells and is not
expressed in <i>Panx1<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice
1
Figure 5.2 Virgin <i>Panx1<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice have normal mammary glands
Figure 5.3 <i>Panx1</i> <sup>-/-</sup> mice have normal mammary glands at parturition
Figure 5.4 <i>Panx1<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice present with a reduction in the number of alveoli during early
lactation
Figure 5.5 <i>Panx1<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice have reduced proliferation during early lactation
Figure 5 6 Drug 1-/- miss have normal momentum aland on the list differentiation at lastation
Figure 5.6 <i>Panx1</i> <sup>+</sup> mice have normal manimary gland epithenial differentiation at factation.
Figure 5.7 Lactating <i>Panx1</i> <sup>+</sup> mice have fewer Cx32 gap junctions in the mammary gland. 198
Figure 5.8 $Panx 1^{-/-}$ dams lactate and deliver milk to pups 200
Tigure 5.6 Tunixi - dums factate and deriver mink to pups
Figure 5.9 Involuting <i>Panx1<sup>-/-</sup></i> mouse mammary glands have normal gland regression 202
Figure 5.10 High PANX1 mRNA expression is correlated with poor overall survival,
particularly in the Luminal B and Her2+ subtypes, as revealed by <i>in silico</i> analysis

# List of appendices

Appendix 1 Cx43 suppresses mammary tumor metastasis to the lung in a Cx43 mutant mouse
model of human disease
Appendix 1.1 Onset of palpable mammary gland tumors is delayed in Cx43 mutant mice.252
Appendix 1.2 Mammary glands from Cx43 mutant mice typically become hyperplasic255
Appendix 1.3 Cx43 mutant mice are more susceptible to lung tumors than WT mice255
Appendix 1.4 Cx43 mutant mice have considerable lung tumor burden, which is further
increased by DMBA treatment
Appendix 1.5 Cx43 mutant mice have more mammary gland metastases to the lung 264
Appendix 2 Copyright
Appendix 3 Animal use protocol approval

1 Introduction

•

A version of this chapter is published: <u>Stewart MKG</u>, Simek J, Laird DW. Insights into the role of Connexins in Mammary Gland Morphogenesis and Function as Revealed by Genetically-modified Mice. Reproduction, 149 (6); 279-290, 2015.

## 1.1 Gap junctions and connexins

Gap junctions are formed when six connexins co-oligomerize to form a connexon, or hemichannel, which docks with a connexon from an adjacent cell to form a gap junction channel [1]. Gap junction channels directly link the cytoplasm of adjacent cells allowing for the exchange of molecules less than 1000 Daltons in size that includes ions and second messengers (Ca<sup>2+,</sup> IP3, cAMP) in a process known as gap junctional intercellular communication (GJIC) [1]. During development, a genetic program is initiated as the zygote prepares itself to develop into a multicellular organism for later preimplantation development. In the 1980's, it was determined that the presence of gap junctions at the 8 cell stage was critical to maintain the compacted state, highlighting an essential requirement for gap junctions in the formation of the blastocyst and an essential role for gap junctions in developmental processes [2-4]. At the 8 cell stage, it was later identified that these gap junctions were composed of Cx43, and loss-of-function studies using anti-Cx43 antibodies to disrupt GJIC, led to decompaction and suggested that Cx43 was absolutely essential for maintaining the compaction of the blastomeres and the further development of the embryo [3,5,6]. Surprisingly, not until the development of a genetically modified mouse with systemic ablation of Gjal was it discovered that loss of Cx43 still resulted in the development of the embryo to term [7]. This study highlighted how the use of genetically-modified mice altered our view of connexins in development previously based solely on *in vitro* studies.

We now know that 21 connexins exist in humans, while 20 connexins are found in mouse, and multiple connexins are generally expressed within the same cell [1]. In fact, nine connexin transcripts are detected at the 2-8 cell stage of murine preimplantation development suggesting that other connexins likely compensated for the loss of Cx43 during preimplantation in the Cx43 null mouse model [8,9]. However, channels formed by one connexin cannot always compensate for the loss of channel function from another as various connexins possess distinct gating properties and conductance when forming homomeric connexons comprised exclusively of one connexin isoform [1,10]. In addition, some connexins, such as Cx26, Cx30 and Cx32, are able to intermix and form heteromeric connexons, composed of multiple connexin isoforms, which display altered permeability

characteristics and gating sensitivities that likely reflect the biological need of the cell type *in vivo* [10,11]. In addition, apart from GJIC-dependent functions, connexins may also control cellular function independent of GJIC through the formation of gap junction hemichannels linking the intracellular and extracellular environment or through poorly understood regulatory protein-protein interactions [12,13]. Importantly, connexins are expressed in almost every cell type in the human body, including those of the breast, and are dynamically regulated throughout organ and tissue morphogenesis suggesting a key role in regulating developmental processes [1,14].

## 1.2 Single membrane pannexin channels

In 2000, pannexins, a new family of proteins with limited sequence homology to the invertebrate gap junction proteins innexins, were discovered [15]. Three members of the pannexin family were identified including pannexin1 (Panx1), pannexin2 (Panx2) and pannexin3 (Panx3) [15]. Each pannexin is predicted to be composed of four  $\alpha$ -helical transmembrane domains, two extracellular loops, an intracellular loop and cytoplasmic amino and carboxy termini, similar to the vertebrate gap junction proteins connexins [16]. Effectively, pannexin channels are not unlike connexin hemichannels as both are capable of transferring small ions and metabolites less than 1000 Daltons, which include ATP and Ca<sup>2+</sup>, between the internal and external environment of cells [17]. Initially, the similar topology and the fact that pannexin subunits oligomerize to form a protein-lined pore, led to the proposal that pannexins share similar functional characteristics to connexins and possibly redundant roles within tissues, functioning as a new family of gap junction forming proteins (Figure 1.1) [15,16,18]. However, pannexins have only been proposed to form gap junction channels in a few select over-expressing *in vitro* systems but they have never been demonstrated to form intercellular channels *in vivo* [18,19].

As a result, evidence to date suggests that pannexins do not form gap junctions under physiological conditions which is supported by the fact that pannexins are glycosylated, which may act to prevent docking of adjacent channels. Moreover, pannexins do not cluster into semi-crystalline arrays as is well documented for gap junctions composed of connexins, adding further evidence that they are a very different type of channel [22,23].

Figure 1.1. Connexins and pannexins are predicted to share similar membrane topology but only channels formed of connexin subunits form functional gap junctions *in vivo*. (A) The prototypical connexin, Cx43, and pannexin, Panx1, share a similar predicted topology with four  $\alpha$ -helical transmembrane domains, two extracellular loops (EL), an intracellular loop (IL) and cytoplasmic amino (AT) and carboxy termini (CT). (B) Connexin and pannexin proteins oligomerize to form mainly hexameric channels known as connexons or pannexons, respectively (C) Upon arrival at the plasma membrane, pannexons remain undocked and function as single membrane channels while (D) connexons typically dock with connexons from an adjacent cell to form a gap junction channel. Hundreds of gap junction channels typically cluster forming a gap junction plaque. Adapted with permission (Appendix 2) from [20,21]. Figure 1.1B, D was reprinted from FEBS Letters, 588/8, Laird, Syndromic and non-syndromic disease-linked Cx43 mutations, 1339-1348, Copyright (2014), with permission from Elsevier. Figure 1.1C was reproduced with permission, from Penuela et al., 2014, Biochemical Journal, 461, 371-381. © the Biochemical Society.











While these observations do not rule out pannexins channels having the same function as connexin hemichannels, the fact that pannexin channels can be opened at normal resting membrane potentials due to their insensitivity to physiological levels of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> suggests distinct cellular roles. Moreover, pannexins typically have longer half-life than connexins, further arguing against the notion that they have redundant function [18,24,25]. Together, these observations suggest that pannexins have at least some distinct functions from connexins within tissues and therefore warrant further investigation.

Due to its expression in many cell types, Panx1 is the best characterized and has been shown to be activated by multiple stimuli, including mechanical stimulation, caspase cleavage, extracellular ATP and K<sup>+</sup>, and membrane depolarization [26-29]. Panx1 has also been shown to regulate key cellular responses such as proliferation, differentiation and cell death mechanisms that are ultimately necessary for normal tissue development and function [27,30,31]. Consequently, it is no surprise that the role of Panx1 is beginning to be discovered, particularly with the generation of the Panx1<sup>-/-</sup> mouse [30,32,33]. However, the role of Panx1 in development, differentiation and function in many tissues remains unexplored, including that of the breast. While Panx1 has been detected in the mouse mammary gland and human breast as noted in NCBI's gene expression Omnibus database (ID 1416379, ID 49755742, [34]), no other studies have examined the role of Panx1 in the context of normal mammary gland development and function. Thus, given the lack of studies on pannexins in the mammary gland, this literature review will turn its attention to the current understanding of connexins in the mouse and human mammary glands.

# 1.3 The mouse mammary gland as a model of the human breast

The human breast, similar to that of the mouse mammary gland, functions to provide both nutrition and passive immunological protection against pathogens during nursing. Both are composed of a bilayered epithelial network consisting of a single luminal layer surrounded by a layer of myoepithelial cells separated from the mammary stroma by a basement membrane [35,36]. However, while the non-pregnant rodent mammary gland consists entirely of a single ductal tree consisting of blunt ended ducts that develop alveolar buds in response to the estrous cycle within a mainly adipose rich mammary fat pad, the human

mammary gland contains 15-20 independent branching epithelial networks that begin as terminal duct lobular units composed of alveoli and ducts surrounded by fibrous connective tissue [35,37]. Importantly, both human and mouse mammary glands undergo extensive proliferation and secretory differentiation of epithelium as the breast develops into a secretory gland during lactation [35,38-40]. This process requires tight regulation of hormonal and growth factor cues as well as epithelial-epithelial and epithelial-stromal interactions, and direct cell-cell communication through gap junctions [35,38-40]. Therefore, it is not surprising that the human and mouse epithelial stem cell hierarchies share many parallels (reviewed in [41]). Ultimately, due to these similarities between the mouse and human mammary gland, the mouse mammary gland has become a useful model to further our understanding of the mechanisms associated with gland development and disease, particularly through our ability to genetically manipulate molecular functions by mutation or ablation [42,43].

## 1.4 Mouse mammary gland development

The development of the murine mammary gland begins with the development of the milk lines at embryonic day 10 [44]. By embryonic day 11.5, the milk lines develop into 5 pairs of mammary gland placodes which gives rise to mammary gland buds and ultimately a rudimentary ductal structure [40]. Following birth, this rudimentary structure develops isometrically with body weight until the onset of puberty [42]. The hormonal secretion of estrogen and growth hormone then drives the first main phase of development by orchestrating ductal elongation from proliferative structures known as terminal end buds that invade the surrounding stroma and bifurcate creating new primary branches. Together with secondary lateral side branching, these branches loosely fill the mammary gland fat pad [40]. The adult mammary gland continues to undergo additional tertiary branching in response to cyclical ovarian estrus cycles, further developing a highly branched epithelial network with the development of alveolar-like structures that cyclically regress until the onset of pregnancy [37].

The second phase of mammary gland development occurs following the onset of pregnancy and is characterized by massive amounts of cell proliferation and tissue remodeling [38]. The gland undergoes extensive alveolar development to acquire a secretory lobuloalveolar

phenotype [45]. During early pregnancy, prolactin and progesterone are the main drivers of extensive branching of ducts and alveolar bud formation that continues during late pregnancy and into lactation [40]. As a result, the volume ratio of epithelial cells to adipocytes increases as the epithelial compartment expands and adipocytes undergo delipidation [46]. In parallel to the morphogenic changes in the pregnant mammary gland, luminal epithelial cells undergo differentiation as many genes involved in milk synthesis begin to be expressed during midpregnancy [46]. With the withdrawal of progesterone at parturition, the gland undergoes secretory activation as the mammary gland is set up as an exocrine gland to perform its main function to produce, secrete and deliver milk [47]. The gland functions to produce milk until weaning of the pups where the buildup of milk within alveoli acts as a trigger for the mammary gland to undergo involution. This two-step process is characterized by extensive cell death and remodeling that returns the mammary gland back to the adult gland state [48]. The first phase of involution is characterized by extensive cell death triggered by the activation of the LIF/Stat3 pathway while the second phase of involution is characterized by remodeling of the extracellular matrix, adjpocyte differentiation and alveolar collapse [40].

## 1.5 Connexin expression in the rodent mammary gland

### 1.5.1 Virgin mammary gland

Up until about 2004, the majority of studies evaluating connexins in the rodent mammary gland focused on characterizing connexin expression, localization and regulation (Figure 1.2). Gap junctions were first detected joining ductal epithelial cells in 3-9 week old mammary glands of mice [49]. These likely represented gap junctions made from Cx43 as the vast majority of studies agree that Cx43 is expressed in the basal epithelium and stroma and further, represents the major connexin expressed in the non-pregnant rodent mammary gland [50-54]. Cx43 is also reported to be transcriptionally upregulated in 5-6 week old virgin mice suggesting a role in pubertal mammary gland development [53].

Figure 1.2. Connexin expression throughout mouse mammary gland development. (A) Schematic rendering of Cx43 (green), Cx26 (red), Cx32 (blue) and Cx30 (yellow) expression throughout mammary gland development based on the body of evidence discussed in this review. (B) The first main phase of mammary gland development occurs through puberty as a rudimentary duct structure extends and branches throughout the fat pad. The virgin mammary gland epithelium contains luminal cells (brown) expressing low levels of Cx26, Cx30 and Cx32 (not shown) throughout virgin gland development. Luminal cells surrounded by myoepithelial cells (peach) connected by gap junctions composed of Cx43 (green) that are upregulated during puberty. The epithelium is embedded in the stroma that contains mainly adipocytes (clear), as well as fibroblasts (yellow) that express Cx43, separated by a basement membrane (dark blue). (C) The second main phase of development occurs following the onset of pregnancy as extensive lobuloalveolar development prepares the mammary gland to produce and deliver milk during lactation before the gland undergoes involution where extensive cell death and remodeling returns the gland to a pre-pregnant state. Cx26 and Cx30 are dramatically upregulated in luminal alveolar cells during pregnancy while Cx32 is upregulated following parturition during early lactation. By mid-lactation, Cx30 expression reverts back to levels expressed in the virgin mammary gland while this occurs for Cx32 at the onset of involution. Cx26 remains elevated throughout lactation and into the early stages of involution in luminal alveolar cells. In some instances, these connexins may selectively intermix to form heteromeric and heterotypic gap junction channels. Myoepithelial cells continue to express Cx43 gap junctions throughout pregnancy, lactation and involution. Each development stage is paired with a representative epithelial architecture of the mouse mammary gland as revealed by whole mount analysis using carmine alum staining.

Figure 1.2



Other connexins expressed between luminal cells of the nonpregnant mammary gland are Cx26, Cx32 and Cx30 [52,54]. However, these connexins remain poorly characterized based on low connexin expression, poor sensitivity of anti-connexin antibodies, variations in tissue processing and differences in mouse strains being investigated [51,55-57].

#### 1.5.2 Mammary gland during pregnancy

Following the onset of pregnancy, the connexin expression landscape changes as Cx26 and Cx30 are upregulated and become the dominant connexins expressed within the mammary gland, suggesting a role in regulating mammary gland alveologenesis and differentiation [52,55]. In the case of Cx26, the majority of studies in mice support a modest upregulation by day 5 of pregnancy [51,55], a dramatic upregulation at day 9-10 of pregnancy [51,52,56], before peaking near parturition [50,51,55-57]. Cx30 appears to increase between days 10.5-12.5 of pregnancy before peaking in late pregnancy prior to parturition [11,52]. When Cx26 and Cx30 are coexpressed in mammary epithelium, they colocalize into the same gap junction plaque and form heteromeric channels in vitro [11]. In contrast, Cx32 expression remains low throughout pregnancy prior to extensive upregulation following the onset of lactation, suggesting a role in regulating the secretory phenotype of the gland through GJIC-dependent regulation of signaling molecules as opposed to regulating alveologenesis [52,56,57]. In myoepithelial cells, Cx43 protein expression undergoes a slight increase during pregnancy associated with a shift to more highly phosphorylated forms of Cx43 which are commonly associated with greater GJIC [52,58,59]. Changes in Cx43 correlate with the expression of MAP Kinases ERK1/2 and JNK in primary rat mammary epithelial cells and may be indicative of more functionally active gap junctions although this has not been demonstrated directly *in vivo* [60].

#### 1.5.3 Lactating mammary gland

Following parturition, gap junctions between luminal epithelial cells lining alveoli become larger and less numerous than during pregnancy [49] as elevated and intermixed luminal Cx26, Cx30 and Cx32 channels continue to be colocalized [11,56,57]. The different temporal pattern of Cx26, Cx30 and Cx32 expression as the gland transitions from pregnancy through lactation promotes discrete heteromeric and homomeric gap junctions.
These gap junctions have distinct permeabilities of regulatory molecules IP3, cAMP and cGMP as well as differences in channel insensitivity to closure by the osmolyte taurine present during milk protein synthesis [11,51]. The physiological importance of this remains unknown and less studied due largely to a lag in the development of assays to measure channel activity in vivo. Following day 7 of lactation, Cx30 levels decrease to a prepregnant state [11,52]. Most studies agree that both Cx26 and Cx32 remain high throughout lactation compared to the virgin gland, until the onset of involution [51,52,56,57,61]. In contrast, myoepithelial cells continue to readily express Cx43 in surrounding alveoli throughout lactation [49,58]. The majority of studies suggest that there is a lack of gap junctions between luminal and myoepithelial cells of alveoli [49,58]. However, more recent immunofluorescence based evidence suggests that Cx43 may be localized near myoepithelial-luminal cell contacts, suggesting possible heterocellular interactions [52]. However, as Cx43 has not been described to be expressed in luminal cells of mice it remains difficult to interpret which connexin expressed in luminal cells would be able to dock with Cx43 in myoepithelial cells. Electron microscopy studies may best answer whether gap junctions are present between the luminal and myoepithelial cells of alveoli.

#### 1.5.4 Involuting mammary gland

Unlike lactation, our knowledge of the expression of connexins during involution is limited. During the first 48 hours of involution, large gap junctions between luminal cells of alveoli, similar to those found in lactating mice, are present [49]. These gap junctions likely represent Cx26 as Cx32 levels drop dramatically following the onset of involution [51]. Cx43 also appears to be expressed and has been described to increase between 6-48 hours in the involuting mammary gland following weaning of the pups [53]. However, both Cx43 and Cx26 return to the prepregnant state of expression following 1 week of gland involution [50,52,55].

# 1.6 Expression of connexins in the human breast

Unlike that of the rodent gland, knowledge of connexin expression in the human breast is currently restricted to the nonpregnant adult (Figure 1.3) [50,62-66]. Spatial and temporal connexin expression in human breast development remains under-studied due to the

difficulty in obtaining pubertal, pregnant and lactating human samples. Similar to that of the rodent gland, Cx43 is readily detected in the non-pregnant breast localizing mainly with the myoepithelial marker keratin14 and forming gap junctions between basal cells of both the major ducts and lobules [50,62-66]. In addition, sparse Cx43 gap junction plaques between luminal cells have been reported [64,65]. This raises the potential for Cx43 gap junctions between myoepithelial and luminal cells although this is likely a rare event based on a lack of evidence for luminal/myoepithelial gap junctions at the ultrastructural level [64,65]. In addition, Cx26 has been localized between luminal epithelial cells [62,65]. Cx26 expression is likely low and its expression may reflect dynamic hormonal variation due to monthly cycles or interpatient variability as many studies have failed to detect Cx26 in ducts or lobules based on immunolabelling and electron microscopy [50,63,65,66].

# 1.7 Connexins in mouse mammary gland development

With the development of genetically modified mice expressing either loss-of-function connexin mutants or lacking a specific connexin (Table 1.1), the depth and understanding of connexins in the mammary gland has increased but remains limited by the relatively few *in vivo* studies that have been reported. The sections below highlight the important stage-specific roles of connexins in gland development and function.

## 1.7.1 Embryonic mammary development

Embryonic mammary gland development is mediated by mostly local signaling through epithelial-stromal interactions suggesting a possible role for gap junctions in this process [67]. To date, no study has evaluated connexin expression in prenatal mammary gland development which is not surprising given that the majority of gland development occurs after birth [68]. However, a limited number of indirect studies suggest that connexins are Figure 1.3. **Connexin expression in the non-pregnant human breast.** (A) Alveoli (blue) are connected to openings at the nipple by multiple converging duct systems (yellow). (B) The mammary epithelium consists of luminal cells (brown) connected by gap junctions composed of Cx26 (red), surrounded by myoepithelial cells (peach) connected by Cx43 (green) gap junctions. The epithelium is separated by a basement membrane (dark blue) from the connective tissue containing fibroblasts (yellow) linked by Cx43 gap junctions.





Mouse Line	Background (DNA;ES cell;Blastocyst;Cross)	Modification	Mammary Gland Phenotype	Reference
Gja1+/-	129 SV; 129 R1; C57BL/6	Loss of one allele of Cx43	No defect reported	[7]
Gja1 <sup>+/Gja5</sup>	129 SV; HM1; C57BL/6; C57BL/6	Cx43 allele replaced with Cx40	Normal development and function	[78]
Gja1 <sup>+/Gjb2</sup>	129 SV; HM1; C57BL/6; C57BL/6 and Flp	Cx43 allele replaced with Cx26	Reduced branching of ductuli	[79]
Gja1 <sup>+/Gjb1</sup>	129 SV; HM1; C57BL/6; C57BL/6 Mammary transplant into cleared fat pads of nude mice	Cx43 allele replaced with Cx32	Normal gland development	[80]
Gja1 <sup>+/Gjb1</sup>	129 SV; HM1; C57BL/6; C57BL/6	Cx43 allele replaced with Cx32	Milk ejection defect	[78]
Gja1 <sup>+/G605</sup>	ENU mutagenized C3H/HeJ; FVB;C3; C57BL/6	Point mutation in the <i>Gja1</i> gene causes G60S substitution in one allele	Virgin – delayed ductal and stromal development Lactation – milk stasis and defect in milk ejection	[54,81]
Gjb1-/-	BALB/c; 129 SV J1; C57BL/6; C57BL/6	Loss of Cx32	Ductal elongation and branching normal	[80]
Gjb6 <sup>./.</sup>	129 SV; HM1; C57BL/6; C57BL/6	Loss of Cx30	Fertile, lactate; no rigorous assessment reported	[82]
Gjb2 <sup>n/n</sup> x MMTV-cre	<i>Gjb2<sup>fl/fl</sup></i> mice– BALB/c; HM1; C57BL/6; C57BL/6 MMTV-cre mice – Not Described	Conditional deletion of Cx26 prior to birth	Virgin – normal development Pregnancy - increased apoptosis and decreased alveologenesis	[80]
Gjb2 <sup>ɲ/ɲ</sup> x WAP-cre	<i>Gjb2<sup>fl/fl</sup></i> mice – BALB/c; HM1; C57BL/6; C57BL/6 WAP-cre mice – Not Described	Conditional deletion of Cx26 ~D17 of pregnancy	Normal development and function	[80]

Table 1.1 Genetically-modified mice used to evaluate the role of connexins in the mammary gland.

not critical mediators of this process. The strongest argument for this stems from the fact that all Cx43, Cx26, Cx30 and Cx32 genetically-modified mice where the connexin is ablated or mutated proceed to develop either some kind of a rudimentary mammary gland, or exhibit no gland defects at all (Table 1.1). An obvious explanation for this may be that the impairment or loss of one connexin is compensated by another during this stage of development. Alternatively, another connexin family member may be expressed that is not typically expressed at a similar stage of development. No evidence exists for either of these two possibilities. In fact, adult stem/progenitor cells isolated from human mammoplasty [69,70] or from the bovine mammary gland [71] were found to lack GJIC, inferring that stem/progenitor cells in the mammary gland during embryogenesis may also lack GJIC although a more detailed assessment is needed.

## 1.7.2 Virgin mammary gland

Cx43 is the most highly expressed connexin in the virgin mammary gland and is reported to be upregulated during puberty [53]. Hormonal control of ductal elongation at puberty is driven by estrogen and growth hormone signaling. Estrogen receptor alpha null (*ERaKO*) and growth hormone receptor null (*GHRKO*) mice both exhibit absent or impaired ductal elongation, respectively, without affecting rudimentary gland growth prior to puberty [72,73]. Although estrogen, growth hormone, as well as hormone insulin like growth factor 1 have all been implicated in regulating the expression of Cx43 in other *in vitro* models, it still remains unclear whether these hormones regulate Cx43 in the pubertal mammary gland [74-76]. Importantly, genetically modified mice where Cx43 is expressed but not fully functional have revealed impaired ductal phenotypes similar to *ERaKO* or *GHRKO* mice (Table 1.1).

One mutant mouse line that has proven to be insightful in our understanding of the mammary gland is  $Gja1^{+/G60S}$  ( $Cx43^{G60S/+}$ ) mutant mice. These mice mimic the rare, mainly autosomal dominant human developmental disease known as oculodentodigital dysplasia (ODDD). ODDD is linked with >70 mutations in GJA1 gene that gives rise to mainly loss-of-function Cx43 mutants that yield pleiotropic phenotypes in humans including ocular impairments, craniofacial abnormalities, tooth defects and syndactyly of the digits [21,77]. These mice harbor a systemic autosomal dominant mutation in the gene encoding Cx43

that yields a glycine to serine substitution at position 60, decreasing total Cx43 function to only <30% of normal levels [83]. Evaluation of 4-10 week virgin mutant mice revealed a severe delay in ductal elongation as well as stromal impairment compared to control mice in prepubertal, pubertal and adult mice, highlighting a role for Cx43 in regulating epithelial morphogenesis and stromal development in the virgin gland [54]. However, much remains unanswered concerning Cx43 and virgin ductal development. As Cx43 is expressed in both the stromal and epithelial compartment in mice, it remains unknown as to which compartment, if not both, must maintain normal expression of Cx43. Moreover, further studies are needed to define the level of Cx43 required for normal ductal development and if this is dependent on a GJIC. Ultimately, additional *in vivo* studies are needed to clarify the role of Cx43 in virgin ductal development.

In the case of Cx26 and Cx32 which are normally expressed in mammary luminal cells, it is not surprising that mammary gland ablated Gjb2 and global Gjb1 null mice exhibit normal virgin gland architecture as their expression is low in the non-pregnant mammary gland [80]. Similarly, Cx30 appears dispensable both in the virgin gland and the developing gland, as Gjb6 null mice are fertile and able to lactate suggesting that a ductal network is formed during adolescence, although a detailed evaluation of the virgin mammary gland in Gjb6 null mice has not been performed [82]. Taken together, Cx43 appears to regulate ductal elongation and stromal development in the virgin mammary gland.

### 1.7.3 Mammary gland during pregnancy

Following the onset of pregnancy, Cx26 upregulation is likely driven by prolactin signaling as transcript profiling of mammary glands from prolactin receptor knockout mice (*PrlRKO*) revealed a downregulation of Cx26 compared to control mice during early pregnancy [84]. In support of this, a binding site for Stat5, a downstream mediator of prolactin signaling, has been reported in the promoter of *GJB2* [85]. As Cx30 is also upregulated during pregnancy and colocalizes with Cx26 it is likely that it is also regulated by prolactin. Indeed, Talhouk et al. observed that exogenous administration of prolactin and the corticosteroid dexamethasone were able to upregulate Cx30 expression in mouse mammary epithelial cells *in vitro* [52]. Thus, both Cx26 and Cx30 appear to be regulated by the hormone prolactin.

Apart from prolactin signaling, Cx26 has also been shown to be upregulated by the administration of exogenous human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) in rat mammary glands and *ex vivo* organ culture, through downstream activation of Sp transcription factors [86,87]. However, as hCG treatment coincided with an increase in both 17 $\beta$  estradiol and progesterone, it remains unclear how each hormone individually affects the levels of Cx26 or how the presence of multiple hormones alters the expression of Cx26 [86]. Importantly, both estrogen and progesterone have been reported to regulate Cx26 expression in the endometrium, suggesting that ovarian steroidal hormones may also regulate Cx26 in the mammary gland [88]. It remains unknown if Cx30 can also be hormonally regulated by hCG and ovarian steroids. Further studies are needed to understand hormonal regulation of Cx26 and Cx30, particularly in the more physiological context of multiple hormones.

Cx26 was first identified to be important in alveolar development during pregnancy following conditional deletion of Cx26 prior to birth by crossing  $Gib2^{fl/fl}$  mice with mice expressing Cre under the mouse mammary tumor virus promoter (MMTV-cre;Gib2<sup>fl/fl</sup>) [80]. These mice exhibited impaired alveologenesis and reduced ability of the dams to feed their pups as a result of increased apoptosis [80]. As such, the working model suggested that, in response to prolactin and progesterone driven alveologenesis, Cx26 is upregulated to promote epithelial cell survival within the pregnant mammary gland [80]. However, in the same study another conditionally ablated Cx26 mouse model was created by crossing Gib2<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice with mice expressing Cre under the whey acidic acid (WAP) promoter (WAPcre;Gjb2<sup>fl/fl</sup>), yielding Cx26 silencing during late pregnancy. Unexpectedly, these mice revealed normal gland development and function, suggesting that Cx26 is important during early pregnancy [80]. While these results are intriguing, the fact that a large human population with syndromic and non-syndromic deafness express systemic loss of function mutations in the GJB2 gene that encodes Cx26 but have no reports of breast feeding impairments argues against the translatability of these findings. In addition, MMTV-cre mice that have been used to generate the MMTV-cre;  $Gjb2^{fl/fl}$  mice have been reported to have impaired alveologenesis in the mammary gland, further supporting a need for additional in vivo studies to clarify the role of Cx26 in the pregnant mammary gland. Similarly, the role of Cx30 is not clearly defined during pregnancy as a detailed evaluation of the mammary gland in *Gjb6<sup>-/-</sup>* mice is lacking.

Apart from extensive lobuloal veolar development that occurs in the mammary gland during pregnancy, the gland must also undergo differentiation as it prepares for secretory activation. To date, reduced or ablated Cx26, Cx32, Cx43 or Cx30 function suggests that loss of one connexin does not impair epithelial differentiation. For example in MMTVcre;Gjb2<sup>fl/f</sup> mutant mice, evaluation of numerous markers of epithelial differentiation including  $\beta$ -catenin, keratin 5, smooth muscle actin, E-cadherin and the NaKCl cotransporter 1 indicated that the gland differentiated normally, despite reduced lobuloalveolar development, suggesting that Cx26 is not required to maintain normal epithelial differentiation [80]. Similarly, loss of Cx43 function in  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice was not associated with changes in the expression of E-cadherin, P-cadherin,  $\beta$ -catenin, occludin or claudin 1, molecules involved in tight and adherens junctions [81]. Milk was produced in both of these mouse models as well as in  $Gjb1^{-/-}$  and  $Gjb6^{-/-}$  mutant mice, suggesting normal secretory differentiation of the gland and that no single connexin is essential for the production of milk, although a more rigorous assessment has not been performed [80-82]. Taken together, it is apparent that the loss of one connexin does not critically impede normal epithelial and secretory differentiation of the gland but that the loss of Cx26 does impair normal alveogenesis.

#### 1.7.4 Lactating mammary gland

Following parturition, Cx32 is dramatically upregulated and appears to be under the control of prolactin signaling, as both *PrlRKO* and *Stat5 null* mice failed to express Cx32 during lactation [89]. Importantly, as both Cx26 and Cx30 are also suggested to be upregulated by prolactin but exhibit distinct temporal regulation compared to that of Cx32, additional hormonal or local mechanisms likely also influence the expression of Cx32. The expression of Cx32 and Cx26 during lactation is believed to function through the diffusion of ionic and molecular gradients, allowing for coordinated secretion of adjacent cells [61]. Despite this, both *Gjb1* null and mammary gland ablated *Gjb2* mice show histological evidence of milk and lipid droplets in the lumen of alveoli, suggesting normal secretion of the gland [80]. However, the reduction of Cx43 function in the lactating gland of *Cx43*<sup>G605/+</sup> mice led to the presence of large cytoplasmic lipid droplets in luminal cells that have previously been implicated in delayed secretory activation [46,81]. As a result, only myoepithelial

Cx43 and not luminal cell expressed Cx26 and Cx32 have been implicated in regulating the luminal secretory phenotype of the mammary gland, albeit only when Cx43 function is greatly impaired.

Apart from the production and secretion of milk, the lactating mammary gland must coordinate the contraction of myoepithelial cells to propel milk from the alveoli through the converging duct system towards the nipple. Cx43 was first suggested to contribute to the coupling of myoepithelial cells during milk ejection based on a shift in the phosphorylation state of Cx43 in the myoepithelial cells during lactation [52,58]. However, the hormonal control regulating the Cx43 phosphorylation shift and its increased expression is unknown. Likely candidates include estrogen and oxytocin as these have been shown to regulate the levels of Cx43 in the uterus and mouse embryonic stem cells, respectively [90,91].

It was not until the assessment of knockin Cx43 mouse models in which one allele of *Gja1* was replaced by *Gjb1* (*Gja1*<sup>+/Gjb1</sup>), *Gjb2* (*Gja1*<sup>+/Gjb2</sup>) or *Gja5* (*Gja1*<sup>+/Gja5</sup>) was evidence obtained of a role for Cx43 in milk ejection *in vivo*. For example, mammary glands of lactating  $Gja1^{+/Gjb1}$  and  $Gja1^{+/Gjb2}$  mice were unable to feed their pups despite evidence of milk production and secretion [78,79]. Surprisingly  $Gja1^{+/-}$  mice have no reported defect in mammary gland development or function, thus it may be the additional expression of Cx26 and Cx32 in myoepithelial cells, rather than the 50% loss of Cx43 function, that is ultimately responsible for the gland defects [7]. Although not directly demonstrated, myoepithelial cells engineered to express Cx26 and Cx32 could allow for gap junctions between luminal and myoepithelial cells, creating a gap junction channel mediated exchange that does not normally exist [92]. Conversely when Cx43 is replaced with Cx40 in *Gja1*<sup>+/Gja5</sup> mice, there is no luminal/myoepithelial exchange possibility as Cx40 in the myoepithelial cells is unable to form heterotypic channels with the Cx26, Cx30 or Cx32 found in luminal cells and these mice continue to lactate and feed their pups [78].

The role for Cx43 in milk ejection was established later as the reduction of Cx43 by 70% in  $Cx43^{G605/+}$  mice led to a defect in the ability of the mammary gland to respond to oxytocin, despite normal expression of the oxytocin receptor [54]. Thus, it was concluded

that Cx43 functions to coordinate synchronous contractions of myoepithelial cells for proper milk ejection [54]. This was corroborated by others where Wnt5a overexpression in human MCF10A cells led to an increase in Cx43 phosphorylation at serine 368 and a decrease in GJIC, suggesting that Wnt5a negatively regulates Cx43 function [93]. Indeed, Wnt5a overexpression in the mammary glands of lactating mice resulted in a similar inability of these mice to respond to exogenous oxytocin, further supporting a critical role of Cx43 in coordinating timely and proper milk ejection [93]. Oxytocin signaling is mediated through the oxytocin receptor coupled to G<sub>aq</sub>11 and phospholipase C activation triggering the release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from intracellular stores [94]. Ca<sup>2+</sup> has previously been shown to pass through Cx43 gap junctions making it interesting to speculate that Cx43 functions via GJIC dependent mechanisms to coordinate synchronous contraction via transfer of Ca<sup>2+</sup> [10]. However, further *in vivo* studies are needed better define GJIC-dependent versus independent role for Cx43 in lactating mice. In summary, the evidence to date points to a critical role for Cx43 in coordinating myoepithelial contraction and milk ejection.

### 1.7.5 Involuting mammary gland

Only Cx26 and Cx43 are described as being expressed during the first 48 hours of involution. To date, no evidence exists that would suggest connexins are critical for the mammary gland to undergo involution. However, evidence against a role for Cx26 in involution exists. *Gjb2* ablation did not initiate precocious involution of the gland despite an increase in the number of apoptotic cells during pregnancy as Stat3 phosphorylation, a marker and critical regulator of involution, did not increase [80].

# 1.8 Connexins and pannexins in cancer

Assessment of gap junctions in the mammary gland using genetically-modified mice has established a role for Cx43 in ductal elongation during puberty, a role for Cx26 in alveogenesis during pregnancy and a role for Cx43 in milk ejection during lactation. While additional *in vivo* studies are needed to clarify the roles of connexins in mammary gland development and function, there is an emerging foundation to advance our understanding of connexin dysregulation in breast pathologies, most notably breast cancer. Tumors frequently take advantage of proteins or signaling pathways critical in organ

morphogenesis during both embryonic and post-natal development, as recapped by the many reviews written linking the topics [95-97]. Therefore, it is no surprise that connexins are frequently dysregulated in the tumorigenic process of many cancers. This occurs early in the tumorigenic cascade in which connexins most frequently yield a tumor suppressive role in tumorigenesis as reviewed by many [98-100]. Tumor suppressors function to subdue cell proliferation, promote further cell differentiation and/or activate cell death mechanisms to prevent neoplastic cell transformation [101]. Ultimately, an increase in the likelihood of cancer occurs following the partial or complete inactivation of genes that govern these pathways [101].

While it currently remains unknown if connexins represent true tumor suppressors, four lines of evidence argue for this critical role in tumorigenesis as outlined by Naus and Laird [99]. First, connexins and/or gap junctions are typically downregulated in tumor cell lines, as well as in rodent and human tumors compared to normal healthy tissue/cell controls [64,98,102]. Secondly, chemicals and oncogenes that promote tumor onset and progression usually affect gap junction channels [103]. Thirdly, ectopic expression of connexins frquently suppresses cell and tumor growth and promotes a more differentiated phenotype [104,105]. Finally, and perhaps most convincingly, many gene knockout studies in mice observe an increase susceptibility to tumor onset mainly with the use of carcinogenic agents [106,107]. While these studies provide extensive evidence for connexins as tumor suppressors, this role is complicated by reports of connexin upregulation at later stages of tumor progression in many cancers, including breast cancer, suggesting a potential role to facilitate tumor progression [108-110].

Similarly, despite the relatively new field, Panx1 has also been described as both a tumor suppressor and a tumor facilitator. Panx1 was originally reported as a putative tumor suppressor based on reduced expression in C6 glioma cells compared to primary rat astrocytes. Furthermore, when overexpressed in C6 glioma cells Panx1 reduced cell proliferation, migration and anchorage independent growth while decreasing tumor size *in vivo* in a xenograft tumor model [111,112]. This role may extend to other cancers as Panx1 was found to be reduced in human basal and squamous carcinomas compared to normal skin controls [113]. Alternatively, knockdown of Panx1 in aggressive BL6 melanoma cells

led to a decrease in cell migration, conversion to a more melanocytic phenotype and reduced tumor size when injected into chick embryos [114]. Most interestingly, a *PANX1* nonsense mutation was recently identified in human metastatic breast cancer cell lines that yielded a truncated Panx1 mutant (Panx1<sup>1-89</sup>) at position 90 of the 426 amino acid polypeptide [115]. Panx1<sup>1-89</sup> increased Panx1 channel ATP release when co-expressed with wild-type Panx1, which was shown to promote metastatic cell survival during intravascular invasion of the lung [115]. This ultimately suggests that Panx1 may act as tumor facilitator in breast cancer metastasis, although the role of Panx1 in the primary tumor remains unknown. As the mechanisms and tumor stages associated with connexin and pannexin tumor suppressive and tumor facilitator function remain poorly understood, additional studies, particularly *in vivo*, are needed to help clarify the role of these large pore channels in tumor onset, progression and metastasis. As the role of Panx1 in breast cancer has only been investigated in one study, the remaining part of this chapter highlights our current understanding of the role of Cx43 and Cx26 in breast cancer.

## 1.9 Connexins in breast cancer

Breast cancer, like other cancers, is a disease characterized by the disruption of cellular homeostasis within the normal tissue environment that is caused by genetic mutations and/or epigenetic dysregulation [116]. Clinically, breast cancer progression is believed to develop from abnormal mammary hyperplasia into a primary tumor, which gains the potential to subsequently invade into the surrounding connective tissue before disseminating into the vasculature or lymphatics and ultimately developing metastases to secondary sites. The exact mechanisms underlying regulation of these processes are very complicated and can differ significantly between patients that appear to have near identical disease [117]. This heterogeneity suggests that no single pathway or histological subtype presents the same in all cases, leading to complications and difficulties in identifying the most effect therapeutics [117]. Conventional cancer chemotherapeutics have proven incompletely effective in treating the disease, frequently yielding significant side effects and highlighting a need for novel agents [118]. As a result, a push towards more targeted therapeutics has been made in recent years [116]. Connexins continue to remain on the radar as therapeutic targets in potentially new combination therapies.

Both Cx26 and Cx43 were originally classified as a tumor suppressors in breast cancer following differential mRNA expression in cell lines derived from primary and metastatic tumors through subtractive hybridization [102,119]. Connexins are typically considered tumor suppressor genes in the context of breast cancer based on their downregulation in human breast cancer cell lines, mediated in part by methylation, as opposed to mutation or deletion [119,120]. Immunohistochemical analysis of human breast tumor samples typically reveals reduced connexin gap junctions, and presumably GJIC, in primary tumors compared to matched normal or benign breast lesions [64,66,121,122]. While these results do not appear to be specific to a defined histological subtype, loss of Cx26 appears to be more frequent in epithelial-derived breast lesions, while mesenchymal, fibroepithelial, myoepithelial and tumors of the nipple retain connexin expression more similar to the normal breast (Table 1.2).

However, several key findings challenge the tumor suppressive role of connexins in breast cancer. First, increased connexin expression has been reported in higher grade primary tumors, which in the case of Cx43 may represent altered Cx43 phosphorylation states [63,123]. Secondly, connexin expression has been reported to be increased in lymph node metastases compared to matched primary tumors suggesting a role for Cx43 in facilitating breast cancer metastasis [124]. Finally, correlation of connexin expression with breast cancer patient outcome has been associated with poor survival and an increase in recurrence [125,126], although this certainly is not always the case [127]. Therefore, the potential dual role of connexins as tumor suppressors and tumor facilitators represents a significant roadblock to the design and development of targeted therapeutics against these channels. The following sections represent current evidence of the tumor suppressive and tumor facilitating roles of connexins in regulating breast cancer as they relate to distinct tumor properties or hallmarks of cancer [128].

Primary Tumor	Cx26 Tumor Expres	sion Cx43 Tumor Expression	Ref.
Histological	Intracellular (I)	Intracellular (I)	
Classification	Cell Surface (CS)	Cell Surface (CS)	
<b>Epithelial Tumors</b>			
Ductal Carcinoma In	3/4 (I)	0/4	[63]
Situ	N/A	1/4 (I)	[64]
	N/A	4/11 (Mostly I)	[122]
	N/A	17/17 - Phospho-Cx43 Ab	[123]
		(Weak/None;Pan-Cx43 Ab)	
	N/A	24/93	[129]
Lobular Carcinoma In	0/1	0/1	[63]
Situ	N/A	5/5 -Phospho-Cx43 Ab	[123]
		(Weak/None;Pan-Cx43 Ab)	[123]
Tubular Carcinoma	N/A	0/4	[123]
Mucinous Carcinoma	0/1	1/1 (CS)	[63]
		5/5 -Phospho-Cx43 Ab	[123]
	2/4 (I)	N/A	[126]
Apocrine Carcinoma	0/1	N/A	[126]
Invasive Breast	15/27 (Mostly I)	14/27 (Mostly I)	[63]
Cancer No Special	27/51 (1)	42/51 (Mostly I)	[124]
Type	0/6		[(()]
Invasive Ductal	0/6	0/6	[66]
Carcinoma	N/A	0/21 26/20 (J)	[64]
	N/A	26/29 (I)	[122]
	N/A	21/21 -Phospho-Cx43 Ab	[123]
		(Weak/None;Pan-Cx43 Ab)	
	70/138 (I)	N/A	[126]
	N/A	62/182	[129]
Invasive Lobular	0/1	0/1	[66]
Carcinoma	N/A	0/7	[64]
	N/A	5/5 -Phospho-Cx43 Ab	[123]
		(Weak/None;Pan-Cx43 Ab)	[123]
	6/9 (I)	N/A	[126]
Mesenchymal			
Tumors			51003
Breast Sarcoma	N/A	1/1	[123]
Myoepithelial			
Tumors	1/1/T)	1/1/(00)	[(2)]
Adenomyoepithelioma	1/1 (1)	1/1 (CS)	[63]
Fibroepithelial			
Tumors	0/2	2/2 (08)	[(()]
Fibroadenoma	0/3	3/3 (CS)	[00]
Phyllodas Tumor	1/9 (1)	9/9 (CS)	[03]
I nyuoues I unior Benign	1/1 (I)	1/1 (CS)	[63]
Malignant	$N/\Delta$	1/1 (CS)	[122]
Tumors of the Ninnle	11/ <i>Г</i> 1	1/1	[123]
Paget Disease	N/A	3/3 –Phospho/Pan-Cx43 Ab	[123]
- ager Discuse	- **	e, e i nosphori un en 15 me	L+#J

Table 1.2. Connexin expression in human breast cancer primary tumors based on histological subtype.

#### 1.9.1 Proliferation and cell growth

Numerous *in vitro* studies have observed that ectopic Cx26 or Cx43 expression in breast cancer cell lines leads to a decrease in 2D and 3D cell growth rate compared to controls [130-135]. Knockdown strategies using siRNA and shRNA targeting Cx43 in benign breast cancer cell lines led to increased cell population growth compared to untransfected control cells, supporting Cx43 as a suppressor of cell proliferation [135,136]. Most convincingly, breast cancer cells ectopically expressing Cx43 or Cx26 had reduced mammary tumor volume when orthotopically injected into mice [130,131]. This is supported by a significant negative correlation between Cx43 and the proliferation marker Ki67 in human tissue microarrays, suggesting that connexins regulate proliferation of breast cancer cells in vivo [127]. Interestingly, connexin regulation of cell proliferation can be achieved by a GJICindependent mechanism, as the overexpression of Cx43 or Cx26 in mainly GJIC-deficient breast cancer cell lines suppressed cell growth and proliferation without an increase in GJIC [131,135,137,138]. As a potential mechanism for GJIC-independent inhibition of cell growth, ectopic Cx43 expression reduced the levels of the growth factor receptor fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (FGFR3), which may in turn reduce the effects of paracrine protumorigenic growth signals [131]. Importantly, the role of Cx43 in regulating cell proliferation may be superseded in the cellular environment by more oncogenic proteins, such as the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) marker Twist, as knockdown of Cx43 in human mammary epithelial cells over-expressing Twist did not affect proliferation in 2D culture [125].

When connexins are assessed for their ability to regulate breast cancer cell proliferation without attachment to a solid substrate, via a soft agar anchorage-independent growth assay, the role of connexins is not so clear. Ectopic expression of Cx43 or Cx26 in MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and/or MDA-MB-435 human breast cancer cells had reduced colony forming ability in soft agar compared to control cells [132,133,138], while in a similar assay using Cx43 knockdown approach in metastatic 4T1 murine breast cancer cells, no difference was observed compared to controls [125]. Although it remains unclear whether these opposing effects are cell type specific, the vast majority of studies support a tumor

suppressive role for connexins in regulating cell proliferation and anchorage-independent cell growth.

## 1.9.2 Apoptosis

While connexins appear to regulate cell proliferation in breast cancer, less is known about their role in regulating cell death. Connexins have been suggested to regulate apoptotic mechanisms in breast cancer. Intracellular Cx26 or Cx43 expression had a positive correlation with the expression of the pro-apoptotic protein Bak in human breast cancer biopsies, suggesting that connexins may be associating with apoptotic signaling pathways [121]. In support, exogenous Cx43 expression in breast cancer cells had increased caspase3 activity, a marker of apoptosis, upon retinoic acid treatment compared to controls [134]. However, as ectopic expression of connexins in breast cancer cell lines do not typically drive apoptosis, it appears that connexins are much more intimately associated with the regulation of cell proliferation than apoptosis [135].

## 1.9.3 Angiogenesis

Intimately associated with tumor growth is the ability of a tumor to feed itself by stimulating the growth of new blood vessels. Connexins have also been implicated in reducing angiogenesis that in turn may suppress the growth of primary breast tumors. Endothelial migration and tubule formation were significantly reduced when endothelial cells were grown in conditioned media collected from breast cancer cells ectopically expressing Cx26 or Cx43 in 2D and 3D cultures [133]. These results suggest that connexin expression in breast cancer cells may suppress either the release of angiogenic factors, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), or promote the release of anti-angiogenic factors, such as thrombospondin1 (TSP-1). Indeed, this notion is supported by the observation that ectopic Cx26 expression in breast cancer cells increased the expression of TSP-1, while silencing of Cx43 resulted in decreased expression of the anti-angiogenic protein TSP-1 with a concomitant increase in pro-angiogenic VEGF [133,136,137].

Figure 1.4. **Current model of connexin expression and function in regulating breast cancer progression.** Connexin expression is differentially regulated throughout breast cancer progression to inhibit/acquire tumor suppressive (Green) or facilitating (Red) effects of gap junction channels. Following breast cancer onset, connexins are frequently downregulated or localized to the cytoplasm as tumors inhibit the proposed tumor suppressive role of connexins in proliferation, angiogenesis and differentiation. As breast cancer gains the ability to invade the surrounding connective tissue, loss of GJIC and connexin expression may be permissive to the acquisition of a more migratory and invasive phenotype. However, connexin expression may be upregulated at later stages of breast cancer progression facilitating breast cancer extravasation and metastasis. Adapted by permission (Appendix 2) from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Nature Reviews Cancer [99], copyright 2010.





Mechanistically, Cx26 appears to regulate angiogenesis through both GJIC-dependent and -independent mechanisms as both wild-type Cx26 and GFP-Cx26, a GJIC-deficient chimeric mutant with GFP fused at the amino terminus, both regulated tumor angiogenesis genes as assessed through DNA array [137]. Importantly, these results were extended *in vivo* using a primary xenograft tumor model, revealing significantly reduced vascularization in tumors derived from breast cancer cells that ectopically expressed Cx43 compared to control cells [133]. To date, connexins appear to suppress a pro-angiogenic phenotype in breast cancer cell lines both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, however the translatability of these results to human breast tumors remains unknown.

#### 1.9.4 Differentiation and epithelial-mesenchymal transition

Typical of tumor suppressors, ectopic expression of Cx43 and/or Cx26 has been shown in numerous studies to induce partial re-differentiation of breast cancer cell lines to resemble more spherical duct-like acini in 3D cultures [130,133,135]. This mechanism may not be dependent on GJIC as over-expression of connexins in breast cancer cells, without a concomitant increase in GJIC, promoted proper organoid polarity as assessed by the localization of  $\beta$ 1 integrin and collagen IV [133]. As a result, connexins appear to promote a more differentiated phenotype, a mechanism likely to protect carcinoma cells against the acquisition of a more invasive and migratory mesenchymal phenotype during the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) that often occurs as part of cancer metastasis. Indeed, connexin overexpression in breast cancer cell lines has been shown to induce the expression of the epithelial marker cytokeratin18 and reduce the expression of the mesenchymal markers vimentin and N-cadherin, suggesting that connexins play a role in regulating EMT processes by promoting a more epithelial phenotype [133,134]. Therefore, evidence to date suggests that connexins act as tumor suppressors to promote differentiation of a more epithelial phenotype.

#### 1.9.5 Migration and invasion

Following growth in the primary tumor, cancer cells ultimately develop the capacity to invade into surrounding tissues. Invasion in part requires tumor cells to tip the balance between secreted proteolytic enzymes, such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), and

their inhibitors, tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs), as well as gain the ability to migrate [139]. Typically, ectopic expression of Cx26 and Cx43 reduces cell migration and invasion of human breast cancer cells through transwell chemotaxis assays with/without Matrigel coating [132,133,138]. Similarly, Cx43 knockdown in breast cancer cells, either through siRNA or overexpression of the transcription factor Fra-2, leads to increased cell migration and invasion compared to control cells [136,140]. Connexin regulation of cell migration and invasion is not GJIC-dependent, at least in the context of Cx26, as both ectopic expression of a Cx26 GJIC-incompetent variant or a Cx26 mutant that remained intracellular reduced cell migration similar to wild-type Cx26 [138]. Mechanistically, connexin regulation of invasion may be through control of extracellular matrix remodeling, as overexpression of Cx26 in breast cancer cells decreased the expression of MMP-9 while increasing the expression of TIMP-1 [133,138]. However, unlike in vitro models the role of connexins during invasion of human breast cancer cells in patients remains unclear. Cx43 expression was reduced in ductal carcinoma *in situ* with microinvasion compared with biopsies of pure ductal carcinoma *in situ*, suggesting a role for Cx43 in the initial stages of invasion [129]. In addition, since connexin expression has also been reported to be upregulated in invasive breast cancer lesions, it is clear that additional models are needed to establish whether connexins suppress invasive properties of tumor cells *in vivo* in a similar manner to that observed *in vitro* (Table 1.2) [63].

### 1.9.6 Extravasation

Following entry into the vasculature, breast cancer cells must bypass blood vessel endothelium in order to colonize and form metastases in secondary organ sites. Cx43 is likely more involved in this step than Cx26, as Cx43 more readily forms gap junction channels with Cx43, Cx40 and Cx37 typically expressed in endothelial cells [141,142]. Interestingly, unlike the mainly tumor suppressive roles for connexins in breast cancer cells described, ectopic Cx43 expression in HBL100 breast cancer cells increased the number of tumor cells undergoing transendothelial migration compared to control *in vitro* [143]. Importantly, this effect was reduced following treatment with GJIC inhibitors or when expressing GJIC-deficient GFP-Cx43, with GFP tagged to the amino terminus. Ultimately, these experiments suggest that Cx43 acts as a tumor facilitator during extravasation

through a GJIC-dependent mechanism [143]. In contrast, MDA-MB-231 cells overexpressing fully functional Cx43-GFP had reduced *in vitro* extravasation through endothelial cells grown to confluence on matrigel-coated invasion assays, suggesting cell-line specific differences [135]. Although further studies are needed to clarify the role of Cx43 in extravasation, two lines of evidence provide a potential mechanism for Cx43 as a tumor facilitator. First, Cx43 may increase cell adhesion between breast cancer cells and endothelial cells. This was observed in a tail vein injection metastasis model in which a greater number of breast cancer cells compared to control cells [110]. Secondly, breast cancer cells may alter heterocellular GJIC between endothelial cells to facilitate movement through the vasculature. This was observed *in vitro*, where the co-culturing of breast cancer cells with endothelial cells resulted in a transient loss in GJIC between endothelial cells [144]. While further *in vivo* models are needed to more rigorously evaluate connexins in extravasation, evidence to date points to a role for Cx43 as a tumor facilitator at this stage of disease progression.

#### 1.9.7 Metastatic potential

The potential role for connexins during extravasation suggests that Cx43 may help promote breast cancer cell metastasis. However, this is certainly not always the case as MDA-MB-435 human breast cancer cells stably expressing Cx43 exhibited a ~50% reduction in metastases to the lungs when injected into nude mice [134]. In support of this finding, a significant inverse correlation was observed between the metastatic potential of orthotopically injected mammary adenocarcinoma cells to the lungs, and their GJIC capacity *in vitro* [145]. Interestingly, when the breast metastasis suppressor 1 (BRMS1) protein was expressed in breast cancer cell lines one of the downstream effects observed was the re-establishment of GJIC through upregulation of Cx26, further supporting a tumor suppressive role for connexins in metastasis [146]. However, these studies are limited by their mostly correlative nature.

Alternatively, shRNA/siRNA knockdown of Cx43 in metastatic 4T1 murine breast cancer cells reduced microtumor formation in the brain when injected into mice, while an increase in Cx43 expression mediated through direct or indirect mechanisms following the over-

expression of the EMT-inducing transcription factor Twist increased the metastatic ability of these cells [125]. Collectively, these results suggest that Cx43 facilitates the formation of metastases, particularly to the brain [125]. This has been supported by others in which matched metastatic tumors from the brain had increased expression of Cx26 and Cx43 at the cell surface compared to primary tumors [147]. Interestingly, connexins may contribute to a tumor facilitating role in metastases in two ways. First, the tumor suppressive role of Cx43 in regulating cell growth in the primary tumor may be co-opted by breast cancer cells at later stages to promote tumor cell dormancy until appropriate conditions allow for metastatic growth. This is observed *in vitro* when breast cancer cells are co-cultured with bone marrow stroma yielding decreased proliferation that is GJIC-dependent [148]. In addition, this also was observed in vivo, where Cx43 knockdown reduced the number of breast cancer cells in the brain of an *in vivo* chicken embryo metastasis model [125]. Secondly, connexin expression may drive epithelial re-differentiation of metastatic tumor cells from the migratory/invasive mesenchymal phenotype to initiate the formation of metastases in secondary tissues [147]. Taken together, the role of connexins in the ability to form metastases in secondary sites remains unclear.

## 1.10 Mouse models used in this thesis

In order to further investigate the role of Cx43, Cx26 and Panx1 in mammary gland development *in vivo* in this thesis, we have obtained three previously uncharacterized genetically modified mouse models. First,  $Gja1^{+/1130T}$  ( $Cx43^{1130T/+}$ ) mice were generated by Dr. Glen Fishman's laboratory through site-directed mutagenesis on a mixed C57BL/6 and CD1 background with systemic heterozygous expression of the I130T mutant similar to human patients with ODDD [149]. Importantly,  $Cx43^{1130T/+}$  mice provide a means to evaluate the role of Cx43 in the mammary gland as these mice are viable and have reduced intercellular coupling of gap junction channels composed of Cx43 in primary cardiomyocytes [149] and likely all tissues and cell types that express Cx43. Secondly, Dr. Christian Naus' laboratory developed a novel conditionally ablated Cx26 mouse model on a mixed CBA and C57BL/6 background [150,151]. The role of Cx26 during pregnancy and lactation can be evaluated by crossing mice expressing the Cre-transgene under the mammary gland specific  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin (BLG) promoter with  $Gjb2^{fl/fl}$  mice containing

flanked *loxP* sites on exon 2 of *Gjb2* to produce *BLG-cre;Gjb2*<sup>*fl/fl</sup></sup> (<i>BLG-Cre;Cx26*<sup>*fl/fl*</sup>) mice [151]. BLG activity is highly specific to the mammary gland and has been reported to become activated by ~D10 of lactation in mice with a Cre-mediated recombination efficiency of ~70-80% of lactating epithelial cells [150]. Finally, *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were generated by Dr. Vishva Dixit's laboratory on a C57BL/6 background by crossing mice in which Exon 2 of *Panx1* were flanked by *loxP* sites with the *C57BL/6-Gt(ROSA)26Sortm16(Cre)Arte* Cre deleter strain [152]. Ultimately, this cross generated mice with Cre-mediated deletion of exon2 of *Panx1* yielding a frameshift and premature stop codon in the Panx1 transcript [152]. Importantly, systemic deletion of Panx1 is not embryonic lethal allowing for evaluation of Panx1 in the context of the mammary gland.</sup>

# 1.11 Rationale and objectives

To date, the roles of Cx43 and Cx26 in mammary gland development and function are not fully understood while that of Panx1 remains completely unknown. The evaluation of new genetically-modified mice including the  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$ , conditional BLG- $Cre;Cx26^{fl/fl}$  and  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice provides a means to evaluate all stages of mammary gland development. Importantly, as loss-of-function mutations in the *GJA1* and *GJB2* are associated with human diseases, results obtained from these studies may also have implications extending to patients with ODDD or hereditary deafness [77,153].

In addition, despite identification of a role for connexins in breast tumorigenesis over 20 years ago, it still remains unclear at which stages connexins support a tumor suppressive or facilitating role in the progression of breast cancer. In breast cancer, the tumor suppressive role of connexins is based mainly on the absence of connexin expression in malignant versus normal cell lines and the loss of connexin expression/GJIC observed in human breast cancer samples. Critics would argue that these studies do not conclusively provide evidence of connexins as tumor suppressors, as down-regulation of connexins may be a consequence of the tumorigenic process as opposed to a root cause. In addition, while overexpression of connexins reduces many tumor cell properties *in vitro*, it remains unclear if this is due to connexins being expressed at non-physiological levels. Ultimately, ectopic expression of connexins may yield growth suppressing effects that are tumor suppressor-like but not indicative of the true role of Cx43 and Cx26 in breast cancer. Similarly, the

role of Panx1 as a putative tumor suppressor or facilitator in cancer remains controversial. While Panx1 has been implicated to act as a tumor facilitator by promoting breast cancer cell survival during metastasis, the role of Panx1 in the primary tumor remains unknown. Taken together, the use of loss-of-function Cx43 mutant mice and conditionally ablated Cx26 knockout mice represent powerful tools to evaluate whether connexins act as putative tumor suppressors, while Panx1 knockout mice may further our understanding of Panx1 as a tumor facilitator. Importantly, these novel mutant mice also allow us to assess connexins and pannexins in the context of both the primary tumor and metastatic lesions in a unifying model system.

# 1.12 Hypothesis

It is therefore hypothesized that Cx43, Cx26 and Panx1 play critical roles in regulating normal mammary gland development and function. In addition, we hypothesize that Cx43 and Cx26 act as tumor suppressors, while Panx1 acts as a tumor facilitator, in breast cancer onset, progression and metastasis.

# 1.13 Objectives

The specific objectives of the project were to:

1) Determine if Cx43 affects mammary gland development in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mutant mice (Chapter 2) and tumorigenesis in  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mutant mice (Appendix 1).

2) Examine if mice with Cx26 conditionally ablated from the mammary gland have altered mammary gland differentiation (Chapter 3) or sensitivity to tumorigenesis (Chapter 4).

3) Identify if Panx1 is involved in mammary gland development, differentiation and sensitivity to tumorigenesis using  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice (Chapter 5).

# 1.14 References

Laird, D. W. (2006) Life cycle of connexins in health and disease. Biochem. J. **394**, 527-543. doi:10.1042/BJ20051922

2 Buehr, M., Lee, S., McLaren, A. and Warner, A. (1987) Reduced gap junctional communication is associated with the lethal condition characteristic of DDK mouse eggs fertilized by foreign sperm. Development. **101**, 449-459

3 Lee, S., Gilula, N. B. and Warner, A. E. (1987) Gap junctional communication and compaction during preimplantation stages of mouse development. Cell. **51**, 851-860

4 Kidder, G. M. and Mhawi, A. A. (2002) Gap junctions and ovarian folliculogenesis. Reproduction. **123**, 613-620

5 Valdimarsson, G., De Sousa, P. A., Beyer, E. C., Paul, D. L. and Kidder, G. M. (1991) Zygotic expression of the connexin43 gene supplies subunits for gap junction assembly during mouse preimplantation development. Mol. Reprod. Dev. **30**, 18-26. doi:10.1002/mrd.1080300103

6 Becker, D. L., Evans, W. H., Green, C. R. and Warner, A. (1995) Functional analysis of amino acid sequences in connexin43 involved in intercellular communication through gap junctions. J. Cell. Sci. **108** (**Pt 4**), 1455-1467

7 Reaume, A. G., de Sousa, P. A., Kulkarni, S., Langille, B. L., Zhu, D., Davies, T. C., Juneja, S. C., Kidder, G. M. and Rossant, J. (1995) Cardiac malformation in neonatal mice lacking connexin43. Science. **267**, 1831-1834

8 Davies, T. C., Barr, K. J., Jones, D. H., Zhu, D. and Kidder, G. M. (1996) Multiple members of the connexin gene family participate in preimplantation development of the mouse. Dev. Genet. **18**, 234-243. doi:2-A

9 Houghton, F. D., Barr, K. J., Walter, G., Gabriel, H. D., Grummer, R., Traub, O., Leese, H. J., Winterhager, E. and Kidder, G. M. (2002) Functional significance of gap junctional coupling in preimplantation development. Biol. Reprod. **66**, 1403-1412

10 Harris, A. L. (2007) Connexin channel permeability to cytoplasmic molecules. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. **94**, 120-143. doi:10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2007.03.011

11 Locke, D., Jamieson, S., Stein, T., Liu, J., Hodgins, M. B., Harris, A. L. and Gusterson, B. (2007) Nature of Cx30-containing channels in the adult mouse mammary gland. Cell Tissue Res. **328**, 97-107. doi:10.1007/s00441-006-0301-6

12 Goodenough, D. A. and Paul, D. L. (2003) Beyond the gap: Functions of unpaired connexon channels. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. **4**, 285-294. doi:10.1038/nrm1072

13 Laird, D. W. (2010) The gap junction proteome and its relationship to disease. Trends Cell Biol. **20**, 92-101. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2009.11.001; 10.1016/j.tcb.2009.11.001

14 Wei, C. J., Xu, X. and Lo, C. W. (2004) Connexins and cell signaling in development and disease. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. **20**, 811-838. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.19.111301.144309

15 Panchin, Y., Kelmanson, I., Matz, M., Lukyanov, K., Usman, N. and Lukyanov, S. (2000) A ubiquitous family of putative gap junction molecules. Curr. Biol. **10**, R473-4

16 Baranova, A., Ivanov, D., Petrash, N., Pestova, A., Skoblov, M., Kelmanson, I., Shagin, D., Nazarenko, S., Geraymovych, E., Litvin, O., Tiunova, A., Born, T. L., Usman, N., Staroverov, D., Lukyanov, S. and Panchin, Y. (2004) The mammalian pannexin family is homologous to the invertebrate innexin gap junction proteins. Genomics. **83**, 706-716. doi:10.1016/j.ygeno.2003.09.025

17 Scemes, E. (2011) Nature of plasmalemmal functional "hemichannels". Biochim. Biophys. Acta. . doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2011.06.005

18 Bruzzone, R., Hormuzdi, S. G., Barbe, M. T., Herb, A. and Monyer, H. (2003) Pannexins, a family of gap junction proteins expressed in brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **100**, 13644-13649. doi:10.1073/pnas.2233464100

19 Vanden Abeele, F., Bidaux, G., Gordienko, D., Beck, B., Panchin, Y. V., Baranova, A. V., Ivanov, D. V., Skryma, R. and Prevarskaya, N. (2006) Functional implications of calcium permeability of the channel formed by pannexin 1. J. Cell Biol. **174**, 535-546. doi:10.1083/jcb.200601115

20 Penuela, S., Harland, L., Simek, J. and Laird, D. W. (2014) Pannexin channels and their links to human disease. Biochem. J. **461**, 371-381. doi:10.1042/BJ20140447; 10.1042/BJ20140447

 21
 Laird, D. W. (2014) Syndromic and non-syndromic disease-linked Cx43 mutations.

 FEBS
 Lett.
 588,
 1339-1348.
 doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2013.12.022;

 10.1016/j.febslet.2013.12.022

22 Penuela, S., Bhalla, R., Gong, X. Q., Cowan, K. N., Celetti, S. J., Cowan, B. J., Bai, D., Shao, Q. and Laird, D. W. (2007) Pannexin 1 and pannexin 3 are glycoproteins that exhibit many distinct characteristics from the connexin family of gap junction proteins. J. Cell. Sci. **120**, 3772-3783. doi:10.1242/jcs.009514

Sosinsky, G. E., Boassa, D., Dermietzel, R., Duffy, H. S., Laird, D. W., MacVicar,
B., Naus, C. C., Penuela, S., Scemes, E., Spray, D. C., Thompson, R. J., Zhao, H. B. and
Dahl, G. (2011) Pannexin channels are not gap junction hemichannels. Channels (Austin).
5, 193-197

24 Barbe, M. T., Monyer, H. and Bruzzone, R. (2006) Cell-cell communication beyond connexins: The pannexin channels. Physiology (Bethesda). **21**, 103-114. doi:10.1152/physiol.00048.2005

25 Penuela, S., Gehi, R. and Laird, D. W. (2012) The biochemistry and function of pannexin channels. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. . doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.01.017

26 Bao, L., Locovei, S. and Dahl, G. (2004) Pannexin membrane channels are mechanosensitive conduits for ATP. FEBS Lett. **572**, 65-68. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2004.07.009

27 Chekeni, F. B., Elliott, M. R., Sandilos, J. K., Walk, S. F., Kinchen, J. M., Lazarowski, E. R., Armstrong, A. J., Penuela, S., Laird, D. W., Salvesen, G. S., Isakson, B. E., Bayliss, D. A. and Ravichandran, K. S. (2010) Pannexin 1 channels mediate 'find-me' signal release and membrane permeability during apoptosis. Nature. **467**, 863-867. doi:10.1038/nature09413

Locovei, S., Wang, J. and Dahl, G. (2006) Activation of pannexin 1 channels by ATP through P2Y receptors and by cytoplasmic calcium. FEBS Lett. **580**, 239-244. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2005.12.004

Silverman, W. R., de Rivero Vaccari, J. P., Locovei, S., Qiu, F., Carlsson, S. K., Scemes, E., Keane, R. W. and Dahl, G. (2009) The pannexin 1 channel activates the inflammasome in neurons and astrocytes. J. Biol. Chem. **284**, 18143-18151. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.004804; 10.1074/jbc.M109.004804

30 Penuela, S., Kelly, J. J., Churko, J. M., Barr, K. J., Berger, A. C. and Laird, D. W. (2014) Panx1 regulates cellular properties of keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts in skin development and wound healing. J. Invest. Dermatol. **134**, 2026-2035. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.86; 10.1038/jid.2014.86

Langlois, S., Xiang, X., Young, K., Cowan, B. J., Penuela, S. and Cowan, K. N. (2014) Pannexin 1 and pannexin 3 channels regulate skeletal muscle myoblast proliferation and differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. **289**, 30717-30731. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.572131; 10.1074/jbc.M114.572131

Wicki-Stordeur, L. E., Dzugalo, A. D., Swansburg, R. M., Suits, J. M. and Swayne, L. A. (2012) Pannexin 1 regulates postnatal neural stem and progenitor cell proliferation. Neural Dev. **7**, 11-8104-7-11. doi:10.1186/1749-8104-7-11; 10.1186/1749-8104-7-11

33 Kranz, K., Dorgau, B., Pottek, M., Herrling, R., Schultz, K., Bolte, P., Monyer, H., Penuela, S., Laird, D. W., Dedek, K., Weiler, R. and Janssen-Bienhold, U. (2013) Expression of Pannexin1 in the outer plexiform layer of the mouse retina and physiological impact of its knockout. J. Comp. Neurol. **521**, 1119-1135. doi:10.1002/cne.23223; 10.1002/cne.23223

Barrett, T., Wilhite, S. E., Ledoux, P., Evangelista, C., Kim, I. F., Tomashevsky, M., Marshall, K. A., Phillippy, K. H., Sherman, P. M., Holko, M., Yefanov, A., Lee, H.,

Zhang, N., Robertson, C. L., Serova, N., Davis, S. and Soboleva, A. (2013) NCBI GEO: Archive for functional genomics data sets--update. Nucleic Acids Res. **41**, D991-5. doi:10.1093/nar/gks1193; 10.1093/nar/gks1193

Geddes, D. T. (2007) Inside the lactating breast: The latest anatomy research. J. Midwifery Womens Health. **52**, 556-563. doi:10.1016/j.jmwh.2007.05.004

Richert, M. M., Schwertfeger, K. L., Ryder, J. W. and Anderson, S. M. (2000) An atlas of mouse mammary gland development. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **5**, 227-241

37 Sternlicht, M. D., Kouros-Mehr, H., Lu, P. and Werb, Z. (2006) Hormonal and local control of mammary branching morphogenesis. Differentiation. **74**, 365-381. doi:10.1111/j.1432-0436.2006.00105.x

38 Hennighausen, L. and Robinson, G. W. (2005) Information networks in the mammary gland. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. **6**, 715-725. doi:10.1038/nrm1714

39 McLachlan, E., Shao, Q. and Laird, D. W. (2007) Connexins and gap junctions in mammary gland development and breast cancer progression. J. Membr. Biol. **218**, 107-121. doi:10.1007/s00232-007-9052-x

40 Macias, H. and Hinck, L. (2012) Mammary gland development. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Dev. Biol. **1**, 533-557. doi:10.1002/wdev.35

41 Visvader, J. E. (2009) Keeping abreast of the mammary epithelial hierarchy and breast tumorigenesis. Genes Dev. **23**, 2563-2577. doi:10.1101/gad.1849509; 10.1101/gad.1849509

42 Howlin, J., McBryan, J. and Martin, F. (2006) Pubertal mammary gland development: Insights from mouse models. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **11**, 283-297. doi:10.1007/s10911-006-9024-2

43 Brisken, C. (2013) Progesterone signalling in breast cancer: A neglected hormone coming into the limelight. Nat. Rev. Cancer. **13**, 385-396. doi:10.1038/nrc3518; 10.1038/nrc3518

44 Cowin, P. and Wysolmerski, J. (2010) Molecular mechanisms guiding embryonic mammary gland development. Cold Spring Harb Perspect. Biol. **2**, a003251. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a003251; 10.1101/cshperspect.a003251

45 Oakes, S. R., Hilton, H. N. and Ormandy, C. J. (2006) The alveolar switch: Coordinating the proliferative cues and cell fate decisions that drive the formation of lobuloalveoli from ductal epithelium. Breast Cancer Res. **8**, 207. doi:10.1186/bcr1411

Anderson, S. M., Rudolph, M. C., McManaman, J. L. and Neville, M. C. (2007) Key stages in mammary gland development. secretory activation in the mammary gland: It's not just about milk protein synthesis! Breast Cancer Res. **9**, 204. doi:10.1186/bcr1653 47 Pang, W. W. and Hartmann, P. E. (2007) Initiation of human lactation: Secretory differentiation and secretory activation. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **12**, 211-221. doi:10.1007/s10911-007-9054-4

48 Watson, C. J. and Kreuzaler, P. A. (2011) Remodeling mechanisms of the mammary gland during involution. Int. J. Dev. Biol. **55**, 757-762. doi:10.1387/ijdb.113414cw

49 Pitelka, D. R., Hamamoto, S. T., Duafala, J. G. and Nemanic, M. K. (1973) Cell contacts in the mouse mammary gland. I. normal gland in postnatal development and the secretory cycle. J. Cell Biol. **56**, 797-818

50 Pozzi, A., Risek, B., Kiang, D. T., Gilula, N. B. and Kumar, N. M. (1995) Analysis of multiple gap junction gene products in the rodent and human mammary gland. Exp. Cell Res. **220**, 212-219. doi:10.1006/excr.1995.1308

51 Locke, D., Stein, T., Davies, C., Morris, J., Harris, A. L., Evans, W. H., Monaghan, P. and Gusterson, B. (2004) Altered permeability and modulatory character of connexin channels during mammary gland development. Exp. Cell Res. **298**, 643-660. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2004.05.003

52 Talhouk, R. S., Elble, R. C., Bassam, R., Daher, M., Sfeir, A., Mosleh, L. A., El-Khoury, H., Hamoui, S., Pauli, B. U. and El-Sabban, M. E. (2005) Developmental expression patterns and regulation of connexins in the mouse mammary gland: Expression of connexin30 in lactogenesis. Cell Tissue Res. **319**, 49-59. doi:10.1007/s00441-004-0915-5

53 Lambe, T., Finlay, D., Murphy, M. and Martin, F. (2006) Differential expression of connexin 43 in mouse mammary cells. Cell Biol. Int. **30**, 472-479. doi:10.1016/j.cellbi.2006.02.008

54 Plante, I. and Laird, D. W. (2008) Decreased levels of connexin43 result in impaired development of the mammary gland in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Dev. Biol. **318**, 312-322. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.03.033

55 Monaghan, P., Perusinghe, N., Carlile, G. and Evans, W. H. (1994) Rapid modulation of gap junction expression in mouse mammary gland during pregnancy, lactation, and involution. J. Histochem. Cytochem. **42**, 931-938

Locke, D., Perusinghe, N., Newman, T., Jayatilake, H., Evans, W. H. and Monaghan, P. (2000) Developmental expression and assembly of connexins into homomeric and heteromeric gap junction hemichannels in the mouse mammary gland. J. Cell. Physiol. **183**, 228-237. doi:2-Y

57 Yamanaka, I., Kuraoka, A., Inai, T., Ishibashi, T. and Shibata, Y. (2001) Differential expression of major gap junction proteins, connexins 26 and 32, in rat mammary glands during pregnancy and lactation. Histochem. Cell Biol. **115**, 277-284

58 Yamanaka, I., Kuraoka, A., Inai, T., Ishibashi, T. and Shibata, Y. (1997) Changes in the phosphorylation states of connexin43 in myoepithelial cells of lactating rat mammary glands. Eur. J. Cell Biol. **72**, 166-173

59 El-Sabban, M. E., Abi-Mosleh, L. F. and Talhouk, R. S. (2003) Developmental regulation of gap junctions and their role in mammary epithelial cell differentiation. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **8**, 463-473. doi:10.1023/B:JOMG.0000017432.04930.76

60 Seo, M. S., Park, J. S., Yang, S. R., Park, K. S., Hong, I. S., Jo, E. H., Kang, K. S. and Lee, Y. S. (2006) Expression of MAP kinases and connexins in the differentiation of rat mammary epithelial cells. J. Vet. Med. Sci. **68**, 567-571

61 Serre-Beinier, V., Mas, C., Calabrese, A., Caton, D., Bauquis, J., Caille, D., Charollais, A., Cirulli, V. and Meda, P. (2002) Connexins and secretion. Biol. Cell. **94**, 477-492

62 Teleki, I., Szasz, A. M., Maros, M. E., Gyorffy, B., Kulka, J., Meggyeshazi, N., Kiszner, G., Balla, P., Samu, A. and Krenacs, T. (2014) Correlations of differentially expressed gap junction connexins cx26, cx30, cx32, cx43 and cx46 with breast cancer progression and prognosis. PLoS One. **9**, e112541. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0112541; 10.1371/journal.pone.0112541

Jamieson, S., Going, J. J., D'Arcy, R. and George, W. D. (1998) Expression of gap junction proteins connexin 26 and connexin 43 in normal human breast and in breast tumors. J. Pathol. **184**, 37-43. doi:2-D

Laird, D. W., Fistouris, P., Batist, G., Alpert, L., Huynh, H. T., Carystinos, G. D. and Alaoui-Jamali, M. A. (1999) Deficiency of connexin43 gap junctions is an independent marker for breast tumors. Cancer Res. **59**, 4104-4110

Monaghan, P., Clarke, C., Perusinghe, N. P., Moss, D. W., Chen, X. Y. and Evans, W. H. (1996) Gap junction distribution and connexin expression in human breast. Exp. Cell Res. **223**, 29-38. doi:10.1006/excr.1996.0055

66 Wilgenbus, K. K., Kirkpatrick, C. J., Knuechel, R., Willecke, K. and Traub, O. (1992) Expression of Cx26, Cx32 and Cx43 gap junction proteins in normal and neoplastic human tissues. Int. J. Cancer. **51**, 522-529

67 Parmar, H. and Cunha, G. R. (2004) Epithelial-stromal interactions in the mouse and human mammary gland in vivo. Endocr. Relat. Cancer. **11**, 437-458

68 Levin, M. (2002) Isolation and community: A review of the role of gap-junctional communication in embryonic patterning. J. Membr. Biol. **185**, 177-192. doi:10.1007/s00232-001-0129-7

69 Kao, C. Y., Nomata, K., Oakley, C. S., Welsch, C. W. and Chang, C. C. (1995) Two types of normal human breast epithelial cells derived from reduction mammoplasty: Phenotypic characterization and response to SV40 transfection. Carcinogenesis. **16**, 531-538

Trosko, J. E. and Chang, C. C. (2003) Isolation and characterization of normal adult human epithelial pluripotent stem cells. Oncol. Res. **13**, 353-357

71 Holland, M. S., Tai, M. H., Trosko, J. E., Griffin, L. D., Stasko, J. A., Cheville, N. C. and Holland, R. E. (2003) Isolation and differentiation of bovine mammary gland progenitor cell populations. Am. J. Vet. Res. **64**, 396-403

Mueller, S. O., Clark, J. A., Myers, P. H. and Korach, K. S. (2002) Mammary gland development in adult mice requires epithelial and stromal estrogen receptor alpha. Endocrinology. **143**, 2357-2365. doi:10.1210/endo.143.6.8836

Gallego, M. I., Binart, N., Robinson, G. W., Okagaki, R., Coschigano, K. T., Perry, J., Kopchick, J. J., Oka, T., Kelly, P. A. and Hennighausen, L. (2001) Prolactin, growth hormone, and epidermal growth factor activate Stat5 in different compartments of mammary tissue and exert different and overlapping developmental effects. Dev. Biol. **229**, 163-175. doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9961

Ren, J., Wang, X. H., Wang, G. C. and Wu, J. H. (2013) 17beta estradiol regulation of connexin 43-based gap junction and mechanosensitivity through classical estrogen receptor pathway in osteocyte-like MLO-Y4 cells. Bone. **53**, 587-596. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2012.12.004; 10.1016/j.bone.2012.12.004

Aberg, N. D., Carlsson, B., Rosengren, L., Oscarsson, J., Isaksson, O. G., Ronnback, L. and Eriksson, P. S. (2000) Growth hormone increases connexin-43 expression in the cerebral cortex and hypothalamus. Endocrinology. **141**, 3879-3886. doi:10.1210/endo.141.10.7731

Aberg, N. D., Blomstrand, F., Aberg, M. A., Bjorklund, U., Carlsson, B., Carlsson-Skwirut, C., Bang, P., Ronnback, L. and Eriksson, P. S. (2003) Insulin-like growth factor-I increases astrocyte intercellular gap junctional communication and connexin43 expression in vitro. J. Neurosci. Res. **74**, 12-22. doi:10.1002/jnr.10734

Paznekas, W. A., Boyadjiev, S. A., Shapiro, R. E., Daniels, O., Wollnik, B., Keegan, C. E., Innis, J. W., Dinulos, M. B., Christian, C., Hannibal, M. C. and Jabs, E. W. (2003) Connexin 43 (GJA1) mutations cause the pleiotropic phenotype of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. **72**, 408-418. doi:10.1086/346090

Plum, A., Hallas, G., Magin, T., Dombrowski, F., Hagendorff, A., Schumacher, B.,
Wolpert, C., Kim, J., Lamers, W. H., Evert, M., Meda, P., Traub, O. and Willecke, K.
(2000) Unique and shared functions of different connexins in mice. Curr. Biol. 10, 1083-1091

Winterhager, E., Pielensticker, N., Freyer, J., Ghanem, A., Schrickel, J. W., Kim, J. S., Behr, R., Grummer, R., Maass, K., Urschel, S., Lewalter, T., Tiemann, K., Simoni, M. and Willecke, K. (2007) Replacement of connexin43 by connexin26 in transgenic mice

leads to dysfunctional reproductive organs and slowed ventricular conduction in the heart. BMC Dev. Biol. **7**, 26. doi:10.1186/1471-213X-7-26

80 Bry, C., Maass, K., Miyoshi, K., Willecke, K., Ott, T., Robinson, G. W. and Hennighausen, L. (2004) Loss of connexin 26 in mammary epithelium during early but not during late pregnancy results in unscheduled apoptosis and impaired development. Dev. Biol. **267**, 418-429. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2003.11.022

81 Plante, I., Wallis, A., Shao, Q. and Laird, D. W. (2010) Milk secretion and ejection are impaired in the mammary gland of mice harboring a Cx43 mutant while expression and localization of tight and adherens junction proteins remain unchanged. Biol. Reprod. **82**, 837-847. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.109.081406

Teubner, B., Michel, V., Pesch, J., Lautermann, J., Cohen-Salmon, M., Sohl, G., Jahnke, K., Winterhager, E., Herberhold, C., Hardelin, J. P., Petit, C. and Willecke, K. (2003) Connexin30 (Gjb6)-deficiency causes severe hearing impairment and lack of endocochlear potential. Hum. Mol. Genet. **12**, 13-21

Flenniken, A. M., Osborne, L. R., Anderson, N., Ciliberti, N., Fleming, C., Gittens,
J. E., Gong, X. Q., Kelsey, L. B., Lounsbury, C., Moreno, L., Nieman, B. J., Peterson, K.,
Qu, D., Roscoe, W., Shao, Q., Tong, D., Veitch, G. I., Voronina, I., Vukobradovic, I.,
Wood, G. A., Zhu, Y., Zirngibl, R. A., Aubin, J. E., Bai, D., Bruneau, B. G., Grynpas, M.,
Henderson, J. E., Henkelman, R. M., McKerlie, C., Sled, J. G., Stanford, W. L., Laird, D.
W., Kidder, G. M., Adamson, S. L. and Rossant, J. (2005) A Gja1 missense mutation in a
mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Development. 132, 4375-4386.
doi:10.1242/dev.02011

84 Ormandy, C. J., Naylor, M., Harris, J., Robertson, F., Horseman, N. D., Lindeman, G. J., Visvader, J. and Kelly, P. A. (2003) Investigation of the transcriptional changes underlying functional defects in the mammary glands of prolactin receptor knockout mice. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. **58**, 297-323

Kiang, D. T., Jin, N., Tu, Z. J. and Lin, H. H. (1997) Upstream genomic sequence of the human connexin26 gene. Gene. **199**, 165-171

You, S., Tu, Z. J. and Kiang, D. T. (1998) Direct modulation of tumor suppressor connexin 26 gene by human chorionic gonadotropin in rat mammary glands. Cancer Res. 58, 1498-1502

Tu, Z. J., Kollander, R. and Kiang, D. T. (1998) Differential up-regulation of gap junction connexin 26 gene in mammary and uterine tissues: The role of sp transcription factors. Mol. Endocrinol. **12**, 1931-1938. doi:10.1210/mend.12.12.0208

88 Grummer, R., Chwalisz, K., Mulholland, J., Traub, O. and Winterhager, E. (1994) Regulation of connexin26 and connexin43 expression in rat endometrium by ovarian steroid hormones. Biol. Reprod. **51**, 1109-1116 Miyoshi, K., Shillingford, J. M., Smith, G. H., Grimm, S. L., Wagner, K. U., Oka, T., Rosen, J. M., Robinson, G. W. and Hennighausen, L. (2001) Signal transducer and activator of transcription (stat) 5 controls the proliferation and differentiation of mammary alveolar epithelium. J. Cell Biol. **155**, 531-542. doi:10.1083/jcb.200107065

90 Yun, S. P., Park, S. S., Ryu, J. M., Park, J. H., Kim, M. O., Lee, J. H. and Han, H. J. (2012) Mechanism of PKA-dependent and lipid-raft independent stimulation of Connexin43 expression by oxytoxin in mouse embryonic stem cells. Mol. Endocrinol. **26**, 1144-1157. doi:10.1210/me.2011-1343; 10.1210/me.2011-1343

91 Risek, B., Klier, F. G., Phillips, A., Hahn, D. W. and Gilula, N. B. (1995) Gap junction regulation in the uterus and ovaries of immature rats by estrogen and progesterone. J. Cell. Sci. **108** (**Pt 3**), 1017-1032

92 White, T. W. and Bruzzone, R. (2000) Gap junctions: Fates worse than death? Curr. Biol. **10**, R685-8

93 Baxley, S. E., Jiang, W. and Serra, R. (2011) Misexpression of wingless-related MMTV integration site 5A in mouse mammary gland inhibits the milk ejection response and regulates connexin43 phosphorylation. Biol. Reprod. **85**, 907-915. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.111.091645

94 Reversi, A., Cassoni, P. and Chini, B. (2005) Oxytocin receptor signaling in myoepithelial and cancer cells. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **10**, 221-229. doi:10.1007/s10911-005-9583-7

95 Sancho, E., Batlle, E. and Clevers, H. (2004) Signaling pathways in intestinal development and cancer. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. **20**, 695-723. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.20.010403.092805

Condeelis, J., Singer, R. H. and Segall, J. E. (2005) The great escape: When cancer cells hijack the genes for chemotaxis and motility. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. **21**, 695-718. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.21.122303.120306

97 Wiseman, B. S. and Werb, Z. (2002) Stromal effects on mammary gland development and breast cancer. Science. **296**, 1046-1049. doi:10.1126/science.1067431

98 Mesnil, M. (2002) Connexins and cancer. Biol. Cell. **94**, 493-500

Naus, C. C. and Laird, D. W. (2010) Implications and challenges of connexin connections to cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer. **10**, 435-441. doi:10.1038/nrc2841

100 Kandouz, M. and Batist, G. (2010) Gap junctions and connexins as therapeutic targets in cancer. Expert Opin. Ther. Targets. **14**, 681-692. doi:10.1517/14728222.2010.487866; 10.1517/14728222.2010.487866

101 Weinberg, R. A. (1991) Tumor suppressor genes. Science. 254, 1138-1146

102 Lee, S. W., Tomasetto, C., Paul, D., Keyomarsi, K. and Sager, R. (1992) Transcriptional downregulation of gap-junction proteins blocks junctional communication in human mammary tumor cell lines. J. Cell Biol. **118**, 1213-1221

103 Trosko, J. E., Chang, C. C., Madhukar, B. V. and Klaunig, J. E. (1990) Chemical, oncogene and growth factor inhibition gap junctional intercellular communication: An integrative hypothesis of carcinogenesis. Pathobiology. **58**, 265-278

104 Zhu, D., Caveney, S., Kidder, G. M. and Naus, C. C. (1991) Transfection of C6 glioma cells with connexin 43 cDNA: Analysis of expression, intercellular coupling, and cell proliferation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **88**, 1883-1887

105 Hellmann, P., Grummer, R., Schirrmacher, K., Rook, M., Traub, O. and Winterhager, E. (1999) Transfection with different connexin genes alters growth and differentiation of human choriocarcinoma cells. Exp. Cell Res. **246**, 480-490. doi:10.1006/excr.1998.4332

106 Avanzo, J. L., Mesnil, M., Hernandez-Blazquez, F. J., Mackowiak, I. I., Mori, C. M., da Silva, T. C., Oloris, S. C., Garate, A. P., Massironi, S. M., Yamasaki, H. and Dagli, M. L. (2004) Increased susceptibility to urethane-induced lung tumors in mice with decreased expression of connexin43. Carcinogenesis. **25**, 1973-1982. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgh193

107 Temme, A., Buchmann, A., Gabriel, H. D., Nelles, E., Schwarz, M. and Willecke, K. (1997) High incidence of spontaneous and chemically induced liver tumors in mice deficient for connexin32. Curr. Biol. **7**, 713-716

108 Li, Q., Omori, Y., Nishikawa, Y., Yoshioka, T., Yamamoto, Y. and Enomoto, K. (2007) Cytoplasmic accumulation of connexin32 protein enhances motility and metastatic ability of human hepatoma cells in vitro and in vivo. Int. J. Cancer. **121**, 536-546. doi:10.1002/ijc.22696

109 Ito, A., Katoh, F., Kataoka, T. R., Okada, M., Tsubota, N., Asada, H., Yoshikawa, K., Maeda, S., Kitamura, Y., Yamasaki, H. and Nojima, H. (2000) A role for heterologous gap junctions between melanoma and endothelial cells in metastasis. J. Clin. Invest. **105**, 1189-1197. doi:10.1172/JCI8257

110 Elzarrad, M. K., Haroon, A., Willecke, K., Dobrowolski, R., Gillespie, M. N. and Al-Mehdi, A. B. (2008) Connexin-43 upregulation in micrometastases and tumor vasculature and its role in tumor cell attachment to pulmonary endothelium. BMC Med. **6**, 20-7015-6-20. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-6-20; 10.1186/1741-7015-6-20

111 Lai, C. P., Bechberger, J. F., Thompson, R. J., MacVicar, B. A., Bruzzone, R. and Naus, C. C. (2007) Tumor-suppressive effects of pannexin 1 in C6 glioma cells. Cancer Res. **67**, 1545-1554. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1396

112 Bao, B., Lai, C. P., Naus, C. C. and Morgan, J. R. (2012) Pannexin1 drives multicellular aggregate compaction via a signaling cascade that remodels the actin cytoskeleton. J. Biol. Chem. . doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.306522

113 Cowan, K. N., Langlois, S., Penuela, S., Cowan, B. J. and Laird, D. W. (2012) Pannexin1 and Pannexin3 exhibit distinct localization patterns in human skin appendages and are regulated during keratinocyte differentiation and carcinogenesis. Cell. Commun. Adhes. **19**, 45-53. doi:10.3109/15419061.2012.712575; 10.3109/15419061.2012.712575

114 Penuela, S., Gyenis, L., Ablack, A., Churko, J. M., Berger, A. C., Litchfield, D. W., Lewis, J. D. and Laird, D. W. (2012) Loss of pannexin 1 attenuates melanoma progression by reversion to a melanocytic phenotype. J. Biol. Chem. **287**, 29184-29193. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.377176; 10.1074/jbc.M112.377176

115 Furlow, P. W., Zhang, S., Soong, T. D., Halberg, N., Goodarzi, H., Mangrum, C., Wu, Y. G., Elemento, O. and Tavazoie, S. F. (2015) Mechanosensitive pannexin-1 channels mediate microvascular metastatic cell survival. Nat. Cell Biol. **17**, 943-952. doi:10.1038/ncb3194; 10.1038/ncb3194

116 Higgins, M. J. and Baselga, J. (2011) Targeted therapies for breast cancer. J. Clin. Invest. **121**, 3797-3803. doi:10.1172/JCI57152; 10.1172/JCI57152

117 Stingl, J. and Caldas, C. (2007) Molecular heterogeneity of breast carcinomas and the cancer stem cell hypothesis. Nat. Rev. Cancer. **7**, 791-799. doi:10.1038/nrc2212

118 Gampenrieder, S. P., Rinnerthaler, G. and Greil, R. (2013) Neoadjuvant chemotherapy and targeted therapy in breast cancer: Past, present, and future. J. Oncol. **2013**, 732047. doi:10.1155/2013/732047; 10.1155/2013/732047

119 Lee, S. W., Tomasetto, C. and Sager, R. (1991) Positive selection of candidate tumor-suppressor genes by subtractive hybridization. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **88**, 2825-2829

120 Tan, L. W., Bianco, T. and Dobrovic, A. (2002) Variable promoter region CpG island methylation of the putative tumor suppressor gene connexin 26 in breast cancer. Carcinogenesis. **23**, 231-236

121 Kanczuga-Koda, L., Sulkowski, S., Tomaszewski, J., Koda, M., Sulkowska, M., Przystupa, W., Golaszewska, J. and Baltaziak, M. (2005) Connexins 26 and 43 correlate with bak, but not with bcl-2 protein in breast cancer. Oncol. Rep. **14**, 325-329

122 Kanczuga-Koda, L., Sulkowska, M., Koda, M., Reszec, J., Famulski, W., Baltaziak, M. and Sulkowski, S. (2003) Expression of connexin 43 in breast cancer in comparison with mammary dysplasia and the normal mammary gland. Folia. Morphol. (Warsz). **62**, 439-442

123 Gould, V. E., Mosquera, J. M., Leykauf, K., Gattuso, P., Durst, M. and Alonso, A. (2005) The phosphorylated form of connexin43 is up-regulated in breast hyperplasias and
carcinomas and in their neoformed capillaries. Hum. Pathol. **36**, 536-545. doi:10.1016/j.humpath.2005.03.013

124 Kanczuga-Koda, L., Sulkowski, S., Lenczewski, A., Koda, M., Wincewicz, A., Baltaziak, M. and Sulkowska, M. (2006) Increased expression of connexins 26 and 43 in lymph node metastases of breast cancer. J. Clin. Pathol. **59**, 429-433. doi:10.1136/jcp.2005.029272

125 Stoletov, K., Strnadel, J., Zardouzian, E., Momiyama, M., Park, F. D., Kelber, J. A., Pizzo, D. P., Hoffman, R., VandenBerg, S. R. and Klemke, R. L. (2013) Role of connexins in metastatic breast cancer and melanoma brain colonization. J. Cell. Sci. **126**, 904-913. doi:10.1242/jcs.112748; 10.1242/jcs.112748

126 Naoi, Y., Miyoshi, Y., Taguchi, T., Kim, S. J., Arai, T., Tamaki, Y. and Noguchi, S. (2007) Connexin26 expression is associated with lymphatic vessel invasion and poor prognosis in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. **106**, 11-17. doi:10.1007/s10549-006-9465-8

127 Conklin, C., Huntsman, D., Yorida, E., Makretsov, N., Turbin, D., Bechberger, J. F., Sin, W. C. and Naus, C. C. (2007) Tissue microarray analysis of connexin expression and its prognostic significance in human breast cancer. Cancer Lett. **255**, 284-294. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2007.05.001

128 Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R. A. (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. Cell. **144**, 646-674. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013; 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

Park, S. Y., Lee, H. E., Li, H., Shipitsin, M., Gelman, R. and Polyak, K. (2010) Heterogeneity for stem cell-related markers according to tumor subtype and histologic stage in breast cancer. Clin. Cancer Res. **16**, 876-887. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1532; 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1532

130 Hirschi, K. K., Xu, C. E., Tsukamoto, T. and Sager, R. (1996) Gap junction genes Cx26 and Cx43 individually suppress the cancer phenotype of human mammary carcinoma cells and restore differentiation potential. Cell Growth Differ. **7**, 861-870

131 Qin, H., Shao, Q., Curtis, H., Galipeau, J., Belliveau, D. J., Wang, T., Alaoui-Jamali, M. A. and Laird, D. W. (2002) Retroviral delivery of connexin genes to human breast tumor cells inhibits in vivo tumor growth by a mechanism that is independent of significant gap junctional intercellular communication. J. Biol. Chem. **277**, 29132-29138. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200797200

132 Momiyama, M., Omori, Y., Ishizaki, Y., Nishikawa, Y., Tokairin, T., Ogawa, J. and Enomoto, K. (2003) Connexin26-mediated gap junctional communication reverses the malignant phenotype of MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Cancer. Sci. **94**, 501-507

133 McLachlan, E., Shao, Q., Wang, H. L., Langlois, S. and Laird, D. W. (2006) Connexins act as tumor suppressors in three-dimensional mammary cell organoids by regulating differentiation and angiogenesis. Cancer Res. **66**, 9886-9894. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-4302

Li, Z., Zhou, Z., Welch, D. R. and Donahue, H. J. (2008) Expressing connexin 43 in breast cancer cells reduces their metastasis to lungs. Clin. Exp. Metastasis. **25**, 893-901. doi:10.1007/s10585-008-9208-9

Talhouk, R. S., Fares, M. B., Rahme, G. J., Hariri, H. H., Rayess, T., Dbouk, H. A., Bazzoun, D., Al-Labban, D. and El-Sabban, M. E. (2013) Context dependent reversion of tumor phenotype by connexin-43 expression in MDA-MB231 cells and MCF-7 cells: Role of beta-catenin/connexin43 association. Exp. Cell Res. **319**, 3065-3080. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2013.10.002; 10.1016/j.yexcr.2013.10.002

136 Shao, Q., Wang, H., McLachlan, E., Veitch, G. I. and Laird, D. W. (2005) Downregulation of Cx43 by retroviral delivery of small interfering RNA promotes an aggressive breast cancer cell phenotype. Cancer Res. **65**, 2705-2711. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2367

Qin, H., Shao, Q., Thomas, T., Kalra, J., Alaoui-Jamali, M. A. and Laird, D. W.
(2003) Connexin26 regulates the expression of angiogenesis-related genes in human breast tumor cells by both GJIC-dependent and -independent mechanisms. Cell. Commun. Adhes.
10, 387-393

Kalra, J., Shao, Q., Qin, H., Thomas, T., Alaoui-Jamali, M. A. and Laird, D. W. (2006) Cx26 inhibits breast MDA-MB-435 cell tumorigenic properties by a gap junctional intercellular communication-independent mechanism. Carcinogenesis. **27**, 2528-2537. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgl110

139 Stamenkovic, I. (2000) Matrix metalloproteinases in tumor invasion and metastasis. Semin. Cancer Biol. **10**, 415-433. doi:10.1006/scbi.2000.0379

Schroder, C., Schumacher, U., Muller, V., Wirtz, R. M., Streichert, T., Richter, U., Wicklein, D. and Milde-Langosch, K. (2010) The transcription factor fra-2 promotes mammary tumor progression by changing the adhesive properties of breast cancer cells. Eur. J. Cancer. 46, 1650-1660. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2010.02.008; 10.1016/j.ejca.2010.02.008

141 Johnson, T. L. and Nerem, R. M. (2007) Endothelial connexin 37, connexin 40, and connexin 43 respond uniquely to substrate and shear stress. Endothelium. **14**, 215-226. doi:10.1080/10623320701617233

142 Bai, D. and Wang, A. H. (2014) Extracellular domains play different roles in gap junction formation and docking compatibility. Biochem. J. **458**, 1-10. doi:10.1042/BJ20131162; 10.1042/BJ20131162

143 Pollmann, M. A., Shao, Q., Laird, D. W. and Sandig, M. (2005) Connexin 43 mediated gap junctional communication enhances breast tumor cell diapedesis in culture. Breast Cancer Res. **7**, R522-34. doi:10.1186/bcr1042

144 Cai, J., Jiang, W. G. and Mansel, R. E. (1998) Gap junctional communication and the tyrosine phosphorylation of connexin 43 in interaction between breast cancer and endothelial cells. Int. J. Mol. Med. **1**, 273-278

145 Nicolson, G. L. (1988) Differential organ tissue adhesion, invasion, and growth properties of metastatic rat mammary adenocarcinoma cells. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. **12**, 167-176

146 Saunders, M. M., Seraj, M. J., Li, Z., Zhou, Z., Winter, C. R., Welch, D. R. and Donahue, H. J. (2001) Breast cancer metastatic potential correlates with a breakdown in homospecific and heterospecific gap junctional intercellular communication. Cancer Res. **61**, 1765-1767

147 Chao, Y., Wu, Q., Acquafondata, M., Dhir, R. and Wells, A. (2012) Partial mesenchymal to epithelial reverting transition in breast and prostate cancer metastases. Cancer. Microenviron. **5**, 19-28. doi:10.1007/s12307-011-0085-4; 10.1007/s12307-011-0085-4

Lim, P. K., Bliss, S. A., Patel, S. A., Taborga, M., Dave, M. A., Gregory, L. A., Greco, S. J., Bryan, M., Patel, P. S. and Rameshwar, P. (2011) Gap junction-mediated import of microRNA from bone marrow stromal cells can elicit cell cycle quiescence in breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. **71**, 1550-1560. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2372; 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2372

149 Kalcheva, N., Qu, J., Sandeep, N., Garcia, L., Zhang, J., Wang, Z., Lampe, P. D., Suadicani, S. O., Spray, D. C. and Fishman, G. I. (2007) Gap junction remodeling and cardiac arrhythmogenesis in a murine model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **104**, 20512-20516. doi:10.1073/pnas.0705472105

150 Selbert, S., Bentley, D. J., Melton, D. W., Rannie, D., Lourenco, P., Watson, C. J. and Clarke, A. R. (1998) Efficient BLG-cre mediated gene deletion in the mammary gland. Transgenic Res. **7**, 387-396

151 Cohen-Salmon, M., Ott, T., Michel, V., Hardelin, J. P., Perfettini, I., Eybalin, M., Wu, T., Marcus, D. C., Wangemann, P., Willecke, K. and Petit, C. (2002) Targeted ablation of connexin26 in the inner ear epithelial gap junction network causes hearing impairment and cell death. Curr. Biol. **12**, 1106-1111

152 Qu, Y., Misaghi, S., Newton, K., Gilmour, L. L., Louie, S., Cupp, J. E., Dubyak, G. R., Hackos, D. and Dixit, V. M. (2011) Pannexin-1 is required for ATP release during apoptosis but not for inflammasome activation. J. Immunol. **186**, 6553-6561. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100478

153 Lee, J. R. and White, T. W. (2009) Connexin-26 mutations in deafness and skin disease. Expert Rev. Mol. Med. **11**, e35. doi:10.1017/S1462399409001276; 10.1017/S1462399409001276

### Chapter 2

2 The severity of mammary gland developmental defects is linked to the overall functional status of Cx43 as revealed by genetically modified mice.

Cx43 has previously been demonstrated to a play a critical role in both mammary gland development and normal milk ejection during lactation. The purpose of this study was to further characterize the role of Cx43 in postnatal mammary gland development and function using a mouse model expressing a loss-of-function Cx43 mutant found in patients with ODDD. In addition, this study also aimed to improve our understanding of the implications of different loss-of-function Cx43 mutants to subclinical breast defects in patients with ODDD.

A version of this chapter is published:

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Stewart MKG</u>, Gong X, Barr KJ, Bai D, Fishman GI, Laird DW. The severity of mammary gland developmental defects is linked to the overall functional status of Cx43 as revealed by genetically-modified mice. *Biochem J*. 449(2):401-13, 2013.

### 2.1 Introduction

Oculodentodigital dysplasia (ODDD) is a rare pleiotropic disease characterized by developmental symptoms that include craniofacial defects, cornea and lens abnormalities, tooth defects and syndactyly of the digits [1]. This disease is linked to mainly autosomal dominant mutations in the *GJA1* gene that encodes connexin43 (Cx43) [1]. Cx43 is one of 21 connexins found in humans and is characterized by its ability to form hexameric gap junction channels that allow for the passage of molecules less than 1 kDa in size between the intracellular environments of adjacent cells [2]. This process, known as gap junctional intercellular communication (GJIC), is critical for the maintenance of key cellular processes including proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis in almost all cell types found in the human body, including the mammary gland [2,3].

The mammary gland of mice is comparable to that of humans in that it consists of a converging, branched epithelial ductal network embedded within a stromal mammary fat pad [4]. The epithelium of the mammary gland is very dynamic and undergoes two major phases of development, one during puberty and one following the onset of pregnancy [4]. At birth, a rudimentary ductal tree exists within the stroma of the mammary gland which begins significant branch elongation and amplification following the onset of hormones at puberty [5]. By 10 weeks, full extension of ducts throughout the fat pad is achieved and a series of branching and regression cycles begin in response to the estrous cycle [6]. At the onset of pregnancy, alveologenesis occurs in which secretory alveolar cells develop to produce milk for the pups throughout lactation [4]. Following weaning of the pups, the mammary gland undergoes extensive gland remodeling to revert back to a virgin gland state in a process known as involution [4]. Throughout these developmental changes, the gland requires exquisite regulation of proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis to allow for the proper growth and development of ducts throughout puberty, differentiation of secretory alveolar cells for milk production throughout pregnancy and extensive gland remodeling following cessation of lactation [4]. While hormonal regulation of these cell processes is well documented, less is known about locally acting factors such as gap junction proteins and intercellular communication [5,7].

The human mammary gland is known to express two connexins: Cx26, localized to the luminal cells of ducts and alveoli, and Cx43, which is mainly restricted to the surrounding contractile myoepithelial cells and stromal fibroblasts [8,9]. This expression is similar in mice, with the addition of Cx32 and Cx30 in luminal cells which are able to form heteromeric/heterotypic channels with Cx26 for additional luminal cell regulation that is not found in humans [10,11]. Cx26, Cx30 and Cx32 have all been detected at low levels at all stages of development and importantly are temporally up-regulated during pregnancy, lactation and/or involution, suggesting that these Cxs may regulate gland differentiation and function during these stages of development [12,13]. In contrast, Cx43 is constitutively expressed throughout mammary gland development, suggesting that Cx43 may have an important role in the maintenance of myoepithelial cells in the regulation of luminal cells through the induction of luminal cell polarity and through paracrine factors during branching morphogenesis suggests that dysregulation of myoepithelial cells may affect whole gland development and function [15,16].

Previously, to assess the role of Cx43 in mammary gland development and function, a mutant mouse model of ODDD (*Gja1<sup>Jrt/+</sup>* mice also called *Cx43<sup>G605/+</sup>* mice) was evaluated as these mice express a dominant-negative mutant of Cx43 that reduces total Cx43 protein levels by far greater than 50% [17]. *Cx43<sup>G605/+</sup>* mice express classical symptoms of ODDD including craniofacial abnormalities, loss of tooth enamel and syndactyly of the digits [17,18]; despite the fact that the glycine to serine substitution at position 60 of Cx43 has never been reported in ODDD patients [19]. Interestingly, severely decreased levels of Cx43 in virgin *Cx43<sup>G605/+</sup>* mice resulted in impaired stromal development of the fat pad, smaller mammary glands and a delay in ductal development between 4-10 weeks, suggesting an important role of Cx43 in regulating gland maturation in virgin mice [20]. In addition, lactating *Cx43<sup>G605/+</sup>* mice displayed impaired milk secretion and milk accumulation in the gland as a result of improper milk ejection [20, 21]. As a result, it was suggested that ODDD patients may also present with a defect in their ability to breast feed. However, despite over 65 identified mutations in *GJA1* resulting in ODDD, there have been no reports of lactation defects in humans with this rare disease [19]. Importantly, at

least a proportion of females with ODDD are fertile and there have been reports of mothers with ODDD in multi-generational families [22].

Functional characterization of electrical gap junction coupling in model cell systems that express only ODDD-linked mutants revealed two distinct populations of mutants that form gap junctions: mutants that have residual channel activity (such as the human mutants K134E, L90V and I130T), and mutants that are functionally dead (such as the human G21R, Y17S, and A40V, and mouse G60S mutants) [23,24]. It is unknown if the severe mammary gland phenotype observed in  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice is indicative of patients expressing ODDD mutants lacking residual channel function, or if a Cx43 mutant with residual channel function would rescue the functional and developmental defects in the mammary gland observed in  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice. In this pursuit, we obtained a mouse model of ODDD  $(Cx43^{II30T/+})$  expressing an I130T autosomal dominant mutant of Cx43 that is known to be expressed within the human population and maintains a junctional conductance of approximately 50% when co-expressed with wild-type (WT) Cx43 in the heart [25]. We hypothesized that these mutant mice would have fewer mammary gland defects as a result of a less severe reduction in Cx43-based levels of GJIC. Consequently, if this hypothesis was supported, it may help to explain why female patients with ODDD do not typically present with breast feeding problems.

### 2.2 Materials and methods

#### 2.2.1 Constructs

The construct encoding the Cx43 G60S mutant was previously described [17]. The I130T-GFP cDNA construct was generated using the QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA) using the Cx43-GFP construct as a template and the following primers: forward 5'-CACTTGAAGCAGACTGAGATAAAGAAG-3' and reverse 5'-CTTCTTTATCTCAGTCTGCTTCAAGTG-3'. The I130T mutant was verified by sequencing.

#### 2.2.2 Patch-Clamp electrophysiology

N2A (neuroblastoma) cells were transfected with GFP-tagged WT and mutant Cx43 respectively. Twenty four hours later, the isolated cell pairs with green fluorescence were selected to assess the intercellular coupling with dual whole-cell patch clamp recordings. Both cells were initially held at the same voltage potential (0 mV), an impulse of -20 mV was then applied to one cell and the junctional current was recorded from the other cell. Gap junctional conductance (Gj) was calculated and presented as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. Online series resistance compensation at 80% or off-line series resistance compensation were applied to improve the accuracy of the measured Gj [26].

#### 2.2.3 Animals

Heterozygote mice expressing the I130T mutant were created as described by Fishman and colleagues [25] and were bred on a mixed background of CD1 and C57BL/6 (Gja1tm3GFi) mice. All Cx43<sup>1130T/+</sup> mice used were at generation 1-4 of backcrossing to C57BL/6 and compared to WT littermate controls. Both virgin and pregnant female mice at various ages were sacrificed using CO<sub>2</sub>. Inguinal mammary glands were used for weight measurement, whole mounts and paraffin embedding. Thoracic mammary glands were collected for western blot analysis and were stored at -80°C. Lactating mice were collected at day 21 of lactation. Pups from dams were weaned on day 21 of lactation and mammary glands from dams were collected 48 hours post-weaning which we denote as the involution time point. Lactating mice sacrificed for the oxytocin-induced milk ejection assay were used no more than 3 days following parturition. Blood was collected via cardiac puncture from pregnancy day 9.5 mutant and wild-type mice. In addition, heterozygote Gjal<sup>Jrt/+</sup> (GjalmlJrt also denoted as Cx43<sup>G605/+</sup>) mice carrying the G60S mutant on a background of C3H/HeJ and C57BL/6J mice were used for experiments using primary myoepithelial and granulosa cultures.  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice used in the experiments were compared to littermate and nonlittermate controls. All experiments were approved by the Animal Care Committee at Western University and conducted according to the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (Appendix 3). For all experiments, N=6 unless specified otherwise.

#### 2.2.4 Primary cultures

#### 2.2.4.1 Myoepithelial cells

Primary myoepithelial cells were isolated from adult  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice,  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice and their respective controls, similar to that described in Plante and Laird (2008) [27]. Dissected inguinal and thoracic mammary glands were minced and digested in 12 ml of collagenase solution (0.2% trypsin, 0.2% collagenase A, 5% fetal calf serum, 5 µg/ml gentamycin in DMEM/F12 medium) at 37 °C for 30 min with gentle shaking (200 rpm). Cell suspensions were centrifuged for 10 min at 500 x g and both the supernatant (containing undigested tissue in the fat pad) and the pellets were pipetted up and down to further separate epithelial organoids from adipocytes and both were re-centrifuged as before. Pellets from both the 1st and 2nd centrifugation were combined into 4 ml of serumfree DMEM/F12 medium and 40  $\mu$ l of DNase (2 U/ml) was added to the cell suspension. Cell suspensions were shaken by hand for 5 min at room temperature prior to the addition of 6 ml of serum-free DMEM/F12 medium and centrifugation at 500 x g for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was resuspended in 10 ml of serum-free DMEM/F12 medium. The cell suspension was briefly centrifuged for 10 sec and the supernatant was discarded. The pellet was then resuspended in serum-free DMEM/F12 medium and this centrifugation process was repeated six times to remove fibroblasts. The final cell pellet was resuspended in 150 µl of MEGM and plated directly onto a coverslip. All pipettes and tubes used during the procedure were pre-coated with sterile PBS containing 5% BSA. Myoepithelial cells were grown for 1 week prior to microinjection. N=3.

#### 2.2.4.2 Granulosa cells

Ovaries from adult  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  and  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice and their respective controls were digested in a collagenase and DNase solution (2 mg/ml type I collagenase (Sigma), 0.02% DNaseI (Sigma) in Waymouth Medium MB 752/1 complete medium (Sigma) at 37°C. Follicles were isolated through repeated aspiration and expulsion with a 1 ml pipetter. Follicles were washed twice and transferred to another dish in which the oocytes were separated from the granulosa cells by treatment with 0.05% trypsin-EDTA for 10 min

followed by repeated pipetting and centrifugation at  $600 \times g$  for 5 min. The supernatant was removed and granulosa cells were washed with Waymouth medium once and a second time in M199 medium containing Earle's salts and glutamine (Life Technologies). Granulosa cells were resuspended in M199 medium and cultured on 12-mm glass coverslips coated with collagen and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 90% N<sub>2</sub> for 24 hours prior to microinjection.

#### 2.2.5 Microinjection

One cell within patches of confluent myoepithelial or granulosa cells was microinjected with 0.5% Lucifer yellow (Molecular Probes) using an Eppendorf Femtojet automated pressure microinjector. Images were collected using a Leica DM IRE2 inverted epifluorescence microscope and the percentage of cells that passed dye to at least one neighbour as well as the number of cells that received the dye after 1 min and the average number of cells receiving dye after one minute was recorded. Cells from three independent cell cultures from different mouse preparations were each injected 10-15 times for a total of ~43-50 injections per mouse model.

#### 2.2.6 Western Blotting

Mammary gland tissue were homogenized using a tissue homogenizer in a lysis buffer (1% Triton X-100, 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5% NP-40 and supplemented with protease inhibitor mixture (Roche-Applied Sciences) and phosphatase inhibitors (100 mM NaF and 100 mM Na3VO4). Protein lysate concentrations were measured using a BCA protein Determination kit (Pierce). Total protein lysates (60 µg) were resolved on a 10% or 15% SDS-polyacrylamide gel and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes using the iBlot Dry Blotting system (Invitrogen). Membranes were blocked using 3% BSA (Sigma) for 1 hour before being immunolabeled with primary antibodies: rabbit anti-Cx43 (1:5000, Sigma), goat anti-β-casein (1:1000, Santa Cruz) and goat anti-WAP (1:1000, Santa Cruz) and mouse anti-β-actin (1:200, Santa Cruz) at 4°C. Primary antibodies were detected using fluorescently-conjugated secondary antibodies: anti-mouse IRdye 800 (1:5000, Li-Cor) and anti-rabbit IRdye 680 (1:5000, Li-Cor), scanned and quantified using the Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (Li-Cor Biosciences).

#### 2.2.7 Immunofluorescence and microscopy

Paraffin-embedded sections (6 µm) were deparaffinised in xylene, rehydrated in descending concentrations of ethanol (100%, 95%, 70% and 50%) and subsequently, microwaved for 5 min in antigen retrieval solution (1:50, Vector Labs). After 20 min of cool down, slides underwent a second antigen retrieval using 0.01 M Tris-1 mM EDTA buffer, pH 9.0 at 90-95°C for 30 min, followed by another 20 min of cool down. Cryosections (6 µm) were fixed in neutral buffered formalin for 15 min prior to blocking. Slides were blocked in 3% BSA, 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 60 min. Slides were probed with the following primary antibodies: rabbit anti-Cx43 antibody (1:500, Sigma), rabbit anti-Cx30 (1:100, Invitrogen), rabbit anti-Cx26 (1:100, Invitrogen), rabbit anti-Cx32 (1:100, Sigma), mouse anti-keratin14 (1:100, Neomarkers), mouse anti-PCNA Clone PC10 (1:200, Dako) or rabbit anti-cleaved caspase 3 (1:400, Cell Signaling,) for 1 hour at 37°C, followed by anti-rabbit Alexa555 (1:400, Molecular Probe), anti-mouse Alexa488 (1:400, Molecular Probes) antibodies and nuclei were labelled with Hoechst 33342. Slides were mounted using Airvol. Images were captured using a Leica DM IRE2 inverted epifluorescence microscope and Openlab 5.5.3 imaging software. For quantification, 8-10 arbitrary images were taken for each sample and the numbers of positive cells or plaques were counted relative to the pixel area of nuclear staining per 0.18 mm<sup>2</sup> that was measured using ImageJ 1.46r (National Institutes of Health).

#### 2.2.8 Evaluation of serum prolactin concentration

Four mutant and WT littermate mice were mated and sacrificed at day 9.5 of pregnancy. Blood was collected via cardiac puncture and allowed to clot overnight at 4 °C. Samples were centrifuged at 2000 x g for 5 min and serum was collected and stored at -80 °C. Prolactin concentrations were assessed by a prolactin mouse ELISA Kit (Abcam).

#### 2.2.9 Whole mounting

Inguinal mammary glands were excised and processed as previously described in Plante et al. (2011) [28]. Briefly, mammary glands were spread on a glass slide and fixed in Carnoy's fixative (100% ethanol, chloroform, glacial acetic acid: 6:3:1) overnight at 4 °C. Mammary glands were washed in 70% ethanol for 15 min and gradually rehydrated in water. Glands

were stained overnight in carmine alum (2% carmine and 5% aluminum potassium sulfate in water) at room temperature. Mammary glands were then dehydrated in a series of ethanol baths and cleared in xylene overnight. Mammary glands were stored in methyl salicylate until pictures were taken using a numeric camera (Cybershot, Sony) or a SteREO Lumar V12 microscope (Zeiss).

#### 2.2.10 Evaluation of ductal development

The distance of ductal migration was evaluated in virgin mice by measuring from the bottom of the lymph node to the end of the longest duct on the inguinal mammary gland using calipers. Ductal distance was recorded relative to the length of the mammary gland from the bottom of the lymph node to the edge of the fat pad in order to compensate for any mammary gland size differences between mutant and WT mice.

#### 2.2.11 Hematoxylin & eosin staining

Mammary glands from  $Cx43^{1130T/+}$  mice at parturition, lactation and involution were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and embedded in paraffin. Paraffin-embedded sections (6 µm) were deparaffinised in xylene and rehydrated in descending concentrations of ethanol (100%, 95%, 70% and 50%). Rehydrated tissues were stained in 1% Harris's hematoxylin for 4 minutes followed by 1% eosin for 2 min (Lerner Laboratories). Stained tissues were then rehydrated in ethanol baths (95% and 100%), followed by xylene baths and mounted using Cytoseal (Richard-Allan Scientific). Images were captured using 20X objective lens mounted on a Leica DM IRE2 inverted epifluorescence microscope equipped with a ProgRes C5 camera (Jenoptik) and ProgRes Mac CapturePro 2.7.6 imaging software (Jenoptik).

#### 2.2.12 Oxytocin induced milk ejection assay

Pups were removed from the dam after feeding on parturition day. After 1 hour, dams were sacrificed and mammary glands were exposed to oxytocin as described in Plante et al. (2011) [28]. PBS, or 8 pg/ml or 80  $\mu$ g/ml of oxytocin (Sigma) dissolved in PBS was applied directly to the mammary glands for 1 min and then removed. Milk entry into ducts was evaluated. Photographs were taken before and after PBS or oxytocin exposure with a

numeric camera (Cybershot Sony). Four mutant and WT littermate controls were used for this experiment.

### 2.2.13 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was done using Student's unpaired t-test or a one-way ANOVA test in which a p<0.05 was considered significant. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. All statistics were performed using GraphPad Prism version 4.03 for Windows.

### 2.3 Results

# 2.3.1 The Cx43 I130T mutant has partial junctional conductance in gap junction-deficient N2A cells

To determine if the I130T and G60S Cx43 mutants had similar capacities to form functional gap junction channels, gap junctional communication-deficient N2A cells were engineered to individually express these mutants. While N2A cells were observed to be free of functional gap junctional channels, cells expressing WT Cx43 were coupled. Consistent with previous reports, cells expressing the I130T mutant showed a highly reduced junctional conductance (Gj) compared to control Cx43-expressing cells, while the G60S mutant was found to be functionally dead (Figure 2.1.) [17,23,30].

# 2.3.2 Primary myoepithelial and granulosa cells isolated from $Cx43^{l_{130T/+}}$ mice are comparatively better coupled than cells from $Cx43^{G60S/+}$ mice

To determine if primary mammary cells from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  and  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice were differentially coupled in relation to their respective controls, cultured cells were microinjected with Lucifer yellow and dye spread was assessed. Based on

Figure 2.1. The Cx43 I130T mutant has reduced gap junctional coupling conductance. Junctional conductance measurements of gap junctional intercellular communication-deficient control N2A cells engineered to express Cx43 or the G60S or I130T mutants. The I130T mutant had reduced channel conductance (Gj) compared to wild type Cx43, while the G60S mutant channels were completely non-functionally. Bars represent mean levels of electrical conductance  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*\*p<0.01. \*\*\*p<0.001.





immunofluorescent labelling of keratin-14 and Cx43, mammary epithelium cultures were deemed highly enriched in myoepithelial cells and assembled gap junctions (Figure 2.2A). Similar to what we previously reported, dye transfer between myoepithelial cells isolated from  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice was severely reduced to ~39% of their WT control (Figure 2.2B, C) [27]. Interestingly, primary myoepithelial cell cultures from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice showed a significant reduction in dye transfer but coupling remained at ~71% of the WT control (Figure 2.2B, C). In addition, the incidence of dye spreading to 2 or more cells was significantly reduced to ~22% of control in myoepithelial cells isolated from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice but was non-significantly changed in myoepithelial cells isolated from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice but was non-significantly changed in myoepithelial cells isolated from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice compared to its respective control (Figure 2.2D).

In support of the notion that the G60S mutant was a more potent inhibitor of dye transfer than the I130T mutant when normalized to their respective WT controls, granulosa cells of immature mouse ovarian follicles that are known to only express Cx43, were isolated from mutant mice and assessed for dye transfer [29] (Figure 2.3A, B). Similar to our findings from myoepithelial cells, the incidence of dye transfer between granulosa cells of  $Cx43^{I130T/+}$  mice was 61% of control while coupling in  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mouse granulosa cells was reduced to 33% of control. Collectively, the I130T mutant reduced GJIC to a lesser extent than the G60S mutant in primary cells known to express only Cx43.

# 2.3.3 Highly phosphorylated species of Cx43 are reduced in the $Cx43^{1130T/+}$ mouse mammary gland

Western blot analysis of mammary glands from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice at parturition revealed a non-significant decrease in total Cx43 compared to WT mice. However, as previously demonstrated in cardiac tissue [25], the highly phosphorylated species of Cx43 (P) were significantly reduced while the primarily unphosphorylated (P0) species of Cx43 remained unchanged in the  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mutant mice (Figure 2.4A). Notably, the number of Cx43 gap junction plaques of mutant mice was significantly reduced compared to wild-type mice at parturition (Figure 2.4B, C). Consistent with previous reports, immunofluorescence revealed a similar distribution of Cx26, Cx32 and Cx30 gap junction plaques between luminal epithelial cells in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice compared to controls

Figure 2.2. Myoepithelial cells isolated from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  and  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  exhibit differential gap junction coupling relative to their respective controls. (A) Representative isolation of primary mammary epithelial cells from control mice are highly enriched for myoepithelial cells that form gap junctions based on keratin14 (green) and Cx43 (red) labeling, respectively. (B) Clusters of myoepithelial cells from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice,  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice, and their respective controls, were microinjected with Lucifer yellow dye (asterisks). Scale bars = 10 µm (C) Relative to controls, dye coupling was greater in cells expressing the I130T mutant than the G60S mutant. (D) Dye transfer to 2 or more cells was significantly reduced in myoepithelial cells from  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice only. Bars represent mean percent incidence of dye transfer ± S.E.M. N=3; n=number of injections; Letters on top of columns in 2.2C and 2.2D represent statistical differences using a one-way ANOVA.

Figure 2.2



С





Figure 2.3. In comparison to controls, granulosa cells isolated from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice are better coupled than cells from  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice. (A) Isolated granulosa cells were microinjected with Lucifer yellow dye (asterisks). Scale bars = 10 µm (B) Relative to controls, granulosa cells expressing the I130T mutant exhibited a higher incidence of dye coupling than those expressing the G60S mutant. Bars represent mean percent incidence of dye transfer ± S.E.M. N=3; n=number of injections; Letters on top of columns in B represent statistical differences. Figure 2.3



В



(Figure 2.4D) [20,21]. Collectively, the I130T mutant reduces the phosphorylation of total Cx43 and Cx43-gap junction plaques, with no obvious effect on other co-expressed mammary gland connexins.

# 2.3.4 Pre-pubertal *Cx43<sup>/130T/+</sup>* mice have smaller mammary glands with delayed ductal morphogenesis

To assess mammary gland development in virgin mice, both body and mammary gland weights were measured and compared between  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  and  $Cx43^{+/+}$  mice. Body weights were similar between virgin  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  and  $Cx43^{+/+}$  mice at all time points assessed (Figure 2.5A), yet mammary glands of 4 week  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice were significantly smaller than  $Cx43^{+/+}$  mice (Figure 2.5B). However, no difference was observed in mutant mice following the onset of puberty at 7 and 10 weeks (Figure 2.5B). When corrected for body weights, relative mammary glands of pre-pubertal mice were significantly smaller than control mice but there was no difference in relative gland weights after 7 weeks (Figure 2.5C).

In order to investigate the impact of the I130T Cx43 mutant on mammary gland development in virgin mice, mammary gland architecture was evaluated through whole mounting. Consistent with normal mammary gland development, virgin  $Cx43^{+/+}$  mice had numerous ducts with terminal end buds (TEBs) elongating within the stromal fat pad at 4 and 7 weeks, developing numerous side branches and filling the mammary fat pads by 10 weeks (Figure 2.6A-C). At 4 weeks,  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice presented with many ducts having TEBs extending towards the lymph node within a well-developed stroma (Figure 2.6A), however, ductal length relative to the length of the gland was significantly delayed by ~45% in mutant mice (Figure 2.6D). Interestingly, both 7 and 10 week old mutant and control mice showed similar levels of ductal invasion, ductal lengths and side branches throughout the fat pad (Figure 2.6B-D). Together, pre-pubertal  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice exhibit smaller mammary glands with delayed ductal development which was not observed following the onset of puberty.

Figure. 2.4. The highly phosphorylated species of Cx43 were reduced in the mammary gland of *Cx43*<sup>1130T/+</sup> mice at parturition while co-expressed mammary gland connexins remain unchanged. (A) Western blot analysis of Cx43 revealed significantly reduced levels of the highly phosphorylated species (P) of Cx43 while the primarily unphosphorylated (P0) species remained similar to that found in littermate control mice. Bars represent mean levels of total, P0 and P relative to  $\beta$ -actin ± S.E.M. (\*p<0.05) (N=6). (B) Mammary gland sections were immunolabeled for Cx43 (red) and keratin-14 (green), while nuclei were stained with Hoechst (blue). (C) Punctate Cx43-gap junction plaques (B, arrowheads) present at cell-cell interfaces of keratin-14 positive cells were significantly reduced in *Cx43*<sup>1130T/+</sup> mice compared to control mice (bars = 20 µm). Bars represent mean number of Cx43-gap junction plaques relative to pixel area of nuclei per 0.18 mm<sup>2</sup> ± S.E.M. (\*\*\*p<0.001) (N=5). (D) Paraffin-embedded mammary gland sections double immunolabeled for Cx26, Cx32 or Cx30 (red) and keratin-14 (green) revealed a similar profile of gap junctions between mutant and control mice. N=6.

Figure 2.4



Figure 2.5. **Pre-pubertal** *Cx43<sup>II30T/+</sup>* **mice have smaller mammary glands.** (A) Body weights were recorded from virgin 4, 7 and 10 week old mice revealing similar body weights in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice compared to littermate controls. Bars represent mean body weights  $\pm$  S.E.M. (B) Inguinal mammary gland weights recorded in virgin mice revealed significantly reduced gland weight in mutant mice at 4 weeks. Bars represent mean mammary gland weight  $\pm$  S.E.M. (C) When normalized for body weight; mammary glands from 4 week old mutant mice were significantly smaller compared to controls. Bars represent mean normalized gland weight  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*p<0.05. N=6.

Figure 2.5



Figure 2.6. **Pre-pubertal** *Cx43<sup>II30T/+</sup>* **mice have delayed mammary gland development.** (A, B, C) Whole mount analysis of 4, 7 and 10 week mutant and control mice revealed similar gland architecture with ducts elongating from TEBs through a developed stromal mammary fat pad. (D) Duct elongation from 4 week old mutant mice was significantly delayed compared to controls. Bars represent the mean ductal extensions from the bottom of the lymph node to the furthest migrating duct (Dashed lines in A,B,C) relative to the length of the mammary gland from the bottom of the lymph node to the fat pad  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*p<0.05. N=6.





# 2.3.5 *Cx43*<sup>/1307/+</sup> mice have smaller mammary glands at parturition and involution

To assess if the I130T mutant affects the development of the mammary gland during pregnancy, lactation and involution, body and mammary gland weight were evaluated in mutant and  $Cx43^{+/+}$  mice. At parturition and lactation, body weight was similar in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice compared to control mice (Figure 2.7A). However, body weight was significantly reduced by ~12% in mutant mice compared to controls at involution (Figure 2.7A).  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice showed a significant reduction in mammary gland weight at parturition and involution and when this was normalized to body weight, glands were ~20% smaller at parturition and ~33% smaller at involution compared to  $Cx43^{+/+}$  mice (Figure 2.7B, C). Normalized mammary glands of mutant mice were similar to controls during lactation (Figure 2.7C). To assess if changes in the weight of mutant and wild-type mice were the result of differences in prolactin hormone signaling, serum prolactin concentrations were assayed and found to be similar in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  and  $Cx43^{+/+}$  mice during mid-pregnancy (Figure 2.7D). Taken together, smaller mammary glands at parturition and involution suggests gland developmental defects at these time points were not a result of reduced prolactin in the blood.

To identify if the change in weight of mutant mouse mammary glands represented an acute indicator of structural changes within the gland, whole mount analysis revealed mammary glands filled with alveoli and ducts from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice at parturition and lactation consistent with normal mammary gland development in control mice (Figure 2.8A). Following the onset of involution, mammary glands from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice showed a reduction in the number of alveoli similar to  $Cx43^{+/+}$  mice, suggesting that the epithelial compartment within the gland was in a similar stage of gland remodelling compared to control (Figure 2.8A). Similarly, histological analysis revealed numerous alveoli and ducts with evidence of milk within the lumen of mutant and control mice at parturition and lactation (Figure 2.8B). In addition, mammary glands of both  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  and  $Cx43^{+/+}$  mice had undergone extensive gland remodeling at involution, in which a reduction of alveoli was apparent within the stroma (Figure 2.8B).

Figure 2.7.  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice have reduced mammary gland weights at parturition and involution. (A) Evaluation of body weights during parturition, lactation and involution revealed that  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice were significantly smaller compared to control mice at involution. Bars represent mean body weights ± S.E.M. N=6. (B, C) Mammary gland weight and normalized mammary gland weight were significantly reduced in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice at parturition and involution compared to controls. N=6. (D) Serum isolated from mutant and wild-type mice at mid-pregnancy contained similar levels of prolactin. N=4. Bars represent means ± S.E.M. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.





Figure 2.8. Lactating and involuting  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice have normal mammary gland architecture. (A) Whole mount analysis of mice at parturition, lactation and involution revealed similar alveolar and ductal gland structure in mutant mice compared to controls. (B) Haematoxylin and eosin staining revealed similar histology in mutant and control mice at all time points. Scale bars= 100 µm. N=6.





In another assessment of potential changes in the mutant mouse mammary glands at parturition, paraffin-embedded mammary glands were immunolabelled with the proliferation marker PCNA. These studies revealed a significant decrease in the number of epithelial cells undergoing proliferation in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice (Figure 2.9A). In addition, cleaved caspase 3 immunolabelling of mammary glands 48h following weaning of pups showed minimal staining of cells undergoing apoptosis in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice similar to controls (Figure 2.9B). Collectively, dysregulation of proliferation in mammary glands at parturition but not apoptotic mechanisms during involution may account for changes in mammary gland weight in the  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice.

# 2.3.6 *Cx43*<sup>/1307/+</sup> mice show no signs of a lactational or milk ejection defect

In order to assess if the I130T mutant affected lactation in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice, western blot analysis of two commonly produced milk proteins,  $\beta$ -casein and WAP, revealed similar protein levels in mutant and control mice at parturition (Figure 2.10A, B). In addition, to assess if  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice exhibited a defect in the contraction of myoepithelial cells, mammary glands of lactating mutant mice were assessed for milk entry into ducts following exposure to exogenous oxytocin. Similar to  $Cx43^{+/+}$  mice, mutant mice showed the presence of low levels of milk within the ducts of the thoracic mammary glands prior to the addition of oxytocin (Figure 2.10C). Following treatment with 80 µg/ml or 8 pg/ml oxytocin, milk rapidly filled the mammary gland ducts of  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  and control mice causing them to become easily observable (Figure 2.10D). These findings are consistent with the fact that  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  female mice can readily feed their pups. Together, mammary glands from mutant mice had no observable functional defects in milk production or ejection compared to control mice.

#### 2.4 Discussion

The focus of this study was on two aspects: first, to evaluate the role of Cx43 throughout all stages of mammary gland development; and second, to determine if a Cx43 ODDD mutant with residual channel forming activity would be sufficient to prevent any functional or developmental

Figure 2.9. Mammary glands from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice exhibited a reduction in proliferation at parturition. (A) Assessment of the proliferation marker PCNA in paraffin-embedded mammary glands at parturition revealed a significant decrease in cell proliferation in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice compared to controls (\*\*p<0.01). (B) Evaluation of the apoptotic marker cleaved caspase3 at involution revealed no change between mutant and control mice. Bars represent mean positive cells relative to area of nuclei per 0.18 mm<sup>2</sup> ± S.E.M. Scale Bars = 50 µm (10 µm for insets). N=6.







Figure 2.10. Lactating  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice can produce and eject milk into ducts upon oxytocin stimulation. (A, B) Western blot analysis revealed that  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice express the common milk proteins, WAP and  $\beta$ -Casein, similar to controls. Bars represent mean expression  $\pm$  S.E.M. (C, D). An oxytocin-induced milk ejection assay revealed that lactating  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice respond to exogenous oxytocin to deliver milk into ducts (arrowheads). Images in (D) represent the same gland field before and after (separated by arrows) the addition of oxytocin. N=4.


Figure 2.10

defects in the mammary gland. In this pursuit, we obtained a genetically-modified mouse model of ODDD that harbors a systemic autosomal dominant I130T mutation. First, we determined that the Cx43 I130T mutant has partial channel activity when expressed in the absence of other connexins and impairs Lucifer yellow dye transfer less than the G60S mutant when co-expressed with Cx43 in primary myoepithelial and granulosa cells. Second, we showed that, while they exhibited similar gland architecture, mammary glands from virgin pre-pubertal I130T mutant mice were smaller than matched controls and exhibited a delay in ductal elongation prior to the onset of puberty. Third, we found that mammary glands from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice were smaller than controls at parturition due in part to impaired cell proliferation. Finally, we identified that mammary glands from I130T mutant mice exhibited no evidence of a defect in milk production or milk ejection. Thus, we clearly demonstrated that Cx43 is necessary for timely mammary gland development. In addition, we surmised that two distinct autosomal dominant mutations in the GJA1 gene encoding Cx43 (I130T and G60S) can manifest as distinctly different phenotypes during gland development that appear to be dependent on the potency of the mutation in inhibiting GJIC.

#### 2.4.1 Differential coupling capacity of ODDD-linked mutants

ODDD mutants have previously been shown to present with differential abilities to traffic to cell-cell appositions and form plaques, to participate in GJIC and to act as dominant-negatives on the function of co-expressed wild-type Cx43 [23,30]. We evaluated the G60S and I130T mutants and found that only the I130T mutant retained partial junctional conductance when expressed alone in connexin-deficient N2A cells. This is consistent with others that also identified that the I130T mutant retained the ability to form gap junction plaques with residual coupling activity, while the G60S mutant was maintained mainly in an intracellular profile and functionally dead [17,23,30]. However, in ODDD disease these individual mutants are always co-expressed with wild-type Cx43, thus their impact on total Cx43 function needed to be assessed in primary cells from mutant mice that express only Cx43. To that end, in both primary myoepithelial and granulosa cells we discovered that the I130T mutant caused a smaller reduction in dye transfer compared to the G60S mutant when normalized to their appropriate control counterparts. Consistently, we and others

reported a more severe loss of GJIC in primary cells from G60S mutant mice [17,25], but our results presented here are the first to directly compare these two mutants in parallel experiments. Thus, we hypothesized that a higher basal level of total Cx43 function in I130T mutant mice might retain a more normal mammary gland function than we previously documented in the G60S mutant mice where the gland exhibits significant developmental delays and failed to eject milk [20].

Cx43 is known to be expressed in the mammary gland throughout development and differentiation and evidence suggests that at parturition Cx43 levels increase and the more highly phosphorylated species of Cx43 become more evident [14]. Similar to our findings in myoepithelial and granulosa cells, Kalcheva et al. (2007) showed that the highly phosphorylated species of Cx43 were less prevalent in cardiomyocytes of I130T mutant mice and this was accompanied by a reduction in Cx43 gap junctional plaques [25]. Thus, the reduction in GJIC observed in cells isolated from I130T mutant mice was not surprising as the highly phosphorylated species of Cx43 have been correlated with the level of Cx43 assembled into functional gap junction plaques [31]. Not unlike our observations in the *Cx43*<sup>G605/+</sup> mice [20,21], changes in Cx43 expression and phosphorylation had no effects on Cx26, Cx30 or Cx32, suggesting no cross-talk between Cx43 changes and other mammary gland connexins.

# 2.4.2 A full complement of Cx43 is necessary for the regulated development of mammary glands in virgin mice

Prior to puberty, ductal elongation is largely hormone independent and is believed to be regulated by locally acting factors between the epithelium and the stroma [6,32]. At 4 weeks,  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice exhibited a delay in ductal elongation and severely impaired stromal development suggesting a role for Cx43 in ductal morphogenesis prior to puberty [20]. Although it is unknown if the delay in ductal development is a result of dysregulation of Cx43 in the stroma or in the epithelium, extracellular matrix components are able to bind and sequester signalling molecules that affect ductal/branching morphogenesis, suggesting that improper stromal development may contribute to the delay in ductal elongation observed in  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice [33]. Although slightly smaller mammary glands were observed in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice at 4 weeks, these mice displayed a delay in ductal

differentiation despite exhibiting relatively normal stromal development suggesting that the poorly developed stroma in  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice was not the only contributing factor underlying the delay in development. As such, our evidence provides support for a role of epithelium-localized Cx43 in regulating ductal growth prior to the onset of puberty.

At puberty, ductal growth becomes estrogen-dependent which is exemplified by the fact that estrogen receptor  $\alpha$  knockout mice have limited ductal elongation during puberty [34]. In  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice, the onset of hormones at puberty was unable to overcome the delay in development observed in pre-pubertal mice, even after 10 weeks. Thus, we suggested that GJIC may in part mediate estrogen signaling between the epithelium and stroma [20]. Interestingly, ductal length from  $Cx43^{1130T/+}$  mice was similar to WT mice one week following the onset of puberty, suggesting three possible roles for Cx43 in pubertal ductal morphogenesis. First, that estrogen-driven signaling of ductal morphogenesis may not be dependent on GJIC and that the delay in development observed in  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  following puberty was a result of improper stromal development [20]. Second, that the delay in ductal morphogenesis following puberty is a result of GJIC-independent mechanisms, which are further dependent on the mutant expressed. This concept is supported by the observation that Wnt5a overexpressing mice, in which Wnt5a overexpression was shown to decrease GJIC in vitro, had similar ductal morphogenesis compared to controls [35]. However, whether GJIC is reduced in the virgin mammary gland of Wnt5a overexpressing mice is unknown, thus limiting the impact of these results. Thirdly, the higher residual Cx43 function observed in mammary cells of  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice, nearly double of that seen in  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice, is sufficient to mediate estrogen or other hormonal signals during ductal morphogenesis. Although further mechanistic details remain to be elucidated, it is clear that Cx43 plays a role in regulating the development of the mammary gland in virgin mice.

# 2.4.3 Cx43 regulates proliferation in the mammary gland following the onset of pregnancy

Following the onset of pregnancy, the mammary gland enlarges as the epithelial to adipocyte ratio increases as a result of extensive proliferation [5]. Similar to what we have reported for the  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice, mammary glands of  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice were significantly smaller at parturition compared to WT controls but here we extend our understanding of

the process by showing that the defect was due to reduced cell proliferation in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice. Cx43 has previously been implicated in pathways that affect regulators of the cell cycle such as cyclin D1 [36]. Interestingly, *cyclin D1* null mice have poor alveolar development during pregnancy as a result of reduced proliferation, suggesting a possible regulatory pathway between Cx43 and cyclin D1 [37]. It is also important to note that both ODDD mutant mouse models showed similar gland architecture and histology suggesting that Cx43's role in proliferation of the mammary gland is not critical for development of the gland during pregnancy.

After weaning of the pups, the mammary gland undergoes involution which is characterized by both apoptotic cell death of epithelial cells and stromal activation [38]. Compared to their control counterparts,  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice had significantly smaller mammary glands two days post weaning suggesting accelerated involution but this was not supported by the gross and histological evaluation of the epithelial ducts which revealed no observable difference. In addition, the level of apoptosis within the glands was similar to control. Therefore, the decrease in mammary gland weight observed in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice likely reflects changes in the stromal compartment of the gland, which is composed mainly of adipocytes. Importantly, the gap junction blocker 18-alpha-glycyrrhetinic acid and siRNA knockdown of Cx43 have previously been shown to inhibit adipogenesis in pre-adipocytes, suggesting a role for Cx43 in regulating adipocyte differentiation [39].

Given the systemic reduction in Cx43 function in I130T mutant mice and the fact that this genetic modification causes a small reduction in the body weight of mutant mice, it is possible that hormonal signaling that regulates mammary gland development is altered due to the compromised role of Cx43 in endocrine glands such as the ovaries, adrenal gland or pituitary gland [40]. In this pursuit, we hypothesized that changes in Cx43 affected prolactin regulation which is supported by correlational evidence that an increase in Cx43 is associated with an increase in prolactin secretion [42]. Furthermore, prolactin receptor knockout mice exhibit reduced adipose tissue mass throughout the body including the mammary gland as a result of decreased adipocyte cell numbers, suggesting a role of prolactin in adipocyte proliferation and differentiation [41]. Our evaluation of serum prolactin levels at mid-pregnancy revealed no significant differences between mutant and

wild-type mice suggesting that reduced Cx43 function does not affect secretion of prolactin into the blood. However, it is unknown if changes in Cx43 alter prolactin signalling downstream in the mammary gland at the level of the prolactin receptor or whether this reflects changes in other hormones. Thus, we conclude that loss-of-function mutations in Cx43 may directly or indirectly affect the stromal component of the mammary gland during involution.

# 2.4.4 Partial coupling by Cx43 gap junction channels is sufficient for normal mammary gland function

Together with our previous findings using  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mutant mice [21], our results here strongly support the conclusion that a full complement of Cx43 is not necessary for the synthesis of constitutive proteins of milk. Due to Cx43 being mainly restricted to myoepithelial cells of mammary gland epithelium, previous studies suggested that Cx43 plays a role in myoepithelial differentiation, coordinated myoepithelial contraction and proper milk ejection [7,14]. However, it was not until our evaluation of  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice at parturition that we determined that Cx43 was essential for proper oxytocin-induced milk ejection which was later supported following examination of Wnt-5a over-expressing mice that presented with a similar ejection defect that the authors linked to severely impaired Cx43-mediated GJIC [35]. Surprisingly,  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice exhibited no apparent defect in milk ejection upon oxytocin stimulation and females could readily feed pups. Given that myoepithelial cells from  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice are approximately twice as well coupled by Cx43 gap junctions as cells from the  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice, we conclude that there was sufficient residual Cx43-based GJIC to rescue the milk ejection defect. The idea that different mutants of ODDD result in differential changes in the molecular properties of the Cx43 gap junctional channel has been suggested to contribute in part to the pleiotropic phenotype observed in ODDD patients [19]. However, it is also important to note that differences observed in myoepithelial GJIC may be due in part to the different mixed mouse strain backgrounds being studied, although both mutant mouse lines have been partially backcrossed to BL6. Importantly, the ODDD patient population includes all ethnic groups of mixed origin, suggesting that the variations observed in the mutant mice being studied

may in fact somewhat reflect the heterogeneity of the disease in the human patient population.

# 2.5 Conclusions

In summary, unlike the previously studied  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice with severely compromised Cx43 function, we found that  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice with partial Cx43 mutant channel function present with limited mammary gland developmental defects. In essence, severe defects in mammary gland function appear to require in excess of a 50% reduction in total Cx43 function which is consistent with the fact that  $Gja1^{+/-}$  knockout mice, expressing only a 50% complement of Cx43, are relatively normal and have no evidence of lactation or milk ejection defects [43]. In conclusion, we predict that ODDD patients that harbor mutations that maintain total Cx43 function in the breast at 50% or better will not suffer from milk production or ejection defects as appears to be the case for the vast majority of documented ODDD patients to date. Importantly, our study also highlights the fact that the use of multiple genetically-modified mouse models is beneficial for establishing results that translate to different populations of ODDD patients.

### 2.6 References

1 Paznekas, W. A., Boyadjiev, S. A., Shapiro, R. E., Daniels, O., Wollnik, B., Keegan, C. E., Innis, J. W., Dinulos, M. B., Christian, C., Hannibal, M. C. and Jabs, E. W. (2003) Connexin 43 (GJA1) mutations cause the pleiotropic phenotype of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. **72**, 408-418

2 Laird, D. W. (2006) Life cycle of connexins in health and disease. Biochem. J. **394**, 527-543

3 El-Saghir, J. A., El-Habre, E. T., El-Sabban, M. E. and Talhouk, R. S. (2011) Connexins: A junctional crossroad to breast cancer. Int. J. Dev. Biol. **55**, 773-780

4 Hennighausen, L. and Robinson, G. W. (2005) Information networks in the mammary gland. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. **6**, 715-725

5 Lamote, I., Meyer, E., Massart-Leen, A. M. and Burvenich, C. (2004) Sex steroids and growth factors in the regulation of mammary gland proliferation, differentiation, and involution. Steroids. **69**, 145-159

6 Howlin, J., McBryan, J. and Martin, F. (2006) Pubertal mammary gland development: Insights from mouse models. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **11**, 283-297

7 McLachlan, E., Shao, Q. and Laird, D. W. (2007) Connexins and gap junctions in mammary gland development and breast cancer progression. J. Membr. Biol. **218**, 107-121

8 Monaghan, P., Clarke, C., Perusinghe, N. P., Moss, D. W., Chen, X. Y. and Evans, W. H. (1996) Gap junction distribution and connexin expression in human breast. Exp. Cell Res. **223**, 29-38

9 Tomasetto, C., Neveu, M. J., Daley, J., Horan, P. K. and Sager, R. (1993) Specificity of gap junction communication among human mammary cells and connexin transfectants in culture. J. Cell Biol. **122**, 157-167

10 Locke, D., Stein, T., Davies, C., Morris, J., Harris, A. L., Evans, W. H., Monaghan, P. and Gusterson, B. (2004) Altered permeability and modulatory character of connexin channels during mammary gland development. Exp. Cell Res. **298**, 643-660

11 Locke, D., Jamieson, S., Stein, T., Liu, J., Hodgins, M. B., Harris, A. L. and Gusterson, B. (2007) Nature of Cx30-containing channels in the adult mouse mammary gland. Cell Tissue Res. **328**, 97-107

12 El-Sabban, M. E., Abi-Mosleh, L. F. and Talhouk, R. S. (2003) Developmental regulation of gap junctions and their role in mammary epithelial cell differentiation. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **8**, 463-473

13 Talhouk, R. S., Elble, R. C., Bassam, R., Daher, M., Sfeir, A., Mosleh, L. A., El-Khoury, H., Hamoui, S., Pauli, B. U. and El-Sabban, M. E. (2005) Developmental expression patterns and regulation of connexins in the mouse mammary gland: Expression of connexin30 in lactogenesis. Cell Tissue Res. **319**, 49-59

14 Yamanaka, I., Kuraoka, A., Inai, T., Ishibashi, T. and Shibata, Y. (1997) Changes in the phosphorylation states of connexin43 in myoepithelial cells of lactating rat mammary glands. Eur. J. Cell Biol. **72**, 166-173

15 Gudjonsson, T., Ronnov-Jessen, L., Villadsen, R., Rank, F., Bissell, M. J. and Petersen, O. W. (2002) Normal and tumor-derived myoepithelial cells differ in their ability to interact with luminal breast epithelial cells for polarity and basement membrane deposition. J. Cell. Sci. **115**, 39-50

16 Adriance, M. C., Inman, J. L., Petersen, O. W. and Bissell, M. J. (2005) Myoepithelial cells: Good fences make good neighbors. Breast Cancer Res. **7**, 190-197

17 Flenniken, A. M., Osborne, L. R., Anderson, N., Ciliberti, N., Fleming, C., Gittens, J. E., Gong, X. Q., Kelsey, L. B., Lounsbury, C., Moreno, L., Nieman, B. J., Peterson, K., Qu, D., Roscoe, W., Shao, Q., Tong, D., Veitch, G. I., Voronina, I., Vukobradovic, I., Wood, G. A., Zhu, Y., Zirngibl, R. A., Aubin, J. E., Bai, D., Bruneau, B. G., Grynpas, M., Henderson, J. E., Henkelman, R. M., McKerlie, C., Sled, J. G., Stanford, W. L., Laird, D. W., Kidder, G. M., Adamson, S. L. and Rossant, J. (2005) A Gja1 missense mutation in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Development. **132**, 4375-4386

18 Toth, K., Shao, Q., Lorentz, R. and Laird, D. W. (2010) Decreased levels of Cx43 gap junctions result in ameloblast dysregulation and enamel hypoplasia in  $Gja1^{Jrt/+}$  mice. J. Cell. Physiol. **223**, 601-609

19 Paznekas, W. A., Karczeski, B., Vermeer, S., Lowry, R. B., Delatycki, M., Laurence, F., Koivisto, P. A., Van Maldergem, L., Boyadjiev, S. A., Bodurtha, J. N. and Jabs, E. W. (2009) GJA1 mutations, variants, and connexin 43 dysfunction as it relates to the oculodentodigital dysplasia phenotype. Hum. Mutat. **30**, 724-733

20 Plante, I. and Laird, D. W. (2008) Decreased levels of connexin43 result in impaired development of the mammary gland in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Dev. Biol. **318**, 312-322

21 Plante, I., Wallis, A., Shao, Q. and Laird, D. W. (2010) Milk secretion and ejection are impaired in the mammary gland of mice harboring a Cx43 mutant while expression and localization of tight and adherens junction proteins remain unchanged. Biol. Reprod. **82**, 837-847

22 Amador, C., Mathews, A. M., Del Carmen Montoya, M., Laughridge, M. E., Everman, D. B. and Holden, K. R. (2008) Expanding the neurologic phenotype of oculodentodigital dysplasia in a 4-generation hispanic family. J. Child Neurol. **23**, 901-905

23 Seki, A., Coombs, W., Taffet, S. M. and Delmar, M. (2004) Loss of electrical communication, but not plaque formation, after mutations in the cytoplasmic loop of connexin43. Heart Rhythm. 1, 227-233

24 Wasseff, S., Abrams, C. K. and Scherer, S. S. (2010) A dominant connexin43 mutant does not have dominant effects on gap junction coupling in astrocytes. Neuron. Glia Biol. **6**, 213-223

Kalcheva, N., Qu, J., Sandeep, N., Garcia, L., Zhang, J., Wang, Z., Lampe, P. D., Suadicani, S. O., Spray, D. C. and Fishman, G. I. (2007) Gap junction remodeling and cardiac arrhythmogenesis in a murine model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **104**, 20512-20516

Gong, X. Q., Shao, Q., Langlois, S., Bai, D. and Laird, D. W. (2007) Differential potency of dominant negative connexin43 mutants in oculodentodigital dysplasia. J. Biol. Chem. **282**, 19190-19202

27 Plante, I. and Laird, D. W. (2008) Decreased levels of connexin43 result in impaired development of the mammary gland in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Dev. Biol. **318**, 312-322

28 Plante, I., Stewart, M. K. and Laird, D. W. (2011) Evaluation of mammary gland development and function in mouse models. J. Vis. Exp. (53). pii: 2828. doi, 10.3791/2828

Kidder, G. M. and Mhawi, A. A. (2002) Gap junctions and ovarian folliculogenesis. Reproduction. **123**, 613-620

30 Shibayama, J., Paznekas, W., Seki, A., Taffet, S., Jabs, E. W., Delmar, M. and Musa, H. (2005) Functional characterization of connexin43 mutations found in patients with oculodentodigital dysplasia. Circ. Res. **96**, e83-91

31 Solan, J. L. and Lampe, P. D. (2009) Connexin43 phosphorylation: Structural changes and biological effects. Biochem. J. **419**, 261-272

32 Howlett, A. R. and Bissell, M. J. (1993) The influence of tissue microenvironment (stroma and extracellular matrix) on the development and function of mammary epithelium. Epithelial Cell Biol. **2**, 79-89

33 Silberstein, G. B., Flanders, K. C., Roberts, A. B. and Daniel, C. W. (1992) Regulation of mammary morphogenesis: Evidence for extracellular matrix-mediated inhibition of ductal budding by transforming growth factor-beta 1. Dev. Biol. **152**, 354-362

34 Bocchinfuso, W. P. and Korach, K. S. (1997) Mammary gland development and tumorigenesis in estrogen receptor knockout mice. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **2**, 323-334

Baxley, S. E., Jiang, W. and Serra, R. (2011) Misexpression of wingless-related MMTV integration site 5A in mouse mammary gland inhibits the milk ejection response and regulates connexin43 phosphorylation. Biol. Reprod. **85**, 907-915

Chen, S. C., Pelletier, D. B., Ao, P. and Boynton, A. L. (1995) Connexin43 reverses the phenotype of transformed cells and alters their expression of cyclin/cyclin-dependent kinases. Cell Growth Differ. **6**, 681-690

37 Fantl, V., Stamp, G., Andrews, A., Rosewell, I. and Dickson, C. (1995) Mice lacking cyclin D1 are small and show defects in eye and mammary gland development. Genes Dev. **9**, 2364-2372

38 O'Brien, J., Martinson, H., Durand-Rougely, C. and Schedin, P. (2012) Macrophages are crucial for epithelial cell death and adipocyte repopulation during mammary gland involution. Development. **139**, 269-275

39 Yanagiya, T., Tanabe, A. and Hotta, K. (2007) Gap-junctional communication is required for mitotic clonal expansion during adipogenesis. Obesity (Silver Spring). **15**, 572-582

40 Serre-Beinier, V., Mas, C., Calabrese, A., Caton, D., Bauquis, J., Caille, D., Charollais, A., Cirulli, V. and Meda, P. (2002) Connexins and secretion. Biol. Cell. **94**, 477-492

41 Ormandy, C. J., Binart, N. and Kelly, P. A. (1997) Mammary gland development in prolactin receptor knockout mice. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **2**, 355-364

42 Vitale, M. L., Cardin, J., Gilula, N. B., Carbajal, M. E. and Pelletier, R. M. (2001) Dynamics of connexin 43 levels and distribution in the mink (mustela vison) anterior pituitary are associated with seasonal changes in anterior pituitary prolactin content. Biol. Reprod. **64**, 625-633

43 Reaume, A. G., de Sousa, P. A., Kulkarni, S., Langille, B. L., Zhu, D., Davies, T. C., Juneja, S. C., Kidder, G. M. and Rossant, J. (1995) Cardiac malformation in neonatal mice lacking connexin43. Science. **267**, 1831-1834

# Chapter 3

# 3 Mammary gland specific knockout of the physiological surge in Cx26 during lactation retains normal mammary gland development and function

Cx26 has previously been suggested to be important in maintaining epithelial survival during alveogenesis following the onset of pregnancy. The purpose of this study was to further characterize the role of Cx26 during pregnancy and lactation in the mammary gland using a novel mouse model with mammary gland specific knockout of Cx26 during pregnancy. In addition, this study also aimed to address apparent discrepancies between the lack of breast feeding defects reported by hearing-loss female patients that harbor loss-of-function Cx26 mutants, and the severely impaired lactation defects previously described using conditionally ablated Cx26 mouse models.

A version of this chapter is published:

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Stewart MKG</u>, Plante I, Bechberger JF, Naus CC, Laird DW. Mammary gland specific knockdown of the physiological surge in Cx26 during lactation retains normal mammary gland development and function. PLoS ONE 9(7): e101546. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0101546, 2014.

## 3.1 Introduction

Breast morphogenesis is unique to other organ systems in that the majority of its development occurs after birth. The progression towards a terminally differentiated gland requires the onset of pregnancy in which alterations in hormones and cell-cell signaling results in the growth and increased branching of ducts, along with the differentiation of alveolar cells to form the mature milk-secretory organ [1]. Weaning leads to the regression and remodeling of the breast to a virgin gland state in a process known as involution. The mammary gland of mice is comparable to that of humans and has frequently been used as a model to study mammary gland development [2]. Although much is known about the hormonal control of mammary gland throughout development, less is known about local communication such as the gap junction proteins connexins (Cxs) [3,4]. Importantly, gap junctions have been shown to play a role in coordinating cellular tissue responses downstream of hormonal/paracrine stimuli, suggesting that dysregulation of Cxs may alter hormonally controlled organ development and function [5].

Six connexin subunits oligomerize to form a hemichannel (or connexon) capable of permitting the exchange of small molecules between the intracellular and extracellular environment. More commonly, connexons from one cell dock with connexons from an adjacent cell to allow for direct gap junctional intercellular communication (GJIC) [6]. Two connexins, Cx26 and Cx43, were shown to be expressed within the breast of humans in which Cx26 is the only connexin localized to the luminal epithelial cells [7]. In mice, Cx26 is expressed at low levels at all stages of mammary gland development and is dramatically upregulated during pregnancy to become the most predominantly expressed to play a role in coordinating gland development prior to secretory activation as well as having a possible role in maintaining normal tissue homeostasis and differentiation of the non-pregnant mammary gland [3]. In addition, luminal cells in the mouse mammary gland also express Cx32 and Cx30, which are able to form heteromeric/heterotypic channels with Cx26 during pregnancy and lactation. Heteromeric/heterotypic channels alter the properties and permeabilities of luminal gap junction channels, although the

transjunctional molecular exchange through these junctional networks remains unclear [9,10].

Homozygous knockout mice have been unsuccessful in determining the role of Cx26 in the mammary gland. Gjb2<sup>-/-</sup> mice die in utero as a result of placental defects rendering examination of the mammary gland impossible [11]. Similarly, the generation of  $Gjb2^{+/Gjb1}$ mice die embryonically as a result of severe lymphedemas [12]. To overcome this, two conditionally ablated mice using the Cre-loxP system were developed to assess the role of Cx26 in the mammary gland [13].  $Gjb2^{fl/fl}$  (Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice) crossed with mice expressing the Cre transgene under a whey acidic protein (WAP) promoter (referred to as  $Cx26^{fl/fl};WC$ ) or the mouse mammary gland tumor virus (MMTV) promoter (referred to as  $Cx26^{fl/fl};MC$ ) were generated. The MMTV promoter expresses Cre recombinase in the mammary gland epithelium prior to birth while the WAP promoter initiates the expression of Cre in the later stages of pregnancy [14]. Interestingly,  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$ ; MC mice showed reduced lobuloalveolar development compared to controls due to an increase in apoptosis while no change was observed in  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$ ; WC mice. As a result, pups from  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$ ; MC dams were more likely to die before being weaned, likely from starvation [13]. It was suggested that Cx26 during early pregnancy plays a critical role in epithelial cell survival and that loss of Cx26 may result in abnormal lactation [13].

However, two discrepancies exist that highlight the need for further studies to evaluate the function of Cx26 in mammary gland development and function. First, Yuan et al. (2011) recently found that control *MMTV-Cre* mice developed by the Hennighausen laboratory (as the founding *MMTV-Cre* line A) had impaired mammary gland developmental defects, cautioning the use of this Cre mouse line in mammary gland development studies [15]. It is unknown which *MMTV-Cre* mouse line was used by Bry et al (2004) and whether such a concern existed in their study [13]. However pregnant *MMTV-Cre* line A mice were found to develop with reduced lobuloalveolar formation at the onset of lactation as a result of increased apoptosis, while virgin glands developed normally, results consistent with the findings in the  $Cx26^{ft/fl}$ ;*MC* mouse line [13,15]. As a result, additional studies are needed to further evaluate the role of Cx26 in mammary gland development and function. Secondly, a human population of patients exist with systemic dysregulated Cx26

expression and loss of Cx26 channel function that have never been reported to have altered breast function. Over 90 mutations in the *GJB2* gene that encodes Cx26 give rise to both syndromic and non-syndromic deafness that accounts for approximately half of congenital cases of hearing impairments [16]. Mutations in *GJB2* may result in both autosomal dominant and recessive loss of function mutations, of which the most frequent recessive mutations may lead to considerable, if not total, ablation of Cx26 channel function [17]. Interestingly, despite an incidence rate of this mutation similar to that of cystic fibrosis, there are no reports of breast feeding problems in the deaf community, suggesting that Cx26 may not be essential for normal gland function [16,18].

Thus, in order to further evaluate the role of Cx26 in the mammary gland, we developed a novel Cx26 conditional knockout mouse model in which  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin (BLG)-Cre mice were crossed with  $Cx26^{\beta/\beta}$  mice. The resulting mice were found to have greatly reduced Cx26 expression in the mammary gland yet retained normal gland development, differentiation and function. These findings were even more remarkable given that cross-talk mechanisms cause a co-regulated reduction in Cx30. Taken together, these findings strongly suggest that mammary gland function can proceed normally in the absence of the physiological surge in Cx26 that occurs during pregnancy and in the presence of a substantial loss of gap junctional exchange of signalling molecules.

## 3.2 Methods

#### 3.2.1 Animals

*BLG-Cre* mice [19] were crossed with  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$  mice [20] to produce *BLG-Cre; Cx26*<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice (Cx26 knockout mice or *Cre*+ mice). All mice were genotyped for the prescence of the Cre transgene. In addition, *BLG-Cre* mice were crossed with WT mice showing no evidence of a lactation defect. Four virgin, pregnant d9.5 and pregnant d12.5, as well as eight Cx26 knockout mice at parturition, d4 of lactation and d2 of involution, along with  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$  control mice (*Cre*- mice) at identical timepoints, were sacrificed using CO<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub>. Thoracic mammary glands were removed and either stored at -80°C (right side) or cryoembedded (left sided glands), while inguinal mammary glands were either fixed in 10%

neutral buffered formalin and then embedded in paraffin (right sided glands) or processed for whole mounting (left sided glands). Mice were arbitrarily numbered to allow experiments to be performed by a process that was blinded to the investigator. The protocol was approved by the Committee on the Ethics of Animal Experiments of the University of Western Ontario (2006-101-10) and the University of British Columbia (A11-0170) and the Canadian Council of Animal Care (Appendix 3).

#### 3.2.2 Real-Time PCR

Total mRNA was isolated from the tissues using TRIzol (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) and purified using RNeasy mini-kit (Quiagen, Mississauga, ON) following the manufacturers' instructions. cDNA were generated from isolated mRNA using RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kits (Fermentas, Burlington, ON) and then subjected to specific amplification using SsoFast EvaGreen Supermix (Bio-rad, Mississauga, ON) using Cx26 (5' TCCGCATCATGATCCTCGTG 3'; 5' CCCAGAGCCGGATGTGA 3'), Cx30 (5' GCCGAGTTGTGTGTTACCTG 3';5' GCATTCTGGCCACTATCTGA 3'), Cx32 (5' CTTGCTCAGTGGCGTGAATC 3'; 5' CGGCTGGAGGGTGTTACAG 3'), Cx43 (5'TATGACAAGTCCTTCCCCAT 3'; 5' TGATTTCAATCTGCTTCAGG 3') and  $\beta$ 2microglobulin (5'CCCACTGAGACTGATACATACGC3'; 5'GGTTCAAATGAATCTTCAGAGCAT3') primers, with a TM at 55°C (N=4).

#### 3.2.3 Western blot analysis

Mammary gland tissues were homogenized in lysis buffer and subjected to western blot analysis, as described previously [21], [22]. Membranes were immunoblotted with the following primary antibodies: mouse anti-Cx26 (C14523, Lifespan, Seattle, WA, 1µg/ml), rabbit anit-Cx30 (71-2200, Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, 0.25 µg/ml), rabbit-anti-Cx32 (C3470, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, 0.1 µg/ml), rabbit anti-Cx43 (C6219, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, 0.1 µg/ml), goat anti-WAP and goat anti- $\beta$ -casein (sc-14832, sc-17971, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, 0.2 µg/ml), mouse anti-glyceraldehyde-3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (MAB374, Millipore, Billerica, MA, 2 µg/ml) and rabbit anti-GAPDH (14C10, Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, 1:1000). Bound primary antibody was detected using the following fluorescence-conjugated secondary antibodies; Alexa 680-conjugated goat anti-rabbit, Alexa 800-conjugated goat anti-mouse and Alexa 680-conjugated donkey anti-goat (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, 0.2  $\mu$ g/ml) followed by visualization and quantification using the Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (Li-Cor Biosciences, Lincoln, NE). Protein levels were determined by normalization to the western blot band intensities of GAPDH (N≥6).

#### 3.2.4 Immunofluorescence

Paraffin-embedded sections (6 µm) were deparaffinized in xylene and rehydrated in descending concentrations of ethanol baths, microwaved for 5 min (80%) in antigenretrieval solution (1:50, Vector Labs) and put into 0.01 M Tris/1 mM EDTA buffer (pH 9.0) at 90–95 °C for 30 min, as previously described [22]. Cryo-sections (7 µm) were fixed with 10% neutral buffered formalin. Paraffin and/or cryosections were blocked with 0.1% Triton X-100 and 3% BSA in PBS for 60 min at room temperature. Sections were then incubated with the following primary antibodies: rabbit anti-Cx26 (51-2800, Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, 2.5 µg/ml), rabbit anti-Cx30 (71-2200, Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, 2.5 µg/ml), rabbit-anti-Cx32 (C3470, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, 1.0 µg/ml), rabbit anti-Cx43 (C6219, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, 1.0 µg/ml), mouse anti-pan-Cytokeratin (ab7753, Abcam, Cambridge, MA, 4 µg/ml), mouse anti-Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) (M-0879, Dako, Burlington, ON, 0.5 µg/ml), goat anti-WAP (sc-14832, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, 2µg/ml) and Wheat Germ Agglutinin-633 (WGA) conjugate (W-21404, Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, 1:400). Primary antibody was visualized by incubating sections with secondary antibodies: Alexa480-conjugated goat anti-rabbit, Alexa480-conjugated goat anti-mouse, Alexa555-conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody, (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, 0.5 µg/ml) or anti-goat Texas Red (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Baltimore, PA, 1:100). Hoechst stain was used to visualize nuclei prior to mounting. Immunolabeled sections were imaged (5-10 images per sample) using a Leica DM IRE2 inverted epifluorescence microscope equipped with Openlab 5.5.3/Velocity 6.3.0 imaging software or a Zeiss LSM 510 inverted confocal microscope  $(N \ge 6)$ . For cytokeratin area quantification, green only and blue only fluorescent images at 20X magnification were converted to binary using ImageJ and the pixel area was measured.

Graphs represent the mean ratio of green fluorescent area (cytokeratin) to blue fluorescent area (nuclei). For PCNA quantification, the number of PCNA positive cells per 20X field was quantified. In addition, the blue only fluorescent images at 20X magnification were converted to binary using ImageJ and the pixel area was measured. Graphs represent the mean ratio of the number of PCNA positive cells to blue fluorescent pixel area (nuclei).

#### 3.2.5 Whole mounting

As previously described [23], the left inguinal mammary glands were excised, spread on glass slides and fixed in Carnoy's fixative (100% EtOH, chloroform, glacial acetic acid; 6:3:1) for 4 h at room temperature. Mammary glands were washed in 70% EtOH for 15 min, gradually rehydrated in water, and stained in carmine alum (2% carmine and 5% aluminum potassium sulfate in water) overnight at room temperature. Tissues were then gradually dehydrated through serial ethanol baths and cleared in xylene overnight. Mammary glands were kept in methyl salicylate until images were captured with a numeric camera (Cybershot, Sony) and a SteREOLumar V12 microscope (Zeiss) (N $\geq$ 4).

#### 3.2.6 Histology

Paraffin-embedded mammary gland sections (6  $\mu$ m) were deparaffinized in xylene for 10 min, rehydrated in descending grades of ethanol baths, and stained with 1% Harris's haematoxylin and 1% eosin. Sections were dehydrated in ascending grades of ethanol and xylene baths and mounted with Cytoseal (Richard-Allan Scientific). Qualitative histological analysis was performed by imaging several arbitrary areas per 20× field of view using a Leica DM IRE2 inverted epifluorescence microscope equipped with a ProgRes C5 camera (Jenoptik) and ProgRes Mac CapturePro 2.7.6 imaging software (N=8).

#### 3.2.7 Evaluation of apoptosis

Apoptotic cells were stained using a commercial kit for TUNEL assay (Apoptag, Chemicon International, Temecula, CA) following the manufacturer's instructions. Slides were treated with 0.5% TritonX-100 in PBS. 5-10 random fields per mouse were evaluated in which the

ratio of the number of apoptotic cells to the pixel area of nuclei were quantified using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD) for each 20X field (N=5).

#### 3.2.8 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism version 4.03 for Windows. A Student's unpaired t-test or a one-way ANOVA test was used in which a p<0.05 was considered significant. Values are presented as means  $\pm$  S.E.M.

# 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 Conditionally ablated *Gjb2* in the mammary gland

In the mammary gland, Cx26, as well as other apical Cx30 and Cx32, expression is dramatically upregulated at parturition and remains elevated throughout lactation (Figure 3.1A, [10]). To assess the efficiency of the Cx26 knockout we performed real-time PCR analysis of Cx26 which revealed a significant decrease, but not complete ablation, of Cx26 mRNA at parturition and lactation (Figure 3.1B). Consistent with these results, western blot and immunofluorescent analysis revealed a significant ~65-70% decrease in Cx26 protein levels (Figure 3.1C) that correlated with a decrease in Cx26 gap junction plaques within the mammary epithelium of Cre+ mice at parturition and lactation (Figure 3.1D). As expected, since the BLG promoter is not activated before mid-pregnancy (day 10 of pregnancy), no differences were observed in other stages (Figure 3.S1). Together, residual Cx26 expression suggests that Cre+ mice maintain low basal expression of Cx26 throughout the pregnancy and lactation phases of mammary gland development while the typical physiological surge in Cx26 was eliminated.

Figure 3.1. *BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup>* mice exhibit a dramatic reduction in Cx26. (A) Real-time PCR analysis of wild-type mice revealed that Cx26, Cx32 and Cx30 are upregulated at parturition and lactation. (B, C) Real-time PCR and western blot analysis of mammary glands from Cre- (open columns) and Cre+ (solid columns) mice revealed a dramatic reduction in Cx26 mRNA and protein levels at parturition and lactation. \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001. Values are mean levels  $\pm$  S.E.M. N≥4. (D) Immunofluorescence for Cx26 revealed a decrease in Cx26 gap junctions (arrows) at parturition and lactation in *Cre*+ mice compared to control mice. Hoechst staining denotes the nuclei. N=6. Scale Bar =50 µm.





To assess the status of other connexins co-expressed within the mammary gland in response to a reduction in Cx26, Western blot and immunofluorescent analysis of Cx43, Cx32 and Cx30 were evaluated at parturition and lactation. Protein expression and localization of Cx43 and Cx32 were similar in the mammary glands of lactating Cre+ mice compared to control mice (Figure 3.2A,B). Interestingly, our assays revealed a significant decrease in Cx30 expression at parturition to about ~40% of control and a significant reduction in Cx30 gap junction plaques in lactating Cre+ mice compared to control (Figure 3.2A,B, 3.S2A). Qualitative immunofluorescent analysis of Cx30 gap junctions at lactation showed that Cx30 gap junctions appeared dramatically smaller in Cre+ mice compared to control mice despite a similar number of overall Cx30 gap junction plaques (Figure 3.2B, 3.S2B). Therefore, the Cre+ mice lacked the physiological surge in both Cx26 and Cx30 that are typically observed in the mammary gland during pregnancy.

# 3.3.2 *BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup>* mice retain normal mammary gland development throughout pregnancy

To assess whether a reduction in Cx26 gap junction plaques affects the development of the mammary gland during the pregnancy cycle, whole mount analysis was assessed in the mammary glands of virgin, pregnancy day 9.5, pregnancy day 12.5, at parturition, lactating and involuting mice. Adult virgin mammary glands of genetically-modified mice contained an expansive epithelial ductal network embedded within a developed mammary fat pad similar to control mice (Figure 3.3A). Following the onset of pregnancy, whole mount assessment revealed increased ductal branching and lobuloalveolar structures in the glands of Cre+ mice similar to control mice, suggesting normal timing of alveolar development. In accordance, mammary glands of

Figure 3.2. Lactating mammary glands of Cre+ mice exhibited a reduction in Cx30 at parturition. (A) Western blot and (B) immunofluorescent analysis of mammary glands from control and *Cre*+ mice at parturition revealed a significant decrease in Cx30 expression and a reduction in Cx30 gap junction plaques, while no change was observed in either Cx43 or Cx32. Arrows denote connexin plaques. \*p<0.05. Values are mean levels  $\pm$  SEM. N≥6. Hoechst staining denotes the nuclei. Scale Bars = 50 µm.



Figure 3.3. Mammary glands from *BLG-Cre; Cx26*<sup>*fUfl*</sup> mice at all stages of gland development have similar gross gland architecture. (A) Whole mount analysis of developing and differentiating mammary glands from control and *Cre*+ mice revealed similar ductal and alveolar structure as assessed with carmine alum staining. (B) High (25X) magnification of whole mounts revealed developed alveoli in lactating Cx26 knockout mice and alveolar turnover in involuting mice similar to controls. N $\geq$ 4.



Cre +

· Ari



the genetically-modified mice at all stages of development following pregnancy were similar to  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$  control mice with developed alveoli that fully encompassed the mammary gland by early lactation and comparable alveolar turnover during involution (Figure 3.3A,B).

Since whole mount analysis can conceal alveoli changes due to the density of alveoli, histological analysis of H&E stained sections were performed on control and geneticallymodified mice. These studies revealed no qualitative differences in the density of alveoli and ducts throughout the mammary gland regardless of the stage of development after pregnancy (Figure 3.4A). In addition, to quantitatively evaluate whether conditionally reduced Cx26 led to defects in alveologenesis, mammary gland sections at parturition, lactation and involution were immunolabelled with the epithelial marker pan-cytokeratin. Ten arbitrary images were taken of each slide and the area of cytokeratin over the area of the nuclei was quantified. Quantification revealed no significant difference in cytokeratin labelling between Cre+ mice and Cre- control mice at parturition, lactation and involution suggesting normal epithelial turnover throughout lactation and involution (Figure 3.4B).

Previously, Lee et al. (1992) demonstrated that Cx26 mRNA was upregulated in the late G1 and early S phase of normal mammary epithelial cells, suggesting that Cx26 may have a role in luminal cell proliferation [24]. To assess whether Cx26 regulates proliferation through gland development, Cre+ mice at parturition, lactation and involution were immunolabelled with the proliferation marker PCNA and compared to *Cre*- mice. Quantification revealed no significant difference in the number of PCNA positive cells at all-time points in Cre+ mice compared to controls suggesting that the physiological surge in Cx26 is not critical in regulating proliferative mechanisms of gland development during pregnancy (Figure 3.5).

As Cx26 has previously been implicated in regulating epithelial cell survival during the early phase of pregnancy, mammary glands of Cre+ mice were assessed for changes in apoptosis using a TUNEL assay [13]. Quantification of TUNEL positive cells showed relatively low numbers of apoptotic cells at parturition and lactation and increased

Figure 3.4. Mammary glands of *BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup>* mice have similar epithelial development. (A) Haematoxylin and eosin staining of lactating and involuting mammary glands revealed similar histology between genetically-modified and control mice. Scale bars=100 $\mu$ m. (B) Labeling for the epithelial marker, cytokeratin, using an anti-pancytokeratin antibody revealed similar levels of labeling in control and genetically-modified mice. Values represent the mean positive-staining pixel area (green) relative to the pixel area of the nuclei (blue) per 0.18 mm<sup>2</sup> ± S.E.M. N=8. Hoechst staining denotes the nuclei. Scale Bars = 50  $\mu$ m.



А







apoptosis during involution in Cre+ mice similar to Cre- mice (Figure 3.6). These results suggest that conditional knockout of Cx26 during early pregnancy does not alter epithelial cell survival. Collectively, our results suggest that basal Cx26 expression is sufficient to retain normal mammary gland development.

## 3.3.3 BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice have normal lactation

To determine the functional state of the gland, western blot analysis of 2 common milk proteins, WAP and  $\beta$ -casein, were performed. Our data revealed similar expression in lactating *Cre*+ and *Cre*- mice (Figure 3.7A,B). As the western blot analysis is a measure of both secreted and non-secreted milk proteins, immunofluorescence of WAP within the ducts (apical epithelium marked with WGA) was used as a measure of milk secretion. Evidence of secreted milk within the alveoli of *Cre*+ and control mice was observed (Figure 3.7C). In addition, postnatal day 18 pup weights from both *Cre*+ and *Cre*- dams did not show any significant differences as well as similar litter sizes suggesting that pups survive to weaning age and do not die of starvation. During subsequent 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> pregnancies, no differences were seen in the litter weight sizes or health of the pups. Thus, a reduction in Cx26 did not affect later pregnancies as well. These findings are consistent with the whole mounting, histological and immunolabeling data further supporting the premise that the absence of the physiological surge in Cx26 during pregnancy does not result in an overt developmental or functional defect in the mammary gland in *BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup>* mice.

### 3.4 Discussion

In the present study we use a novel, conditional Cx26 knockout mouse model to evaluate the biological role of the Cx26 surge seen in the mammary gland as mice enter and proceed through pregnancy. In contrast to previous reports, we demonstrated that the absence in the physiological surge in Cx26 resulting in reduced Cx30 upregulation, during pregnancy is not necessary for normal mammary gland development. Furthermore, we showed that low basal levels of Cx26 in the mammary gland are sufficient for normal mammary gland function.

Figure 3.5. The mammary gland of *BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup><i>IU*fl</sup> mice has unaltered cell proliferation at parturition, lactation and involution. (A) Assessment of PCNA labeling (red) revealed no change between *Cre*+ mice and control mice. (B) Values represent the mean number of positive cells (inserts, red) relative to the pixel area of the nuclei (blue), divided by a factor of  $1 \times 10^{-9}$ , per 0.18 mm<sup>2</sup> ± S.E.M. N=8. Hoechst staining denotes the nuclei. Scale bars= 50 µm.





Figure 3.6. **Programmed cell death is unaltered in lactating and involuting mammary glands form** *BLG-Cre; Cx26*<sup>*fl/fl*</sup> **mice.** (A) Evaluation of TUNEL positive (red) cells revealed no difference between genetically-modified mice and control. (B) Values are mean number of positive-cells (inserts) relative to the pixel area of the nuclei, divided by a factor of  $1x10^{-9}$ , per 0.18 mm<sup>2</sup> ± S.E.M. N=5. Hoechst staining denotes the nuclei. Scale bars=50 µm.





Figure 3.7. Similar to control mice, lactating *BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fL/fl</sup>* mice can produce and secrete milk. (A, B) Western blot analysis revealed similar WAP and  $\beta$ -casein expression levels at parturition and lactation of control and genetically-modified mice. Values are mean levels ± SEM. N=8. (C) Immunofluorescent analysis revealed secreted WAP (red, arrows) within the lumen of ducts and alveoli outlined with wheat germ agglutinin (green). N=4. Hoechst staining denotes the nuclei. Scale bars=50 µm.






# 3.4.1 *BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup>* mice as a model to study the role of Cx26 in mammary gland development and function

Conditionally ablated mice have previously been described to study the role of Cx26 in mammary gland development. These mice were engineered to express Cre under the MMTV or WAP promoters that become activated at an early embryonic stage or at the end stages of pregnancy, respectively [13,14]. However, both of these genetically-modified mice ablate Cx26 from birth or after pregnancy begins, but not at the onset of Cx26 upregulation at D8.5-9.5 of pregnancy [10]. Thus, in order to assess the role of Cx26 during pregnancy, we employed a similar Cre-loxP targeting strategy using Cre under the BLG promoter as previously described [19]. Cre-mediated recombination following upregulation under the BLG promoter has been reported to become activated at approximately day 10 of pregnancy causing recombination of the floxed allele in 70-80% of the lactating mammary gland [19,25]. In comparison to the MMTV or WAP promoters, BLG promoter activation is more restricted to the mammary gland with  $\leq 1\%$ recombination reported in other tissues while the MMTV promoter has also been reported in the salivary glands, seminal vesicles and lymphoid cells and the WAP promoter is expressed within the brain [14,26]. Thus, the BLG promoter driven loss of Cx26 more precisely mimics the physiological increase in Cx26 [19]. Here we demonstrated that BLG-*Cre;*  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$  mice had a reduction in the physiological surge in Cx26 during mammary gland development but did not completely ablate Cx26 expression. This reduction in Cx26 was not unlike the  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$ ; MC mice reported by Bry et al (2004) where residual Cx26 may also have be present [13]. Importantly, the expression of Cx26 gap junctions is localized to only select luminal cells in our Cx26 knockout mice, suggesting that the majority of luminal cells may have complete ablation of Cx26.

Downregulation of untargeted connexins in response to specific connexin knockout targeting strategies has been observed in a variety of tissues, including the pancreas and liver of  $Gjb1^{-/-}$  deficient mice in which Cx26 was also reduced [27,28]. In our study, we observed a reduction in Cx30 upregulation concordant with a knockout strategy targeting Cx26. Similarly, the conditional ablation of Cx26 in the inner ear of mice expressing Cre under the Sox2 promoter showed a delay in the expression of Cx30 till postnatal d14, unlike

in control mice where Cx30 expression was observed as early as postnatal d6 [29]. Our results suggest that cross talk regulation of Cx26 and Cx30 expression is not exclusively restricted to the inner ear. Although not tested, we speculate that the reduction in Cx30 occurs through the regulation of gene transcription similar to that described previously [29], although a post-translational role of Cx26 to stabilize Cx30 containing hemichannels through oligomerization cannot be ruled-out. Alternatively, Cx30 downregulation is also associated with a downregulation in Cx26 as mice generated to express the Cx30<sup>T5M</sup> mutant have a significant downregulation of Cx26 within the adult cochlea, suggesting that Cx26 and Cx30 share reciprocal cross talk mechanisms [30]. Indeed, this regulation between Cx26 and Cx30 was suggested to be mediated through calcium and NF- $\kappa$ B signaling, although it is unknown if a similar mechanism occurs within the mammary gland [31]. Importantly, both calcium and NF $\kappa$ B signaling occur during pregnancy and lactation within the mammary gland [32,33].

Although the down regulation of Cx26 or Cx32 has previously been reported to reciprocally down-regulate each other [27], this was not observed in the Cre+ mice used in this study and may reflect the differential timing and possibly distinct mechanisms of Cx26 (upregulated during pregnancy) and Cx32 (upregulated during early lactation) expression within the mammary gland [10]. Similarly, Cx43 expression was not altered in Cre+ mice compared to control mice which likely reflects their differential localization patterns as Cx26 is expressed mainly in luminal cells while Cx43 is found mainly in the myoepithelium and stromal fibroblasts [3]. Together, Cx26 knockout mice have acquired a phenotype where Cx26 is reduced in lactating mice with a delay in Cx30 upregulation.

# 3.4.2 Mammary gland development is maintained in Cx26 conditional knockout mice

All exocrine glands have previously been shown to express Cx26 and/or Cx32 gap junctions suggesting that these proteins may be critical in regulating gland development [34]. To date, systemic loss of Cx32 or Cx26 has yet to reveal impaired development of exocrine tissues [35]. However, as in the case of Cx26, this is difficult to assess due to the lethality of  $Gjb2^{-/-}$  mice at embryonic D10.5 [11]. The question then arises as to why Cx26

appeared to play a key role in the exocrine mammary gland lobuloalveolar development which led to impaired lactation in *MMTV-Cre* mice [13]. Three possibilities exist to help explain this discrepancy. First, it is plausible that because mammary gland development is unique in that most of its development occurs after birth, Cx26 may have a unique role to guide its development [3]. Second, as the use of control MMTV-Cre mice in the Bry et al. study were not reported to assess whether the insertion of MMTV-Cre affected the phenotype of these mice, and given the new finding by Yuan et al (2011) that at least one mouse line of MMTV-Cre mice has mammary gland defects, we cannot rule out the possibility that conditional targeting strategies using MMTV-Cre mice are less than ideal to examine mammary gland development and function [15]. However, in support of the validity of the findings from MMTV-Cre driven Cx26 knockout mice, these mice showed a clear paucity of alveolar formation by pregnancy D15 compared to control mice, while decreased alveoli and ducts were not observed until parturition in MMTV-Cre mice suggesting a similar but distinct phenotype [13,15]. Finally, it is possible that Cx26 may play an important role in the development of other exocrine glands and that further evaluation of these glands using similar conditional targeting strategies is needed.

Whole mount, histological and immunofluorescent analysis of BLG-Cre driven Cx26 knockout mice revealed that the physiological surge in Cx26 is not required for mammary gland development or for controlling proliferative or apoptotic mechanisms associated with pregnancy, lactation and the involution cycle of the mammary gland. Our results may suggest one of two possibilities: first, low levels of Cx26 in the whole mammary gland during pregnancy and lactation are sufficient to mediate alveologenesis and gland function. This appears to be the case in terms of Cx43 within the mammary gland, in which the  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  mice that maintained GJIC above a certain threshold was able to retain proper mammary gland development and function not observed in  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice with low GJIC (Chapter 2, [22]). Our study did not evaluate GJIC therefore it is unknown whether a similar observation is observed in the BLG-Cre driven Cx26 knockout mice. Second, our results may also suggest that Cx26 does not regulate alveologenesis during pregnancy but instead is important earlier in development. As the MMTV promoter is activated embryonically and Cx26 has been found to be expressed at low levels in the virgin mammary gland, it is unknown whether Cx26 plays a role in regulating differentiation of

the stem/progenitor cells within the mammary gland prior to pregnancy [14,21]. Importantly, Cx26 has been reported to be expressed in stem/progenitor cells postnatal hippocampus but it is unknown if Cx26 is expressed in mammary stem/progenitor cells [36]. Regardless of which of these two possibilities is correct, the maintenance of basal levels of Cx26 during pregnancy does not appear to impair lobuloalveolar development of the mammary gland.

# 3.4.3 Mammary gland function is maintained in *BLG-Cre;Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup>* mice

Both Cx26 and Cx32 have been suggested to regulate and fine tune the synthesis and release of factors in exocrine glands, of which Cx32 is thought to play the dominant role [34]. However, Gib1<sup>-/-</sup> mice do not present with a lactation defect, suggesting that other connexins such as Cx26 or Cx30 channels are equally important in regulating mouse mammary gland secretion [3]. Our results suggest that the absence of the physiological surge of Cx26 does not appear to impair the secretory function of the gland in that two of the most common milk proteins had no change in their expression or release into the lumen of acini or ducts. Consistent with this, sufficient milk was produced from lactating dams as no difference in pup death was observed in Cx26 knockout mice, which may be the result of normal Cx32 expression fulfilling the need for the loss of Cx26 within the mammary gland. Importantly, both Cx32 and Cx26 channels are able to pass similar molecules through GJIC including ATP and IP3 [37]. In support of this, Cx32 is upregulated at the onset of lactation and has previously been shown to be insensitive to gating by the osmolyte taurine that is implicated in milk protein synthesis, unlike that of Cx26 homomeric and heteromeric Cx26/32 channels [10]. As a result, loss of the physiological surge in Cx26 does not have an overt impairment on milk production or delivery to pups.

## 3.5 Conclusions

In humans, Cx26 is the only consistently reported connexin to date to be expressed within the luminal epithelium, suggesting that Cx26 is the dominant connexin regulating human

mammary gland function [3]. As such, loss of this connexin would presumably result in breast feeding defects as previously reported in MMTV driven Cx26-ablated mice. Interestingly, a population of patients exist with mutations in the *GJB2* gene that encodes Cx26 representing a large population base with systemic and impaired Cx26 channels that result in deafness and skin diseases [17]. Although no study to date has specifically evaluated a relationship between loss of function mutations in *GJB2* patients and breast feeding, it is interesting that in the face of such a high prevalence of people with these mutations resulting in deafness, there are no reports of lactation defects within the deaf community [18]. Two possibilities arise to explain this discrepancy. First, that breast feeding defects occur within hearing impaired mothers expressing Cx26 mutants but are not reported. Second, Cx26 is not a critical regulator of epithelial cell survival and that maintenance of low levels of Cx26 is sufficient for breast feeding. Our mouse model supports the latter and suggests that mothers with *GJB2* mutations that maintain Cx26 levels above 30% will not develop breast feeding defects.

In summary, our novel mouse model suggests that in the absence of the physiological surge in Cx26, mammary gland development and function are retained within the mammary gland of mice. Our results suggest that as long as basal levels of Cx26 expression are maintained within the human population expressing mutations in the *GJB2* gene, mammary gland development and function may be unaffected.

### 3.6 References

1 Hassiotou, F. and Geddes, D. (2013) Anatomy of the human mammary gland: Current status of knowledge. Clin. Anat. **26**, 29-48. doi:10.1002/ca.22165; 10.1002/ca.22165

2 Parmar, H. and Cunha, G. R. (2004) Epithelial-stromal interactions in the mouse and human mammary gland in vivo. Endocr. Relat. Cancer. **11**, 437-458

3 McLachlan, E., Shao, Q. and Laird, D. W. (2007) Connexins and gap junctions in mammary gland development and breast cancer progression. J. Membr. Biol. **218**, 107-121. doi:10.1007/s00232-007-9052-x

4 Brisken, C. and O'Malley, B. (2010) Hormone action in the mammary gland. Cold Spring Harb Perspect. Biol. **2**, a003178. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a003178; 10.1101/cshperspect.a003178

Vander Molen, M. A., Rubin, C. T., McLeod, K. J., McCauley, L. K. and Donahue,
H. J. (1996) Gap junctional intercellular communication contributes to hormonal responsiveness in osteoblastic networks. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 12165-12171

6 Laird, D. W. (2006) Life cycle of connexins in health and disease. Biochem. J. **394**, 527-543. doi:10.1042/BJ20051922

Monaghan, P., Clarke, C., Perusinghe, N. P., Moss, D. W., Chen, X. Y. and Evans,
W. H. (1996) Gap junction distribution and connexin expression in human breast. Exp.
Cell Res. 223, 29-38. doi:10.1006/excr.1996.0055

8 El-Saghir, J. A., El-Habre, E. T., El-Sabban, M. E. and Talhouk, R. S. (2011) Connexins: A junctional crossroad to breast cancer. Int. J. Dev. Biol. **55**, 773-780. doi:10.1387/ijdb.113372je 9 Locke, D., Jamieson, S., Stein, T., Liu, J., Hodgins, M. B., Harris, A. L. and Gusterson, B. (2007) Nature of Cx30-containing channels in the adult mouse mammary gland. Cell Tissue Res. **328**, 97-107. doi:10.1007/s00441-006-0301-6

10 Locke, D., Stein, T., Davies, C., Morris, J., Harris, A. L., Evans, W. H., Monaghan, P. and Gusterson, B. (2004) Altered permeability and modulatory character of connexin channels during mammary gland development. Exp. Cell Res. **298**, 643-660. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2004.05.003

11 Gabriel, H. D., Jung, D., Butzler, C., Temme, A., Traub, O., Winterhager, E. and Willecke, K. (1998) Transplacental uptake of glucose is decreased in embryonic lethal connexin26-deficient mice. J. Cell Biol. **140**, 1453-1461

12 Dicke, N., Pielensticker, N., Degen, J., Hecker, J., Tress, O., Bald, T., Gellhaus, A., Winterhager, E. and Willecke, K. (2011) Peripheral lymphangiogenesis in mice depends on ectodermal connexin-26 (Gjb2). J. Cell. Sci. **124**, 2806-2815. doi:10.1242/jcs.084186; 10.1242/jcs.084186

Bry, C., Maass, K., Miyoshi, K., Willecke, K., Ott, T., Robinson, G. W. and Hennighausen, L. (2004) Loss of connexin 26 in mammary epithelium during early but not during late pregnancy results in unscheduled apoptosis and impaired development. Dev. Biol. **267**, 418-429. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2003.11.022

Wagner, K. U., Wall, R. J., St-Onge, L., Gruss, P., Wynshaw-Boris, A., Garrett, L.,
Li, M., Furth, P. A. and Hennighausen, L. (1997) Cre-mediated gene deletion in the mammary gland. Nucleic Acids Res. 25, 4323-4330

15 Yuan, T., Wang, Y., Pao, L., Anderson, S. M. and Gu, H. (2011) Lactation defect in a widely used MMTV-cre transgenic line of mice. PLoS One. **6**, e19233. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019233; 10.1371/journal.pone.0019233

16 Mukherjee M, Phadke S R, Mittal B. Connexin 26 and autosomal recessive nonsyndromic hearing loss. Indian J Hum Genet 2003;9:40-50. 17 White, T. W. (2000) Functional analysis of human Cx26 mutations associated with deafness. Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. **32**, 181-183

18 Chin, N. P., Cuculick, J., Starr, M., Panko, T., Widanka, H. and Dozier, A. (2013) Deaf mothers and breastfeeding: Do unique features of deaf culture and language support breastfeeding success? J. Hum. Lact. **29**, 564-571. doi:10.1177/0890334413476921; 10.1177/0890334413476921

19 Selbert, S., Bentley, D. J., Melton, D. W., Rannie, D., Lourenco, P., Watson, C. J. and Clarke, A. R. (1998) Efficient BLG-cre mediated gene deletion in the mammary gland. Transgenic Res. 7, 387-396

20 Cohen-Salmon, M., Ott, T., Michel, V., Hardelin, J. P., Perfettini, I., Eybalin, M., Wu, T., Marcus, D. C., Wangemann, P., Willecke, K. and Petit, C. (2002) Targeted ablation of connexin26 in the inner ear epithelial gap junction network causes hearing impairment and cell death. Curr. Biol. **12**, 1106-1111

21 Plante, I. and Laird, D. W. (2008) Decreased levels of connexin43 result in impaired development of the mammary gland in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Dev. Biol. **318**, 312-322. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.03.033

Stewart, M. K., Gong, X. Q., Barr, K. J., Bai, D., Fishman, G. I. and Laird, D. W. (2013) The severity of mammary gland developmental defects is linked to the overall functional status of Cx43 as revealed by genetically modified mice. Biochem. J. **449**, 401-413. doi:10.1042/BJ20121070; 10.1042/BJ20121070

Plante, I., Stewart, M. K. and Laird, D. W. (2011) Evaluation of mammary gland development and function in mouse models. J. Vis. Exp. (53). pii: 2828. doi, 10.3791/2828. doi:10.3791/2828; 10.3791/2828

Lee, W. J., Monteith, G. R. and Roberts-Thomson, S. J. (2006) Calcium transport and signaling in the mammary gland: Targets for breast cancer. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. **1765**, 235-255. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2005.12.001 25 Harris, S., McClenaghan, M., Simons, J. P., Ali, S. and Clark, A. J. (1991) Developmental regulation of the sheep beta-lactoglobulin gene in the mammary gland of transgenic mice. Dev. Genet. **12**, 299-307. doi:10.1002/dvg.1020120407

26 Wagner, K. U., McAllister, K., Ward, T., Davis, B., Wiseman, R. and Hennighausen, L. (2001) Spatial and temporal expression of the cre gene under the control of the MMTV-LTR in different lines of transgenic mice. Transgenic Res. **10**, 545-553

27 Nelles, E., Butzler, C., Jung, D., Temme, A., Gabriel, H. D., Dahl, U., Traub, O., Stumpel, F., Jungermann, K., Zielasek, J., Toyka, K. V., Dermietzel, R. and Willecke, K. (1996) Defective propagation of signals generated by sympathetic nerve stimulation in the liver of connexin32-deficient mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **93**, 9565-9570

Chanson, M., Fanjul, M., Bosco, D., Nelles, E., Suter, S., Willecke, K. and Meda,
P. (1998) Enhanced secretion of amylase from exocrine pancreas of connexin32-deficient
mice. J. Cell Biol. 141, 1267-1275

29 Crispino, G., Di Pasquale, G., Scimemi, P., Rodriguez, L., Galindo Ramirez, F., De Siati, R. D., Santarelli, R. M., Arslan, E., Bortolozzi, M., Chiorini, J. A. and Mammano, F. (2011) BAAV mediated GJB2 gene transfer restores gap junction coupling in cochlear organotypic cultures from deaf Cx26Sox10Cre mice. PLoS One. **6**, e23279. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0023279; 10.1371/journal.pone.0023279

30 Schutz, M., Scimemi, P., Majumder, P., De Siati, R. D., Crispino, G., Rodriguez, L., Bortolozzi, M., Santarelli, R., Seydel, A., Sonntag, S., Ingham, N., Steel, K. P., Willecke, K. and Mammano, F. (2010) The human deafness-associated connexin 30 T5M mutation causes mild hearing loss and reduces biochemical coupling among cochlear noncells knock-in mice. Mol. 19, 4759-4773. sensory in Hum. Genet. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddq402; 10.1093/hmg/ddq402

31 Ortolano, S., Di Pasquale, G., Crispino, G., Anselmi, F., Mammano, F. and Chiorini, J. A. (2008) Coordinated control of connexin 26 and connexin 30 at the regulatory and functional level in the inner ear. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **105**, 18776-18781. doi:10.1073/pnas.0800831105; 10.1073/pnas.0800831105 32 Cao, Y. and Karin, M. (2003) NF-kappaB in mammary gland development and breast cancer. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **8**, 215-223

33 Lee, W. J., Monteith, G. R., Roberts-Thomson, S. J. (2006) Calcium Transport and Signaling in the Mammary Gland: Targets for Breast Cancer. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1765, 235-255.

34 Serre-Beinier, V., Mas, C., Calabrese, A., Caton, D., Bauquis, J., Caille, D., Charollais, A., Cirulli, V. and Meda, P. (2002) Connexins and secretion. Biol. Cell. **94**, 477-492

Michon, L., Nlend Nlend, R., Bavamian, S., Bischoff, L., Boucard, N., Caille, D.,
Cancela, J., Charollais, A., Charpantier, E., Klee, P., Peyrou, M., Populaire, C., Zulianello,
L. and Meda, P. (2005) Involvement of gap junctional communication in secretion.
Biochim. Biophys. Acta. **1719**, 82-101. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2005.11.003

36 Imbeault, S., Gauvin, L. G., Toeg, H. D., Pettit, A., Sorbara, C. D., Migahed, L., DesRoches, R., Menzies, A. S., Nishii, K., Paul, D. L., Simon, A. M. and Bennett, S. A. (2009) The extracellular matrix controls gap junction protein expression and function in postnatal hippocampal neural progenitor cells. BMC Neurosci. **10**, 13-2202-10-13. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-10-13; 10.1186/1471-2202-10-13

Harris, A. L. (2007) Connexin channel permeability to cytoplasmic molecules.Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 94, 120-143. doi:10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2007.03.011

Figure 3.S1. *BLG-Cre;Cx26<sup><i>fl/fl*</sup> mice exhibit a dramatic reduction in Cx26 at parturition and lactation only. (A) Real-time PCR analysis of mammary glands from control (open columns) and *Cre*+ (solid columns) mice revealed a dramatic reduction in Cx26 mRNA levels in lactating mice while no change was observed at other timepoints. Values are mean levels  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001. Western blot analysis of Cx26 during pregnancy revealed no significant difference in Cx26 expression at D9.5 and d12.5. Values are mean levels  $\pm$  S.E.M. Immunofluorescent analysis of Cx26 (green, arrows) revealed a qualitative reduction in Cx26 at D12.5 of pregnancy in Cx26 knockout while no change was observed at D9.5 compared to control mice. Hoechst staining denotes the nuclei. Scale bars=50 µm. N=4.

Figure 3.S1

Α



С



Figure 3.S2. *BLG-Cre;Cx26<sup>n/fl</sup>* mice have significantly reduced number of Cx30 gap junctions at parturition. Quantification of 10 arbitrary Cx30-labelled immunofluorescent images (Figure 3.2) per nuclear pixel area per sample revealed a significant decrease in Cx30 gap junctions compared to control mice at parturition (A) but not at lactation (B). Values are mean levels ± SEM. N=8.









## Chapter 4

## 4 Cx26 knockout predisposes the mammary gland to primary mammary tumors in a DMBA-induced mouse model of breast cancer

Similar to Cx43, Cx26 has been described to act as both a tumor suppressor and tumor facilitator in the context of breast cancer. The purpose of this study was to further clarify the role of Cx26 in breast tumourigenesis using our previously characterized *BLG-Cre;*  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$  mice chemically treated to induce breast tumors. Importantly, these studies represented the first evaluation of the role of Cx26 in breast cancer using genetically-modified mice. In addition, this study aimed to indirectly determine if female patients with hereditary deafness due to loss-of function mutations in the *GJB2* that encodes Cx26 might potentially be at greater risk of developing breast cancer.

A version of this chapter was submitted to Oncotarget:

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Stewart MKG</u>, Bechberger JF, Welch I, Naus CC, Laird DW. Cx26 knockout predisposes the mammary gland to primary mammary tumors in a DMBA-induced mouse model of breast cancer (submitted, reviewed and now in revision).

### 4.1 Introduction

Breast cancer is the most frequently diagnosed cancer-affecting women in the world [1]. Early detection remains a key factor in patient survivability as the 5 year survival rate for stage 1 breast cancer is over 90% compared to <30% for stage 4 breast cancer [2-4]. Therefore, the identification of at risk populations may be important for early detection of the disease in order to improve patient survivability [5]. In addition, although much progress is being made in unraveling signaling pathways in breast cancer, key regulators of breast cancer progression and metastasis remains poorly understood. Due to the complexity of the disease, the identification of key proteins is critical for the development of new targeted therapies and biomarkers [6]. Indeed, gap junction proteins are interesting candidates as down-regulation of gap junctions remains one of the earliest events in tumor progression [7].

Gap junctions are clusters of intercellular channels formed by connexin subunits between adjacent cells allowing for metabolic and ionic signaling in a process known as gap junctional intercellular communication (GJIC) [8]. GJIC has been linked to critical cellular functions; such as proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis, which are frequently dysregulated in cancer [9]. In addition to GJIC, gap junction channel independent functions involving connexin protein-protein interactions and hemichannel function have been shown to be linked to cell growth [10-14]. The connexin family in humans consists of 21 genes but only Cx26 and Cx43 are typically expressed in the human breast [8,15]. Both Cx26 and Cx43 have been classically described as tumor suppressors in the breast based on loss of expression in many mammary tumor cell lines and the fact that ectopic reexpression of these connexins reverts some tumor cells into a more differentiated phenotype both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [11,12,16,17]. However, adding to the complexity of the role of connexins in breast cancer, both Cx43 and Cx26 have also been reported to be upregulated in human tumor biopsies at later stages of tumor progression and may even act as tumor facilitators [18-20]. These perplexing reports highlight the need for additional studies, particularly *in vivo*, to clarify the role of connexins throughout the progression of breast cancer from tumor onset to metastasis. In this pursuit, we recently demonstrated that Cx43 had a critical role in suppressing metastasis to the lungs in a genetically-modified

mouse model where Cx43 function was greatly reduced (Appendix 1) [21]. However, the role of Cx26 in the mammary gland has not been assessed in mice and this may be more important than examining Cx43 as mammary neoplasms typically express markers of luminal epithelial cells [22]. In addition, loss-of-function mutations in the GJB2 gene that encodes Cx26 are common and responsible for over 40% of hereditary deafness and many skin diseases [23]. Importantly, the worldwide prevalence of biallelic GJB2 related hearing loss accounts for 17.3 % of cases [23,24]. The 35delG mutation is by far the most common and results in the premature truncation of Cx26 and complete systemic loss of channel function, thereby acting like a knockout in the context of gap junction channel activity [23]. Thus, whether this patient cohort is more or less susceptible to breast tumor onset and progression could have profound clinical implications [23]. Therefore, using our previously described genetically-modified mice with conditional knockout of Cx26 expression in the mammary gland, we developed a DMBA-induced mouse model of breast cancer [25]. We hypothesized that low levels of Cx26 within the mammary gland would predispose the mammary gland to the onset of tumors and increase tumor progression and incidence of metastases.

### 4.2 Methods

#### 4.2.1 Mice

All experimental procedures were approved by the Committee on the Ethics of Animal Experiments at the University of Western Ontario and the University of British Columbia following the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (Appendix 3). To assess how loss of Cx26 would affect primary mammary tumor development, we utilized a conditional knockout mouse where the Cre transgene was under the control of the  $\beta$ -*lactoglobulin (BLG)* promoter [25]. In order to induce activation of the *BLG* promoter and subsequent Cx26 knockout, a pituitary isograft was surgically inserted into the renal capsule (Figure 4.S1A) of 6 week old *BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup> (Cre+)* similar to that described by others [53, 31] in addition to *Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup> (Cre-)* control mice lacking the Cre transgene. Prolactin and ovarian hormones derived from the pituitary transplant triggers epithelial proliferation and lobuloalveolar differentiation in the mammary gland independent of

pregnancy. The presence of milk proteins following pituitary isograft have been reported between 21-40 days following surgery, in which we observed the presence of milk in the mammary glands approximately 50 days after pituitary implantation [54,31]. This suggests that the activation of the BLG promoter occurs between 3-7 weeks in parallel with lobuloalveolar development (Figure 4.S1B). As such, in an attempt to induce mammary tumors in mice in which Cx26 knockout had occurred, Cre+ and Cre- mice, in which pituitaries were implanted 12 weeks prior, were treated once a week with the carcinogen 7,12-dimethylbenz( $\alpha$ )anthracene (DMBA) or corn oil for 5 weeks (1 mg per 25 g) by gavage (Table 4.S1). In addition, a second experiment was performed to act as a control in which 6 week old *BLG-Cre*;  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$  and  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$  mice were treated with DMBA or corn oil by gavage only 1 week following pituitary transplant in order to induce mammary tumors in mice prior to Cx26 knockout (Table 4.S2). All mice were subsequently monitored weekly by palpation for evidence of mammary tumor formation. Mice were removed from the study if they presented with other health concerns that included developing lymphoma and/or stomach tumors that required them to be sacrificed (Table 4.S1, 2). Mice were sacrificed when the largest tumors reached a final volume of 1cm<sup>3</sup>. Finally, five *BLG-Cre*;  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$  and  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$  mice that had undergone at least 2 pregnancies were monitored for spontaneous mammary tumor formation for 1.5 years in which tissue was collected similar to that described above. All mice were genotyped for the expression of the Cre transgene and mammary gland cryosections were immunolabelled at the time of sacrifice for the presence of Cx26 revealing Cx26 knockout even after 1 year of the experiment (Figure 4.S1C).

#### 4.2.2 Whole mount

Whole mounts were performed as previously described [55]. Briefly, mammary glands were dissected and flattened onto a glass slide before being placed into Carnoy's fixative (100% EtOH, chloroform, glacial acetic acid; 6:3:1) overnight at 4 °C. Glands were immersed in 70% ethanol for 15 min and then transferred to descending concentrations of ethanol before being placed in carmine alum stain overnight at room temperature. Glands were put through increasing concentrations of ethanol and into xylene overnight. Glands

were then placed in methyl salicylate for long term storage. Images were captured using a numeric camera (Sony Cybershot).

#### 4.2.3 Hematoxylin and eosin staining

Dissected mammary tumors, mammary glands and lungs were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and embedded in paraffin wax. Sections (6 µm) were deparaffinized in xylene (2x5 min) and rehydrated in descending concentrations of ethanol (2 x 100%, 95%, 70%; 5 min) before being placed in  $ddH_2O$  (2 x 3 min). Tissues were then stained in 1% Harris's Hematoxylin for 1 min before being washed in tap water and differentiated in acid ethanol. Slides were dipped in 70% ethanol (30 sec) and put into alcoholic Eosin (2 min) and finally placed back into 70% ethanol (2 x 30 sec). Slides were then dehydrated and mounted using Cytoseal. Images were captured using a Brightfield microscope equipped with a ProgRes C5 camera (Jenoptik) and ProgRes Mac CapturePro 2.7.6 imaging software. Multiple rounds of sectioning and staining were used to evaluate lung histology for evidence of lung metastases. Clusters of nuclei in intimate proximity with bronchioles, typical of bronchus associated lymphatic tissue, were not included in the quantification of lung tumors. Lung tumor area was evaluated by measuring the length and width of lung tumors which were used to determine the area of an ellipse using ImageJ and the area of multiple lung tumors per mouse was averaged (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD).

#### 4.2.4 Immunofluorescence microscopy

Paraffin-embedded sections (6  $\mu$ m) were deparaffinized in xylene and dehydrated in descending concentrations of ethanol before being placed in ddH<sub>2</sub>0. Antigen retrieval was performed using either antigen unmasking solution (Vector Labs; microwaved for 5 min at 80% power) or by immersing slides in sub-boiling 1.8 mM citric acid and 8.2 mM of sodium citrate solution for 10 min before placing slides in an additional 0.01M Tris-0.001M EDTA antigen retrieval solution sub-boiling for 20 min. Cryosections were cut with a cryostat (8  $\mu$ m) and stored at -80 °C and were fixed for 15 min in 10% neutral buffered formalin before use. All tissue sections were rinsed in PBS for 5 min and blocked

with 3% BSA in PBS with 0.02% Triton X-100. Sections were immunolabelled with the primary antibodies mouse anti-Cx26 (1:100, Invitrogen, 13-8100) or rabbit anti-Cx26 (Cryosections, 1:100, Invitrogen, 51-2800), rabbit anti-Cx43 (1:400 dilution, Sigma, C6219), rabbit anti-keratin8 (1:400, Abcam, ab53280), mouse anti-cytokeratin 14 (1:200, Thermo Scientific, Ms-115-P), and rabbit anti-keratin 10 (1:400, Thermo Scientific, MS 611-P1), mouse anti-E-cadherin (1:400, BD Transduction Laboratories, 610182), mouse anti- $\beta$ -catenin (1:400, BD Transduction Laboratories, 610154),  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin (1:400, Sigma, A5228) overnight at 4 °C. Sections were washed in PBS and then probed with Alexa Fluor® 555-conjugated anti-rabbit or anti-mouse (1:400 dilution, Molecular Probes, A21425 or A21429) and Alexa Fluor® 488-conjugated anti-rabbit or anti-mouse (1:400 dilution, Molecular Probes, A11008 or A11017) secondary antibodies for 1 hour at room temperature. Hoechst 33342 was used to label the nuclei and slides were mounted with Airvol. Images were captured using a Leica DM IRE2 inverted epifluorescence microscope and Velocity imaging software. Qualitative assessment of 5-10 images throughout mammary tumors was used to determine the percentage of cells expressing epithelial markers and connexins.

#### 4.2.5 Histological subtyping

Hematoxylin and eosin stained sections were classified according to histological subtype similar to that described by Dunn [56]. Mammary glands were classified into 4 groups; mammary alveolar carcinoma, mammary adenosquamous carcinoma, carcinosarcoma and miscellaneous tumors. Briefly, mammary alveolar carcinomas represented tumors with mainly uniform alveolar structure of glandular epithelial origin. Mammary adenosquamous carcinomas were characterized by tumors that acquired the capacity for epidermoid differentiation. Carcinosarcomas were represented by tumors classified as anaplastic and mainly devoid of distinct morphological differentiation or with significant amounts of spindle cells. Any tumors that presented outside of the previous three groups was considered a miscellaneous tumor. All tumors were evaluated in a blinded fashion.

#### 4.2.6 Statistical analysis

All statistical tests were performed using Graphpad Prism 4 (v. 4.02). For analysis of the percent of tumor free mice over time curves (Kaplan-Meier), a logrank test was applied. Palpable tumor onset, and average growth rate were evaluated using a two-tailed student's unpaired t-test. A p value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

### 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Conditional Cx26 knockout does not result in spontaneous mammary tumors

To evaluate whether conditional Cx26 knockout mice spontaneously developed primary tumors in the mammary gland, five Cre+ and Cre- mice were monitored for 1.5 years before being sacrificed and evaluated for evidence of tumor formation (Figure 4.1). All mice had at least two pregnancies, which acted to drive Cx26 knockout as we have previously described [25]. Whole mount and histological evaluation showed no evidence of primary tumors suggesting that a reduction in Cx26 alone is not sufficient to predispose mammary glands to tumor formation (Figure 4.1).

# 4.3.2 DMBA-treated *Cre*+ mice have greater primary tumor burden compared to control mice but develop mammary tumors with similar growth characteristics

As our Cx26 knockout mice do not develop spontaneous mammary tumors, we used a chemically-induced strategy where the carcinogen DMBA was used to treat mice where pituitary isografts were used to induce Cx26 knockout. Subsequently, *Cre-* and *Cre+* mice were treated with DMBA/oil either before (Group 2) or after Cx26 knockout (Group 1), and mice were evaluated for palpable tumor onset and number of tumors. No oil treated mice from either group developed mammary gland tumors (Figure 4.2A, C). Interestingly, when comparing *Cre-* and *Cre+* mice in which 3 months had

Figure 4.1. Conditional Cx26 knockout does not result in spontaneous mammary tumors. (A, B) Whole mount and hematoxylin and eosin staining revealed normal mammary gland architecture in 1.5 year old Cx26 knockout mice compared to control mice that have undergone at least 2 pregnancies. Scale bars = 50  $\mu$ m. (C) Quantification of primary tumor incidence revealed no macroscopic or microscopic tumors in Cx26 knockout mice compared to control mice. N=5.





passed before Cx26 knockout, DMBA-treated Cre+ mice had a significantly lower number of mice that remained tumor free compared to *Cre*- mice (Figure 4.2A). This corresponded to 89% of Cre+ mice developing tumors (8/9 Cre+) compared to only 33% of control mice  $(4/12 \ Cre-)$ . In addition, half (4/8) of Cre+ mice that developed tumors presented with multiple tumors while *Cre*- mice only ever developed one tumor over the course of the experiment (Figure 4.2B). Alternatively, when DMBA-treatment occurred 1 week following pituitary transplant (and thus no Cx26 knockout) no difference was observed in the number of mice that remained tumor free in which all mice of both groups developed palpable mammary tumors (Figure 4.2C). In addition, 43% (3/7) of both DMBA-treated Cre+ and Cre- mice developed multiple mammary tumors suggesting similar tumor multiplicity (Figure 4.2C, D). Therefore, our results suggest that loss of Cx26 within the mammary gland prior to DMBA treatment predisposed the mammary gland for increased tumor burden compared to control mice. We next assessed whether the day of palpable tumor onset was earlier in Cre+ mice following the end of DMBA treatment. Mammary tumors from Cre + mice treated with DMBA following Cx26 knockout had similar palpable tumor onset (75  $\pm$  14 days) compared to Cre- mice (60  $\pm$  10 days) suggesting that despite an increased frequency of developing mammary tumors, tumors arose at comparable times in Cre+ and Cre- mice (Figure 4.3A). Similarly, palpable tumor onset in mice treated with DMBA 1 week following pituitary transplant was non-significantly different in Cre+ (98)  $\pm$  23 days) compared to *Cre*- mice (71  $\pm$  18 days) (Figure 4.3C). Taken together, knockout of Cx26 does not appear to increase the day of tumor onset in mice that developed chemically induced mammary tumors.

Once the largest mammary tumors reached ~1 cm<sup>3</sup> or ~1 year after DMBA treatment, mice were sacrificed and tissue was collected. Tumor volume of the largest tumor divided by the number of days since palpable tumor onset was used to calculate the average tumor growth rate. Comparing mice treated with DMBA 3 months after pituitary isografts, the average tumor growth rate were non-significantly different between *Cre-* (49 ± 30 mm<sup>3</sup>/day) and *Cre+* (81 ± 39 mm<sup>3</sup>/day) mice suggesting that Cx26 knockout prior to mammary tumor onset did not predispose the gland to primary tumors with increased growth rate (Figure 4.3B). Similarly, both *Cre-* (96 ± 16 mm<sup>3</sup>/day) and *Cre+* mice (76 ± 17 mm<sup>3</sup>/day) Figure 4.2. **Cx26 knockout mice developed significantly greater tumor burden.** (A) Cx26 knockout mice had a significantly lower number of DMBA-treated Cre+ mice that remained tumor free and a greater frequency of developing multiple tumors (B), compared to control mice. (C) DMBA-treated Cre+ mice in which DMBA treatment occurred prior to Cx26 knockout had similar tumor burden and developed multiple tumors (D) compared to control mice.



Figure 4.2

Figure 4.3. Palpable mammary tumor onset and growth rate is similar in DMBAtreated Cx26 knockout and control mice. Mammary tumors from Cre+ mice, both DMBA-treated 3 months (A, B), or 1 week (C, D) after pituitary transplant, had similar primary tumor onset and average growth rate compared to those from Cre- mice. Bars represent means  $\pm$  S.E.M.





treated with DMBA 1 week after pituitary isografts developed tumors with nonsignificantly different average tumor growth rates (Figure 4.3D). Therefore, knockout of Cx26 does not appear to predispose the mammary gland to tumors with increased growth rate when Cx26 knockout occurs either before or after DMBA treatment.

### 4.3.3 Cx26 knockout and control mice develop primary mammary tumors of multiple histological subtypes expressing markers of both luminal and myoepithelial cells

As differences in the frequency of mammary tumors arose only between *Cre*- and *Cre*+ mice treated with DMBA after Cx26 knockout, we decided to further characterize samples from Group 1 to assess whether Cx26 knockout prior to DMBA treatment predisposed the mammary gland to develop into a specific mammary tumor histological subtype. H&E stained sections of mammary glands from oil-treated *Cre*- and *Cre*+ mice revealed normal tissue histology in which typical epithelial ducts were found embedded within an adipose rich mammary fat pad (Figure 4.4A). Mammary tumor sections stained with H&E from *Cre*- and *Cre*+ mice were characterized into either mammary adenocarcinoma, adenosquamous carcinoma, carcinosarcoma or miscellaneous subtypes (Figure 4.4A) revealing that mammary tumors from *Cre*+ mice developed into tumors from multiple histological subtypes similar to mammary tumors from *Cre*- mice (Figure 4.4B). Therefore, our results suggest that knockout of Cx26 within the mammary gland prior to DMBA-treatment did not predispose the mammary gland to mammary tumors of a single histological subtype.

In order to further assess primary mammary tumors from mice in which Cx26 knockout occurred prior to DMBA treatment, mammary tumors were immunolabelled with a variety of connexin, luminal and myoepithelial markers (Figure 4.5A) and the percentage of cells expressing the markers were recorded (Figure 4.5B). Immunofluorescent analysis of Cx26 revealed little to no evidence of Cx26 labelling in tumors from Cre+ mice unlike the lactating mammary gland which acted as a positive control (Figure 4.5Ai,iii, B). Interestingly, little to no evidence of Cx26 labelling was also observed in tumors from Cre-mice suggesting that Cx26 was also down-regulated in mammary tumors that did not express the Cre transgene (Figure 4.5Aii, B). In addition, mammary tumors

Figure 4.4. **Cx26 knockout mice develop tumours of multiple histological subtypes similar to control mice.** (A) Hematoxylin and eosin stained sections evaluated for histological subtypes of breast cancer revealed multiple tumour subtypes for both *Cre+* and *Cre-* mice treated with DMBA 12 weeks after pituitary transplant but no evidence of mammary tumors in oil-treated mice. Scale bar = 50  $\mu$ m. (B) Table lists the number of mammary tumours per mammary histological subtype for *Cre-* and *Cre+* mice.



# В

Histological Subtypes of DMBA-treated Tumours

	Adenocarcinoma	Mammary Squamous Adenocarcinoma	Carcinosarcoma	Miscellaneous
Cre -	1	2	1	0
Cre +	2	2	3	1

Figure 4.5. Mammary tumors from Cx26 knockout mice express similar epithelial protein markers as control mice. (A) Representative images of paraffin-embedded primary mammary tumor sections immunolabelled with luminal and myoepithelial markers that included; Cx26 (i, ii, iii, red), Cx43 (iv, v, vi, red), keratin 14 (vi, viii green), keratin 8 (vii, green), keratin 10 (ix, red),  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin (x, red), E-cadherin (xi, green) and  $\beta$ -catenin (xii, red). Hoechst denotes nuclei. Scale bars = 50 µm. (B) Table indicates relative number of cells that are positive for the luminal and myoepithelial markers based on immunofluorescent labelling. +++50-100%, ++11-49%, +1-10%, -0%. For keratin 10. + denotes presence of labelling.

## Figure 4.5

A	i)Cx26 +Control	iv)Cx43 +Control	vii)K8	x)α- SMA	
	ii)Cx26 Cre-	v)Cx43	viii)K14	xi)E-Cad	
	iii)Cx26 Cre+	vi)Cx43 K14	ix)K10	xii)β-Cat	

В

	Adenocarcinoma		Mammary Squamous Adenocarcinoma		Carcinosarcoma		Misc. Tumour
	Cre - n=1	Cre + n=2	Cre - n=2	Cre + n=2	Cre - n=1	Cre + n=3	Cre + n=1
Cx26	+	- +	+ -	+ -	+	- -	-
Cx43	++	+ +++	++ +++	++ +++	++	++++ - ++++	++
Keratin8	+++	+++ +++	++ +	++ +++	++	+++ +++ +	+
Keratin14	++	+++ ++	+++ +++	+++ ++	+	+++ + -	++
Keratin10	-	-	+ +	+ +	-	- -	-
α-Smooth Muscle Actin	+	++ +	+ +++	++ ++	+	+++ +	++
E-Cadherin	+++	+++ +++	+++ +++	+++ +++	+++	++ - -	++
$\beta$ -Catenin	+++	+++ +++	+++ +++	+++ +++	+++	++ + +++	+++

immunolabelled for the expression of Cx43 revealed no overt difference in the level of Cx43 in the mammary tumors of both Cre+ and Cre- mice although the expression appeared diffuse and intracellular compared to the more punctate pattern seen in the lactating mammary gland (Figure 4.5Aiv, v, B). Cx43 was also expressed in carcinoma cells that did not always co-localize with the myoepithelial marker keratin14 (Figure 4.5Avi, B). To assess for the expression of luminal and myoepithelial markers, when tumors were immunolabelled for the luminal markers keratin 8, E-cadherin and  $\beta$ -catenin and the myoepithelial markers keratin14 and  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin, no distinguishable differences were observed between Cre- and Cre+ mice (Figure 4.5Avii, viii, x, xi, xii, B). Finally, only adenosquamous carcinoma tumors from both Cre- and Cre+ mice labelled positively for the skin marker keratin 10 typical of the epidermoid differentiation of these tumors (Figure 4.5Aix). Taken together, mammary tumors from mice in which Cx26 was knocked down prior to DMBA treatment express similar luminal and myoepithelial markers to mammary tumors from control mice.

# 4.3.4 Cx26 knockout and control mice exhibit similar levels of metastasis to the lungs

Following our evaluation of the primary tumors, we assessed the lung, a common site of metastasis in DMBA-induced mammary tumors, for signs of disseminated disease [21]. Hematoxylin and eosin stained sections of lung tissue revealed evidence of metastasis to the lungs (Figure 4.6A) in which a similar proportion of mice from Cre+ (50%) and Cre-mice (63%) developed tumors in the lung (Figure 4.6B). Although only 2 DMBA-treated *Cre-*mice developed lung tumors, the average lung tumor area per mouse was calculated revealing a likelihood of larger average lung tumor area in *Cre-*mice (0.09 mm<sup>2</sup>) compared to *Cre+*mice (0.02 ± 0.009 mm<sup>2</sup>) (Figure 4.6C). To evaluate whether lung tissue of *Cre-*and *Cre+*mice had greater evidence of cancer cell proliferation, lung tissue was immunolabelled with Ki67 and separated into high (>50%) and low (<50%) groups revealing a similar number of mice with high levels of Ki67 staining in *Cre-* (50%) and *Cre+*mice (38%) (Figure 4.6D, E). Lung tumors immunolabelled for Cx26 and Cx43 to evaluate if connexin expression changes between primary and metastatic tumors revealed mostly the absent expression of both Cx26 and Cx43 in *Cre-* (Cx26: 0/2, Cx43: 0/2) and

Cre+ (Cx26: 0/5, Cx43: 1/5) mice suggesting that connexins are not upregulated during metastatic progression (Figure 4.6D, E).

## 4.4 Discussion

The aims of this study were two-fold; first, to evaluate whether the organ-specific loss of Cx26 predisposed the mammary gland to developing mammary tumors *in vivo*; and secondly, to evaluate if loss of Cx26 in primary mammary tumors led to altered progression and aggressiveness of the disease. In order to evaluate these aims, we developed the first chemically-induced conditionally ablated mouse model of breast cancer to assess the role of Cx26. We demonstrated that knockout of Cx26 prior to tumor induction by DMBA treatment increased the susceptibility of mice to primary mammary tumors but that this increase in the frequency of breast tumor onset was not associated with increased progression of the disease.

# 4.4.1 A model to investigate the role of Cx26 in mammary tumorigenesis *in vivo*

Evaluating the *in vivo* role of Cx26 in breast cancer is complicated by the fact that  $Gjb2^{-/-}$  mice die embryonically due to defects in placenta, rendering them unusable for this kind of study [26]. As a result, we used our previously characterized mammary gland specific knockout mouse model of Cx26, in which ~70% knockout of Cx26 was observed in the mammary gland driven by Cre-mediated deletion under the *BLG* promoter following the onset of lactation [25]. We observed no evidence of spontaneous mammary tumors or abnormal histology in 1.5 year old dams that have undergone at least two pregnancies which is in agreement with results from a mammary gland specific deletion of Cx26 using similar Cre-loxP strategies under the *MMTV* and *WAP* promoters [27]. Therefore, it appears that the loss of Cx26 is not sufficient for initiating tumor onset, which requires additional genetic insults.

In order to promote additional genetic mutations in Cx26 knockout mice, we used the chemical carcinogen DMBA that preferentially promotes the induction of mammary tumors and paired this with the use of pituitary isografts to drive *BLG* promoter activity

Figure 4.6. **DMBA-treated Cx26 knockout mice exhibit similar incidence of metastases to the lungs.** (A, B) Hematoxylin and eosin stained lung sections were evaluated for evidence of lung tumors revealing a similar proportion of mice that developed lung tumors in *Cre+* and *Cre-* mice. (C) Evaluation of average lung tumor area per mouse between *Cre+* and *Cre-* mice revealed the likelihood of *Cre-* mice having larger lung tumor areas compared to *Cre+* mice. (D,) Representative images of paraffin-embedded lung sections immunolabelled for Ki67 (Red), Cx26 (Red) and Cx43 (Red) revealed a similar percentage of lung tissue expressing high levels of Ki67 positivity between *Cre-* and *Cre+* mice and tumors mostly negative, but not always (insert), for Cx26 and Cx43 expression. Hoechst denotes Nuclei. Scale bars = 50  $\mu$ m. (E) Quantification of Ki67, Cx26 and Cx43 immunofluorescent analysis.
#### Figure 4.6



[28]. The combination of pituitary isografts and DMBA has been frequently used to drive mammary tumor development through hormonal and chemical carcinogenesis [29,30]. This approach was used by Wang et al. where pituitary-driven activation of the BLG promoter was used to evaluate deregulated Pak1 activity in murine mammary tumorigenesis [31]. Importantly, we observed a clear reduction in the levels of Cx26 when paired non-tumorigenic mammary glands from all Cre+ mice were compared to Cre- mice at the time of sacrifice, indicating that the pituitary isografts were effectively driving the knockout of Cx26, and more notably, that Cx26 knockout persisted throughout the length of the experiment. Therefore, using this strategy we evaluated whether the loss of Cx26 prior to these additional genetic alterations would promote tumor incidence.

## 4.4.2 Loss of Cx26 promotes tumor onset in chemically-induced mammary tumorigenesis

Most studies to date suggest a tumor suppressive role for Cx26 early in breast cancer progression based on evidence that Cx26 is frequently absent or down-regulated in human breast cancer cell lines or human primary tumors [17,19,32]. In agreement, we observed an increase in primary tumor incidence and tumor multiplicity when Cx26 was knocked out prior to DMBA treatments suggesting that expression of Cx26 acts in the context of a tumor suppressor and protects the mammary gland to primary mammary tumor onset. Unexpectedly, when DMBA treatment occurred only one week after the pituitary transplant, a similar tumor burden was observed in Cre+ and Cre- mice. While the pituitary isograft is necessary for Cx26 knockout, it serves a dual purpose as continual hormonal secretion of prolactin, which importantly acts on the ovary to induce synthesis and secretion of progesterone and estrogen, which together promote a greater frequency of chemical carcinogen induced mammary tumors [33]. As a result, the potential tumor suppressive effect of Cx26 may be masked by the pro-tumorigenic effects of hormones secreted from the surgically placed pituitary. Three lines of evidence support this. First, all mice treated with DMBA one week following pituitary transplant developed mammary tumors, suggesting hormones secreted or stimulated by pituitary isografts are promoting tumor onset. Secondly, we observed an increase in the frequency of tumor incidence in Cre- mice when the pituitary isografts occurred only one week before DMBA treatment

compared to *Cre*- mice in which the same procedure occurred 12 weeks prior to DMBA treatment. The pituitary-driven increase in chemically-induced mammary tumors is the result of increasing the proliferation of epithelial cells of the mammary gland, although this appears to be time dependent as the increase in the mitotic index begins to fall after 5 weeks as the levels of estrogen and progesterone drop [34]. Ultimately, differences in the frequency of mammary tumors between mice treated with DMBA one week or 12 weeks after pituitary transplant may be explained by increased ovarian hormonal stimulation by pituitaries transplanted closer to the time of DMBA treatment, limiting our assessment of Cx26 in mice treated with DMBA one week following pituitary isograft. Finally, a precedent exists that hormonal influence may override any tumor suppressive effects of Cx26 expression as stably transfected Cx26 expressing MCF7 cells, with strong growth suppressing effects *in vitro*, lacked growth suppressing effects *in vivo* potentially as a result of the pro-tumorigenic effects of  $17\beta$  estradiol pellets [35]. Taken together, our data supports a role for Cx26 in protecting the mammary gland from DMBA-induced mammary tumor onset but this protective effect may be masked in hormonally-driven tumorigenesis.

# 4.4.3 Cx26 knockout prior to DMBA treatment does not affect primary tumor growth or histological subtype

Cx26 overexpression studies have demonstrated a wide variety of tumor suppressive roles in which Cx26 may regulate primary tumor cell growth and proliferation, anchorageindependent and contact-dependent growth *in vitro*, as well as reduced tumor sizes *in vivo* when orthotopically injected into nude mice through gap junction dependent and independent mechanisms [10-12,17,35,36]. As a result, we hypothesized that knockout of Cx26 would contribute to increased tumor size but this was not the case as the average tumor growth rates were similar in *Cre-* and *Cre+* DMBA-treated mice both before and after Cx26 knockout. However, as Cx26 was absent or down-regulated even in the majority of Cre- tumors, it remains likely that Cx26 is down-regulated in tumors early in primary tumor progression. This is supported by studies suggesting that *Gjb2* may be, at least in part, methylated to induce down-regulation [16,37]. Ultimately, as the Cx26 status was similar in tumors from *Cre-* and *Cre+* mice, our assessment of the role of Cx26 in primary tumor growth is limited. However, Cx26 and tumor growth may not be as critical in the human context as the majority, but not all [20], of studies agree that Cx26 mRNA or protein expression does not correlate with tumor size or Ki67 status [38-41].

DMBA-induced mammary tumors are often associated with multiple gene expression profiles giving rise to tumors with varying histological subtypes, particularly squamous carcinomas and adenocarcinomas, with many tumors expressing both luminal and basal cell markers [28,42,43]. Others have demonstrated a link between human histological subtypes correlating with specific genetic alterations, such as the inactivation of the CDH1 gene that encodes E-cadherin and is frequently found in lobular carcinomas of the breast [44]. Importantly, there is some evidence that this correlation exists when modelling tumorigenesis in mice, as Derkson et al. showed that mammary specific deletion of Ecadherin and p53 resulted in mammary tumors similar to lobular carcinomas [45]. We aimed to test whether loss of Cx26 would promote a greater propensity of developing mammary tumors of a specific histological subtype. Interestingly, in tumors from both Cre+ and Cre- mice we observed a wide variety of histological subtypes supported by varied expression of luminal and myoepithelial markers. Therefore, this suggests that the loss of Cx26 prior to DMBA treatment does not promote the development of mammary tumors of specific histological subtype, which is in agreement with a lack of correlation in human data of Cx26 expression with any histological subtypes [20]. In addition, a majority of studies document a lack of correlation between Cx26 and estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor and HER2 status in microarray or immunohistochemical analysis of human tumor samples [39,41,46], although a couple of exceptions have been reported in the case of progesterone receptor [20] and estrogen receptor status [39].

## 4.4.4 Cx26 knockout does not promote metastatic dissemination to the lungs

The role of Cx26 in breast cancer metastasis remains much more controversial than that in the primary tumor particularly in studies using human samples. Some reports suggest that Cx26 expression does not correlate with lymph node positivity [20] or overall survival [39,41] while others have found that higher expression of Cx26 is associated with poor overall patient survival [47], particularly if Cx26 expression is elevated after chemotherapy

[40]. Still others have found that Cx26 is upregulated in lymph node metastases compared to matched primary tumors [19]. While our results are limited by the number of mice that developed potential lung metastases, we found no evidence of Cx26 expression in any lung tumors similar to the primary tumors. Thus, the knockout of Cx26 prior to DMBA treatment did not predispose the mammary gland to an increased frequency of metastases suggesting that Cx26 is not acting as a breast cancer metastasis suppressor. In addition, Cx43 was also reduced compared to primary tumors suggesting that Cx43 is downregulated as tumors progress towards metastasis consistent with Cx43 as a breast cancer metastasis suppressor [21]. Of note, the average lung tumor area from *Cre*-mice appeared larger than those from Cre+ mice, although the sample size was too low for a statistical assessment. While this finding hints that lung tumors without Cre-mediated deletion of Cx26 may grow larger or establish themselves earlier than those from Cre+ mice, we observed no evidence that Cre- lung tumors upregulated their Cx26 expression. As a consequence, our results do not support either a tumor suppressive or facilitating role for Cx26 similar to finding by Chao et al. who found no correlation between upregulated Cx26expression from primary tumors and metastasis to the lung in human breast cancer patient samples [46]. Taken together, our results support a tumor suppressive role for Cx26 in the context of primary tumor onset but this does not coincide with more aggressive tumors or more frequent metastases in our chemically-induced model of breast cancer.

#### 4.5 Implications to human disease

To date, *GJB2* gene mutations give rise most notably to syndromic and non-syndromic hearing loss with comparable carrier frequencies to other prevalent genetic diseases such as cystic fibrosis and sickle-cell anemia [23]. In addition to hearing loss, many patients will present with skin diseases including Bart-Pumphrey syndrome, Hystrix-like icthyosis with deafness, Vohwinkel syndrome and Keratitis ichthyosis deafness (KID) [48,49]. Despite these skin diseases being relatively rare, patients presenting with Vohwinkel syndrome and KID syndrome have also been reported to develop skin tumors [50]. Most intriguing, a review of 61 patients with KID reported that ~10% of patients developed squamous cell carcinoma suggesting that loss of functional Cx26 in the skin predisposes KID syndrome patients to skin cancer [51]. Although it remains unknown whether other tissues or organs

that commonly express Cx26 are also susceptible to developing tumors, a single patient presenting with KID syndrome also presented with a primary invasive scirrhous ductal carcinoma of the breast suggesting that a loss-of-function mutant of Cx26 may also have contributed to the onset of a primary breast tumor in humans similar to our conditional Cx26 knockout mouse model of breast cancer [52]. However, although our results suggest an increased breast cancer risk to patients with loss-of-function GJB2 mutations, it is important to note that our mouse model will not fully recapitulate all Cx26 mutants. Many are reported to have gain-of-function effects, particularly those associated with skin diseases, with increased Cx26 hemichannel function in addition to loss of gap junction channel function [24]. As a result, our findings may extend to only a subpopulation of patients with loss-of-function GJB2 gene mutations. Therefore, we recommend a large epidemiologic study of breast cancer frequency in patients with loss-of-function GJB2 mutations compared to familial healthy controls. In that over 1% of the general population worldwide is estimated to be carriers of mutant alleles of GJB2 it remains critical to determine if this population as a whole, or in part, are at an increased risk of developing breast cancer [23].

#### 4.6 References

1. Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011; 61: 69-90.

2. Berry DA, Cronin KA, Plevritis SK, Fryback DG, Clarke L, Zelen M, Mandelblatt J JS, Yakovlev AY, Habbema JD, Feuer EJ, Cancer Intervention and Surveillance Modeling Network (CISNET) Collaborators. Effect of screening and adjuvant therapy on mortality from breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2005; 353: 1784-1792.

3. de Gelder R, Heijnsdijk EA, Fracheboud J, Draisma G, de Koning HJ. The effects of population-based mammography screening starting between age 40 and 50 in the presence of adjuvant systemic therapy. Int J Cancer. 2014.

4. Chen L, Linden HM, Anderson BO, Li CI. Trends in 5-year survival rates among breast cancer patients by hormone receptor status and stage. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2014; 147: 609-616.

5. Anothaisintawee T, Wiratkapun C, Lerdsitthichai P, Kasamesup V, Wongwaisayawan S, Srinakarin J, Hirunpat S, Woodtichartpreecha P, Boonlikit S, Teerawattananon Y, Thakkinstian A. Risk factors of breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Asia Pac J Public Health. 2013; 25: 368-387.

6. Eroles P, Bosch A, Perez-Fidalgo JA, Lluch A. Molecular biology in breast cancer: intrinsic subtypes and signaling pathways. Cancer Treat Rev. 2012; 38: 698-707.

7. Mesnil M. Connexins and cancer. Biol Cell. 2002; 94: 493-500.

 Laird DW. Life cycle of connexins in health and disease. Biochem J. 2006; 394: 527-543.

9. Wei CJ, Xu X, Lo CW. Connexins and Cell Signaling in Development and Disease. Annu. Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2004; 20: 811-838. 10. Qin H, Shao Q, Thomas T, Kalra J, Alaoui-Jamali M.A, Laird DW. Connexin26 Regulates the Expression of Angiogenesis-Related Genes in Human Breast Tumor Cells by both GJIC-Dependent and -Independent Mechanisms. Cell Commun Adhes. 2003; 10: 387-393.

11. Qin H, Shao Q, Curtis H, Galipeau J, Belliveau DJ, Wang T, Alaoui-Jamali MA, Laird DW. Retroviral Delivery of Connexin Genes to Human Breast Tumor Cells Inhibits in Vivo Tumor Growth by a Mechanism that is Independent of Significant Gap Junctional Intercellular Communication. J Biol Chem. 2002; 277: 29132-29138.

12. McLachlan E, Shao Q, Wang HL, Langlois S, Laird DW. Connexins Act as Tumor Suppressors in Three-Dimensional Mammary Cell Organoids by Regulating Differentiation and Angiogenesis. Cancer Res. 2006; 66: 9886-9894.

13. Zhou JZ, Jiang JX. Gap junction and hemichannel-independent actions of connexins on cell and tissue functions--an update. FEBS Lett. 2014;588: 1186-1192.

14. Evans WH, De Vuyst E, Leybaert L. The gap junction cellular internet: connexin hemichannels enter the signalling limelight. Biochem J 2006;397: 1-14.

15. McLachlan E, Shao Q, Laird DW. Connexins and gap junctions in mammary gland development and breast cancer progression. J Membr Biol 2007;218: 107-121.

16. Lee SW, Tomasetto C, Paul D, Keyomarsi K, Sager R. Transcriptional downregulation of gap-junction proteins blocks junctional communication in human mammary tumor cell lines. J Cell Biol 1992;118: 1213-1221.

17. Hirschi KK, Xu CE, Tsukamoto T, Sager R. Gap junction genes Cx26 and Cx43 individually suppress the cancer phenotype of human mammary carcinoma cells and restore differentiation potential. Cell Growth Differ. 1996; 7: 861-870.

18. Jamieson S, Going JJ, D'Arcy R, George WD. Expression of gap junction proteins connexin 26 and connexin 43 in normal human breast and in breast tumors. J Pathol. 1998; 184: 37-43.

19. Kanczuga-Koda L, Sulkowski S, Lenczewski A, Koda M, Wincewicz A, Baltaziak M, Sulkowska, M. Increased expression of connexins 26 and 43 in lymph node metastases of breast cancer. J Clin Pathol. 2006; 59: 429-433.

20. Naoi Y, Miyoshi Y, Taguchi T, Kim SJ, Arai T, Tamaki Y, Noguchi S. Connexin26 expression is associated with lymphatic vessel invasion and poor prognosis in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2007; 106: 11-17.

21. Plante I, Stewart MK, Barr K, Allan AL, Laird DW. Cx43 suppresses mammary tumor metastasis to the lung in a Cx43 mutant mouse model of human disease. Oncogene. 2011;
30: 1681-1692.

22. Visvader JE. Keeping Abreast of the Mammary Epithelial Hierarchy and Breast Tumorigenesis. Genes Dev. 2009; 23: 2563-2577.

23. Chan DK, Chang KW. GJB2-associated hearing loss: systematic review of worldwide prevalence, genotype, and auditory phenotype. Laryngoscope. 2014; 124: E34-53.

24. Lee JR, White TW. Connexin-26 mutations in deafness and skin disease. Expert Rev Mol Med. 2009; 11: e35.

25. Stewart MK, Plante I, Bechberger JF, Naus CC, Laird DW. Mammary gland specific knockdown of the physiological surge in Cx26 during lactation retains normal mammary gland development and function. PLoS One. 2014; 9: e101546.

26. Gabriel HD, Jung D, Butzler C, Temme A, Traub O, Winterhager E, Willecke K. Transplacental uptake of glucose is decreased in embryonic lethal connexin26-deficient mice. J Cell Biol. 1998; 140: 1453-1461.

27. Bry C, Maass K, Miyoshi K, Willecke K, Ott T, Robinson GW, Hennighausen L. Loss of connexin 26 in mammary epithelium during early but not during late pregnancy results in unscheduled apoptosis and impaired development. Dev Biol. 2004; 267: 418-429.

28. Currier N, Solomon SE, Demicco EG, Chang DL, Farago M, Ying H, Dominquez I, Sonenshein GE, Cardiff RD, Xiao ZX, Sherr DH, Seldin DC. Oncogenic signaling

pathways activated in DMBA-induced mouse mammary tumors. Toxicol Pathol. 2005; 33: 726-737.

29. Li B, Kittrell FS, Medina D, Rosen JM. Delay of dimethylbenz[a]anthracene-induced mammary tumorigenesis in transgenic mice by apoptosis induced by an unusual mutant p53 protein. Mol Carcinog. 1995; 14: 75-83.

30. Jerry DJ, Kittrell FS, Kuperwasser C, Laucirica R, Dickinson ES, Bonilla PJ, Butel JS, Medina D. A mammary-specific model demonstrates the role of the p53 tumor suppressor gene in tumor development. Oncogene. 2000; 19: 1052-1058.

31. Wang RA, Zhang H, Balasenthil S, Medina D, Kumar R. PAK1 Hyperactivation is Sufficient for Mammary Gland Tumor Formation. Oncogene. 2006; 25: 2931-2936.

32. Wilgenbus KK, Kirkpatrick CJ, Knuechel R, Willecke K, Traub O. Expression of Cx26, Cx32 and Cx43 gap junction proteins in normal and neoplastic human tissues. Int J Cancer. 1992; 51: 52-529.

Medina D. Mammary tumorigenesis in chemical carcinogen-treated mice. II.
 Dependence on hormone stimulation for tumorigenesis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1974; 53: 223-226.

34. Christov K, Swanson SM, Guzman RC, Thordarson G, Jin E, Talamantes F, Nandi S. Kinetics of mammary epithelial cell proliferation in pituitary isografted BALB/c mice. Carcinogenesis. 1993; 14: 2019-2025.

35. Momiyama M, Omori Y, Ishizaki Y, Nishikawa Y, Tokairin T, Ogawa J, Enomoto K. Connexin26-mediated gap junctional communication reverses the malignant phenotype of MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Cancer Sci. 2003; 94: 501-507.

36. Kalra J, Shao Q, Qin H, Thomas T, Alaoui-Jamali MA, Laird DW. Cx26 inhibits breast MDA-MB-435 cell tumorigenic properties by a gap junctional intercellular communication-independent mechanism. Carcinogenesis. 2006; 27: 2528-2537.

37. Tan LW, Bianco T, Dobrovic A. Variable promoter region CpG island methylation of the putative tumor suppressor gene Connexin 26 in breast cancer. Carcinogenesis. 2002;23: 231-236.

38. Kanczuga-Koda L, Sulkowski S, Tomaszewski J, Koda M, Sulkowska M, Przystupa W, Golaszewska J, Baltaziak M. Connexins 26 and 43 correlate with Bak, but not with Bcl-2 protein in breast cancer. Oncol Rep. 2005; 14: 325-329.

39 Conklin C, Huntsman D, Yorida E, Makretsov N, Turbin D, Bechberger JF, Sin WC, Naus CC. Tissue microarray analysis of connexin expression and its prognostic significance in human breast cancer. Cancer Lett. 2007; 255: 284-294.

40. Teleki I, Krenacs T, Szasz MA, Kulka J, Wichmann B, Leo C, Papassotiropoulos B, Riemenschnitter C, Moch H, Varga Z. The potential prognostic value of connexin 26 and 46 expression in neoadjuvant-treated breast cancer. BMC Cancer. 2013; 13: 50-2407-13-50.

41. Teleki I, Szasz AM, Maros ME, Gyorffy B, Kulka J, Meggyeshazi N, Kiszner G, Balla P, Samu A, Krenacs T. Correlations of differentially expressed gap junction connexins cx26, cx30, cx32, cx43 and cx46 with breast cancer progression and prognosis. PLoS One. 2014; 9: e112541.

42. Herschkowitz JI, Simin K, Weigman VJ, Mikaelian I, Usary J, Hu Z, Rasmussen KE, Jones LP, Assefnia S, Chandrasekharan S, Backlund MG, Yin Y, Khramtsov AI et al. Identification of conserved gene expression features between murine mammary carcinoma models and human breast tumors. Genome Biol. 2007; 8: R76.

43. Medina D. Chemical carcinogenesis of rat and mouse mammary glands. Breast Dis. 2007; 28: 63-68.

44. Vos CB, Cleton-Jansen AM, Berx G, de Leeuw WJ, ter Haar NT, van Roy F, Cornelisse, CJ, Peterse JL, van de Vijver MJ. E-Cadherin Inactivation in Lobular Carcinoma in Situ of the Breast: An Early Event in Tumorigenesis. Br J Cancer. 1997; 76: 1131-1133.

45. Derksen PW, Braumuller TM, van der Burg E, Hornsveld M, Mesman E, Wesseling J, Krimpenfort P, Jonkers J. Mammary-specific inactivation of E-cadherin and p53 impairs functional gland development and leads to pleomorphic invasive lobular carcinoma in mice. Dis Model Mech. 2011; 4: 347-358.

46. Chao Y, Wu Q, Acquafondata M, Dhir R, Wells A. Partial mesenchymal to epithelial reverting transition in breast and prostate cancer metastases. Cancer Microenviron. 2012; 5: 19-28.

47. Stoletov K, Strnadel J, Zardouzian E, Momiyama M, Park FD, Kelber JA, Pizzo DP, Hoffman R, VandenBerg SR, Klemke RL. Role of connexins in metastatic breast cancer and melanoma brain colonization. J Cell Sci. 2013; 126: 904-913.

48. Kelly JJ, Simek J, Laird DW. Mechanisms linking connexin mutations to human diseases. Cell Tissue Res. 2014.

49. Avshalumova L, Fabrikant J, Koriakos A. Overview of skin diseases linked to connexin gene mutations. Int J Dermatol. 2014; 53: 192-205.

50. Coggshall K, Farsani T, Ruben B, McCalmont TH, Berger TG, Fox LP, Shinkai K. Keratitis, ichthyosis, and deafness syndrome: a review of infectious and neoplastic complications. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2013; 69: 127-134.

51. Caceres-Rios H, Tamayo-Sanchez L, Duran-Mckinster C, de la Luz Orozco M, Ruiz-Maldonado R. Keratitis, ichthyosis, and deafness (KID syndrome): review of the literature and proposal of a new terminology. Pediatr Dermatol. 1996; 13: 105-113.

52. Sakabe J, Yoshiki R, Sugita K, Haruyama S, Sawada Y, Kabashima R, Bito T, Nakamura M, Tokura Y. Connexin 26 (GJB2) mutations in keratitis-ichthyosis-deafness syndrome presenting with squamous cell carcinoma. J Dermatol. 2012; 39: 814-815.

53. Lydon, J.P.; Ge, G.; Kittrell, F.S.; Medina, D.; O'Malley, B.W. Murine Mammary Gland Carcinogenesis is Critically Dependent on Progesterone Receptor Function. Cancer Res. 1999, 59, 4276-4284.

54. Liebelt AG, Liebelt RA. Effects of single pituitary isograft on mammary tumorigenesis in mice. Cancer Res. 1961; 21: 86-91.

55. Plante I, Stewart MK, Laird DW. Evaluation of mammary gland development and function in mouse models. J Vis Exp. 2011; 53. pii: 2828. doi: 10.3791/2828.

56. Dunn T. Morphology of Mammary Tumors in Mice. In: F. Homburger and N. H. Fishman (eds.), Physiopathology of Cancer. Ed. 2. 1959: 38-84.

## 4.7 Supplementary figures/tables

	Oil		DMBA	
Group 1 Following Cx26 Knockdown	Cre-	Cre+	Cre-	Cre+
Initial N-Value For Study	7	7	16	12
<ul> <li># of Mice Removed from Study to date for other Health Concerns</li> <li>- Lymphoma</li> <li>- Intestinal Tumour</li> <li>- Blood Clot</li> <li>- Enlarged Lymph Node</li> </ul>	0	0	4	3
Total # of Mice Included in Study	7	7	12	9
Total # of Mice with Mammary Tumours	0	0	4	8

Table 4.S1. List of Mice used in study for mice treated with DMBA or oil by gavage 1.5 months following pituitary transplant.

Table 4.S2.	List of Mice	used in study	for mice	treated wit	h DMBA	or oil by
gavage 1 w	eek following	pituitary tra	nsplant.			

	Oil		DMBA	
Group 2 Prior to Cx26 Knockdown	Cre-	Cre+	Cre-	Cre+
Initial N-Value For Study	10	10	10	10
# of Mice Removed from Study to date for other Health Concerns - Lymphoma - Intestinal Tumour - Unknown	2	2	3	3
Total # of Mice Included in Study	8	8	7	7
Total # of Mice with Mammary Tumours	0	0	7	7

Figure 4.S1. Pituitary implantation stimulates BLG that results in Cx26 knockout within the mammary gland. (A, B) Pituitaries were implanted in the renal capsule leading to the development of alveoli in the mammary gland which began to be seen 3 weeks following pituitary transplant but was more evident at 6 weeks. (C) At the time of sacrifice, immunofluorescence revealed considerable but not complete (insert) knockout of Cx26 (green/red, arrows) in the mammary gland of *BLG-Cre; Cx26<sup>fl/fl</sup>* mice (*Cre+*), unlike  $Cx26^{fl/fl}$  control mice (*Cre-*) of both mice treated with DMBA 1 and 12 weeks after pituitary transplant. Hoechst denotes nuclei. Scale bars = 50 µm. N≥6.



## Chapter 5

## 5 Loss of Panx1 impairs mammary gland development at lactation: implications for breast tumorigenesis

The role of Panx1 in mammary gland development and function is unknown but some very recent data has implicated it in breast cancer. The purpose of this study was to characterize the role of Panx1 during pregnancy and lactation using a mouse model with systemic knockout of *Panx1* with the intent of understanding how this large pore channel may be important and dysregulated in breast cancer.

A version of this chapter has been drafted for submission:

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Stewart MKG</u>, Plante I, Penuela S, Barr K, Laird DW. Loss of Panx1 impairs mammary gland development at lactation: implications in breast.

### 5.1 Introduction

Mammary gland development is a dynamic process occurring mostly after birth [1]. The mouse mammary gland undergoes extensive gland remodeling through two main phases of development following the onset of puberty and pregnancy [2]. During puberty, epithelial ductal elongation and branching loosely invades the adipocyte-rich mammary stroma [3]. The mammary gland undergoes terminal differentiation following the onset of pregnancy characterized by extensive proliferation and lobuloalveolar differentiation as numerous alveoli fill the mammary gland for secretory function during lactation [2]. Following weaning of pups, the mammary gland reverts back to a pre-pregnant state in a process known as involution [4]. These processes require extensive control of proliferation, differentiation, invasion, and cell death mechanisms mediated by hormonal signaling, local epithelial-stromal interactions and direct cell-cell communication mediated by gap junctions [1,5].

While the roles of the mammary gap junction proteins Cx43, Cx26, Cx30 and Cx32 are beginning to be defined within the mammary gland, particularly through the use of genetically-modified mice, less is known about the related large pore channels proteins pannexins in the context of the mammary gland [6]. Pannexins, similar to connexin hemichannels, oligomerize to form large protein-lined pores capable of transferring small ions and metabolites, such as ATP and Ca<sup>2+</sup>, between the intracellular and extracellular milieu [7,8]. However, unlike connexin hemichannels, pannexin channels are glycosylated, insensitive to physiological levels of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> and can be opened at normal resting membrane potentials [9-11]. This suggests that pannexins have unique functions within tissues and warrant further investigation.

Three members of the pannexin family have been described in the mammalian genome, each predicted to have a similar topology to the vertebrate gap junction proteins connexins [7,12]. Due to its ubiquitous expression, pannexin1 (Panx1) is the best characterized and has been identified in both rodent and human tissue including the brain, muscle, and skin [13-16], as well as many other tissues including the mouse mammary gland and human breast as noted in NCBI's gene expression Omnibus database (1416379 ID, ID 49755742, [17]). Panx1 can be activated by multiple stimuli, including mechanical stimulation [18],

caspase cleavage [19], intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  [20], and extracellular ATP [20], all of which may occur during the stages of mammary gland development that may trigger Panx1 opening [4,21-23].

Panx1 has also been shown to be dynamically regulated during brain, muscle and skin development [14-16]. Panx1 has been associated with changes in migration of primary keratinocytes, proliferation of dermal fibroblasts, neural stem cells and neural progenitor cells, as well as differentiation of skeletal muscle myoblasts [15,24,25]. Importantly, all of these cellular processes are necessary for normal mammary gland development and function suggesting a role for Panx1 in the highly regulated mammary gland [1]. In addition, Panx1 channels were shown to mediate the release of ATP from apoptotic cells which acts to recruit phagocytes for cell clearance following Panx1 C-terminal cleavage by caspases [19]. This is intriguing as macrophages have been shown to be important during mammary gland involution [26]. With the developmental and physiological roles of Panx1 are beginning to be elucidated, it is not surprising that Panx1 has been implicated in many pathologies, including tumorigenesis (as reviewed by Penuela et al. [27]).

Breast cancer is the most severe pathology associated with the breast and is the leading cause of cancer mortality in women worldwide [28]. Recently, Panx1 was shown to be mutated in metastatic breast cancer cell lines, leading to increased ATP-channel activity and promotion of breast cancer cell survival during extravasation [29]. This may suggest that Panx1 functions as a tumor facilitator in breast cancer similar to that described in melanoma, albeit through different reported mechanisms [29,30]. However, as Panx1 has also been suggested to act as a tumor suppressor in gliomas, and squamous and basal cell carcinomas, the role of Panx1 may be dependent on the type of cancer or stage of disease [31,32]. As tumors frequently exploit signaling pathways critical in organ morphogenesis, we set out to evaluate the role of Panx1 in normal mammary gland development to increase our understanding of how the role of Panx1 may be dysregulated in tumorigenesis. In addition, we explored potential implications of Panx1 as a biomarker in breast cancer.

### 5.2 Methods

#### 5.2.1 Animals

All experiments were approved by the Animal Care Committee at Western University and conducted according to the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (Appendix 3). Panx1<sup>-/-</sup> mice were generated as previously described [33]. *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were developed on a homogeneous C57BL/6 background in which Panx1 was systemically ablated. C57BL/6N mice (*Panx1<sup>+/+</sup>*) acted as control mice for all experiments. Mice were collected at 4 weeks, 7 weeks, parturition (L0), early lactation (L2) and involution (Forced weaned at L15 and collected I3). Mice were genotyped as previously described [33]. Following sacrifice of mice using CO<sub>2</sub>, body weights were recorded prior to dissected for subsequent paraffin processing, whole mount analysis, cryosections and for protein lysates. Right inguinal mammary gland weights were recorded. For all experiments, at least five different animals per group were evaluated. Panx1 pup weights were recorded from multiple lactating dams.

#### 5.2.2 Western blot analysis

Following dissection, mammary gland tissue was frozen at -80°C. Mammary gland tissues were homogenized on ice in lysis buffer (1% Triton X-100, 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5% NP-40), supplemented with protease inhibitor mixture (Roche-Applied Sciences) and phosphatase inhibitors (100 mM NaF and 100 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>). Total protein lysates were quantified using the bicinchronic acid assay similar to the manufacturer's instructions (Pierce). Sixty  $\mu$ g of protein was loaded and resolved using 10% SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes using the iBlot Dry Blotting system (Invitrogen). Membranes were blocked using 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 0.05% Tween20 in PBS for 1 hour at room temperature. Membranes were incubated with rabbit anti-Panx1 antibodies targeting the C-terminal (0.4  $\mu$ g/ml, [9]), goat anti- $\beta$ -casein (1:1000, sc-17971, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and rat anti-Hsc70 (1:5000, SPA-815, Stressgen Bioreagents) antibodies diluted in blocking solution at 4°C overnight. Membranes were washed in PBST and subsequently incubated with Alexa 800-conjugated

goat anti-rabbit, Alexa 800-conjugated donkey anti-mouse, Alexa 680-conjugated goat anti-rat and Alexa 680-conjugated donkey anti-goat (1:5000, Life Technologies) secondary antibodies followed by visualization and quantification using the Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (Li-Cor Biosciences). N=3.

#### 5.2.3 Real-time PCR analysis

Total RNA was extracted using the Qiagen RNeasy kits (Qiagen) from the mammary gland of 7-week-old females Panx1<sup>-/-</sup> and Panx1<sup>+/+</sup> mice. cDNA was generated using the RevertAid H minus, first-strand cDNA synthesis kit (Fermentas). Panx1 transcript levels were determined using mouse Panx1-specific primers (5' ACAGGCTGCCTTTGTGGATTCA3'; 5' GGGCAGGTACAGGAGTATG3') and the iQ SYBR green Supermix (Bio-Rad, Mississauga) in a Bio-Rad CFX96 real-time system. Results were normalized to  $\beta$ 2 microglobulin (5'CCCACTGAGACTGATACATACGC3'; 5' GGTTCAAATGAATCTTCAGAGCAT 3'). N=3.

#### 5.2.4 Immunofluorescence microscopy

Paraffin embedded sections (6  $\mu$ m) were deparaffinised in xylene and rehydrated in descending concentrations of ethanol before being washed in ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Sections underwent antigen retrieval using Vector Antigen Unmasking Solution (Vector Labs) by microwaving them for 5 minutes at 80% power. Sections were allowed to cool for 15 minutes prior to being rinsed in PBS and placed in a sub-boiling second antigen retrieval solution (10 mM Tris Base, 1mM EDTA (pH 9.0) for 30 min prior to being rinsed in PBS. Crysections were sectioned (7  $\mu$ m), stored in -80 °C and subsequently fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and rinsed in PBS. Sections were then blocked (3% BSA and 0.2% Triton X-100 in PBS) for 1 hour at room temperature. The following primary antibodies were incubated on samples diluted in blocking solution overnight at 4 °C; rabbit anti-Panx1 (4  $\mu$ g/ml, or with peptide pre-adsoption assays as previously described [9]), mouse anti-cytokeratin 14 (1:300, Neomarkers, CL002), mouse anti-pan-cytokeratin (1:400, Abcam, ab7753), rabbit anti-periplipin (1:400, Cell Signaling, 9349), rabbit anti-Ki67 (1:400, Abcam, ab66155), cleaved caspase 3 (1:400, Cell Signaling, D175), rabbit anti-keratin8 (1:400, Abcam, ab53280), E-cadherin (1:400, BD Transduction Laboratories, 610182),  $\beta$ -catenin (1:400,

BD Transduction Laboratories, 610154), Cx26 (Cryosections, 1:100, Invitrogen, 51-2800), Cx30 (Cryosections, 1:100, Invitrogen, 71-2200), Cx32 (Cryosections, 1:100, Sigma, C3470) and  $\beta$ -case (1:400, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, sc-17971). Primary antibodies were visualized by incubating sections with Alexa Fluor® 555-conjugated anti-rabbit or anti-mouse or anti-goat (1:400, Molecular Probes, A21425, A21429 or A21431) and Alexa Fluor® 488-conjugated anti-rabbit or anti-mouse (1:400 dilution, Molecular Probes, A11008 or A11017) secondary antibodies for 1 hour at room temperature. Hoechst stain was used to visualize nuclei before being mounted using Airvol. Immunolabeled sections were imaged (5-10 images per sample) using a Leica DM IRE2 inverted epifluorescence microscope equipped with Velocity 6.3.0 imaging software. For cytokeratin area quantification, green only fluorescent images were converted to binary using ImageJ and the pixel area was measured per 0.3 mm<sup>3</sup>. For adipocyte quantification, perilipin positive cells were counted per 0.3 mm<sup>3</sup>. For Ki67 and connexin plaque quantification, the number of Ki67 positive cells/connexin plaques was quantified per 0.3 mm<sup>3</sup>. In addition, the blue only fluorescent images were converted to binary using ImageJ and the pixel area was measured per 0.3 mm<sup>3</sup>. Graphs represent the mean ratio of the number of Ki67 positive cells or connexin plaques to blue fluorescent pixel area (nuclei). N≥5.

#### 5.2.5 Whole mount analysis

Whole mount analysis was performed similar to that described in Plante et al. 2011 [34]. Briefly, mammary glands were dissected, flattened out on slides, and submersed in Carnoy's fixative for 4 hours at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. Glands were then submersed in 70% ethanol and gradually rehydrated in ddH<sub>2</sub>O before being stained overnight in carmine alum stain at room temperature. Glands were then gradually dehydrated (ddH<sub>2</sub>O, 70%, 95%, 100%, xylene; 5 min) and stored in methyl salicylate. Whole mounts were captured using a stereoscopic Sony camera on a light board. Virgin ductal elongation was quantified using calipers as previously described [35,36] by measuring the ratio of the distance from the bottom of the lymph node to the end of the longest duct relative to the distance from the bottom of the lymph node to the edge of the fat pad.

#### 5.2.6 Histology

Paraffin blocks were sectioned (6 µm), deparaffinized in xylene (10 min) and gradually rehydrated in ethanol (100%, 95%, 70%; 5min) prior to submersion in Harris' hematoxylin for 2 min. Slides were washed, dipped in acid ethanol (4X) and placed in 70% ethanol (1 min) prior to submersion in eosin (1 ml of acetic acid in 250 ml of eosin; 2 min). Slides were gradually dehydrated (70%, 95%, 100%, xylene; 1 min) and mounted using cytoseal (Richard-Allan Scientific). Histological analysis was performed by imaging 5-10 arbitrary images using a 5X and 40X objective lens and a ProgRes C5 camera (Jenoptik) and ProgRes Mac CapturePro 2.7.6 imaging software. The average number of lumens was quantified, with the mutant and control mouse mammary glands blinded to the investigator, using ImageJ software. In addition, the average lumen area was quantified using ImageJ in which the length and width (pixels) of lumens was measured and the average area of the lumen was estimated by calculating the elliptical area (A= ((L/2)\*(W/2)\* $\pi$ )). N≥5.

#### 5.2.7 Evaluation of Panx1 mRNA in silico

Using the publicly available Kaplan-Meier Plotter (http://kmplot.com) described by Gyorffy et al. 2010 [37], we compared high and low mRNA expression groups of PANX1 (Affy id 204715\_at) in human breast cancer samples to clinical endpoints using the HGU133A and HGU133 Plus 2.0 microarrays as previously described [38]. We set our parameters to remove redundant samples, exclude biased arrays, auto-select for best cutoff and to use only the JetSet best probe set. PANX1 was evaluated in relation to overall survival (OS), relapse-free survival (RFS), distant metastasis free survival (DMFS), as well as evaluating Panx1 in relation to OS and RFS in distinct subgroups such as by molecular subtype or lymph node positive patient samples.

#### 5.2.8 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses of mouse studies were performed using GraphPad Prism 4.03 software in which statistical analysis compared means using a two-tailed unpaired student t-test. A two-way ANOVA was performed on pup weights. Error bars represented  $\pm$  SEM. For assessment of Panx1 as a biomarker, a log-rank test was performed using the online

tool as described [39]. For all experiments, a p value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

### 5.3 Results

## 5.3.1 Panx1 is expressed in the mammary gland and dynamically regulated throughout mammary gland development

Mammary gland lysates from wild-type virgin, pregnant, lactating and involuting  $Panx1^{+/+}$  mice were assessed by western blot for expression of Panx1 revealing expression at all stages of development and that Panx1 is upregulated in pregnant and lactating mice compared to the virgin gland (Figure 5.1A). As Panx1 appears to peak during early lactation, mammary gland sections of  $Panx1^{+/+}$  mice at lactation D2 were immunolabelled to reveal the localization of the positive Panx1 expression in the mammary gland which was lost following adsorption of anti-Panx1 antibodies with immunizing peptides (Figure 5.1B). Panx1 expression appeared localized to the luminal epithelial cells, based on the absence of co-labelling with the myoepithelial marker keratin14 (Figure 5.1B). Mammary glands from  $Panx1^{-/-}$  and  $Panx1^{+/+}$  mice at lactation were evaluated for Panx1 protein and mRNA expression using western blot and real-time PCR analysis, respectively. Panx1 was found to be ablated from the mammary glands of Panx1 null mice (Figure 5.1C, D). Therefore, Panx1 is dynamically expressed in the pregnant mammary gland and ablated in *Panx1^{-/-* mouse mammary glands.

## 5.3.2 Virgin Panx1<sup>-/-</sup> mice retain normal mammary glands

Mammary glands from 4 and 7 week old mice were collected, weighed and subjected to whole mount and histological analysis. Although body weights were significantly elevated in 4 week old *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (Figure 5.2A), this did not correspond to an increased mammary gland weight (Figure 5.2B, C). Body weight and normalized mammary gland weight were similar in 7 week old mice compared to controls (Figure 5.2A-C). Whole

Figure 5.1. Panx1 is upregulated during pregnancy in luminal epithelial cells and is not expressed in *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice. (A) Western blot analysis revealed that Panx1 (red) is upregulated following the onset of pregnancy and remains elevated throughout lactation. Multiple bands on the western blot represent various Panx1 species due to changes in glycosylation (Gly0, Gly1 and Gly2). (B) Punctate staining observed for Panx1 (red) is not observed using pre-immune serum or following adsorption of the antibody with cognate peptide and does not colocalize with the myoepithelial marker Keratin14 (K14, green). (C, D) Western blot and real-time PCR analysis revealed that Panx1 is not expressed in *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice compared to *Panx1<sup>+/+</sup>* mice. + represents HEK 293T cells overexpressing Panx1. Hoescht (blue) denotes nuclei. Scale bar = 50 µm. N=3.



Figure 5.2. Virgin *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice have normal mammary glands. (A) Evaluation of body weights at 4 and 7 weeks revealed that pre-pubertal *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were significantly larger compared to control mice. Values are mean body weights  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*p<0.05. (B, C) Mammary gland weight and normalized mammary gland weight were not significantly different in *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to *Panx1*<sup>+/+</sup> mice. Values are mean weights  $\pm$  S.E.M. (D) Whole mount analysis with carmine alum staining revealed normal epithelial ductal architecture embedded in a well-developed stroma. (E) Quantification of ductal elongation revealed no significant differences in knockout and control mice. Bars represent the mean ductal extensions from the bottom of the lymph node to the furthest migrating duct relative to the length of the mammary gland from the bottom of the lymph node to the edge of the fat pad  $\pm$  S.E.M. (F) Histological evaluation of hematoxylin and eosin stained glands revealed normal tissue architecture in virgin *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with control mice. N=9. Scale bar = 50 µm.





mount analysis of 4 week old mice revealed a rudimentary ductal structure in the mammary glands of Panx1 knockout mice similar to control mice suggesting that loss of Panx1 does not significantly impede embryonic mammary gland development (Figure 5.2D). In addition, the relative duct length of 4 and 7 week old whole mounts from *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice was similar to control mice suggesting that Panx1 is not critical for ductal outgrowth during pubertal growth in virgin mice (Figure 5.2E). Similar to whole mount analysis, Panx1 knockout mice had comparatively normal histology as epithelial ducts were embedded within a well-developed mammary fat pad in Panx1 null and control mice (Figure 5.2F). Taken together, virgin mammary glands from Panx1 knockout mice develop similar to wild-type mice.

## 5.3.3 Panx1<sup>-/-</sup> mice at parturition have normal mammary glands

In order to assess the role of Panx1 following pregnancy, mammary glands from  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice and wild-type control mice were collected at parturition, weighed, and assessed for changes in gland architecture using histological and whole mount approaches. Body weights, mammary gland weight and normalized mammary gland weight were similar between  $Panx1^{-/-}$  and control mice (Figure 5.3A). Whole mount and histological analysis revealed similar tissue architecture of  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice compared to control mice (Figure 5.3C). Quantification of the average number of lumen and area of the lumen between Panx1 knockout and wild-type H&E stained sections was similar suggesting comparable alveolar development at parturition (Figure 5.3C). Similarly, quantification of the pixel area of the epithelial marker pan-cytokeratin in mammary gland sections of  $Panx1^{-/-}$  and  $Panx1^{+/+}$  mice revealed similar epithelial area (Figure 5.3D). Finally, immunofluorescent labelling and quantification of the number of adipocytes revealed similar stromal development in the glands of Panx1 knockout and wild-type mice (Figure 5.3E).

### 5.3.4 During Early Lactation *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* Mice have Impaired Alveolar Development but Relatively Normal Differentiation

To assess whether differences in gland development occurred following feeding of the pups, mammary glands of  $Panx1^{-/-}$  were assessed 48 hours after parturition and compared

Figure 5.3. *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice have normal mammary glands at parturition. (A) Evaluation of body weight, mammary gland weight and normalized mammary gland weight revealed that *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were similar to control mice at parturition. (B) Whole mount analysis revealed numerous alveoli filling the mammary fat pad. (C) Histological evaluation of haematoxylin and eosin stained glands revealed normal tissue architecture, a similar average number of alveoli/ducts (per 2.5 mm<sup>2</sup>) and a similar average alveolar/ductal lumen area (per 0.04 mm<sup>2</sup>) in *Panx1 null* mice compared to control mice. (D) Quantification of the average epithelial area (pixel) as assessed with immunofluorescent analysis using pancytokeratin (green) per 0.3 mm<sup>2</sup> revealed similar epithelial area in the mammary gland of *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with control mice. (E) Quantification of the average number of adipocytes as assessed with immunofluorescent analysis using perilipin (green) per 0.3 mm<sup>2</sup> revealed a similar number of adipocytes in *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with control mice. Hoescht (blue) denotes nuclei. Bars are means ± S.E.M. N=6. Scale bars = 50 µm.

Figure 5.3



to  $Panx1^{+/+}$  mice. Similar to mice on the day of parturition, body weights, mammary gland weights and normalized mammary gland weights were not significantly different during early lactation in Panx1<sup>-/-</sup> and control mice (Figure 5.4A). Interestingly, whole mount and histological analysis of mammary glands revealed a significant decrease in the average number of lumens of Panx1 knockout mice with a concomitant significant increase in the average lumen area significant compared to wild-type mice suggesting reduced alveolar development in early lactation (Figure 5.4B,C). Furthermore, a reduction in the average epithelial pixel area, but not in the number of adipocytes glands, of  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice compared to  $Panx1^{+/+}$  mice supported a role for reduced alveolar development of early lactating Panx1 knockout mice (Figure 5.4D,F).

Comparison of the number of lumens in mammary glands at parturition and early lactation revealed a significant increase in the number of alveoli during the 48 hours following parturition in  $Panx1^{+/+}$  mice but not in  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 5.5A). To assess whether this difference was the result of impaired proliferation or increased apoptosis, mammary glands of Panx1 knockout and wild-type mice were immunolabelled with the proliferation marker Ki67. This study revealed a significant decrease in the number of Ki67 positive cells during early lactation, but not parturition, between  $Panx1^{-/-}$  and control mice (Figure 5.5B). Qualitative assessment of cleaved caspase-3 immunolabelling revealed relatively few apoptotic cells in the lactating glands of  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice compared to wild-type mice suggesting that the reduced alveolar development was the result of decreased proliferation as opposed to increased cell death (Figure 5.5D, F).

In order to assess whether the defect in alveogenesis affects the differentiation of the mammary glands, markers of differentiation including the luminal markers keratin8, E-cadherin and  $\beta$ -catenin as well as the myoepithelial marker keratin14, were assessed by immunofluorescent analysis (Figure 5.6). Both Panx1 knockout and control mice had similar and well defined expression of all epithelial markers (Figure 5.6A-C). Furthermore, evaluation of the expression of luminal connexins revealed a significant decrease in the relative number of Cx32 gap junction plaques, but not Cx26 or Cx30, in *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Figure 5.4. *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice present with a reduction in the number of alveoli during early lactation. (A) Evaluation of body weight, mammary gland weight and normalized mammary gland weight revealed that *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were similar to control mice. (B) Whole mount analysis revealed numerous alveoli filling the mammary fat pad. (C) Histological evaluation of hematoxylin and eosin stained glands revealed a reduction in the number alveoli in the mammary glands (per 2.5 mm<sup>2</sup>) of *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice that were significantly larger than those from *Panx1*<sup>+/+</sup> mice (per 0.04 mm<sup>2</sup>). (D) Quantification of the average epithelial area (pixel) as assessed with pan-cytokeratin (green) per 0.3 mm<sup>2</sup> revealed a significant decrease in the amount of epithelium in the mammary gland of *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with control mice. (E) Quantification of the average number of adipocytes, as assessed with perilipin (green) per 0.3 mm<sup>2</sup>, revealed similar cell numbers in the mammary gland of *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with control mice. Hoescht (blue) denotes nuclei. \*p<0.05. Values are means ± S.E.M. N=6. Scale bars = 50 µm.

Figure 5.4


Figure 5.5. *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice have reduced proliferation during early lactation. (A) The average number of lumens was significantly increased in early lactation compared to parturition in *Panx1*<sup>+/+</sup> mice which was not observed in *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Values represent the mean number of lumen per 2.5mm<sup>2</sup> ± S.E.M. (B) Immunofluorescent analysis of the proliferation marker Ki67 (Red; parturition, green; lactation) revealed significantly reduced proliferation in mammary glands of *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to controls during early lactation but not at parturition. Values represent the mean number of Ki67 positive cells relative to the pixel area of the nuclei, multiplied by a factor of 1 x 10<sup>4</sup>, per 0.3 mm<sup>2</sup> ± S.E.M. (C) Immunofluorescent analysis of the apoptotic marker cleaved caspase3 revealed little apoptosis in the glands of knockout mice, similar to controls. Inserts represent positive controls in the involuting mammary gland. Hoescht (blue) denotes nuclei. \*p<0.05. N=6. Scale bars = 50 µm.



А





Figure 5.6. *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice have normal mammary gland epithelial differentiation at lactation. (A) Immunofluorescent analysis of luminal epithelial marker keratin 8 (green) and myoepithelial marker keratin14 (red) revealed a similar staining pattern in Panx1<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to control mice during lactation. (B, C) Immunofluorescent analysis of mammary differentiation markers E-cadherin (B, red) and  $\beta$ -Catenin (C, red) revealed a similar staining profile in *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice and *Panx1<sup>+/+</sup>* mice. Hoescht (blue) denotes nuclei. N=6. Scale bars = 50 µm.





As connexins have previously been used as markers of proper terminal differentiation [40], these results suggest that following parturition, *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice may not have completed the full differentiation of the mammary gland (Figure 5.7). Taken together, *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice have impaired mammary gland alveolar development during early lactation but relatively normal mammary gland differentiation.

# 5.3.5 Lactating *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice have normal mammary gland function

To determine whether the developmental defects associated with the mammary gland observed in lactating  $Panx1^{-/-}$  dams resulted in impaired feeding of pups, 30-50 pups from multiple litters were weighed every other day revealing relatively normal pup weights between  $Panx1^{-/-}$  dams and  $Panx1^{+/+}$  dams (Figure 5.8A). However, significantly decreased pup weights were found at day 6 while significantly increased pup weights were recorded at day 18 and day 20 from Panx1 knockout dams compared to Panx1 wild-type dams (Figure 5.8A). Importantly,  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice had similar litter size to  $Panx1^{+/+}$  mice in which pup death was uncommon (Figure 5.8B). Finally, western blot and immunofluorescent analysis of the common milk protein  $\beta$ -casein revealed no-significant difference between mammary glands of Panx1 knockout and control mice suggesting milk production is unaffected (Figure 5.8C,D). Taken together, loss of Panx1 does not severely impair mammary gland function.

## 5.3.6 *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice have normal mammary gland involution

In order to assess the role of Panx1 during involution, pups from  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice and wildtype dams were force weaned at day 15 of lactation and three days later mammary glands were collected. Body weights, mammary gland weight and normalized mammary gland weight were similar between  $Panx1^{-/-}$  and control mice (Figure 5.9A). Whole mount and histological analysis revealed similar tissue architecture of  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice compared to control mice (Figure 5.9B, C). Qualitative assessment of immunolabelled mammary gland for the apoptotic marker cleaved caspase 3 revealed comparably similar amount of cell

Figure 5.7. Lactating *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice have fewer Cx32 gap junctions in the mammary gland. (A) Immunofluorescent analysis of mammary gland cryosections during early lactation for Cx26, Cx30 and Cx32 (red) and cytokeratin14 (green) revealed no change in Cx26 and Cx30 gap junctions in knockout mice, while fewer Cx32 gap junctions were observed compared to control mice. Hoescht (blue) denotes nuclei. Scale bar = 50  $\mu$ m. (B) Values represent the mean number of connexin plaques (red) relative to the pixel area of the nuclei (blue), multiplied by a factor of 1x10<sup>2</sup>, per 0.3 mm<sup>2</sup> ± S.E.M. N=5.





Figure 5.8. *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* dams lactate and deliver milk to pups. (A) Evaluation of pup body weights from 1-20 day old pups revealed significant differences between *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice near weaning age (D21) compared to *Panx1<sup>+/+</sup>* mice (N=30-50 pups). \*\*\*p $\leq$ 0.001. (B) Litters from 10 *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* dams were evaluated for litter sizes revealing similar numbers compared to control mice. (C, D) Western blot and immunofluorescent analysis of lactating mammary glands revealed no significant difference in the milk protein  $\beta$ -casein (red) in knockout and control mice.  $\beta$ -casein normalized to  $\beta$ -tubulin. N=6. Hoescht (blue) denotes nuclei. Values are means ± S.E.M. Scale bars = 50 µm.



Figure 5.8

Figure 5.9. **Involuting** *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> **mouse mammary glands have normal gland regression.** (A) Evaluation of body weight, mammary gland weight and normalized mammary gland weight revealed no significant difference between in *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to control mice. (B, C) Whole Mount and histological evaluation with haematoxylin and eosin revealed similar regression of glands in *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice and *Panx1*<sup>+/+</sup> mice. (D) Immunofluorescent analysis of the apoptotic marker cleaved caspase-3 revealed qualitatively similar amounts of apoptosis in *Panx1 null* mice and wild-type mice. (E) Quantification of the average epithelial area (pixel<sup>2</sup>) and lumen number as assessed with pan-cytokeratin (green) per 0.3 mm<sup>2</sup> were similar in *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with control mice. (F) Quantification of the average number and diameter of adipocytes as assessed with perilipin (green) per 0.3 mm<sup>2</sup> revealed similar numbers in the mammary gland of *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with control mice. Hoescht (blue) denotes nuclei. Values are means ± S.E.M. N=5. Scale bars = 50 µm.





death between *Panx1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice and control mice (Figure 5.9D). Quantitative assessment of the number of lumen and relative epithelial area following labelling with pan-cytokeratin antibody also revealed a similar extent of epithelium in Panx1 knockout and wild-type involuting mammary glands suggesting comparable gland remodeling (Figure 5.9E). Similarly, evaluation of the number of adipocytes and the average diameter of adipocytes revealed no significant difference in the mammary glands of Panx1 knockout and control mice suggesting similar adipocyte repopulation of gland during involution (Figure 5.9F). Taken together, mammary glands of Panx1 null mice have comparable mammary gland involution to Panx1 wild-type mice.

#### 5.3.7 Panx1 expression is correlated with poor overall survival in breast cancer

As Panx1 appeared to be a regulator of cell growth during early lactation, PANX1 was evaluated in the context of breast cancer by comparing human tumor samples with high or low mRNA expression of PANX1 with clinical outcomes. Interestingly, high expression of PANX1 in patient tumors was significantly correlated with worse OS, DMFS and RFS compared with those that had low PANX1 expression (Figure 5.10A- C). Importantly, when comparing high PANX1 expression to OS in lymph node positive patients with advanced disease, high Panx1 mRNA expression maintained a similar significant negative correlation with OS (Figure 5.10A-C). In addition, high PANX1 expression was compared with OS in the context of the Luminal A, Luminal B, Basal and Her2+ molecular subtypes. High PANX1 expression was not significantly associated with OS in the luminal A subgroup (Figure 5.10E). However, high PANX1 was significantly correlated with worse OS in luminal B and HER2+ samples compared to low PANX1 expressing tumours (Figure 5.10F,H). Interestingly, high PANX1 was associated with significantly better OS in tumors of the basal subtype suggesting potentially differential roles of PANX1 that are dependent on the molecular subtype (Figure 5.10G). Ultimately, PANX1 appears to be associated with worse clinical outcome, although this may be dependent on the molecular subtype of the tumor.

Figure 5.10. **High PANX1 mRNA expression is correlated with poor overall survival, particularly in the Luminal B and Her2+ subtypes, as revealed by** *in silico* **analysis.** Breast cancer patient samples expressing high PANX1 mRNA expression were significantly correlated with worse overall survival (A), distant metastasis free survival (B), relapse free survival (C) and relapse free survival of lymph node positive patients (D) compared with low PANX1 expression patients. (E) Tumors of the luminal A subtype had a similar correlation to overall survival in high and low PANX1 expressing samples. High PANX1 expression in luminal B (F) and Her2+ (H) tumors was associated with significantly reduced overall survival compared to low PANX1 expression, unlike tumors of the basal subtype which was associated with improved overall survival. A p-value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

#### Figure 5.100



#### 5.4 Discussion

The purpose of this study was threefold; first, to assess whether Panx1 was expressed and dynamically regulated in the mammary gland; second, to determine whether loss of Panx1 altered the development of pubertal and lactating mice while establishing if Panx1 affected normal mammary gland function; and finally, to assess whether Panx1 in the mammary gland may have implications extending to patients with breast cancer.

#### 5.4.1 Panx1 is expressed in the lactating mammary gland

Panx1 has an ubiquitous expression profile and has been reported in the mouse mammary gland based on expression profiling arrays in NCBI's gene expression Omnibus database (ID 1416379, 78225667 [17]). In the murine mammary gland, Panx1 is expressed and upregulated during pregnancy where it remains elevated during lactation. Developmental regulation of Panx1 is associated with higher expression at earlier stages of development in many organs including the neonatal rat brain and murine newborn skin compared to aged counterparts [14,16,24]. Importantly, primary human muscle myoblasts induced to differentiate in culture upregulate the expression of Panx1 while ectopic expression of Panx1 in these cells induces differentiation *in vitro* [15]. Collectively, these results suggest a critical role for Panx1 in cell differentiation [15]. Unlike other organs, the mammary gland develops only a rudimentary ductal structure in prenatal mice and requires the onset of pregnancy to induce terminal differentiation of the gland [1]. Therefore, expression of Panx 1 during pregnancy and lactation builds on the idea that Panx 1 is upregulated in organs undergoing development and differentiation. As such, it might be expected that Panx1 is expressed in the embryonic mammary gland. While we cannot rule this out, loss of Panx1 does not significantly impair the ability of the gland to develop a rudimentary ductal structure and undergo normal ductal development during puberty in the virgin mammary gland. As a result, Panx1 may be more important in the pregnant than the embryonic mammary gland. This is similar to the gap junction, large-pore channel protein, Cx26, which has a critical role after the onset of pregnancy while being less important at earlier stages of mammary gland development [41]. Our results suggest that Panx1 is expressed

in luminal epithelial cells although many other cell types that can be found within the stromal compartment of the mammary gland have been reported to express Panx1 including fibroblasts [24], adipocytes [42], immune cells [43], erythrocytes [20], and cells of the vasculature [44]. While our staining was much more evident in the epithelium than in the stromal compartment of the gland, we have not ruled out that Panx1 upregulation may also occur in these other cell type residents of the mammary gland. Importantly, the Panx1<sup>-/-</sup> mice used in this study are null for Panx1 in all cell-types of the mammary gland.

## 5.4.2 Panx1 is necessary for timely alveolar development and differentiation in the lactating mammary gland

Terminal development of the mammary gland is driven by hormonal signaling that regulates proliferation and differentiation in the mammary gland. *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice had reduced alveolar development in early lactating mice due to impaired proliferation of the mammary gland that was not apparent at parturition. Day 2 and 3 of lactation represents a major proliferative time point of epithelial expansion in the mammary gland as indicated by increased DNA synthesis measured through recordings of [H<sup>3</sup>] thymidine incorporation [45,46]. Importantly, hormonal regulation driving epithelial cell proliferation during early lactation is believed to be due to pituitary prolactin and ovarian estrogen secretion [45]. Prolactin and estrogen have previously been shown to be absolutely essential to normal lobuloalveolar proliferation and differentiation as evidence by impaired lobuloalveolar defect in knockout mouse models of their respective receptors [40,47,48]. Interestingly, when mammary tissue from prolactin receptor knockout (*PrlR*<sup>-/-</sup>) mice is transplanted into wild-type cleared fat pads, due to issues of infertility, mammary gland proliferation and differentiation are impaired [48]. Of note, this coincides with complete loss of expression of the gap junction protein, Cx32 [48].

Similarly, estrogen receptor beta knockout  $(ER\beta^{-/-})$  mice also develop with impaired alveolar development and altered differentiation and have been further assessed to have reduced numbers of Cx32 gap junction plaques [40]. Therefore, it is interesting to speculate that Panx1 may impair either prolactin or estrogen mediated signaling as  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice also present with mammary glands with fewer Cx32 gap junction plaques. It seems more likely that Panx1 is implicated in the ER $\beta$  pathway, as  $ER\beta^{-/-}$  mice have reduced alveolar lumen

number and present with dilated alveolar lumen similar to  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice [40]. In addition, unlike  $PrlR^{-/-}$  mammary glands, loss of Panx1 or  $ER\beta^{-/-}$  mice is not associated with impaired milk production [48]. In fact, mammary function is relatively normal in  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice, as pup weights of lactating dams were relatively unaffected similar to what has been seen in  $ER\beta^{-/-}$  mice. This suggests that impaired alveolar proliferation during early lactation in  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice likely represents only a delay in the onset of proliferation during early lactation. However, differences do exist between the  $ER\beta^{-/-}$  and  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice as mammary glands of  $ER\beta^{-/-}$  mice were associated with dysregulated epithelial markers E-cadherin and  $\beta$ -catenin which was not observed in *Panx1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice. This suggests suggests Panx1 is downstream of ER $\beta$  signaling, as *ER\beta^{-/-}* mice have a more severe phenotype. Taken together, we propose that Panx1 ablation may impair ERβ rather than PrIR signaling. Alternatively, since Panx1 has been reported to be expressed in the pituitary gland and the ovary, we cannot fully rule-out that loss of Panx1 in these organs may be mediating alveolar defects in the mammary gland [13,49,50]. However, this seems unlikely as  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice have a relatively normal phenotype, which might be expected to be more severe if hormonal signaling was dramatically impaired.

While the mechanism of how Panx1 acts in the mammary gland is unknown, most studies assessing the role of Panx1 have found that Panx1 channel function involves ATP release that acts through purinergic receptors [51]. Interestingly, ATP release has been demonstrated to be important in Ca<sup>2+</sup> wave propagation in coordination with P2Y and P2X receptors [52]. Intriguingly, mechanical stimulation of mammary tumor cell leads to the release of nucleotides through an unknown mechanism that induces Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling [53]. It remains interesting to speculate that Panx1 plays a role in this process. Importantly, Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling is extremely important in the lactating mammary gland and contributes to proliferation, secretion, and myoepithelial contraction [54]. However, this remains to be verified by future studies.

#### 5.4.3 Loss of Panx1 does not impair involution

Recently, Panx1 was implicated as a critical channel during cell apoptosis, in which activation of caspases led to truncation of the C-terminal tail of Panx1 and the release of nucleotides that act as "find-me" signals for phagocytic cell-mediated clearance [19]. We

predicted that loss of Panx1 would impede normal mammary gland involution in which extensive apoptosis occurs requiring epithelial cell clearance from the mammary gland. However, loss of Panx1 did not affect mammary gland involution based on our assessment of epithelial cell area or adipocyte repopulation of the gland 72 hours following force weaning of the pups. Interestingly, Monk et al. has shown that apoptotic clearance in the mammary gland is mediated almost exclusively by alveolar epithelial cells, as opposed to macrophages [55,56]. This suggests that Panx1 is not the channel linked to cell clearance by which "find me" signals are released by apoptotic mammary epithelial cells, or that the loss of Panx1 channels is compensated by other nucleotide-releasing channels, or there is another mechanism involved [57]. Collectively, Panx1 appears dispensable for normal murine mammary gland involution at least in the first three days following forced weaning.

#### 5.4.4 Panx1 in breast cancer

High Panx1 expression was correlated with worse OS, RFS and DMFS in breast tumors from patients suggesting that Panx1 may act as a tumor facilitator in breast cancer. This is supported by Furlow et al. who demonstrated that Panx1 channel activity was critical in promoting breast cancer lung metastasis by increasing metastatic cell survival during extravasation [29]. Interestingly, the effect of Panx1 was similar in breast cancer cells of the basal (MDA-MB-468) and claudin-low molecular subtype (MDA-MB-231, BT-549), suggesting that this novel role for Panx1 may be seen in multiple breast cancer subtypes [29,58,59]. While we did not compare the correlation between Panx1 expression and clinical outcomes in the claudin-low subtype, we found that high Panx1 expression was correlated with better overall survival in the basal subtype group in contrast to those in MDA-MB-468 cells seen by Furlow et al [29]. Though these results do not make for the best comparison, these differential findings in the basal subgroup may speak to a dual role for Panx1 in tumorigenesis. Indeed, despite relatively few studies assessing the role of Panx1 in cancer, Panx1 has already been implicated as both a tumor suppressor and tumor facilitator in different types of cancer [30-32]. This suggests that the role of Panx1 in tumorigenesis may be complex and dependent on tumor type and stage of the disease. Alternatively, these results may also be influenced by the different chemotherapeutic treatments used by breast cancer patients of different histological subtypes. It remains to

be determined how Panx1 mRNA expression is correlated with clinical outcomes in distinct populations of breast cancer patients being treated with different chemotherapeutics. Nevertheless, the results to date suggest a tumor facilitating role of Panx1 in breast cancer. It remains interesting to speculate that Panx1's role in regulating cell proliferation in normal development may translate into dysregulated growth in the context of the primary tumor. Regardless, there is a need for further studies on the role of Panx1 in breast cancer.

In summary, through the use of a global *Panx1 knockout* mouse, it is clear that Panx1 is not critical for the normal function of the gland but is necessary for timely alveolar development and proliferation following the transition of the mammary gland from pregnancy into early lactation. Importantly, Panx1 expression within the mammary gland may have important implications to patients with breast cancer where increased expression of Panx1 is generally correlated with a worse clinical outcome.

### 5.5 References

1 Hennighausen, L. and Robinson, G. W. (2005) Information networks in the mammary gland. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 6, 715-725. doi:10.1038/nrm1714

2 Macias, H. and Hinck, L. (2012) Mammary gland development. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Dev. Biol. **1**, 533-557. doi:10.1002/wdev.35

3 Howlin, J., McBryan, J. and Martin, F. (2006) Pubertal mammary gland development: Insights from mouse models. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **11**, 283-297. doi:10.1007/s10911-006-9024-2

4 Watson, C. J. and Kreuzaler, P. A. (2011) Remodeling mechanisms of the mammary gland during involution. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 55, 757-762. doi:10.1387/ijdb.113414cw

5 McLachlan, E., Shao, Q. and Laird, D. W. (2007) Connexins and gap junctions in mammary gland development and breast cancer progression. J. Membr. Biol. **218**, 107-121. doi:10.1007/s00232-007-9052-x

6 Stewart, M. K., Simek, J. and Laird, D. W. (2015) Insights into the role of connexins in mammary gland morphogenesis and function. Reproduction. **149**, R279-90. doi:10.1530/REP-14-0661; 10.1530/REP-14-0661

Sosinsky, G. E., Boassa, D., Dermietzel, R., Duffy, H. S., Laird, D. W., MacVicar,
B., Naus, C. C., Penuela, S., Scemes, E., Spray, D. C., Thompson, R. J., Zhao, H. B. and
Dahl, G. (2011) Pannexin channels are not gap junction hemichannels. Channels (Austin).
5, 193-197

8 Boassa, D., Ambrosi, C., Qiu, F., Dahl, G., Gaietta, G. and Sosinsky, G. (2007) Pannexin1 channels contain a glycosylation site that targets the hexamer to the plasma membrane. J. Biol. Chem. **282**, 31733-31743. doi:10.1074/jbc.M702422200

Penuela, S., Bhalla, R., Gong, X. Q., Cowan, K. N., Celetti, S. J., Cowan, B. J., Bai,D., Shao, Q. and Laird, D. W. (2007) Pannexin 1 and pannexin 3 are glycoproteins that

exhibit many distinct characteristics from the connexin family of gap junction proteins. J. Cell. Sci. **120**, 3772-3783. doi:10.1242/jcs.009514

Bruzzone, R., Hormuzdi, S. G., Barbe, M. T., Herb, A. and Monyer, H. (2003)
Pannexins, a family of gap junction proteins expressed in brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.
S. A. 100, 13644-13649. doi:10.1073/pnas.2233464100

11 Barbe, M. T., Monyer, H. and Bruzzone, R. (2006) Cell-cell communication beyond connexins: The pannexin channels. Physiology (Bethesda). **21**, 103-114. doi:10.1152/physiol.00048.2005

Panchin, Y., Kelmanson, I., Matz, M., Lukyanov, K., Usman, N. and Lukyanov, S.
(2000) A ubiquitous family of putative gap junction molecules. Curr. Biol. 10, R473-4

Baranova, A., Ivanov, D., Petrash, N., Pestova, A., Skoblov, M., Kelmanson, I., Shagin, D., Nazarenko, S., Geraymovych, E., Litvin, O., Tiunova, A., Born, T. L., Usman, N., Staroverov, D., Lukyanov, S. and Panchin, Y. (2004) The mammalian pannexin family is homologous to the invertebrate innexin gap junction proteins. Genomics. **83**, 706-716. doi:10.1016/j.ygeno.2003.09.025

14 Vogt, A., Hormuzdi, S. G. and Monyer, H. (2005) Pannexin1 and Pannexin2 expression in the developing and mature rat brain. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. **141**, 113-120. doi:10.1016/j.molbrainres.2005.08.002

Langlois, S., Xiang, X., Young, K., Cowan, B. J., Penuela, S. and Cowan, K. N. (2014) Pannexin 1 and pannexin 3 channels regulate skeletal muscle myoblast proliferation and differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. **289**, 30717-30731. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.572131; 10.1074/jbc.M114.572131

16 Celetti, S. J., Cowan, K. N., Penuela, S., Shao, Q., Churko, J. and Laird, D. W. (2010) Implications of pannexin 1 and pannexin 3 for keratinocyte differentiation. J. Cell. Sci. **123**, 1363-1372. doi:10.1242/jcs.056093

17 Barrett, T., Wilhite, S. E., Ledoux, P., Evangelista, C., Kim, I. F., Tomashevsky, M., Marshall, K. A., Phillippy, K. H., Sherman, P. M., Holko, M., Yefanov, A., Lee, H.,

Zhang, N., Robertson, C. L., Serova, N., Davis, S. and Soboleva, A. (2013) NCBI GEO: Archive for functional genomics data sets--update. Nucleic Acids Res. **41**, D991-5. doi:10.1093/nar/gks1193; 10.1093/nar/gks1193

18 Bao, L., Locovei, S. and Dahl, G. (2004) Pannexin membrane channels are mechanosensitive conduits for ATP. FEBS Lett. **572**, 65-68. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2004.07.009

19 Chekeni, F. B., Elliott, M. R., Sandilos, J. K., Walk, S. F., Kinchen, J. M., Lazarowski, E. R., Armstrong, A. J., Penuela, S., Laird, D. W., Salvesen, G. S., Isakson, B. E., Bayliss, D. A. and Ravichandran, K. S. (2010) Pannexin 1 channels mediate 'findme' signal release and membrane permeability during apoptosis. Nature. **467**, 863-867. doi:10.1038/nature09413

Locovei, S., Wang, J. and Dahl, G. (2006) Activation of pannexin 1 channels by ATP through P2Y receptors and by cytoplasmic calcium. FEBS Lett. **580**, 239-244. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2005.12.004

Schedin, P. and Keely, P. J. (2011) Mammary gland ECM remodeling, stiffness, and mechanosignaling in normal development and tumor progression. Cold Spring Harb Perspect. Biol. 3, a003228. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a003228; 10.1101/cshperspect.a003228

Lee, W. J., Monteith, G. R. and Roberts-Thomson, S. J. (2006) Calcium transport and signaling in the mammary gland: Targets for breast cancer. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. **1765**, 235-255. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2005.12.001

Blaug, S., Rymer, J., Jalickee, S. and Miller, S. S. (2003) P2 purinoceptors regulate calcium-activated chloride and fluid transport in 31EG4 mammary epithelia. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 284, C897-909. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00238.2002

Penuela, S., Kelly, J. J., Churko, J. M., Barr, K. J., Berger, A. C. and Laird, D. W.(2014) Panx1 regulates cellular properties of keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts in skin

development and wound healing. J. Invest. Dermatol. **134**, 2026-2035. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.86; 10.1038/jid.2014.86

Wicki-Stordeur, L. E., Dzugalo, A. D., Swansburg, R. M., Suits, J. M. and Swayne,
L. A. (2012) Pannexin 1 regulates postnatal neural stem and progenitor cell proliferation.
Neural Dev. 7, 11-8104-7-11. doi:10.1186/1749-8104-7-11; 10.1186/1749-8104-7-11

26 O'Brien, J., Martinson, H., Durand-Rougely, C. and Schedin, P. (2012) Macrophages are crucial for epithelial cell death and adipocyte repopulation during mammary gland involution. Development. **139**, 269-275. doi:10.1242/dev.071696

Penuela, S., Harland, L., Simek, J. and Laird, D. W. (2014) Pannexin channels and their links to human disease. Biochem. J. 461, 371-381. doi:10.1042/BJ20140447;
10.1042/BJ20140447

28 Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D. and Jemal, A. (2015) Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer. J. Clin. **65**, 5-29. doi:10.3322/caac.21254; 10.3322/caac.21254

Furlow, P. W., Zhang, S., Soong, T. D., Halberg, N., Goodarzi, H., Mangrum, C., Wu, Y. G., Elemento, O. and Tavazoie, S. F. (2015) Mechanosensitive pannexin-1 channels mediate microvascular metastatic cell survival. Nat. Cell Biol. **17**, 943-952. doi:10.1038/ncb3194; 10.1038/ncb3194

30 Penuela, S., Gyenis, L., Ablack, A., Churko, J. M., Berger, A. C., Litchfield, D. W., Lewis, J. D. and Laird, D. W. (2012) Loss of pannexin 1 attenuates melanoma progression by reversion to a melanocytic phenotype. J. Biol. Chem. **287**, 29184-29193. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.377176; 10.1074/jbc.M112.377176

Lai, C. P., Bechberger, J. F., Thompson, R. J., MacVicar, B. A., Bruzzone, R. and Naus, C. C. (2007) Tumor-suppressive effects of pannexin 1 in C6 glioma cells. Cancer Res. **67**, 1545-1554. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1396

32 Cowan, K. N., Langlois, S., Penuela, S., Cowan, B. J. and Laird, D. W. (2012) Pannexin1 and Pannexin3 exhibit distinct localization patterns in human skin appendages and are regulated during keratinocyte differentiation and carcinogenesis. Cell. Commun. Adhes. **19**, 45-53. doi:10.3109/15419061.2012.712575; 10.3109/15419061.2012.712575

Qu, Y., Misaghi, S., Newton, K., Gilmour, L. L., Louie, S., Cupp, J. E., Dubyak, G. R., Hackos, D. and Dixit, V. M. (2011) Pannexin-1 is required for ATP release during apoptosis but not for inflammasome activation. J. Immunol. **186**, 6553-6561. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100478

Plante, I., Stewart, M. K. and Laird, D. W. (2011) Evaluation of mammary gland development and function in mouse models. J. Vis. Exp. (53). pii: 2828. doi, 10.3791/2828. doi:10.3791/2828; 10.3791/2828

35 Plante, I. and Laird, D. W. (2008) Decreased levels of connexin43 result in impaired development of the mammary gland in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Dev. Biol. **318**, 312-322. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.03.033

36 Stewart, M. K., Gong, X. Q., Barr, K. J., Bai, D., Fishman, G. I. and Laird, D. W. (2013) The severity of mammary gland developmental defects is linked to the overall functional status of Cx43 as revealed by genetically modified mice. Biochem. J. **449**, 401-413. doi:10.1042/BJ20121070; 10.1042/BJ20121070

Gyorffy, B., Lanczky, A., Eklund, A. C., Denkert, C., Budczies, J., Li, Q. and Szallasi, Z. (2010) An online survival analysis tool to rapidly assess the effect of 22,277 genes on breast cancer prognosis using microarray data of 1,809 patients. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. **123**, 725-731. doi:10.1007/s10549-009-0674-9; 10.1007/s10549-009-0674-9

Teleki, I., Szasz, A. M., Maros, M. E., Gyorffy, B., Kulka, J., Meggyeshazi, N., Kiszner, G., Balla, P., Samu, A. and Krenacs, T. (2014) Correlations of differentially expressed gap junction connexins cx26, cx30, cx32, cx43 and cx46 with breast cancer progression and prognosis. PLoS One. **9**, e112541. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0112541; 10.1371/journal.pone.0112541

39 Gyorffy, B., Surowiak, P., Budczies, J. and Lanczky, A. (2013) Online survival analysis software to assess the prognostic value of biomarkers using transcriptomic data in

non-small-cell lung cancer. PLoS One. **8**, e82241. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0082241; 10.1371/journal.pone.0082241

40 Forster, C., Makela, S., Warri, A., Kietz, S., Becker, D., Hultenby, K., Warner, M. and Gustafsson, J. A. (2002) Involvement of estrogen receptor beta in terminal differentiation of mammary gland epithelium. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **99**, 15578-15583. doi:10.1073/pnas.192561299

41 Bry, C., Maass, K., Miyoshi, K., Willecke, K., Ott, T., Robinson, G. W. and Hennighausen, L. (2004) Loss of connexin 26 in mammary epithelium during early but not during late pregnancy results in unscheduled apoptosis and impaired development. Dev. Biol. **267**, 418-429. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2003.11.022

42 Liong, S. and Lappas, M. (2015) Endoplasmic reticulum stress is increased in adipose tissue of women with gestational diabetes. PLoS One. **10**, e0122633. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122633; 10.1371/journal.pone.0122633

43 Pelegrin, P. and Surprenant, A. (2006) Pannexin-1 mediates large pore formation and interleukin-1beta release by the ATP-gated P2X7 receptor. EMBO J. **25**, 5071-5082. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601378

Lohman, A. W., Billaud, M., Straub, A. C., Johnstone, S. R., Best, A. K., Lee, M., Barr, K., Penuela, S., Laird, D. W. and Isakson, B. E. (2012) Expression of pannexin isoforms in the systemic murine arterial network. J. Vasc. Res. **49**, 405-416. doi:10.1159/000338758; 10.1159/000338758

45 Zwierzchowski, L., Kleczkowska, D., Niedbalski, W. and Grochowska, I. (1984) Variation of DNA polymerase activities and DNA synthesis in mouse mammary gland during pregnancy and early lactation. Differentiation. **28**, 179-185

46 Traurig, H. H. (1967) A radioautographic study of cell proliferation in the mammary gland of the pregnant mouse. Anat. Rec. **159**, 239-247. doi:10.1002/ar.1091590213

47 Gallego, M. I., Binart, N., Robinson, G. W., Okagaki, R., Coschigano, K. T., Perry, J., Kopchick, J. J., Oka, T., Kelly, P. A. and Hennighausen, L. (2001) Prolactin, growth hormone, and epidermal growth factor activate Stat5 in different compartments of mammary tissue and exert different and overlapping developmental effects. Dev. Biol. **229**, 163-175. doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9961

48 Miyoshi, K., Shillingford, J. M., Smith, G. H., Grimm, S. L., Wagner, K. U., Oka, T., Rosen, J. M., Robinson, G. W. and Hennighausen, L. (2001) Signal transducer and activator of transcription (stat) 5 controls the proliferation and differentiation of mammary alveolar epithelium. J. Cell Biol. **155**, 531-542. doi:10.1083/jcb.200107065

Li, S., Tomic, M. and Stojilkovic, S. S. (2011) Characterization of novel pannexin
1 isoforms from rat pituitary cells and their association with ATP-gated P2X channels.
Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **174**, 202-210. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.08.019;
10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.08.019

50 Tong, D., Li, T. Y., Naus, K. E., Bai, D. and Kidder, G. M. (2007) In vivo analysis of undocked connexin43 gap junction hemichannels in ovarian granulosa cells. J. Cell. Sci. **120**, 4016-4024. doi:10.1242/jcs.011775

51 Penuela, S., Gehi, R. and Laird, D. W. (2012) The biochemistry and function of pannexin channels. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. . doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.01.017

52 Locovei, S., Bao, L. and Dahl, G. (2006) Pannexin 1 in erythrocytes: Function without a gap. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **103**, 7655-7659. doi:10.1073/pnas.0601037103

53 Enomoto, K., Furuya, K., Yamagishi, S., Oka, T. and Maeno, T. (1994) The increase in the intracellular Ca2+ concentration induced by mechanical stimulation is propagated via release of pyrophosphorylated nucleotides in mammary epithelial cells. Pflugers Arch. **427**, 533-542

Lee, W. J., Monteith, G. R. and Roberts-Thomson, S. J. (2006) Calcium transport and signaling in the mammary gland: Targets for breast cancer. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. **1765**, 235-255. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2005.12.001

55 Monks, J., Rosner, D., Geske, F. J., Lehman, L., Hanson, L., Neville, M. C. and Fadok, V. A. (2005) Epithelial cells as phagocytes: Apoptotic epithelial cells are engulfed by mammary alveolar epithelial cells and repress inflammatory mediator release. Cell Death Differ. **12**, 107-114. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401517

56 Monks, J., Smith-Steinhart, C., Kruk, E. R., Fadok, V. A. and Henson, P. M. (2008) Epithelial cells remove apoptotic epithelial cells during post-lactation involution of the mouse mammary gland. Biol. Reprod. **78**, 586-594. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.107.065045

57 Fitz, J. G. (2007) Regulation of cellular ATP release. Trans. Am. Clin. Climatol. Assoc. **118**, 199-208

Lehmann, B. D., Bauer, J. A., Chen, X., Sanders, M. E., Chakravarthy, A. B., Shyr,
Y. and Pietenpol, J. A. (2011) Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 2750-2767. doi:10.1172/JCI45014; 10.1172/JCI45014

59 Prat, A., Parker, J. S., Karginova, O., Fan, C., Livasy, C., Herschkowitz, J. I., He, X. and Perou, C. M. (2010) Phenotypic and molecular characterization of the claudin-low intrinsic subtype of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. **12**, R68. doi:10.1186/bcr2635; 10.1186/bcr2635

## Chapter 6

### 6 Overall Discussion

Genetically-modified mice have provided the tools to more rigorously assess previous predictions based on immunohistochemical and in vitro studies. This thesis used three genetically-modified mouse models to evaluate the role of Cx43, Cx26 and Panx1 in mammary gland development and to determine if these proteins act as tumor suppressor or tumor facilitators in breast cancer onset and metastasis in vivo. In Chapter 2 and Appendix 1, we demonstrated that milk ejection defects are linked to the functional status of Cx43and, that low levels of Cx43 in the mammary gland of mice delayed palpable tumor onset and increased the frequency of metastases to the lungs, respectively. In Chapter 3, we identified that low levels of Cx26 expression in the mammary glands throughout pregnancy and lactation, and not the physiological surge in Cx26, is sufficient for normal gland development and function. In addition, despite little effect on normal gland development, Chapter 4 revealed that conditional knockout of Cx26 increased the susceptibility of mammary tumor onset in a chemically-induced mouse model of breast cancer. Finally, Chapter 5 identified a role for Panx1 in alveolar development following the transition from pregnancy to lactation, which may have implications extending to patients with breast cancer. The purpose of this section is to discuss how these studies may redefine our view of connexins and pannexins in the context of the mammary gland, focusing specifically on the broader implications and translatability of this work.

### 6.1 Implications of connexins to breast feeding

The ability for mothers to adequately breast feed is underappreciated as many nutritional aspects of breast feeding may be substituted by formula. However, substantial evidence suggests that breast milk provides protection against bacterial infections, reducing the risk of developing obesity and ischemic heart disease, and promoting proper neural development [1,2]. Importantly, the mother also receives benefits from breast feeding by reducing the risk of developing breast and ovarian cancer [1]. As a result, it may be important for clinicians to understand the genetic factors, such as connexin proteins, that impair breast function in order to educate affected individuals to the risks associated with

Table 6.1. Summary of key findings from thesis

	Breast Development	Breast Cancer
Cx43	Normal, if Cx43 function is maintained above 50%	Loss of functional Cx43 increased metastasis to the lungs
Cx26	Low levels are sufficient for Gland Development	Cx26 knockdown increased susceptibility to primary mammary tumors
Panx1	Panx1 is necessary for timely alveolar development in the lactating mammary gland	High PANX1 mRNA expression in breast cancer is correlated with worse overall survival but this may be dependent on molecular subtype

not being able to breast feed. Importantly, our studies highlight that understanding the functional status of connexins may be critical in determining which patients may be affected.

Previous studies have highlighted the essential role of Cx43 and Cx26 in maintaining normal milk ejection and alveogenesis, respectively [3-5]. Surprisingly, both our evaluation of  $Cx43^{1/30T/+}$  and  $BLG;Cx26^{fl/fl}$  mice revealed no impairment in mammary gland function with little evidence of impaired mammary gland development (Chapter 2 and Chapter 3, [6,7]). Ultimately, our results suggest that mammary connexins are made in excess and that even a 50% reduction in connexin function can be tolerated. This is supported by the relatively normal  $Gja1^{+/-}$  and  $Gjb2^{+/-}$  mice, in which one allele for Cx43 or Cx26 has been removed [8,9]. Interestingly, what may seem as excess levels of connexins is not restricted to the mammary gland as severely reduced Cx43 gap junctions in cardiac myocytes, or Cx36 gap junctions in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, is relatively well tolerated within the heart and pancreas, respectively [10-12]. These observations highlight the fact that many organs can tolerate a reduction in connexin levels and GJIC, at least in some unstressed and unchallenged circumstances, while the complete ablation of connexins can be catastrophic to the organ.

In humans, one might expect that impaired Cx43 and Cx26 function in the breast would lead to impaired breast feeding based on early studies using genetically-modified mice [4,5]. This is of particular interest in the context of Cx43 and Cx26-linked diseases such as ODDD or congenital syndromic and non-syndromic hearing loss, respectively [13,14]. No breast feeding defects have been reported in patients with hereditary hearing loss due to *GJB2* mutations despite a high worldwide prevalence of these mutations [15,16]. In contrast, the rarity of ODDD makes it difficult to assess if affected mothers have altered breast function [17]. However, the lack of reported breast defects despite multiple incidences of ODDD-inflicted mothers reported in clinical studies suggests the likelihood of normal lactation [18,19]. Two possibilities may help explain the discrepancies between mutant mice and humans. First, our mutant mouse models may not fully mimic the human population. This is supported given that the Cx43 G60S mutant is not reported in the human population and differs in some phenotypic traits compared to patients with ODDD, such as being significantly smaller in size than control mice [5,20]. However, the Cx43 G60S mutant shares impaired channel function similar to the P59H mutant, found one residue removed from the G60S residue [21]. Therefore, it is more likely that our two mutant mouse lines represent distinct subgroups of ODDD patients based on mutant channel properties. With regards to Cx26, although our BLG Cx26 knockout model shares a similar reported phenotype to the human population [7], many human Cx26 mutants develop gainof-function hemichannel activities [22]. This suggests that our knockout approach will not mimic all patients with *GJB2* related deafness. Consequently, it is likely that our BLG Cx26 knockout mouse model may best reflect a distinct subgroup of patients with Cx26linked diseases expressing mutants that decrease Cx26 gap junction and hemichannel function.

#### 6.2 Mechanism of connexins in the mammary gland

For Cx43, our results point to a GJIC-dependent mechanism in regulating normal mammary gland development and function as primary myoepithelial, and primary granulosa cells, isolated from  $Cx43^{1130T/+}$  mice had significantly greater Lucifer yellow dye transfer compared those isolated from  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice [6]. While these experiments do not rule out GJIC-independent mechanisms, several lines of evidence argue against a role for dysregulated hemichannels and protein-protein interactions in this context. This is supported by Lai et al. who found that the Cx43 Y17S, G21R, A40V, F52FF and I130T mutants when ectopically expressed in C6 glioma cell all had similar impaired hemichannel function while differing greatly in their gap junction coupling capacity [23]. Although the effect of the G60S mutant on hemichannel function is unknown, the Y17S, G21R, A40V mutants share a similar dominant-negative action when expressed with wild-type Cx43 and functionally dead channel properties with expressed alone similar to the G60S mutant [23,24]. As a result, alteration in hemichannel function is unlikely. Interestingly, a small number of ODDD-linked mutants have been described as having increased hemichannel function *in vitro*, including the G138R mutant for which a *Cx43<sup>FloxG138R/+</sup>* mouse model of ODDD exists whose expression can be driven in a cell and tissue specific manner [25,26].

Therefore, the  $Cx43^{FloxG138R/+}$  mouse may provide a potential model to better evaluate the role, if any, of Cx43 hemichannels in the context of the mammary gland [26]. In addition, differential effects of ODDD-linked mutants on the Cx43 proteome is an unlikely cause for the distinct mammary gland phenotypes observed in  $Cx43^{II30T/+}$  and  $Cx43^{G60S/+}$  mice. Transgenic expression of Cx26 in myoepithelial cells *in vivo* led to a trans-dominant negative effect on Cx43, revealing that loss of Cx43 had no effect on the expression of myoepithelial differentiation markers or intracellular signaling to myosin light chain [27]. In addition, *GJA1* mutations linked to ODDD do not typically arise in the protein-protein interacting domains within the C-terminal of Cx43, suggesting that these mutants may be embryonic lethal, highlighting their importance [28]. Taken together, evidence to date points to a GJIC-dependent function for Cx43 in the mammary gland.

Future studies may focus on the role of Cx43 in myoepithelial cell contraction. Oxytocin signaling is mediated through the oxytocin receptor coupled to  $G_{\alpha q}11$  and phospholipase C activation triggering the release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from intracellular stores [29]. Ca<sup>2+</sup> and inositol triphosphate have previously been shown to pass through Cx43 gap junctions making it interesting to speculate that Cx43 functions via GJIC-dependent mechanisms to coordinate synchronous contraction via transfer of Ca<sup>2+</sup> [30]. Isolation of primary myoepithelial cells from *Cx43*<sup>G605/+</sup> or *Cx43*<sup>II30T/+</sup> mice and the direct Ca<sup>2+</sup> wave propagation comparison to littermate controls may yield further insight into the mechanism by which Cx43 functions in myoepithelial cells during lactation.

For Cx26, the use of conditionally ablated mice did not help us distinguish whether Cx26 functions through a GJIC-dependent or independent mechanism. However, as Cx26 possesses a very short C-terminal tail, it is likely that impaired alveogenesis associated with *MMTV-Cre;Cx26*<sup>*fl/fl*</sup> mice were the result of gap junction channel or hemichannel related mechanism and not related to the small Cx26 interactome [31-33]. Further comparative assessment of mice with mammary gland specific expression of the G45E or S17F Cx26 mutants, which differ in their gap junction channel and hemichannel function, may provide more clarity on the role of Cx26 hemichannels in mammary gland development and function [34,35].

Future studies should also focus on the potential role of Cx26 in secretory processes as Cx26 is commonly expressed in exocrine glands [36]. Therefore, expanding upon the role of Cx26 in the mammary gland and relating it to a GJIC-dependent or independent mechanism, quantitative evaluation of milk components following the milking of G45E or S17F mutant mice may be useful to reveal subtle changes in milk secretion that are not readily apparent using conditional knockout approaches [37]. Importantly, these studies must include an assessment of Cx32, due to its co-expression in many exocrine glands, to provide further insight into a potential role for connexins that may act in a compensatory manner [36].

#### 6.3 Potential issues of connexin compensation

Until recently, only Cx43 and Cx26 were reported in the human mammary gland [38]. As these connexins are expressed in unique cell types, the idea of compensation between luminal Cx30 and Cx32 in mice would not be expected to translate to humans. However, Teleki et al. recently described both Cx32 and Cx30 in human breast luminal epithelial cells, similar to that found in the mammary glands of rodents, and Cx30 appeared to co-localize with Cx26 [39]. Intriguingly, these authors also identified Cx46 between luminal, myoepithelial and inflammatory cells despite a lack of expression in the rodent mammary gland, suggesting possible species-specific differences between human and rodent mammary glands [39,40]. While these results need to be taken with caution as they were derived from a low sample number and a lack of co-labelling with cell-type specific markers, the Teleki et al. study argues that a more rigorous re-evaluation of connexin expression at all stages of human breast development is needed. Importantly, these findings also suggest that connexin expression in the human breast may parallel more closely to that found in the mammary glands of rodents than previously thought.

Ultimately, questions concerning compensation in connexin mutant mouse models are difficult to entirely rule out. Our study demonstrated that conditional silencing of Cx26 also delayed the up-regulation of Cx30 during pregnancy suggesting Cx30 may not be compensating for the loss of Cx26 during this stage of development [7]. However, the idea of one connexin compensating for another will not be fully resolved without the development of double or triple mammary gland-specific connexin knockout mice.

Perhaps most importantly, a cross-breeding strategy where *Gjb6* and *Gjb1*-knockout mice are crossed with Dox-inducible mice for conditional knockout of Cx26 would be extremely beneficial to the field to establish a clear role for luminal connexins in the mammary gland during pregnancy [41]. However, these knockout approaches are limited in elucidating mechanistic insight. Therefore, similar strategies using connexin mutant mice may provide additional insight into the GJIC-dependent and independent roles of mammary connexins *in vivo*.

#### 6.4 Connexins as tumor suppressors

A particularly powerful approach to validate candidate tumor suppressor genes *in vivo* involves the induction of cancer in genetically-modified mouse models in which the candidate gene has been mutated or lost. Through this approach, we provided the first *in vivo* support for a Cx26 and Cx43 tumor suppressive role in breast cancer using genetically-modified mice, bypassing the limitations of *in vitro* manipulation in previously evaluated xenograft models (Chapter 4 and Appendix 1, [42,43]). Interestingly, our results suggest that Cx26 has a tumor suppressive role in primary tumor onset, while Cx43 acts as a tumor suppressor during the later stages of the disease [44]. Therefore, Cx43 may best be described as a metastasis suppressor although these proteins are typically defined as having limited role in primary tumor onset or progression [45]. Cx43 does not totally fit this paradigm as the loss of functional Cx43 led to highly hyperplastic mammary glands suggesting a possible role in regulating growth in the primary tumor [44]. Ultimately, our evaluation of Cx26 and Cx43 using genetically-modified mice adds to a growing body of evidence that connexins are tumor suppressors [42,43,46,47].

In regards to Cx26, patients with *GJB2* mutations giving rise to keratitis-ichthyosisdeafness syndrome appear to be at an increased risk of developing squamous cell carcinomas, suggesting that Cx26 also plays a role as a tumor suppressor in the skin [48]. However, assessment of liver tumor incidence (as Cx26 is highly expressed in the liver) between chemically induced conditional Cx26 knockout mice and controls revealed no significant increase in overall tumor incidence [49]. Therefore, despite high expression of Cx26 in the mammary gland, skin and liver, the likelihood of increased susceptibility to neoplastic transformation appears to be organ-dependent and likely dependent on the

expression status of other connexins and/or the proteomic environment. In regards to Cx43, the use of genetically modified mice has only been previously used to evaluate the role of Cx43 in lung neoplasms.  $Gial^{+/-}$  mice had greater frequency and larger lung adenomas compared to wild-type mice treated with urethane or 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone, supporting a tumor suppressive role for Cx43 in cancer [50,51]). Other than Cx26 and Cx43, Cx32 has also been described as a tumor suppressor in hepatocellular carcinoma. Here, Gjb1<sup>-/-</sup> mice had increased susceptibility to chemically and radiation induced hepatocarcinogenesis [52,53]. These results were supported in mice expressing a liver specific dominant negative V139M mutant of Cx32, which impairs but does not fully ablate Cx32 function. Here again mutant mice had an increased susceptibility to chemically induced liver tumors but not spontaneous tumors [54]. A unifying theme of connexinrelated susceptibility to carcinogenesis is the requirement of an additional use of a tumor initiating agent [55]. Therefore, it remains intriguing to determine whether connexins act as tumor suppressors in the context of different tumor initiators by crossing geneticallymodified mice of connexins with mice that spontaneously develop mammary tumors including ErbB2 or the MMTV-PyVmt mouse models [56,57]. In this regard, we used DMBA, ErbB2, or a combination to drive the formation of mammary tumors, providing evidence that the role of Cx43 in suppressing metastasis to the lungs may be a common feature of multiple tumor types [44]. As a result, these approaches may provide insight into how the role of connexins differs in tumors driven by different oncogenic signaling pathways.

Other studies have begun to assess how Cx43 expression differs in the molecular subtypes of breast cancer relative to traditional histological subtyping [58]. To overcome issues associated with poor clinical predictability of histological subtypes of breast cancer, breast cancer is now being characterized into six distinct molecular subtypes known as Luminal A (ER+/PgR+/HER2-), Luminal B (ER+/PgR+/HER2+/Ki67+), HER2 (ER-/PgR-/HER2+), Basal (ER-PgR-Her2-), Normal Breast-like (Adipose and fibroblast gene signature) and Claudin low (ER-/PgR-/HER2-/Claudin<sup>low</sup>) [59-61]. These molecular subtypes may better predict clinical prognosis but it remains unknown how connexin expression relates to this new framework or whether connexins have similar tumor suppressor or facilitating functions in relation to each molecular classification. Park et al. revealed that invasive ductal carcinomas or pure ductal carcinomas *in situ* were more likely to be Cx43 positive in the luminal A subtype than those of the luminal B or Her2+ subtypes [58]. As luminal A tumors are correlated with the best predicted outcome, high Cx43 levels in these tumors fits with the tumor suppressor paradigm for Cx43 [60]. Unexpectedly, tumors histologically subtyped as invasive ductal carcinoma with evidence of ductal carcinoma *in situ* had high Cx43 levels in the basal subtype, known to have worse clinical prognosis, highlighting the complexity of understanding the role of connexins in breast cancer [58,60]. Taken together, our mouse models generally support a tumor suppressive role for Cx43 and Cx26 in breast cancer progression but further studies are needed to define the relationship between connexins and molecular subtypes. Ultimately, this may improve our understanding of the reported dual tumor suppressive and facilitating roles attributed to Cx43 and Cx26 in early and late stage disease.

#### 6.5 Panx1 in the breast: pathological implications

Recently, a human developmental disease has been linked to a recessive germline loss-offunction mutation in PANX1 in which the patient developed cognitive, hearing, skeletal and reproductive defects (Shao et al. 2015, submitted). While the ability to assess mammary gland function is hindered by primary ovarian failure of the patient, since pups from litters of Panx1<sup>-/-</sup> dams survive till weaning, we would predict that these patients would retain a relatively normal capacity to lactate (Shao et al. 2015, submitted). In mice lacking Panx1, we have observed relatively minor developmental and func tional, defects in the mammary gland which may be due to compensation. Panx3 remains the most likely compensatory candidate as it has been reported to be expressed in the mammary gland [62]. However, unpublished evidence from our laboratories assessing colonies of Panx3<sup>-/-</sup> mice and double Panx1-/-Panx3-/- mice suggests that this is not likely the case. Both Panx3-/mice and double  $Panx1^{-/-}Panx3^{-/-}$  mice have the capacity to reproduce and premature pup litter death is not readily apparent suggesting that Panx3 is not compensating for loss of Panx1 (unpublished personal observation). Importantly, a more detailed examination of these mice is necessary to confirm these observational findings as more subtle developmental defects may exist in these mice.
The documented defects in  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice suggests that Panx1 may regulate cell growth within the mammary gland consistent with a potential role in breast cancer. Indeed, Panx1 mRNA is detected in breast cancer cell lines [63]. Recently, Panx1 was shown to play a role in cell survival during metastatic progression by preventing mechanically-induced cell death following dissemination through the lung vasculature [64]. Our assessment of *in silico* databases is in line with this novel role for Panx1 in metastatic breast cancer as high Panx1 mRNA expression was correlated with worse predicted outcome. Taken together, this suggests that Panx1 may act as a tumor facilitator in breast cancer similar to the role of Panx1 in melanoma [64,65]. Future studies to assess the role of Panx1 in breast cancer using  $Panx1^{-/-}$  mice through a chemical or oncogene induced approach may be useful in further establishing the role of Panx1 in primary tumor onset and progression. In addition, future studies correlating Panx1 protein levels with clinical outcome are needed to further investigate the role of Panx1 as a biomarker. Our data suggests that Panx1 may represent a potential biomarker to be used in conjunction with previously established markers, particularly with regards to Luminal B or Her2+ tumors.

### 6.6 Connexins and pannexins as therapeutic targets

Breast cancer remains the leading cause of cancer related death in women aged 20-59 and the second leading cause of cancer related death after age 60 [66]. Importantly, death rates for female breast cancer are falling as a result of early detection through screening and the development of targeted therapies [67]. Both our Cx43 and Cx26 mouse models support a tumor suppressive role in breast cancer. As a result, targeted strategies to either induce connexin expression or promote GJIC may be effective in suppressing the tumorigenic properties in the treatment of breast cancer [55]. Importantly, increased GJIC may also augment the effects of common therapeutics by mediating the transfer of cytotoxic molecules between cancer cells known as the bystander effect [68,69]. While in theory this seems a reasonable idea, the development of therapeutics targeted towards connexins is limited due in no small measure to the fact that it remains much easier to develop a drug to downregulate or inhibit an oncogenic protein than to upregulate a tumor suppressor.

One potential therapy involves a non-specific approach to target connexin in breast cancer. Demethylating drugs, such as 5-Azacytidine approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, can be used to alter the epigenetic profile of cancer cells, leading to the demethylation of tumor suppressed genes [70,71]. Cx26 and Cx43 are frequently downregulated in breast cancer, which is suggested to be, at least in the case of Cx26, due to methylation [46,72]. Early results appeared dependent on the breast cancer subtype as the related compound, 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine, showed variable benefits in different breast cancer cell lines [72,73]. Ultimately, this therapeutic strategy isn't well explored but warrants further investigation.

A second much more targeted approach uses first and second generation substituted quinoline compounds (PQ) that represent a group of GJIC enhancers currently being evaluated in breast cancer cells [56,74-77]. PQ1 and PQ7 were predicted through computer modelling to have high binding affinity to the structure of a gap junction hemichannel. Interestingly, PQs were shown to increase GJIC and even upregulate Cx43 protein expression in T47D breast cancer cells [74,78]. Importantly, PQ treated breast cancer cells had increased cell death and decreased cell proliferation *in vitro*, while tumor growth was significantly reduced in T47D xenografts and in *MMTV-PyVT* mice *in vivo* [56,74]. Intriguingly, combination therapy of PQ with tamoxifen or cisplatin generally had greater anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic effects than either chemotherapeutic alone suggesting that PQs increase the effectiveness of common breast cancer chemotherapeutics through the bystander effect [75,79]. However, the anti-tumor effects of PQs have not conclusively been shown to be directly related to gap junction enhancement as there may be off-target effects that also contribute to anti-growth effect of tumor cells [78].

In a third example, the use of peptides to target Cx43 may be effective in breast cancer therapy. The ACT-1 peptide that mimics a carboxyl terminal domain of Cx43 (ACT1) was found to increase GJIC by stabilising the activity of gap junctions at the plasma membrane [80]. ACT-1 was effective in decreasing proliferation in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells when treated alone but more importantly improved the cytotoxicity of tamoxifen in ER+ MCF7 cells or lapatinib in HER2+ BT474 cells when used in combination [80]. Interestingly, ACT-1 peptides are currently being investigated in wound healing and have completed Phase2 clinical trials with positive outcomes in healing chronic venous leg ulcers [81]. Taken together, both PQ1/PQ7 and the ACT-1 peptide represent candidate

drugs that promote GJIC, which can be used in combination with existing chemotherapeutics to target breast cancer cells.

Drugs also exist to target Panx1, although the use of these in regards to breast cancer is relatively unexplored. Probenecid is approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and has been shown to inhibit Panx1 channel function [82]. Interestingly, probenicid has been implicated as a chemosensitizer in T47D breast cancer cells as combination therapy of probenecid with cisplatin or paclitaxel increased cell cytotoxicity compared to either chemotherapy alone [83]. Ultimately, additional studies are needed to evaluate Panx1 as a viable therapeutic target in breast cancer.

# 6.7 Conclusions

In conclusion, further evaluation of genetically-modified mice targeting connexin or pannexin proteins are still needed to assess the roles of Cx43, Cx26 and Panx1 in the mammary gland. In particular, the future studies described above may provide further insight into the mechanism of action, issues of compensation and implications to patients with connexin-linked diseases. Importantly, new models of breast cancer are needed to evaluate connexins and pannexins, as well as potential therapies that target these large pore channels. We look forward to new discoveries that will further elucidate the mechanisms by which connexins act as tumor suppressors and/or facilitators in breast cancer as there remains considerable optimism that they will be of value in the clinic.

# 6.8 References

Allen, J. and Hector, D. (2005) Benefits of breastfeeding. N. S. W. Public. Health.
 Bull. 16, 42-46

2 Victora, C. G., Horta, B. L., Loret de Mola, C., Quevedo, L., Pinheiro, R. T., Gigante, D. P., Goncalves, H. and Barros, F. C. (2015) Association between breastfeeding and intelligence, educational attainment, and income at 30 years of age: A prospective birth cohort study from brazil. Lancet Glob. Health. **3**, e199-205. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(15)70002-1; 10.1016/S2214-109X(15)70002-1

Plum, A., Hallas, G., Magin, T., Dombrowski, F., Hagendorff, A., Schumacher, B.,
Wolpert, C., Kim, J., Lamers, W. H., Evert, M., Meda, P., Traub, O. and Willecke, K.
(2000) Unique and shared functions of different connexins in mice. Curr. Biol. 10, 1083-1091

4 Bry, C., Maass, K., Miyoshi, K., Willecke, K., Ott, T., Robinson, G. W. and Hennighausen, L. (2004) Loss of connexin 26 in mammary epithelium during early but not during late pregnancy results in unscheduled apoptosis and impaired development. Dev. Biol. **267**, 418-429. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2003.11.022

5 Plante, I. and Laird, D. W. (2008) Decreased levels of connexin43 result in impaired development of the mammary gland in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Dev. Biol. **318**, 312-322. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.03.033

6 Stewart, M. K., Gong, X. Q., Barr, K. J., Bai, D., Fishman, G. I. and Laird, D. W. (2013) The severity of mammary gland developmental defects is linked to the overall functional status of Cx43 as revealed by genetically modified mice. Biochem. J. **449**, 401-413. doi:10.1042/BJ20121070; 10.1042/BJ20121070

7 Stewart, M. K., Plante, I., Bechberger, J. F., Naus, C. C. and Laird, D. W. (2014) Mammary gland specific knockdown of the physiological surge in Cx26 during lactation retains normal mammary gland development and function. PLoS One. **9**, e101546. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0101546; 10.1371/journal.pone.0101546

Reaume, A. G., de Sousa, P. A., Kulkarni, S., Langille, B. L., Zhu, D., Davies, T.
C., Juneja, S. C., Kidder, G. M. and Rossant, J. (1995) Cardiac malformation in neonatal mice lacking connexin43. Science. 267, 1831-1834

9 Gabriel, H. D., Jung, D., Butzler, C., Temme, A., Traub, O., Winterhager, E. and Willecke, K. (1998) Transplacental uptake of glucose is decreased in embryonic lethal connexin26-deficient mice. J. Cell Biol. **140**, 1453-1461

10 Wellershaus, K., Degen, J., Deuchars, J., Theis, M., Charollais, A., Caille, D., Gauthier, B., Janssen-Bienhold, U., Sonntag, S., Herrera, P., Meda, P. and Willecke, K. (2008) A new conditional mouse mutant reveals specific expression and functions of connexin36 in neurons and pancreatic beta-cells. Exp. Cell Res. **314**, 997-1012. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.12.024; 10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.12.024

van Rijen, H. V., Eckardt, D., Degen, J., Theis, M., Ott, T., Willecke, K., Jongsma,
H. J., Opthof, T. and de Bakker, J. M. (2004) Slow conduction and enhanced anisotropy increase the propensity for ventricular tachyarrhythmias in adult mice with induced deletion of connexin43. Circulation. **109**, 1048-1055. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000117402.70689.75

12 Bedner, P., Steinhauser, C. and Theis, M. (2012) Functional redundancy and compensation among members of gap junction protein families? Biochim. Biophys. Acta. **1818**, 1971-1984. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2011.10.016; 10.1016/j.bbamem.2011.10.016

13 Paznekas, W. A., Karczeski, B., Vermeer, S., Lowry, R. B., Delatycki, M., Laurence, F., Koivisto, P. A., Van Maldergem, L., Boyadjiev, S. A., Bodurtha, J. N. and Jabs, E. W. (2009) GJA1 mutations, variants, and connexin 43 dysfunction as it relates to the oculodentodigital dysplasia phenotype. Hum. Mutat. **30**, 724-733. doi:10.1002/humu.20958

14 Apps, S. A., Rankin, W. A. and Kurmis, A. P. (2007) Connexin 26 mutations in autosomal recessive deafness disorders: A review. Int. J. Audiol. **46**, 75-81. doi:10.1080/14992020600582190

15 Chan, D. K. and Chang, K. W. (2014) GJB2-associated hearing loss: Systematic review of worldwide prevalence, genotype, and auditory phenotype. Laryngoscope. **124**, E34-53. doi:10.1002/lary.24332; 10.1002/lary.24332

16 Chin, N. P., Cuculick, J., Starr, M., Panko, T., Widanka, H. and Dozier, A. (2013) Deaf mothers and breastfeeding: Do unique features of deaf culture and language support breastfeeding success? J. Hum. Lact. **29**, 564-571. doi:10.1177/0890334413476921; 10.1177/0890334413476921

17 Paznekas, W. A., Boyadjiev, S. A., Shapiro, R. E., Daniels, O., Wollnik, B., Keegan, C. E., Innis, J. W., Dinulos, M. B., Christian, C., Hannibal, M. C. and Jabs, E. W. (2003) Connexin 43 (GJA1) mutations cause the pleiotropic phenotype of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. **72**, 408-418. doi:10.1086/346090

18 Nishat, S., Mansoor, Q., Javaid, A. and Ismail, M. (2012) Oculodentodigital syndrome with syndactyly type III in a pakistani consanguineous family. J. Dermatol. Case Rep. **6**, 43-48. doi:10.3315/jdcr.2012.1094; 10.3315/jdcr.2012.1094

19 Amador, C., Mathews, A. M., Del Carmen Montoya, M., Laughridge, M. E., Everman, D. B. and Holden, K. R. (2008) Expanding the neurologic phenotype of oculodentodigital dysplasia in a 4-generation hispanic family. J. Child Neurol. **23**, 901-905. doi:10.1177/0883073808317730

Flenniken, A. M., Osborne, L. R., Anderson, N., Ciliberti, N., Fleming, C., Gittens,
J. E., Gong, X. Q., Kelsey, L. B., Lounsbury, C., Moreno, L., Nieman, B. J., Peterson, K.,
Qu, D., Roscoe, W., Shao, Q., Tong, D., Veitch, G. I., Voronina, I., Vukobradovic, I.,
Wood, G. A., Zhu, Y., Zirngibl, R. A., Aubin, J. E., Bai, D., Bruneau, B. G., Grynpas, M.,
Henderson, J. E., Henkelman, R. M., McKerlie, C., Sled, J. G., Stanford, W. L., Laird, D.
W., Kidder, G. M., Adamson, S. L. and Rossant, J. (2005) A Gja1 missense mutation in a

mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Development. **132**, 4375-4386. doi:10.1242/dev.02011

Laird, D. W. (2014) Syndromic and non-syndromic disease-linked Cx43 mutations.
FEBS Lett. 588, 1339-1348. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2013.12.022;
10.1016/j.febslet.2013.12.022

Lee, J. R. and White, T. W. (2009) Connexin-26 mutations in deafness and skin disease. Expert Rev. Mol. Med. 11, e35. doi:10.1017/S1462399409001276;
10.1017/S1462399409001276

Lai, A., Le, D. N., Paznekas, W. A., Gifford, W. D., Jabs, E. W. and Charles, A. C. (2006) Oculodentodigital dysplasia connexin43 mutations result in non-functional connexin hemichannels and gap junctions in C6 glioma cells. J. Cell. Sci. **119**, 532-541. doi:10.1242/jcs.02770

De Bock, M., Kerrebrouck, M., Wang, N. and Leybaert, L. (2013) Neurological manifestations of oculodentodigital dysplasia: A Cx43 channelopathy of the central nervous system? Front. Pharmacol. **4**, 120. doi:10.3389/fphar.2013.00120; 10.3389/fphar.2013.00120

Dobrowolski, R., Sommershof, A. and Willecke, K. (2007) Some oculodentodigital dysplasia-associated Cx43 mutations cause increased hemichannel activity in addition to deficient gap junction channels. J. Membr. Biol. **219**, 9-17. doi:10.1007/s00232-007-9055-7

26 Dobrowolski, R., Sasse, P., Schrickel, J. W., Watkins, M., Kim, J. S., Rackauskas, M., Troatz, C., Ghanem, A., Tiemann, K., Degen, J., Bukauskas, F. F., Civitelli, R., Lewalter, T., Fleischmann, B. K. and Willecke, K. (2008) The conditional connexin43G138R mouse mutant represents a new model of hereditary oculodentodigital dysplasia in humans. Hum. Mol. Genet. **17**, 539-554. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddm329

27 Mroue, R., Inman, J., Mott, J., Budunova, I. and Bissell, M. J. (2015) Asymmetric expression of connexins between luminal epithelial- and myoepithelial- cells is essential

for contractile function of the mammary gland. Dev. Biol. **399**, 15-26. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2014.11.026; 10.1016/j.ydbio.2014.11.026

Laird, D. W. (2014) Syndromic and non-syndromic disease-linked Cx43 mutations.
 FEBS Lett. 588, 1339-1348. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2013.12.022;
 10.1016/j.febslet.2013.12.022

29 Reversi, A., Cassoni, P. and Chini, B. (2005) Oxytocin receptor signaling in myoepithelial and cancer cells. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. **10**, 221-229. doi:10.1007/s10911-005-9583-7

30 Harris, A. L. (2007) Connexin channel permeability to cytoplasmic molecules. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. **94**, 120-143. doi:10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2007.03.011

31 Zhang, J. T. and Nicholson, B. J. (1994) The topological structure of connexin 26 and its distribution compared to connexin 32 in hepatic gap junctions. J. Membr. Biol. **139**, 15-29

Laird, D. W. (2010) The gap junction proteome and its relationship to disease. Trends Cell Biol. **20**, 92-101. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2009.11.001; 10.1016/j.tcb.2009.11.001

Henzl, M. T., Thalmann, I., Larson, J. D., Ignatova, E. G. and Thalmann, R. (2004)
The cochlear F-box protein OCP1 associates with OCP2 and connexin 26. Hear. Res. 191, 101-109. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2004.01.005

Mese, G., Sellitto, C., Li, L., Wang, H. Z., Valiunas, V., Richard, G., Brink, P. R. and White, T. W. (2011) The Cx26-G45E mutation displays increased hemichannel activity in a mouse model of the lethal form of keratitis-ichthyosis-deafness syndrome. Mol. Biol. Cell. **22**, 4776-4786. doi:10.1091/mbc.E11-09-0778; 10.1091/mbc.E11-09-0778

35 Schutz, M., Auth, T., Gehrt, A., Bosen, F., Korber, I., Strenzke, N., Moser, T. and Willecke, K. (2011) The connexin26 S17F mouse mutant represents a model for the human hereditary keratitis-ichthyosis-deafness syndrome. Hum. Mol. Genet. **20**, 28-39. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddq429; 10.1093/hmg/ddq429

36 Serre-Beinier, V., Mas, C., Calabrese, A., Caton, D., Bauquis, J., Caille, D., Charollais, A., Cirulli, V. and Meda, P. (2002) Connexins and secretion. Biol. Cell. **94**, 477-492

37 DePeters, E. J. and Hovey, R. C. (2009) Methods for collecting milk from mice. J.
Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. 14, 397-400. doi:10.1007/s10911-009-9158-0;
10.1007/s10911-009-9158-0

38 Stewart, M. K., Simek, J. and Laird, D. W. (2015) Insights into the role of connexins in mammary gland morphogenesis and function. Reproduction. **149**, R279-90. doi:10.1530/REP-14-0661; 10.1530/REP-14-0661

39 Teleki, I., Szasz, A. M., Maros, M. E., Gyorffy, B., Kulka, J., Meggyeshazi, N., Kiszner, G., Balla, P., Samu, A. and Krenacs, T. (2014) Correlations of differentially expressed gap junction connexins cx26, cx30, cx32, cx43 and cx46 with breast cancer progression and prognosis. PLoS One. **9**, e112541. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0112541; 10.1371/journal.pone.0112541

40 Locke, D., Stein, T., Davies, C., Morris, J., Harris, A. L., Evans, W. H., Monaghan, P. and Gusterson, B. (2004) Altered permeability and modulatory character of connexin channels during mammary gland development. Exp. Cell Res. **298**, 643-660. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2004.05.003

Gunther, E. J., Belka, G. K., Wertheim, G. B., Wang, J., Hartman, J. L., Boxer, R.
B. and Chodosh, L. A. (2002) A novel doxycycline-inducible system for the transgenic analysis of mammary gland biology. FASEB J. 16, 283-292. doi:10.1096/fj.01-0551com

42 Qin, H., Shao, Q., Curtis, H., Galipeau, J., Belliveau, D. J., Wang, T., Alaoui-Jamali, M. A. and Laird, D. W. (2002) Retroviral delivery of connexin genes to human breast tumor cells inhibits in vivo tumor growth by a mechanism that is independent of significant gap junctional intercellular communication. J. Biol. Chem. **277**, 29132-29138. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200797200 43 Hirschi, K. K., Xu, C. E., Tsukamoto, T. and Sager, R. (1996) Gap junction genes Cx26 and Cx43 individually suppress the cancer phenotype of human mammary carcinoma cells and restore differentiation potential. Cell Growth Differ. **7**, 861-870

44 Plante, I., Stewart, M. K., Barr, K., Allan, A. L. and Laird, D. W. (2011) Cx43 suppresses mammary tumor metastasis to the lung in a Cx43 mutant mouse model of human disease. Oncogene. **30**, 1681-1692. doi:10.1038/onc.2010.551

45 Hurst, D. R. and Welch, D. R. (2011) Metastasis suppressor genes at the interface between the environment and tumor cell growth. Int. Rev. Cell. Mol. Biol. **286**, 107-180. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-385859-7.00003-3; 10.1016/B978-0-12-385859-7.00003-3

46 Lee, S. W., Tomasetto, C., Paul, D., Keyomarsi, K. and Sager, R. (1992) Transcriptional downregulation of gap-junction proteins blocks junctional communication in human mammary tumor cell lines. J. Cell Biol. **118**, 1213-1221

47 McLachlan, E., Shao, Q., Wang, H. L., Langlois, S. and Laird, D. W. (2006) Connexins act as tumor suppressors in three-dimensional mammary cell organoids by regulating differentiation and angiogenesis. Cancer Res. **66**, 9886-9894. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-4302

48 Caceres-Rios, H., Tamayo-Sanchez, L., Duran-Mckinster, C., de la Luz Orozco, M. and Ruiz-Maldonado, R. (1996) Keratitis, ichthyosis, and deafness (KID syndrome): Review of the literature and proposal of a new terminology. Pediatr. Dermatol. **13**, 105-113

49 Marx-Stoelting, P., Mahr, J., Knorpp, T., Schreiber, S., Templin, M. F., Ott, T., Buchmann, A. and Schwarz, M. (2008) Tumor promotion in liver of mice with a conditional Cx26 knockout. Toxicol. Sci. **103**, 260-267. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfn043; 10.1093/toxsci/kfn043

Avanzo, J. L., Mesnil, M., Hernandez-Blazquez, F. J., Mackowiak, I. I., Mori, C.
M., da Silva, T. C., Oloris, S. C., Garate, A. P., Massironi, S. M., Yamasaki, H. and Dagli,
M. L. (2004) Increased susceptibility to urethane-induced lung tumors in mice with

decreased expression of connexin43. Carcinogenesis. **25**, 1973-1982. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgh193

Fukumasu, H., Avanzo, J. L., Sanches, D. S., Mennecier, G., Mori, C. M. and Dagli,
M. L. (2013) Higher susceptibility of spontaneous and NNK-induced lung neoplasms in connexin 43 deficient CD1 x AJ F1 mice: Paradoxical expression of connexin 43 during lung carcinogenesis. Mol. Carcinog. 52, 497-506. doi:10.1002/mc.21884; 10.1002/mc.21884

52 King, T. J. and Lampe, P. D. (2004) Mice deficient for the gap junction protein Connexin32 exhibit increased radiation-induced tumorigenesis associated with elevated mitogen-activated protein kinase (p44/Erk1, p42/Erk2) activation. Carcinogenesis. **25**, 669-680. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgh071

Temme, A., Buchmann, A., Gabriel, H. D., Nelles, E., Schwarz, M. and Willecke,
K. (1997) High incidence of spontaneous and chemically induced liver tumors in mice
deficient for connexin32. Curr. Biol. 7, 713-716

54 Dagli, M. L., Yamasaki, H., Krutovskikh, V. and Omori, Y. (2004) Delayed liver regeneration and increased susceptibility to chemical hepatocarcinogenesis in transgenic mice expressing a dominant-negative mutant of connexin32 only in the liver. Carcinogenesis. **25**, 483-492. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgh050

55 King, T. J. and Bertram, J. S. (2005) Connexins as targets for cancer chemoprevention and chemotherapy. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. **1719**, 146-160. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2005.08.012

56 Shishido, S. N., Delahaye, A., Beck, A. and Nguyen, T. A. (2014) The anticancer effect of PQ1 in the MMTV-PyVT mouse model. Int. J. Cancer. **134**, 1474-1483. doi:10.1002/ijc.28461; 10.1002/ijc.28461

57 Andrechek, E. R., Hardy, W. R., Siegel, P. M., Rudnicki, M. A., Cardiff, R. D. and Muller, W. J. (2000) Amplification of the neu/erbB-2 oncogene in a mouse model of mammary tumorigenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **97**, 3444-3449. doi:10.1073/pnas.050408497

Park, S. Y., Lee, H. E., Li, H., Shipitsin, M., Gelman, R. and Polyak, K. (2010) Heterogeneity for stem cell-related markers according to tumor subtype and histologic stage in breast cancer. Clin. Cancer Res. **16**, 876-887. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1532; 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1532

Perou, C. M., Sorlie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Rees, C. A.,
Pollack, J. R., Ross, D. T., Johnsen, H., Akslen, L. A., Fluge, O., Pergamenschikov, A.,
Williams, C., Zhu, S. X., Lonning, P. E., Borresen-Dale, A. L., Brown, P. O. and Botstein,
D. (2000) Molecular portraits of human breast tumors. Nature. 406, 747-752.
doi:10.1038/35021093

Sorlie, T., Tibshirani, R., Parker, J., Hastie, T., Marron, J. S., Nobel, A., Deng, S.,
Johnsen, H., Pesich, R., Geisler, S., Demeter, J., Perou, C. M., Lonning, P. E., Brown, P.
O., Borresen-Dale, A. L. and Botstein, D. (2003) Repeated observation of breast tumor
subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100,
8418-8423. doi:10.1073/pnas.0932692100

61 Prat, A., Parker, J. S., Karginova, O., Fan, C., Livasy, C., Herschkowitz, J. I., He, X. and Perou, C. M. (2010) Phenotypic and molecular characterization of the claudin-low intrinsic subtype of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. **12**, R68. doi:10.1186/bcr2635; 10.1186/bcr2635

62 Bond, S. R., Lau, A., Penuela, S., Sampaio, A. V., Underhill, T. M., Laird, D. W. and Naus, C. C. (2011) Pannexin 3 is a novel target for Runx2, expressed by osteoblasts and mature growth plate chondrocytes. J. Bone Miner. Res. **26**, 2911-2922. doi:10.1002/jbmr.509; 10.1002/jbmr.509

Ebert, R., Meissner-Weigl, J., Zeck, S., Maatta, J., Auriola, S., Coimbra de Sousa,
S., Mentrup, B., Graser, S., Rachner, T. D., Hofbauer, L. C. and Jakob, F. (2014)
Probenecid as a sensitizer of bisphosphonate-mediated effects in breast cancer cells. Mol.

Cancer. 13, 265-4598-13-265. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-13-265; 10.1186/1476-4598-13-265

Furlow, P. W., Zhang, S., Soong, T. D., Halberg, N., Goodarzi, H., Mangrum, C.,
Wu, Y. G., Elemento, O. and Tavazoie, S. F. (2015) Mechanosensitive pannexin-1
channels mediate microvascular metastatic cell survival. Nat. Cell Biol. 17, 943-952.
doi:10.1038/ncb3194; 10.1038/ncb3194

65 Penuela, S., Gyenis, L., Ablack, A., Churko, J. M., Berger, A. C., Litchfield, D. W., Lewis, J. D. and Laird, D. W. (2012) Loss of pannexin 1 attenuates melanoma progression by reversion to a melanocytic phenotype. J. Biol. Chem. **287**, 29184-29193. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.377176; 10.1074/jbc.M112.377176

66 Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D. and Jemal, A. (2015) Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer. J. Clin. **65**, 5-29. doi:10.3322/caac.21254; 10.3322/caac.21254

67 Berry, D. A., Cronin, K. A., Plevritis, S. K., Fryback, D. G., Clarke, L., Zelen, M., Mandelblatt, J. S., Yakovlev, A. Y., Habbema, J. D., Feuer, E. J. and Cancer Intervention and Surveillance Modeling Network (CISNET) Collaborators. (2005) Effect of screening and adjuvant therapy on mortality from breast cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. **353**, 1784-1792. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa050518

Freeman, S. M., Abboud, C. N., Whartenby, K. A., Packman, C. H., Koeplin, D. S., Moolten, F. L. and Abraham, G. N. (1993) The "bystander effect": Tumor regression when a fraction of the tumor mass is genetically modified. Cancer Res. 53, 5274-5283

69 Naus, C. C. and Laird, D. W. (2010) Implications and challenges of connexin connections to cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer. **10**, 435-441. doi:10.1038/nrc2841

Issa, J. P. and Kantarjian, H. (2005) Azacitidine. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. Suppl,S6-7

Issa, J. P. (2007) DNA methylation as a therapeutic target in cancer. Clin. Cancer
Res. 13, 1634-1637. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2076

Tan, L. W., Bianco, T. and Dobrovic, A. (2002) Variable promoter region CpG island methylation of the putative tumor suppressor gene connexin 26 in breast cancer. Carcinogenesis. **23**, 231-236

73 Singal, R., Tu, Z. J., Vanwert, J. M., Ginder, G. D. and Kiang, D. T. (2000) Modulation of the connexin26 tumor suppressor gene expression through methylation in human mammary epithelial cell lines. Anticancer Res. **20**, 59-64

Heiniger, B., Gakhar, G., Prasain, K., Hua, D. H. and Nguyen, T. A. (2010) Second-generation substituted quinolines as anticancer drugs for breast cancer. Anticancer Res. 30, 3927-3932

Gakhar, G., Hua, D. H. and Nguyen, T. A. (2010) Combinational treatment of gap junctional activator and tamoxifen in breast cancer cells. Anticancer Drugs. **21**, 77-88. doi:10.1097/CAD.0b013e328333d557; 10.1097/CAD.0b013e328333d557

Ding, Y., Prasain, K., Nguyen, T. D., Hua, D. H. and Nguyen, T. A. (2012) The effect of the PQ1 anti-breast cancer agent on normal tissues. Anticancer Drugs. **23**, 897-905. doi:10.1097/CAD.0b013e328354ac71; 10.1097/CAD.0b013e328354ac71

Ding, Y. and Nguyen, T. A. (2012) Gap junction enhancer potentiates cytotoxicity of cisplatin in breast cancer cells. J. Cancer. Sci. Ther. 4, 371-378. doi:10.4172/1948-5956.1000170

Gakhar, G., Ohira, T., Shi, A., Hua, D. H. and Nguyen, T. A. (2008) Antitumor effect of substituted quinolines in breast cancer cells. Drug Development Research. **69**, 526-534. doi:10.1002/ddr.20281

79 Shishido, S. N. and Nguyen, T. A. (2012) Gap junction enhancer increases efficacy of cisplatin to attenuate mammary tumor growth. PLoS One. **7**, e44963. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044963; 10.1371/journal.pone.0044963

80 Grek, C. L., Rhett, J. M., Bruce, J. S., Abt, M. A., Ghatnekar, G. S. and Yeh, E. S. (2015) Targeting connexin 43 with alpha-connexin carboxyl-terminal (ACT1) peptide enhances the activity of the targeted inhibitors, tamoxifen and lapatinib, in breast cancer:

Clinical implication for ACT1. BMC Cancer. **15**, 296-015-1229-6. doi:10.1186/s12885-015-1229-6; 10.1186/s12885-015-1229-6

81 Ghatnekar, G. S., Grek, C. L., Armstrong, D. G., Desai, S. C. and Gourdie, R. G. (2015) The effect of a connexin43-based peptide on the healing of chronic venous leg ulcers: A multicenter, randomized trial. J. Invest. Dermatol. **135**, 289-298. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.318; 10.1038/jid.2014.318

Silverman, W., Locovei, S. and Dahl, G. (2008) Probenecid, a gout remedy, inhibits pannexin 1 channels. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. **295**, C761-7. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00227.2008; 10.1152/ajpcell.00227.2008

Campos-Arroyo, D., Martinez-Lazcano, J. C. and Melendez-Zajgla, J. (2012)
Probenecid is a chemosensitizer in cancer cell lines. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 69, 495-504. doi:10.1007/s00280-011-1725-6; 10.1007/s00280-011-1725-6

# Appendix1

# Cx43 suppresses mammary tumor metastasis to the lung in a Cx43 mutant mouse model of human disease

The role of Cx43 in breast cancer remains controversial due to conflicting reports of Cx43 acting as both a tumor suppressor and tumor facilitator particularly in the later stages of the disease. To further evaluate the role of Cx43 in breast tumorigenesis, mice expressing the Cx43 G60S mutant were crossed with mice overexpressing the oncogene ErbB2 in order to evaluate spontaneous and DMBA-induced breast tumor development compared to controls. Dr. Isabelle Plante was the lead author on this study. My contributions were mainly to investigate if mice expressing the G60S mutant had altered mammary gland histology (Appendix 1.2) and to assess whether the increase in lung tumours observed in G60S mice originated from the mammary gland (Appendix 1.5). As I contributed to under 50% of this work, I have attached the manuscript as Appendix 1.

A version of this chapter has been published:

Plante I, <u>Stewart MKG</u>, Barr K, Allan AL, Laird DW. Cx43 suppresses mammary tumor metastasis to the lung in a Cx43 mutant mouse model of human disease. *Oncogene*. (30), 1681–1692, 2011.

# Introduction

Metastatic breast cancer remains essentially incurable, highlighting the critical need for new therapeutic targets and treatment paradigms. For many years, several different experimental *in vivo* procedures have been used to investigate breast cancer progression. In many mouse models, tumorigenesis is initiated by exposing wild-type or genetically modified mice to a carcinogen. 7,12-Dimethylbenz[ $\alpha$ ]anthracene (DMBA) is one of the most common carcinogens used, and this treatment often causes cell transformation in the mammary gland that progresses to metastatic disease in distant tissues such as lung (Medina, 2007). In other mouse models of tumor onset and progression, genetically modified mice are engineered to overexpress an oncogene or to harbor a loss-of-function mutation in a key tumor suppressor gene, leading to increased incidence of tumorigenesis. For example, mice overexpressing a mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV)-driven rat*neu* (*ErbB2*) gene (an oncogene overexpressed in ~30% of breast cancer patients) have been used extensively to mimic a subset of human breast cancers (Guy et al., 1992). ErbB2 overexpressing mice have been shown to develop spontaneous mammary gland tumors within  $\sim 30$  weeks and these tumors readily metastasize to the lungs (Guy *et al.*, 1992). To further increase their versatility, ErbB2 overexpressing mice can be cross-bred with other genetically modified mice to examine molecular mechanisms that may enhance or inhibit tumorigenesis (Hewittet al., 2002; Jacquemart et al., 2009).

The mammary gland epithelium is composed of two layers of cells, an inner layer of luminal epithelial cells and an outer layer of myoepithelial cells, surrounded by a basement membrane. The epithelium develops during puberty, under the influence of hormones, a process thought to require extensive interactions between myoepithelial and luminal cells, but also between the epithelium and the surrounding stroma (Pitelka *et al.*, 1973; Sternlicht, 2006). Myoepithelial cells are necessary for the development and function of the luminal cell layer, as paracrine regulation and junctional attachments allow for cross-talk within the epithelium (Pitelka *et al.*, 1973; Adriance *et al.*, 2005). As breast cancer typically arises from the luminal layer, with the rare exception of myoepithelioma (Foschini and Eusebi, 1998), the role of myoepithelial cells in tumorigenesis has not been acutely studied. Recently, myoepithelial cells have received more attention as they have been suggested as

a 'natural tumor suppressor' (Sternlicht and Barsky, 1997; Sternlicht*et al.*, 1997; Gudjonsson *et al.*, 2005). Indeed, through their strategic localization between the luminal cells and the surrounding stroma, it has been suggested that myoepithelial cells facilitate the polarity of the epithelium and function as a physical barrier against loss of growth control, tumor cell invasion and angiogenesis (Barsky and Karlin, 2005).

Gap junctions are intercellular channels assembled from a family of transmembrane protein called connexins (Cxs). They allow the bidirectional passage of ions, metabolites and secondary messengers in a process known as gap junctional intercellular communication (GJIC) (Mese *et al.*, 2007). GJIC has been implicated in the regulation of homeostasis and a diverse array of cellular functions related to cell specialization, growth and differentiation (Herve *et al.*, 2007). In the mouse, gap junctions composed of Cx26, Cx30 or Cx32 have been identified between mammary luminal cells, whereas Cx43 gap junctions were found to be more restricted to myoepithelial cells and stromal fibroblasts (El-Sabban *et al.*, 2003). Similarly, in human breast epithelium, Cx26 has been localized to luminal cells, whereas Cx43 is mainly present between myoepithelial cells, but has been reported to be expressed in luminal cells as well (Monaghan et al., 1996; Laird et al., 1999). Although connexins were first proposed as tumor suppressors more than two decades ago (Lee et al., 1991, 1992), their role in breast cancer is still poorly understood and somewhat controversial. Several studies examining primary breast tumor biopsy samples from patients have reported either a downregulation of Cx26 and Cx43 or mis-localization of these connexins to intracellular compartments (Leeet al., 1991, 1992; Laird et al., 1999; Kanczuga-Koda et al., 2006). Consistently, it has been shown that re-expression of connexins in breast tumor cell lines can result in a partial cell re-differentiation to a more normal phenotype (Hirschi et al., 1996; Kalra et al., 2006; McLachlan et al., 2007), whereas downregulation of connexins in breast cell lines render them more migratory and invasive (Shao et al., 2005). However, a few studies have also reported an upregulation of connexins in breast cancer (Jamieson et al., 1998; Kanczuga-Koda et al., 2006; Naoi et al., 2007). Finally, it has been suggested that the role of connexins may differ depending of the type of tumor or its stage of progression, even favouring metastasis (McLachlan et al., 2007; Naus and Laird, 2010). Together, these studies reflect the need for an appropriate mouse model to study the role of connexins at all stages of mammary gland tumorigenesis.

In 2005, a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia, a human disease linked to over 62 mutations in the Cx43 gene, was generated through an N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea screening for dominant mutations (Flenniken et al., 2005; Paznekas et al., 2009). These mice, designated as Gial<sup>Jrt/+</sup> or G60S mice, are autosomal dominant with the G60S mutant encoded on one allele. The mutant harboring mice were found to have a Cx43 trafficking defect and a substantial reduction in Cx43 protein levels in many tissues, including the mammary gland. These defects result in a decreased number of gap junction plaques and GJIC (Flenniken et al., 2005; Manias et al., 2008; Plante and Laird, 2008). When expressed in a variety of cell types, a population of the G60S mutant can reach the plasma membrane but assembles into gap junction-like structures with greatly impaired function (Flenniken et al., 2005; McLachlan et al., 2005). In essence, the Cx43 G60S mutant is functionally dead and furthermore has a dominant-negative effect on coexpressed wild-type Cx43 found in the G60S mice (Flenniken et al., 2005). We previously showed that reduced Cx43 protein levels in G60S female mice are linked to delayed mammary gland development during puberty, as well as decreased milk secretion and ejection (Plante and Laird, 2008; Plante et al., 2010). However, the consequences of mice harboring a functionally impaired form of Cx43 on breast cancer onset, progression and metastasis are still unknown.

This study aimed to determine whether the G60S mutant would render mice more susceptible to mammary gland tumor formation and whether tumors would be more aggressive. To this end, G60S mice were cross-bred with ErbB2 overexpressing mice to promote mammary gland-specific tumor formation, and both spontaneous and DMBA-induced mammary gland tumorigenesis and metastasis were assessed.

## Methods

#### Animal treatment and tissue collection

Heterozygote *Gja1<sup>Jrt/+</sup>* mutant mice, carrying a G60S mutation in the *Gja1* gene encoding Cx43, have a mixed genetic background of C3 and C57BL/6J (Flenniken *et al.*, 2005). *Gja1<sup>Jrt/+</sup>* male mice were cross-bred with female FVB and female FVB/N-Tg(MMTVneu)202Mul/J, purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME, USA). Mice were randomly assigned to the different experimental groups and tumor onset was

evaluated every week by palpation. Mice were killed when the biggest tumor reached  $\sim 1 \text{ cm}^3$  or when mice showed signs of critical illness. For 7,12-dimethylbenz[ $\alpha$ ]anthracene (DMBA) studies, mice were exposed to DMBA or cotton oil by gavage. A total of 5 weekly doses (1 mg per 25 g of body weight) were administrated starting at 7 weeks of age. Female mice were killed using CO<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> and collected tissues were stored at -80 °C or fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and then embedded in paraffin. All experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Care Committee at the University of Western Ontario following the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

#### Histology

To perform a general histological analysis, paraffin-embedded sections (7  $\mu$ m thick) were stained with haematoxylin and eosin and mounted with Cytoseal (Richard-Allan Scientific, Kalamazoo, MI, USA). General histological analysis was performed by imaging several areas with 16 × , 10 × and 5 × objective lenses mounted on a Zeiss (Thornwood, NY, USA) Axioscope microscope workstation equipped with a Sony (Tokyo, Japan) PowerHAD camera and Axiovision LE imaging software (Carl Zeiss Vision). At least five different animals per experimental group were evaluated.

#### Evaluation of lung lesions

Once mice were killed, lungs were inflated and fixed by injecting 10% buffered formalin through the trachea. Inflated lungs were kept at 4 °C in buffered formalin for at least 48 h, and visible lesions present on the lung surface were counted. Lungs were then embedded in paraffin and processed for haematoxylin and eosin staining. For each mouse, 10 random pictures were taken with a 16 × objective (for a total of ~6 mm<sup>2</sup> of tissue area per mouse) and the area covered by lesions evaluated blindly using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA). Graphs represent the average lesion surface area (lesion area/total area evaluated), per group. A minimum of six different animals per experimental group were evaluated.

#### Immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy

Paraffin-embedded sections (7  $\mu$ m thick) were subjected to rehydration with descending grades of ethanol baths followed by microwave antigen retrieval using Antigen Unmasking Solution (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) for 5 min. After a 20 min of cool down, sections were subjected to a second antigen retrieval step, using 10 mM Tris Base, 1 mM EDTA solution (pH 9.0) at 95 °C for 30 min, followed by 20 min of cool down. Tissues were rinsed with water and blocked with 0.1% Triton X-100 and 0.15% goat serum in phosphate-buffered saline for 60 min at room temperature. Sections were then incubated with anti-mammaglobin (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; 1.0  $\mu$ g/ml, cat. # ab82203). Primary antibody was visualized by incubating sections with Alexa555-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit secondary antibody (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada; 0.5  $\mu$ g/ml). Hoechst stain was used to visualize nuclei before mounting. Immunolabeled paraffin-embedded sections were imaged on a Zeiss LSM 510 inverted confocal microscope as previously described (Thomas *et al.*, 2005). At least five different animals per experimental group were evaluated.

#### Statistical analysis and n-values

Values are presented as the mean $\pm$ s.e.m. Statistics were analyzed using Student's*t*-test or ANOVA analysis followed by a Tukey's multiple comparison test (comparing all pairs) where *P*<0.05 was considered significant. Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism version 4.02 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA).

## Results

# Mice harboring the G60S mutant have a delayed onset of palpable tumors in the mammary gland

To study the effects of a Cx43 mutant on mammary gland tumorigenesis, we cross-bred male  $Gja1^{Jrt/+}$  mice, harboring a G60S mutation within the *Cx43* gene, with female ErbB2 mice, overexpressing a rat ErbB2 (*Neu*) gene under an MMTV promoter (FVB/N-Tg(MMTVneu)202Mul/J), or with FVB control females. The resulting phenotypes were

designated WT-FVB (wild-type Cx43 and no ErbB2 overexpression), WT-ErbB2 (wildtype Cx43 and heterozygous for ErbB2 overexpression), G60S-FVB (harboring the G60S mutant and no ErbB2 overexpression) and G60S-ErbB2 (harboring the G60S mutant and heterozygous for ErbB2 overexpression). Surprisingly, a significant number of the resulting offspring, especially mice expressing both the mutant Cx43 and ErbB2, died before the end of the experiment. Although DMBA exposure didn't seem to affect the health of the mice based on body weight assessments during the treatment time, the percentage of mouse deaths was even higher when mice were exposed to DMBA. Mice killed or found dead before week 42 because of mammary gland cancer-unrelated diseases were removed from the experiment and data analysis. The remaining mice were assessed for mammary gland tumor formation and were killed either when the biggest tumors reached ~1 cm<sup>3</sup> or when they showed signs of critical illness.

To assess whether mice harboring the G60S mutant were more or less susceptible to tumor formation, two protocols were used. First, spontaneous tumor development was assessed in the two groups of mice overexpressing ErbB2 (designated as 'spontaneous'; WT-ErbB2 and G60S-ErbB2) by palpation. Second, mice (WT-FVB, WT-ErbB2, G60S-FVB and G60S-ErbB2) were treated with either oil or DMBA and then assessed for palpable tumors weekly. Tumors were first detected at ~40 weeks in spontaneous WT-ErbB2 mice, with 50% of the mice exhibiting palpable tumors by  $\sim$ 72 weeks (Appendix 1.1a). Surprisingly, only one G60S-ErbB2 mouse ever developed a palpable spontaneous tumor (Appendix 1.1a). In the DMBA-treated groups, the onset of palpable tumors in WT-ErbB2 and WT-FVB mice was ~20-weeks earlier with 50% of the mice exhibiting tumors at 32 and 36 weeks of age, respectively (Appendix 1.1b). In G60S mice exposed to DMBA, tumor formation was delayed compared with DMBA-treated WT groups, with the first tumors being detected between weeks 30 and 35 (Appendix 1.1b). However, G60S mice typically had to be killed before week 42 because of labored breathing, independent of the presence of a mammary gland tumor. Collectively, only one oil-treated WT-ErbB2 mouse formed a palpable tumor. Together, these results suggest that exposure to DMBA reduces tumor latency in all strains and that mice harboring the G60S mutant have delayed palpable mammary gland tumor onset.

#### WT mice have multiple and larger tumors compared with G60S mice

At the time of killing, all mouse mammary gland tumors were counted and measured. Approximately 70% of spontaneous WT-ErbB2 mice developed at least one tumor by the age of 87 weeks (Appendix 1.1c). Surprisingly, only one G60S-ErbB2 mouse ever formed a spontaneous tumor. In DMBA-treated animals, over 80% of WT-FVB and WT-ErbB2 mice formed at least one tumor, compared with ~45% of the G60S-FVB and ~60% of the G60S-ErbB2 mice (Appendix 1.1f). Although between ~30–53% of both spontaneous WT-ErbB2 mice and DMBA-treated WT mice had multiple tumors, only one DMBA-treated G60S-ErbB2 mouse developed three tumors (Figures A1c and f), indicating that not only the incidence of tumor formation is lower in Cx43 mutant mice, but also that these mice rarely have multiple tumors.

In keeping with our approved animal protocol, mice were killed when the largest tumor reached  $\sim 1 \text{ cm}^3$  or when they showed signs of critical illness. In all cases, both spontaneous and DMBA-treated WT mice could reach the maximum tumor burden (Appendix 1.1d and g). However, G60S mutant mice bearing a palpable tumor rapidly exhibited discomfort and/or labored breathing and thus had to be killed before reaching the maximum tumor burden, resulting in an average tumor size of  $<0.5 \text{ cm}^3$  (Appendix 1.1d and g). In all cases, the tumor growth rate was calculated by dividing the size of the tumors at death by the number of days since the tumors were first palpated. For WT mice,

Appendix 1.1. **Onset of palpable mammary gland tumors is delayed in Cx43 mutant mice**. (a) Spontaneous mammary gland tumor onset and growth were evaluated by palpation in WT-ErbB2 and G60S-ErbB2 mice. (b) 7-week-old mice were exposed weekly to DMBA (1 mg per 25 mg of body weight) for 5 weeks and tumor onset and growth was evaluated by palpation. Dotted lines in panels a and b represent the time when 50% of mice had a least one palpable tumor (T50). (c, f) Graph represents the percentage of mice that develop 1, 2 or greater than or equal to3 spontaneous mammary gland tumors (c) or upon DMBA exposure (f). (d, e, g, h) Size and growth rate were evaluated from all groups. In all, 22 tumors in the spontaneous WT-ErbB2 mice group, but only 1 tumor in the G60S-ErbB2 mice group, were palpated and evaluated. For DMBA, N=15 for WT-FVB; N=9 for G60S-FVB; N=17 for WT-ErbB2; N=10 for G60S-ErbB2. (d, g) Graphs represent the average size of the biggest tumor at the time of killing mice (mean±s.e.m.). \*P<0.05; \*\*\*P<0.001. (e, h) Graphs represent the average growth rate of the biggest tumors (mean±s.e.m.). Growth rates were obtained by dividing the size of the biggest tumor at the time of killing by the number of days since the tumor was first palpated. \*P<0.05.



Appendix 1.1

the average growth rate was similar for both spontaneous and DMBA-induced tumors, ranging from 38 to 60 mm<sup>3</sup> per day (Appendix 1.1e and h). Although the growth rate did not differ between G60S-FVB and G60S-ErbB2 mice exposed to DMBA, it was significantly lower in G60S-ErbB2 mice compared with WT-ErbB2 mice (Appendix 1.1h). Only one G60S-ErbB2 mouse developed a spontaneous palpable tumor (Appendix 1.1c– e), and both the size and the growth rate of that tumor was similar to those from DMBA-exposed G60S mice (Appendix 1.d, e, g and h). Together, these results suggest that Cx43 mutant mice are rapidly affected by the presence of tumors, and had to be killed before the tumors reached the maximum size threshold.

#### G60S mice have hyperplasic mammary glands

To assess the architecture and tumor status in the mammary gland, we performed histological analyses. In the spontaneous groups, most of the mammary glands were composed of adipocytes with sparse ducts (Appendix 1.2a and c). However, in all WT-ErbB2 mice analyzed, some areas of the glands showed either hyperplasia or solid tumor (Appendix 1.2b). Surprisingly, approximately 75% of G60S-ErbB2 mice also showed hyperplasic areas (Appendix 1.2d). Similarly, in oil-treated mice, histological analysis revealed primarily normal tissue (Appendix 1.2e–h); however, between 29–44% of WT-ErbB2, G60S-FVB and G60S-ErbB2 mice had hyperplasic tissue, as well as occasional solid tumors (Appendix 1.2f–h, inserts). Upon DMBA treatment,  $\geq$ 63% of the mice in each group exhibited abnormal areas of tissue (Appendix 1.2i–l). Interestingly, although WT mice contained both hyperplasic and solid tumors (Appendix 1.2j and k, inserts), G60S mice contained almost exclusively hyperplasic mammary glands (Appendix 1.2j and l). These results suggest that mammary glands from Cx43 mutant mice become hyperplastic, independent of the overexpression of ErbB2 or exposure to DMBA.

# Levels of Cx43 are reduced in the mammary gland of G60S mice compared with WT mice, and remain unchanged upon DMBA exposure

As the parental *Gja1<sup>Jrt/+</sup>*mice are on a mixed genetic background of C3 and C57BL/6J and ErbB2 mice are on a FVB background, western blot analyses was conducted on mammary glands to determine the effect of the G60S mutant on Cx43 levels upon cross-

Apendix 1.2. Mammary glands from Cx43 mutant mice typically become hyperplasic. Haematoxylin and eosin staining revealed that most of the mammary gland tissue from both spontaneous WT-ErbB2 (a) and G60S-ErbB2 mice (c) seem normal, with occasional areas revealing solid tumors and hyperplasia in WT-ErbB2 mice (b) or mainly hyperplasia in G60S-ErbB2 mice (d). Similar results were observed for oil-treated animals (e–h). In DMBA-treated mice, hyperplasia and solid tumors were observed in WT mice (i, k), whereas the mammary glands from G60S mice were mainly hyperplasic (j, l). Bars, 100 µm. For all groups, N≥5.

# Appendix 1.2



255

breeding. Typically, Cx43 resolves as multiple bands with the slower migrating bands representing highly phosphorylated species of Cx43 (P), and the faster migrating band, representing un-phosphorylated or a poorly phosphorylated species of Cx43 (P<sub>0</sub>) (as reviewed by Solan and Lampe, 2005 and by Solan and Lampe, 2007). Although we observed that Cx43 mRNA levels were the same in WT and mutant mice, total Cx43 protein levels were reduced by ~80% in G60S-ErbB2 mice compared with WT-ErbB2 mice, with the Cx43-P species being the most affected. Similar results were obtained when comparing oil-treated WT-ErbB2 and G60S-ErbB2 mice, or when comparing G60S-FVB with WT-FVB mice, confirming that the presence of the G60S mutant reduces the Cx43 content in all mice harboring this mutant. It has been reported that DMBA treatment can increase Cx43 levels in a normal human breast cell line (De Flora *et al.*, 2006), raising concerns that DMBA may compensate for the reduction in total Cx43 found in G60S mutant mice. In our studies, western blot analysis revealed that DMBA alone did not significantly change the levels of Cx43.

#### G60S mice are more susceptible to lung tumors than WT mice

As the lungs are one of the primary organs for mammary gland metastasis and G60S mice typically exhibited labored breathing in later stages of the study, we examined the lungs for visible evidence of tumors upon intra-tracheal fixation. Lung tumors were infrequent in spontaneous groups, but ~20% of WT-ErbB2 and G60S-ErbB2 mice had between 1 and 10 visible tumors (Appendix 1.3a and b). Similarly, few tumors were observed in oil-treated mice, with less than 15% of mice having one or more tumors (Appendix 1.3c and d). In all DMBA-treated groups, lung tumors were common as ~75% of WT mice exhibited 1–10 tumors (Appendix 1.3c), resulting in an average of nearly 7 tumors per mouse (Appendix 1.3d). In G60S mutant mice, not only were 100% of the mice found to exhibit visible lungs tumors, but most mice had >15 visible lesions, (Appendix 1.3c) with an average of 18 tumors per mouse (Appendix 1.3d). These results indicate that DMBA-treated Cx43 mutant mice are more susceptible to form lung tumors than WT mice.

Appendix 1.3. **Cx43 mutant mice are more susceptible to lung tumors than WT mice.** Visible lung tumors were counted for each spontaneous (**a**), oil-treated or DMBA-induced (**c**) mouse cohorts. (**a**, **c**) Graphs represent the percentage of mice having 1–10, 11–15 or >15 tumors. \*\*\**P*<0.001. (**b**, **d**) Graphs represent the mean number of lung tumors per group±s.e.m. \*\*\**P*<0.001. For all groups, N≥7.



Appendix 1.3

As G60S mutant mice are typically 50% smaller than WT mice (Plante and Laird, 2008), and microscopic tumors were not included in the initial assessment, we used histological evaluation to determine the lung tumor burden (percentage of lung tissue area occupied by tumor). In mice from spontaneous groups, a considerable area of the lung was normal for both WT-ErbB2 and G60S-ErbB2 mice (Appendix 1.4a). However, 57% of the WT-ErbB2 mice had sporadic lung tumors with approximately half of these tumors occupying >20% of the lung section area (Appendix 1.4b). In contrast, 100% of G60S-ErbB2 mice had lung tumors with ~60% of the mice having tumors occupying <20% of the lung and the remaining mice having tumors that occupied 20–50% of the lung section area (Appendix 1.4b). In comparing the spontaneous groups, the lungs from G60S-ErbB2 mutant mice had a similar tumor burden (that is, mean area of the lung occupied by tumor) as those taken from WT-ErbB2 mice (Appendix 1.4c), but mutant mice had increased incidences of lung metastases (number of mice in each group that developed lung tumors) compared with WT mice.

In oil-treated mice, over 80% of the lung tissues analyzed were tumor-free for the vast majority of genetically engineered mice (Appendix 1.4d and e), resulting in less than 6% lung tumor burden (Appendix 1.4f). Upon exposure to DMBA, more than 80% of the area of the lung tissue analyzed was still tumor-free for WT mice (Appendix 1.4d,e), resulting in less than 6% lung tumor burden (Appendix 1.4f). However, in G60S-mice, 100% of mice had at least 5% lung tumor burden, with more than half of them having greater than 20% lung burden (Appendix 1.4e). This resulted in an average of 30–40% lung tumor burden for both groups (Appendix 1.4f). Together, these results suggest that Cx43 G60S mutant mice have more numerous macroscopic and microscopic lung tumors than their control counterparts.

#### Cx43 mutant mice have increased metastasis to the lung

To confirm that the lung tumors observed were truly metastases from the mammary gland, lung paraffin-embedded sections were immunolabeled with mammaglobin, a glycoprotein which is expressed in cells derived from the mammary gland (Yang and Nonaka, 2010). As expected, no mammaglobin was detected in normal lung tissues Appendix 1.4. **Cx43 mutant mice have considerable lung tumor burden, which is further increased by DMBA treatment.** Haematoxylin and eosin staining revealed that lung tissue from WT-ErbB2 and G60S-ErbB2 mice was generally normal (**a**), with occasional areas harboring solid tumors (**a**, inserts). Similarly, lung tissue from oil-treated mouse cohorts was typically normal (**d**). In DMBA-treated mice, solid tumors were observed for all mouse groups, but were more frequently found in G60S mutant mice (**d**). Bars=150 µm. For all mice, 10 random histological fields were imaged and the area of abnormal tissue versus normal tissue was blindly evaluated using ImageJ software. (**b**, **e**) Graphs represent the percentage of mice with <5%, 5–20%, 20–50% or  $\geq$  50% of the total lung area occupied by abnormal tissue. (**c**, **f**) Graphs represent the percent mean tumor burden per total tissue area for each group±s.e.m. \*\**P*<0.01; \*\*\**P*<0.001. For each group, N≥6.



(Appendix 1.5a and c). In both spontaneous WT-ErbB2 and G60S-ErbB2 mice, over 62% of lung tumors stained positively for mammaglobin, confirming that they were from mammary gland origin (Appendix 1.5b). In oil- or DMBA-treated mice, 67–88% of all tumors were stained positively for mammaglobin in all groups, except oil-treated WT-FVB (no tumors found) and G60S-ErbB2 (no positive staining in six tumors analyzed) (Appendix 1.5c and d). Together, these results suggest that G60S mice are more prone to mammary gland tumor metastases to the lung.

#### Discussion

The connexin family of gap junction proteins is essential for cell proliferation, differentiation and tissue homeostasis (Herve et al., 2007). Recent evidence has challenged the paradigm that connexins are tumor suppressors, and further suggests that connexins may even facilitate late stage disease progression and metastasis (Naus and Laird, 2010). Thus, connexins may in fact best be considered as conditional tumor suppressors (Naus and Laird, 2010). Although connexins seem to be linked to tumorigenesis in the breast (Lee et al., 1991, 1992; Laird et al., 1999; Kanczuga-Koda et al., 2006; McLachlan et al., 2007), the current understanding of how these molecules are linked to cancer is relatively limited, as few studies have systematically examined the role of connexins in both early and late stages of disease progression in a unified model. We chose to assess the importance of Cx43 in breast cancer onset and progression using a mouse model that harbors an autosomal-dominant mutation in the gene encoding Cx43. As this loss-of-function mutation in a conditional tumor suppressor may not in itself be sufficient to initiate tumorigenesis and because Cx43 is also found in more than 35 cell types (Laird, 2006), we chose to focus our analysis on the mammary gland by using the ErbB2 oncogene overexpressing mice under a mammary gland specific promoter. Not only did this new model circumvent limitations associated with in vitro and mouse xenograft models for studying the molecular mechanisms of breast cancer onset and progression, but it also allowed us to examine the 'natural tumor suppressor' role of Cx43-rich myoepithelial cells (Sternlicht and Barsky, 1997;Gudjonsson et al., 2005). An added advantage of this model was the fact that both ErbB2 overexpression and DMBA

Appendix 1.5. **Cx43 mutant mice have more mammary gland metastases to the lung.** Paraffin-embedded normal and tumor-harboring lung tissue was immunolabeled with mammaglobin (red), a marker for cells of mammary gland origin in spontaneous (**a**) and oil/DMBA-treated mice (**c**). The number of mammaglobin-positive and negative lung tumors was counted for every mouse group (for all groups, $N^{\geq}5$  mice except oil-treated WT-ErbB2 and WT-FVB mice where N=4) (**b**, **d**). Tables denote the percent of mammaglobin-positive lung tumors and the total number of lung tumors evaluated per spontaneous (**b**) and oil/DMBA-treated group (**d**). Nuclei were stained with Hoechst (blue). Bars, 100 µm.




	oil				DMBA			
	WT-FVB	G60S- FVB	WT- ErbB2	G60S- ErbB2	WT-FVB	G60S- FVB	WT- ErbB2	G60S- ErbB2
Positive	0	7	2	0	11	30	10	23
Total	0	8	3	6	15	41	12	32
%	N/A	88	67	0	73	73	83	72

disease progression and metastasis. Finally, this animal model was designed to examine the potential cross-talk mechanisms between the Cx43-rich myoepithelium and the ErbB2positive luminal cell microenvironments as related to tumorigenesis.

Our study produced two major and somewhat unexpected key findings. First, low levels of Cx43 in the mammary gland resulted in a decreased frequency of palpable mammary gland tumors, as mice harboring the G60S mutant typically exhibited a hyperplasic mammary gland. Second, G60S mutant mice were far more prone to forming lung metastases. Together, our results suggest that a reduced complement of functional Cx43 renders mice more susceptible to hyperplasic mammary glands and that functional Cx43 is protective against lung metastases.

### Low levels of Cx43 result in delayed onset of palpable tumors

In mice overexpressing ErbB2 under the control of an MMTV promoter (Guy et al., 1992), 50% of the mice developed spontaneous mammary gland tumors at  $\sim$ 30 weeks, and ~70% of tumor-bearing mice that live over 8 months exhibit lung metastasis (Guy et al., 1992). In our hands, 50% of WT-ErbB2 mice developed spontaneous palpable mammary gland tumors by  $\sim$ 72 weeks of age, twice the time of the parental strain. A possible explanation for this delay in tumor onset may come from the fact that the parental strain is homozygous, having two copies of the *NeuI* rat gene, whereas our mice were heterozygous for ErbB2. However, a comparable cross-breeding approach between the same ErbB2expressing mice and MMTV/Rassf3 transgenic mice resulted in similar tumor onset latency as that found in the homozygous ErbB2 mice, suggesting that this is not a sufficient explanation (Jacquemart et al., 2009). Another possibility is that this disparity may result from differences in mouse strains used. Although both FVB/N-Tg(MMTVneu)202Mul/J and MMTV/*Rassf3* transgenic mice were on the same FVB background, G60S mice are on a mixed background of C3 and the more tumor resistant strain, C57BL/6J (Rowse *et al.*, 1998; Flenniken *et al.*, 2005). Consistently, a cross-breeding study between ErbB2 mice on the FVB mouse background and ER $\alpha$ KO mice on the C57BL/6 strain resulted in a considerably longer latency in tumor onset (Hewitt et al., 2002), similar to the findings in this study.

To our surprise, compared with appropriated controls, the onset of palpable mammary gland tumors was delayed in Cx43 mutant mice in both spontaneous and DMBA-treated experimental sets. However, histological analysis demonstrated that the mammary glands

gland tumors was delayed in Cx43 mutant mice in both spontaneous and DMBA-treated experimental sets. However, histological analysis demonstrated that the mammary glands from mutant mice were subject to hyperplasia. Hyperplasia is one of the first steps in tumorigenesis, as further disease progression to solid tumors usually occurs within a few weeks (Boggio et al., 1998; Hewitt et al., 2002; Tsubura et al., 2007; Allred and Medina, 2008). At least two possibilities could explain these results; either mutant Cx43 delays the onset of tumorigenesis, or mutant Cx43 inhibits hyperplasic cells from proceeding to solid tumors while resident in the mammary gland. The fact that 33% of oil-treated G60S-FVB mutant mice (compared with 0% of WT-FVB) exhibit hyperplasia by week 42 suggests that Cx43 mutant mice may actually be more prone to breast tumor initiation. However, the answer was not as clear when we compared G60S-ErbB2 and WT-ErbB2 mice, as 44 and 29% of these mice, (respectively), exhibited hyperplasia in the oil-treated group at 42 weeks, and 75% of mice harboring G60S-ErbB2 spontaneously became hyperplasic at week 50. Together, this suggests that Cx43 may only have a minimal effect on inhibiting the initial stages of tumorigenesis. Instead, it is more likely that mutant Cx43 is linked to inhibiting cells from forming solid tumors while resident in the mammary gland. Similar to human breast cancer, mouse mammary gland tumorigenesis is a multistep process involving epithelial hyperproliferation (hyperplasia), progression into *in situ* carcinoma, invasion and metastasis (Boggioet al., 1998; Tsubura et al., 2007; Allred and Medina, 2008). The major criteria to discriminate between *in situ* and invasive carcinoma is the presence of an intact myoepithelial layer and basement membrane, suggesting that myoepithelial cells can have a 'fence' role to inhibit invasiveness.

# Myoepithelial cell tumor-suppressive properties

Recently we showed that reduced GJIC in myoepithelial cells of  $Gja1^{Jrt/+}$  (G60S) mice results in a delay in mammary gland ductal development during puberty, suggesting a regulatory role of Cx43 (Plante and Laird, 2008). Similarly, it has been shown that interactions between myoepithelial and luminal cells are required for proper differentiation of luminal cells *in vitro*, and that this process is dependent on gap junctions (Talhouk *et al.*, 2008). Lately, myoepithelial cells have received more attention as they have been suggested to be a 'natural tumor suppressor' by inhibiting various neoplastic events, including cell growth, invasion and angiogenesis (Sternlicht and Barsky, 1997; Sternlicht et al., 1997; Barsky and Karlin, 2005; Gudjonsson et al., 2005). In keeping with this concept, our results suggest that a full complement of Cx43 may be necessary to protect against tumor or hyperplasic cells from entering the stroma and eventually into the vasculature. Cx43 could be necessary for the proper differentiation of the myoepithelial layer. Lessdifferentiated myoepithelial cells would be expected to have altered expression of tumor suppressive molecules, such as maspin and TIMP-1, thereby facilitating luminal cell migration (Sternlicht and Barsky, 1997; Barsky and Karlin, 2005). Alternatively, Cx43 may be necessary to physically strengthen the epithelium barrier as we already know that Cx43 is critical to synchronous myoepithelial cell contraction (Plante and Laird, 2008). It is also possible that decreased levels of Cx43 in the myoepithelium interfere with other adhesion mechanisms or complexes present at the plasma membrane (Laird, 2006). However, our previous study suggests that a low level of Cx43 is sufficient to maintain the proper localization of protein constituents of tight and adherens junctions (Plante *et al.*, 2010). Finally, this study does not allow us to conclude whether the effects observed are due to deceased levels of Cx43, or to a decrease in GJIC, as the G60S mutant is functionally dead and also has a dominant-negative effect on coexpressed wild-type Cx43 (Flenniken et al., 2005). Additional studies would be necessary to further dissect the full contribution of Cx43 to the myoepithelial cell layer.

### Cx43 suppresses mammary gland metastasis to lung

An intriguing finding from our study using this unifying model of breast tumor onset and disease progression was the fact that Cx43 protects against mammary tumor cell metastases to the lung. Confirmation that we were indeed assessing lung metastases and not serendipitous primary lung tumor formation was provided by positive identification of the tumors as being of mammary origin via the expression of mammaglobin. Given that it is known that not all mammary cell-derived tumors express mammaglobin (Yang and Nonaka, 2010), it is likely that we are even underestimating the number of tumors of mammary origin. Furthermore, it has previously been demonstrated that ErbB2-expressing

mice are known to be prone to mammary gland tumor metastases to the lung (Guy *et al.*, 1992).

As Cx43 mutant mice exhibit hyperplasic glands without much evidence for the presence of solid tumors in the mammary gland, we were somewhat surprised to observe a greater prevalence of metastatic lesions in the lungs. Moreover, the fact that only one G60S-ErbB2 mouse in the spontaneous experiment and less than 40% of the mutant mice in the DMBA experiment developed a palpable tumor but all mice showed metastatic lung tumors, suggests that lung seeding happened before a palpable tumor could be detected. Although not particularly common in the clinical setting, it has been reported that metastases can be found in the absence of a detectable primary tumor, or even 5-7 years before the detection of a primary tumor (Engel et al., 2003; van de Wouw et al., 2003). In a recent mouse mammary tumor study, tumor cells were found in both the lungs and bone marrow from two different mouse models before invasive tumor cells were ever detected in the mammary gland (Husemann et al., 2008). Interestingly, the authors observed that the basement membrane underlying hyperplasic cells within the mammary gland seemed disrupted suggesting that the myoepithelium and basement membrane may have in fact been functioning as a natural tumor suppressor, as suggested by the current study. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that undetected invasive tumor cells were present in the mammary gland of Cx43 mutant mice and it is these cells that are metastasizing to the lungs. Furthermore, it is important to note that the 'soil' where lung tumor metastases flourish is a Cx43-enriched environment (Nagata et al., 2009) and it is possible that the metastases thrive better in an environment where Cx43 function is reduced. Although it is hard to model a mechanism to support this conjecture, we can also not fully eliminate this possibility.

Although connexins do not necessarily fulfill the definition of a metastasis suppressor, it is interesting to see that in our mouse model, Cx43 seems to share several characteristics with members of the metastasis suppressor family. Metastasis suppressor genes are defined as molecules that can inhibit metastasis while having little or no effect on primary tumor growth (Bodenstine and Welch, 2008). Since the discovery of *Nm23* (non-metastatic clone 23) in the late 1980s (Steeg *et al.*, 1988), over 23 members of this new class of cancer-

269

related genes have been identified to have a role at various steps of the metastasis process. Among them, expression of the breast cancer metastasis suppressor 1 (BRMS1) not only inhibits metastasis of MDA-MB-435 cells to the lungs and lymph nodes when injected in the tail vein of athymic mice, but it can also restore GJIC and increase Cx43 expression *in vitro* (Saunders *et al.*, 2001), suggesting a link between those two molecules in preventing metastasis.

In summary, this novel unifying model investigating the role of Cx43 in mammary gland tumorigenesis suggests that Cx43 in the myoepithelium minimally inhibits the initial stage of disease leading to mammary cell hyperplasia. However, Cx43 was found to be more potent at inhibiting the progression of tumorigenesis as defined by metastasis to the lung. Given that Cx43 is expressed extensively in the myoepithelial layer of the mammary gland, these results allow us to propose a working model where a full complement of Cx43 in the myoepithelium may serve to enhance the 'barrier' function of this cell layer inhibiting transformed luminal cells from invading the stroma during breast cancer progression. We propose that if the integrity of the myoepithelium is compromised by reduced levels of functional Cx43, tumor cells can more readily escape the confines of the primary site and metastasize to the lung. Although we cannot determine the transformation state of the cells that are metastasizing to the lungs, we suspect that within the heterogeneity of the hyperplasic tissue in the mammary gland some cells are fully transformed and are aggressive at metastasizing to the lung. However, this working model will need further consideration as we attempt to fully understand the role of Cx43 and myoepithelial cells in breast cancer progression.

Taken together, the findings of our study suggest that a molecular mechanism encrypted into the myoepithelium is protective against breast cancer progression. As most breast cancer related deaths are linked to metastasis, understanding the mechanisms of how Cx43 contributes to this process is critical in order to determine whether connexins are potential targets for therapeutic intervention.

# References

- Adriance MC, Inman JL, Petersen OW, Bissell MJ. (2005). Myoepithelial cells: good fences make good neighbors. *Breast Cancer Res* 7: 190–197.
- Allred DC, Medina D. (2008). The relevance of mouse models to understanding the development and progression of human breast cancer. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* 13: 279–288.
- 3. Barsky SH, Karlin NJ. (2005). Myoepithelial cells: autocrine and paracrine suppressors of breast cancer progression. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia***10**: 249–260.
- Bodenstine TM, Welch DR. (2008). Metastasis suppressors and the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Microenviron* 1: 1–11.
- Boggio K, Nicoletti G, Di Carlo E, Cavallo F, Landuzzi L, Melani C *et al.* (1998). Interleukin 12-mediated prevention of spontaneous mammary adenocarcinomas in two lines of Her-2/neu transgenic mice. *J Exp Med* 188: 589–596.
- De Flora S, Scarfi S, Izzotti A, D'Agostini F, Chang CC, Bagnasco M *et al.* (2006). Induction by 7,12-dimethylbenz(a)anthracene of molecular and biochemical alterations in transformed human mammary epithelial stem cells, and protection by Nacetylcysteine. *Int J Oncol* 29: 521–529.
- El-Sabban ME, Abi-Mosleh LF, Talhouk RS. (2003). Developmental regulation of gap junctions and their role in mammary epithelial cell differentiation. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* 8: 463–473.
- 8. Engel J, Eckel R, Kerr J, Schmidt M, Furstenberger G, Richter R *et al.* (2003). The process of metastasisation for breast cancer. *Eur J Cancer* **39**: 1794–1806.
- Flenniken AM, Osborne LR, Anderson N, Ciliberti N, Fleming C, Gittens JE *et al.* (2005). A Gja1 missense mutation in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. *Development* 132: 4375–4386.

- Foschini MP, Eusebi V. (1998). Carcinomas of the breast showing myoepithelial cell differentiation. A review of the literature. *Virchows Arch*432: 303–310.
- Gudjonsson T, Adriance MC, Sternlicht MD, Petersen OW, Bissell MJ. (2005). Myoepithelial cells: their origin and function in breast morphogenesis and neoplasia. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 10: 261–272.
- Guy CT, Webster MA, Schaller M, Parsons TJ, Cardiff RD, Muller WJ. (1992). Expression of the neu protooncogene in the mammary epithelium of transgenic mice induces metastatic disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 89: 10578–10582.
- 13. Herve JC, Bourmeyster N, Sarrouilhe D, Duffy HS. (2007). Gap junctional complexes: from partners to functions. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* **94**: 29–65.
- 14. Hewitt SC, Bocchinfuso WP, Zhai J, Harrell C, Koonce L, Clark J *et al.* (2002). Lack of ductal development in the absence of functional estrogen receptor alpha delays mammary tumor formation induced by transgenic expression of ErbB2/neu. *Cancer Res* 62: 2798–2805.
- 15. Hirschi KK, Xu CE, Tsukamoto T, Sager R. (1996). Gap junction genes Cx26 and Cx43 individually suppress the cancer phenotype of human mammary carcinoma cells and restore differentiation potential. *Cell Growth Differ* **7**: 861–870.
- Husemann Y, Geigl JB, Schubert F, Musiani P, Meyer M, Burghart E *et al.* (2008).
  Systemic spread is an early step in breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* 13: 58–68.
- Jacquemart IC, Springs AE, Chen WY. (2009). Rassf3 is responsible in part for resistance to mammary tumor development in neu transgenic mice. *Int J Oncol* 34: 517–528.
- Jamieson S, Going JJ, D'Arcy R, George WD. (1998). Expression of gap junction proteins connexin 26 and connexin 43 in normal human breast and in breast tumors. J Pathol 184: 37–43.

- Kalra J, Shao Q, Qin H, Thomas T, Alaoui-Jamali MA, Laird DW. (2006). Cx26 inhibits breast MDA-MB-435 cell tumorigenic properties by a gap junctional intercellular communication-independent mechanism. *Carcinogenesis* 27: 2528– 2537.
- 20. Kanczuga-Koda L, Sulkowski S, Lenczewski A, Koda M, Wincewicz A, Baltaziak M *et al.* (2006). Increased expression of connexins 26 and 43 in lymph node metastases of breast cancer. *J Clin Pathol* **59**: 429–433.
- Laird DW. (2006). Life cycle of connexins in health and disease. *Biochem J*394: 527–543.
- 22. Laird DW, Fistouris P, Batist G, Alpert L, Huynh HT, Carystinos GD *et al.* (1999). Deficiency of connexin43 gap junctions is an independent marker for breast tumors. *Cancer Res* **59**: 4104–4110.
- 23. Lee SW, Tomasetto C, Paul D, Keyomarsi K, Sager R. (1992). Transcriptional downregulation of gap-junction proteins blocks junctional communication in human mammary tumor cell lines. *J Cell Biol* **118**: 1213–1221.
- 24. Lee SW, Tomasetto C, Sager R. (1991). Positive selection of candidate tumorsuppressor genes by subtractive hybridization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*88: 2825–2829.
- 25. Manias JL, Plante I, Gong XQ, Shao Q, Churko J, Bai D *et al.* (2008). Fate of connexin43 in cardiac tissue harbouring a disease-linked connexin43 mutant.*Cardiovas Res* **80**: 385–395.
- McLachlan E, Manias JL, Gong XQ, Lounsbury CS, Shao Q, Bernier SM *et al.* (2005).
  Functional characterization of oculodentodigital dysplasia-associated Cx43 mutants. *Cell Commun Adhes* 12: 279–292.
- 27. McLachlan E, Shao Q, Laird DW. (2007). Connexins and gap junctions in mammary gland development and breast cancer progression. *J Membr Biol***218**: 107–121.

- Medina D. (2007). Chemical carcinogenesis of rat and mouse mammary glands. *Breast Dis* 28: 63–68.
- 29. Mese G, Richard G, White TW. (2007). Gap junctions: basic structure and function. *J Invest Dermatol* **127**: 2516–2524.
- Monaghan P, Clarke C, Perusinghe NP, Moss DW, Chen XY, Evans WH. (1996). Gap junction distribution and connexin expression in human breast. *Exp Cell Res* 223: 29–38.
- Nagata K, Masumoto K, Esumi G, Teshiba R, Yoshizaki K, Fukumoto S *et al.* (2009).
  Connexin43 plays an important role in lung development. *J Pediatr Surg* 44: 2296–2301.
- 32. Naoi Y, Miyoshi Y, Taguchi T, Kim SJ, Arai T, Tamaki Y *et al.* (2007). Connexin26 expression is associated with lymphatic vessel invasion and poor prognosis in human breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **106**: 11–17.
- Naus CC, Laird DW. (2010). Implications and challenges of connexin connections to cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 10: 435–441.
- 34. Paznekas WA, Karczeski B, Vermeer S, Lowry RB, Delatycki M, Laurence F *et al.* (2009). GJA1 mutations, variants, and connexin 43 dysfunction as it relates to the oculodentodigital dysplasia phenotype. *Hum Mutat* **30**: 724–733.
- 35. Pitelka DR, Hamamoto ST, Duafala JG, Nemanic MK. (1973). Cell contacts in the mouse mammary gland. I. Normal gland in postnatal development and the secretory cycle. J Cell Biol 56: 797–818.
- 36. Plante I, Laird DW. (2008). Decreased levels of connexin43 result in impaired development of the mammary gland in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. *Dev Biol* **318**: 312–322.
- 37. Plante I, Wallis A, Shao Q, Laird DW. (2010). Milk Secretion and Ejection Are Impaired in the Mammary Gland of Mice Harboring a Cx43 Mutant While Expression

and Localization of Tight and Adherens Junction Proteins Remain Unchanged. *Biol Reprod* 28: 837–847.

- Rowse GJ, Ritland SR, Gendler SJ. (1998). Genetic modulation of neu proto-oncogeneinduced mammary tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res* 58: 2675–2679.
- 39. Saunders MM, Seraj MJ, Li Z, Zhou Z, Winter CR, Welch DR *et al.* (2001). Breast cancer metastatic potential correlates with a breakdown in homospecific and heterospecific gap junctional intercellular communication.*Cancer Res* **61**: 1765–1767.
- 40. Shao Q, Wang H, McLachlan E, Veitch GI, Laird DW. (2005). Down-regulation of Cx43 by retroviral delivery of small interfering RNA promotes an aggressive breast cancer cell phenotype. *Cancer Res* **65**: 2705–2711.
- 41. Solan JL, Lampe PD. (2005). Connexin phosphorylation as a regulatory event linked to gap junction channel assembly. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1711**: 154–163.
- 42. Solan JL, Lampe PD. (2007). Key connexin 43 phosphorylation events regulate the gap junction life cycle. *J Membr Biol* **217**: 35–41.
- 43. Steeg PS, Bevilacqua G, Kopper L, Thorgeirsson UP, Talmadge JE, Liotta LA *et al.* (1988). Evidence for a novel gene associated with low tumor metastatic potential. J Natl Cancer Inst 80: 200–204.
- 44. Sternlicht MD. (2006). Key stages in mammary gland development: the cues that regulate ductal branching morphogenesis. *Breast Cancer Res* **8**: 201.
- 45. Sternlicht MD, Barsky SH. (1997). The myoepithelial defense: a host defense against cancer. *Med Hypotheses* **48**: 37–46.
- 46. Sternlicht MD, Kedeshian P, Shao ZM, Safarians S, Barsky SH. (1997). The human myoepithelial cell is a natural tumor suppressor. *Clin Cancer Res* **3**: 1949–1958.
- 47. Talhouk RS, Mroue R, Mokalled M, Abi-Mosleh L, Nehme R, Ismail A *et al.* (2008). Heterocellular interaction enhances recruitment of alpha and beta-catenins and ZO-2

into functional gap-junction complexes and induces gap junction-dependant differentiation of mammary epithelial cells. *Exp Cell Res***314**: 3275–3291.

- 48. Thomas T, Jordan K, Simek J, Shao Q, Jedeszko C, Walton P *et al.* (2005). Mechanisms of Cx43 and Cx26 transport to the plasma membrane and gap junction regeneration. *J Cell Sci* 118: 4451–4462.
- 49. Tsubura A, Yoshizawa K, Uehara N, Yuri T, Matsuoka Y. (2007). Multistep mouse mammary tumorigenesis through pre-neoplasia to neoplasia and acquisition of metastatic potential. *Med Mol Morphol* **40**: 9–17.
- 50. van de Wouw AJ, Jansen RL, Speel EJ, Hillen HF. (2003). The unknown biology of the unknown primary tumor: a literature review. *Ann Oncol* **14**: 191–196.
- 51. Yang M, Nonaka D. (2010). A study of immunohistochemical differential expression in pulmonary and mammary carcinomas. *Mod Pathol* **23**: 654–661.

# Appendix 2 Copyright

# Reproduction The Journal of the Society for Reproduction and Fertility

HOME ABOUT ACCEPTED MSS NEW ARTICLES ARCHIVE FREE REVIEWS ALERTS RSS UBSCRIBE SUBMIT HELP CONTACT

Institution: CRKN Canada

### Permissions information for authors

Bioscientifica is a member of the STM Agreement regarding the granting of permission to re-use limited amounts of material in other published works.

It is your responsibility to clear all copyright permissions for your article and pay any permissions fees.

Bioscientifica reserves the right to charge an appropriate fee for all requests to reproduce or translate works held under copyright.

#### Requests to reproduce your own work

Bioscientifica grants to authors the right to reproduce their work free of charge in any publication of which they are the author or editor, subject only to giving proper credit in the work to the original publication by Bioscientifica.

Therefore, authors do not need to contact Bioscientifica to request permission to reproduce their work.



#### Publishing licences and compliance with open access mandates

#### NPG author licence policy

This publishers' policy applies to all journals published by the Nature Publishing Group (NPG), including the Nature journals. Nature Publishing Group's policies are compatible with all major funders open access and self-archiving mandates.

NPG does not require authors of original (primary) research papers to assign copyright of their published contributions. Authors grant NPG an exclusive licence to publish, in return for which they can reuse their papers in their future printed work without first requiring permission from the publisher of the journal.

For commissioned articles (for example, Reviews, News and Views), copyright is retained by NPG.

General information about licencing policies and re-use can be found at the <u>reprint and permission</u> <u>website</u>.

# Oncotarget

#### Open-Access License No Permission Required



Oncotarget applies the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u> (CCAL) to all works we publish (read the <u>human-readable summary</u> or the <u>full license legal</u> <u>code</u>). Under the CCAL, authors <u>retain</u> ownership of the copyright for their article, but authors allow anyone to download, reuse, reprint, modify, distribute, and/or copy articles in *Oncotarget* journal, so long as the original authors and source are cited.

No permission is required from the authors or the publishers.



#### Requests for non-commercial use

Other parties wishing to use reuse an article in whole or in part for educational purposes (e.g. in lectures or tutorials) may do so at no cost providing the original source is attributed, as outlined above.

You may also reproduce an article in whole or in part in your thesis at no cost providing the original source is attributed.

If you wish to copy and distribute an article in whole for teaching (e.g. in a course pack), please contact your librarian who will advise you on the various clearance options available.



Using PLOS Content Figures, Tables, and Images Data Submitting Copyrighted or Proprietary Content

#### **Content License**

The following policy applies to all of PLOS journals, unless otherwise noted.

PLOS applies the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license to works we publish. This license was developed to facilitate open access – namely, free immediate access to, and unrestricted reuse of, original works of all types.

Under this license, authors agree to make articles legally available for reuse, without permission or fees, for virtually any purpose. Anyone may copy, distribute or reuse these articles, as long as the author and original source are properly cited.

#### **Using PLOS Content**

No permission is required from the authors or the publishers to reuse or repurpose PLOS content provided the original article is cited. In most cases, appropriate attribution can be provided by simply citing the original article. Dear Michael,

Your request to reproduce Figure 3A from:

#### Pannexin channels and their links to human disease

We hereby grant you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material in a review article following the conditions:

1.If any part of the material to be used is credited to another source, permission must be sought from that source.

2.A credit line is to be placed in a suitably prominent location alongside the re-used material:

a.If the material is reproduced without modification, please use the following credit line:

Reproduced with permission, from Author(s), (year of publication), (Journal title), (Volume number), (page range). © the Biochemical Society. b.If the material is adapted or modified from its original version, please seek approval for the modification from the Author (or Corresponding Author), and then please use the following credit line:

Reproduced with permission, from Author(s), (year of publication), (Journal title), (Volume number), (page range). © the Biochemical Society. c.Where available, please provide a link/hyperlink to the original article within/along with the above credit line.

3. Please ensure that the new work includes a reference to the original article as part of any reference list or bibliography.

«Authors» («Year») «Article\_or\_Chapter\_Title» «Journal\_or\_Book\_Title», «Volume\_and\_issue» «Page\_Nos» 4. This permission is granted for onetime use only and is for non-exclusive world rights in volume form in print and electronic format. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact us.

Yours sincerely,

Aisha Mayet | Publishing Assistant

The Biochemical Society | Charles Darwin House, 12 Roger Street, London, WC1N 2JU e: aisha mayet@portlandpress.com | t: 0207 685 2410

#### NATURE PUBLISHING GROUP LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jul 09, 2015

This is a License Agreement between Michael Stewart ("You") and Nature Publishing Group ("Nature Publishing Group") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Nature Publishing Group, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3657181496414
License date	Jun 27, 2015
Licensed content publisher	Nature Publishing Group
Licensed content publication	Nature Reviews Cancer
Licensed content title	Implications and challenges of connexin connections to cancer
Licensed content author	Christian C. Naus and Dale W. Laird
Licensed content date	Jun 1, 2010
Volume number	10
Issue number	6
Type of Use	reuse in a dissertation / thesis
Requestor type	academic/educational
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Figures	Figure 2
Author of this NPG article	no
Your reference number	None
Title of your thesis / dissertation	The Role of Connexins and Pannexins in Mammary Gland Development and Tumorigenesis
Expected completion date	Aug 2015
Estimated size (number of pages)	200
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

#### ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

#### Jul 09, 2015

This is a License Agreement between Michael Stewart ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Michael Stewart
Customer address	1151 Richmond Street
	London, ON N6A3K7
License number	3665041456368
License date	Jul 09, 2015
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	FEBS Letters
Licensed content title	Syndromic and non-syndromic disease-linked Cx43 mutations
Licensed content author	Michael Koval
Licensed content date	17 April 2014
Licensed content volume number	588
Licensed content issue number	8
Number of pages	10
Start Page	1339
End Page	1348
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Intended publisher of new work	other
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	1
Title of your thesis/dissertation	The Role of Connexins and Pannexins in Mammary Gland Development and Tumorigenesis
Expected completion date	Aug 2015
Estimated size (number of pages)	200
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 CAD
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.00 CAD / 0.00 GBP
Total	0.00 CAD
Terms and Conditions	

# Appendix 3 Animal use protocol approval



AUP Number: 2006-101-10 PI Name: Laird, Dale W AUP Title: The Role of Gap Junction in Diseases

Official Notification of AUS Approval: A MODIFICATION to Animal Use Protocol 2006-101-10 has been approved.

The holder of this Animal Use Protocol is responsible to ensure that all associated safety components (biosafety, radiation safety, general laboratory safety) comply with institutional safety standards and have received all necessary approvals. Please consult directly with your institutional safety officers.

Submitted by: Kinchlea, Will D on behalf of the Animal Use Subcommittee



AUP Number: 2015-030 PI Name: Laird, Dale W AUP Title: The Role Of Gap Junction In Diseases

#### Approval Date: 05/19/2015

Official Notice of Animal Use Subcommittee (AUS) Approval: Your new Animal Use Protocol (AUP) entitled "The Role Of Gap Junction In Diseases

" has been APPROVED by the Animal Use Subcommittee of the University Council on Animal Care. This approval, although valid for four years, and is subject to annual Protocol Renewal.2015-030::1

- 1. This AUP number must be indicated when ordering animals for this project.
- 2. Animals for other projects may not be ordered under this AUP number.
- Purchases of animals other than through this system must be cleared through the ACVS office. Health certificates will be required.

The holder of this Animal Use Protocol is responsible to ensure that all associated safety components (biosafety, radiation safety, general laboratory safety) comply with institutional safety standards and have received all necessary approvals. Please consult directly with your institutional safety officers.

Submitted by: Copeman, Laura on behalf of the Animal Use Subcommittee University Council on Animal Care

# Curriculum vitae

Name:	Michael Kenneth George Stewart
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2006-2010 B.M.Sc. Honours Specialization Physiology and Pharmacology Major Medical Cell Biology
	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2010-Present Ph.D. Physiology
Honours and Awards:	Province of Ontario Graduate Scholarship 2010-2011, 2011-2012, 2012-2013, 2013-2014
	Canadian Institutes of Health Research Strategic Training Program in Cancer Research and Technology Transfer Studentship 2010-2012, 2012-2014, 2014-2015
	Translational Breast Cancer Studentship award funded in part by the Breast Cancer Society of Canada 2012-2014, 2014-2015
	PSAC 610 Scholarship for Outstanding Research Contributions 2015
	Graduate Thesis Research Award 2012-2013
	Schulich Graduate Scholarship 2011-2012, 2012-2013, 2013-2014
	Western Graduate Research Scholarship 2010-2011, 2014-2015
	Dean's Honor List 2006-2007, 2007-2008, 2008-2009, 2009-2010
	Western Scholarship of Excellence 2006

Related Work Experience	Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario Medical Sciences 4900; Course Coordinator: Dr. Doug Jones 2011-2015	
	Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario Physiology 1021; Course Coordinator: Dr. John Ciriello 2013-2014	
	Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario Physiology 2130; Course Coordinator: Dr. Anita Woods 2010-2013	
	Scholars' Elective 3303 Laboratory Supervisor 2011-2013	
	CaRTT Undergraduate Summer Student Laboratory Supervisor 2011	

### **Publications:**

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Plante I, Penuela S, Barr K, Laird DW. *Loss of Panx1 impairs mammary gland development at lactation: implications to breast tumorigenesis.* (To be submitted)

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Bechberger JF, Welch I, Naus CC, Laird DW. *Cx26 knockdown predisposes the mammary gland to primary mammary tumors in a DMBA-induced mouse model of breast cancer*. (In revision for Oncotarget)

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Simek J, Laird DW. Insights into the role of Connexins in Mammary Gland Morphogenesis and Function as Revealed by Genetically-modified Mice. Reproduction. 149 (6); 279-290, 2015.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Plante I, Bechberger JF, Naus CC, Laird DW. Mammary gland specific knockdown of the physiological surge in Cx26 during lactation retains normal mammary gland development and function. PLoS ONE 9(7): e101546. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0101546, 2014.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Gong X, Barr KJ, Bai D, Fishman GI, Laird DW. The severity of mammary gland developmental defects is linked to the overall functional status of Cx43 as revealed by genetically-modified mice. Biochem J. 449(2):401-13, 2013.

Plante I, <u>Stewart MKG</u>, Laird DW. Evaluation of Mammary Gland Development and Function in Mouse Models. J. Vis. Exp. (53), e2828, DOI: 10.3791/2828, 2011.

Plante I, <u>Stewart MKG</u>, Barr K, Allan AL, Laird DW. Cx43 suppresses mammary tumor metastasis to the lung in a Cx43 mutant mouse model of human disease. Oncogene. (30), 1681–1692, 2011.

### **Oral Presentations:**

<u>Stewart MKG</u> and Laird DW. Connexins in mammary gland development and tumorigenesis. Physiology and Pharmacology Seminar, February 9, 2014, London, ON, Canada.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Bechberger JF, Plante I, Naus CC, and Laird DW. Connexins in mammary gland development and tumorigenesis. Oncology Research and Education Day, June 20, 2014, London, ON, Canada.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Gong X, Barr KJ, Bai D, Fishman GI, Laird DW. Mammary gland defects as revealed by genetically-modified mice harboring an oculodentodigital dysplasia-linked Cx43 mutant. American Society of Cell Biology, December 15-19, 2012, San Francisco, CA, U.S.A.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Barr K, Fishman GI, Laird DW. The Cx43 I130T mutant delays mammary gland development while not affecting mammary gland function in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Gap Junction Research Forum, January 27, 2012, London, ON, Canada.

## **Poster Presentations:**

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Bechberger JF, Welch I, Naus CC, and Laird DW. Cx26 knockdown predisposes the mammary gland to primary mammary tumors in a DMBA-induced mouse model of breast cancer. Oncology Research and Education Day, June 26, 2015, London, ON, Canada.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Bechberger JF, Welch I, Naus CC, and Laird DW. Cx26 knockdown predisposes the mammary gland to primary mammary tumors in a DMBA-induced mouse model of breast cancer. International Gap Junction Conference 2015, March 28-April 2, 2015, Valparaiso, Chile.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Bechberger JF, Plante I, Naus CC, and Laird DW. The physiological surge in Cx26 is not essential for mammary gland development during pregnancy, but has important tumor suppressive properties in vivo. Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Research Day, November 4, 2014, London, ON, Canada.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Plante I, Bechberger JF, Naus CC, and Laird DW. Mammary gland specific knockdown of the physiological surge in Cx26 during pregnancy retains normal mammary gland development and function. International Gap Junction Conference 2013, July 13-18, 2013, Charleston, South Carolina, U.S.A.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Plante I, Bechberger JF, Naus CC, and Laird DW. Mammary gland specific knockdown of the physiological surge in Cx26 during pregnancy retains normal mammary gland development and function: Implications in Tumorigenesis. Oncology Research and Education Day, June 21, 2013, London, ON, Canada.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Gong X, Barr KJ, Bai D, Fishman GI, and Laird DW. Mammary gland defects as revealed by genetically-modified mice harboring an oculodentodigital dysplasialinked Cx43 mutant. American Society of Cell Biology, December 15-19, 2012, San Francisco, CA, U.S.A.

<u>Podder S</u>, Stewart MKG, Shao Q, and Laird DW. Pannexin 1 Expression Reduces Tumorigenic Properties in Human Breast Cancer Cells. The Canadian Undergraduate Conference on Healthcare, November 16-18, 2012, Kingston, ON, Canada.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Gong X, Barr KJ, Bai D, Fishman GI, and Laird DW. The severity of mammary gland developmental defects is linked to the overall functional status of Cx43 as revealed by genetically-modified mice. Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Research Day, November 6, 2012, London, ON, Canada.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Barr K, Fishman G, and Laird DW. Impaired Mammary Gland Development in a mouse model of oculodentodigital dysplasia. Oncology Research and Education Day, June 22, 2012, London, ON, Canada.

Laird DW, Stewart MKG, Barr K, Allan A, and Plante I. Cx43 Suppresses Mammary Tumor Metastasis to the Lung in a Cx43 Mutant Mouse Model of Human Disease. BIT 4th World Cancer Congress-Breast Cancer Conference, November 16-18, 2011, Guangzhou, China.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Plante I, Barr K, Bechberger JF, Fishman GI, Naus CC, and Laird DW. Impaired mammary gland differentiation in connexin mutant mice. International Gap Junction Conference 2011, Aug 6-11, 2011, Ghent, Belgium.

<u>Stewart MKG</u>, Plante I, Barr K, Bechberger JF, Fishman GI, Naus CC, and Laird DW. Impaired mammary gland differentiation in connexin mutant mice. Oncology Research and Education Day, June 17, 2011, London, ON, Canada.

Laird DW, <u>Penuela S</u>, and <u>Stewart MKG</u>. Cell-Cell Communication in Health and Disease. Canada Research Chair Conference, November 25, 2010, Toronto, ON, Canada.

<u>Plante I</u>, Stewart MKG, Barr K, Allan A, and Laird DW. Mammary Gland Tumor Onset is Delayed in Cx43 Mutant Mice, but Metastasis to the Lungs is Enhanced. The European Molecular Biology Organization Meeting 2010, September 4-7, 2010, Barcelona, Spain.

Plante I, <u>Stewart MKG</u>, Barr K, Allan A, and Laird DW. Cx43 Mutant Mice Show Delayed Onset of Palpable Mammary Gland Tumors but Are More Susceptible to Lung Metastasis. Oncology Research and Education Day, June 18, 2010, London, ON, Canada.